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DISTRICT

3A

6A
6B
TA

7BC

3B

4A

4B

8A
8B

9A
10

14

15A

TRIAL JUDGES OF THE GENERAL
COURT OF JUSTICE

SUPERIOR COURT DIVISION

JUDGES
First Division

JERRY R. TILLETT

J. CARLTON COLE

WAYLAND SERMONS

W. RUSSELL DUKE, JR.
CLIFTON W. EVERETT, JR.
ArMaA L. HINTON

CyY A. GRANT, SR.

QUENTIN T. SUMNER
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BENJAMIN G. ALFORD
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W. ALLEN COBB, JR.
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PuyLLIS M. GORHAM
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ARrNOLD O. JonEs 1T
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RoBERT H. HOBGOOD

Henry W. HiGHT, JR.
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DoNALD W. STEPHENS

ABRAHAM P. JONES

HowarD E. MANNING, JR.

MicHAEL R. MORGAN

PauL C. GESSNER

PauL C. RIDGEWAY

ORLANDO F. HUDSON, JR.

ELAINE BUSHFAN

MiCHAEL O’FOGHLUDHA

JAMES E. HARDIN, JR.

ROBERT F. JOHNSON

WAYNE ABERNATHY

ADDRESS

Manteo
Hertford
Washington
Greenville
Greenville
Roanoke Rapids
Ahoskie

Rocky Mount
Wilson

Tarboro
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New Bern
Morehead City
Clinton
Jacksonville
Wrightsville Beach
Wilmington
Wilmington
Kinston
Goldsboro
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Henderson
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Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Wake Forest
Raleigh
Durham
Durham
Durham
Hillsborough
Burlington
Burlington



DISTRICT

15B

11A
11B
12

12B
12C
13A
13B
16A
16B

17A

17B

18

19B
19D
21

23

19A
19C
20A
20B
22A

22B

256A

256B

JUDGES

CARL R. Fox
R. ALLEN BADDOUR

Fourth Division

C. WINSTON GILCHRIST
THoMmAs H. Lock
CLAIRE HILL
GREGORY A. WEEKS
JAMES F. AMMONS, JR.
MARY ANN TALLY
DouGLAs B. SASSER
OLA M. LEwIS
RicHARD T. BROWN
RoBERT F. FLOYD, JR.
JAMES GREGORY BELL

Fifth Division

EDWIN GRAVES WILSON, JR.
RicHARD W. STONE

A. MOSES MASSEY

ANDY CROMER

LiNDsAY R. Davis, Jr.
JonN O. CraiG III

R. STUART ALBRIGHT
PATRICE A. HINNANT
JosepH E. TURNER
VANCE BRADFORD LONG
JAMES M. WEBB

JupsoN D. DERAMmUS, JR.
WIiLLIAM Z. WOoOD, JR.

L. TopD BURKE

RoNALD E. SPIVEY
EDGAR B. GREGORY

Sixth Division

W. ERWIN SPAINHOUR
ANNA MILLS WAGONER
TANYA T. WALLACE

KEvIN M. BRIDGES

W. DaviD LEE
CHRISTOPHER W. BRAGG
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MARK E. KrLASS

THEODORE S. ROYSTER, JR.

Seventh Division

BEVERLY T. BEAL
RoOBERT C. ERVIN
TmMoTHY S. KINCAID

viii

ADDRESS

Chapel Hill
Chapel Hill

Buies Creek
Smithfield
Fayetteville
Fayetteville
Fayetteville
Fayetteville
Hallsboro
Southport
Laurinburg
Fairmont
Lumberton

Eden

Eden

Mt. Airy
King
Greensboro
High Point
Greensboro
Greensboro
Greensboro
Asheboro

Whispering Pines

Winston-Salem
Troutman
Winston-Salem
Winston-Salem
Wilkesboro

Concord
Salisbury
Rockingham
Oakboro
Monroe
Monroe
Statesville
Statesville
Lexington
Lexington

Lenoir
Morganton
Newton



DISTRICT

26

27A

27B

24

28

29A
29B
30A
30B

JUDGES ADDRESS
NATHANIEL J. POOVEY Newton
RICHARD D. BONER Charlotte
W. ROBERT BELL Charlotte
YVONNE Mims EvANS Charlotte
Linwoobp O. Foust Charlotte
ErIc L. LEVINSON Charlotte
H. WiLLIAM CONSTANGY Charlotte
HuGH LEwIs Charlotte
JESSE B. CALDWELL III Gastonia
ROBERT T. SUMNER Gastonia
FORREST DONALD BRIDGES Shelby
JAMES W. MORGAN Shelby
Eighth Division
CHARLES PHILLIP GINN Boone
GARY GAVENUS Boone
ALAN Z. THORNBURG Asheville
MARVIN POPE Asheville
LAURA J. BRIDGES Rutherfordton
MARK E. POWELL Hendersonville
JaMEs U. DowNs Franklin
BrADLEY B. LETTS Sylva
SPECIAL JUDGES
SHARON T. BARRETT Asheville
MAaRVIN K. BLOUNT Greenville
CRAIG CROOM Raleigh
RicHARD L. DOUGHTON Sparta
JAMES L. GALE Greensboro
A. ROBINSON HASSELL Greensboro
D. Jack HOOKS, JR. Whiteville
LucY NOBLE INMAN Raleigh
JACK W. JENKINS Morehead City
JonN R. JoLry, Jr. Raleigh
SHANNON R. JOSEPH Raleigh
CALVIN MURPHY Charlotte
WiLLIAM R. PITTMAN Raleigh
GARY E. TRAWICK, JR. Burgaw
EMERGENCY JUDGES
W. DOUGLAS ALBRIGHT Greensboro
STEVE A. BALOG Burlington
MICHAEL E. BEALE Rockingham
HENRY V. BARNETTE, JR. Raleigh
STAFFORD G. BULLOCK Raleigh



DISTRICT

JUDGES

C. PRESTON CORNELIUS
B. CraiG ELLIs
ERNEST B. FULLWOOD
THOoMAS D. HAIGWOOD

CLARENCE E. HORTON, JR.

CHARLES C. Lamm, JR.
RUSSELL J. LANIER, JR.
JERRY CASH MARTIN

J. RICHARD PARKER
RoNALD L. STEPHENS
KeENNETH C. TITUS
JACK A. THOMPSON
JonN M. TysoN
GEORGE L. WAINWRIGHT
DENNIS WINNER

ADDRESS

Mooresville
Laurinburg
Wilmington
Greenville
Kannapolis
Terrell
Wallace

Mt. Airy
Manteo
Durham
Durham
Fayetteville
Fayetteville
Morehead City
Asheville

RETIRED/RECALLED JUDGES

J. B. ALLEN

ANTHONY M. BRANNON
FrANK R. BROWN
JAaMES C. Davis

LARRY G. ForD
MAaRVIN K. GRAY

ZORO J. GUICE, JR.
KNOX V. JENKINS

JOHN B. LEwIs, Jr.
ROBERT D. LEWIS
JULIUS A. ROUSSEAU, JR.
THOMAS W. SEAY
RALPH A. WALKER, JR.

Burlington
Durham
Tarboro
Concord
Salisbury
Charlotte
Hendersonville
Four Oaks
Farmville
Asheville
Wilkesboro
Spencer
Raleigh



DISTRICT

1

3A

3B

6A

6B
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JAMES L. MOORE, JR.
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REBECCA W. BLACKMORE
JaMESs H. Faison IIT
SANDRA CRINER

RICHARD RUSSELL DAvis
MELINDA HAYNIE CROUCH
JEFFREY EVAN NOECKER
CHAD HOGSTON

RoBIN W. ROBINSON
BrENDA G. BRANCH (Chief)
W. TURNER STEPHENSON IIT
TERESA R. FREEMAN
THOMAS R. J. NEWBERN (Chief)
WiLLiaAM ROBERT LEwIS IT
THoMmAs L. JONES

WIiLLIAM CHARLES FARRIS (Chief)
JOSEPH JOHN HARPER, JR.
JonN M. BriTT

PELL C. COOPER

WILLIAM G. STEWART

Jonn J. CovoLo

ANTHONY W. BROWN

DaviD B. BRANTLEY (Chief)

xi

ADDRESS

Edenton
Manteo
Wanchese
Elizabeth City
Kitty Hawk
Washington
Williamston
Williamston
Washington
Greenville
Greenville
Greenville
Greenville
Greenville
New Bern
Morehead City
New Bern
New Bern
New Bern
New Bern
Clinton
Jacksonville
Richlands
Pollocksville
Jacksonville
Kenansville
Kenansville
Jacksonville
Wilmington
Wilmington
Wilmington
Wilmington
Wilmington
Wilmington
Wilmington
Wilmington
Wilmington
Halifax
Halifax
Enfield
Aulander
Winton
Murfreesboro
Wilson
Tarboro
Tarboro
Tarboro
Wilson
Rocky Mount
Rocky Mount
Goldsboro



DISTRICT

9A

10

11

12

JUDGES

LONNIE W. CARRAWAY

R. LESLIE TURNER

TimoTHY I. FINAN
ELIZABETH A. HEATH
CHARLES P. GAYLOR III
DaNIEL FREDERICK FINCH (Chief)
J. HENRY BANKS

JoHN W. Davis

RANDOLPH BASKERVILLE

S. QUON BRIDGES

CAROLYN J. YANCEY

MagK E. GALLOWAY (Chief)
L. MICHAEL GENTRY
ROBERT BLACKWELL RADER (Chief)
JAMES R. FuLLwooD
JENNIFER M. GREEN
Monica M. BousmanN
JENNIFER JANE KNOX
DEBRA ANN SMITH SASSER
VINSTON M. ROZIER, JR.
LoRI G. CHRISTIAN
CHRISTINE M. WALCZYK
Eric CRAIG CHASSE

NED WILSON MANGUM
JACQUELINE L. BREWER
ANNA ELENA WORLEY
MARGARET EAGLES

KeitH O. GREGORY
MICHAEL J. DENNING

Kris D. BAILEY

ERIN M. GRABER

Louis B. MEYER, III!
ALBERT A. CORBETT, JR. (Chief)
JACQUELYN L. LEE

Jimmy L. LOVE, JR.

O. HENRY WILLIS, JR.
ADDIE M. HARRIS-RAWLS
RESsON O. FAIrRCLOTH 11
ROBERT W. BRYANT, JR.

R. DALE STUBBS

CHARLES PATRICK BULLOCK
PauL A. HOLCOMBE
CHARLES WINSTON GILCHRIST
CARON H. STEWART

A. ELiZABETH KEEVER (Chief)
ROBERT J. STIEHL III
EDWARD A. PONE

KiMBRELL KELLY TUCKER
JoHN W. DICKSON

TALMAGE BAGGETT

GEORGE J. FRANKS

Davip H. HasTY

LAURA A. DEVAN

xii

ADDRESS

Goldsboro
Kinston
Goldsboro
Kinston
Goldsboro
Oxford
Henderson
Louisburg
Warrenton
Oxford
Henderson
Roxboro
Pelham
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Apex
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Cary
Raleigh
Raleigh
Smithfield
Smithfield
Sanford
Lillington
Smithfield
Lillington
Smithfield
Smithfield
Lillington
Smithfield
Lillington
Smithfield
Fayetteville
Fayetteville
Fayetteville
Fayetteville
Fayetteville
Fayetteville
Fayetteville
Fayetteville
Fayetteville



DISTRICT

13

14

156A

15B

16A

16B

17A

17B

18

19A

JUDGES

Tonr S. KING

JERRY A. JoLLy (Chief)
NAPOLEON B. BAREFOOT, JR.
MARION R. WARREN
WiLLiaM F. FAIRLEY

ScotT USSERY

SHERRY D. TYLER

Marcia H. Morey (Chief)
JaMmEes T. HiLL

Nancy E. GOrRDON

WiLLIAM ANDREW MARSH II1
BriaN C. WILKS

Par Evans

DORETTA WALKER

JAMES K. ROBERSON (Chief)
BRADLEY REID ALLEN, SR.
KATHRYN W. OVERBY

DaviD THOMAS LAMBETH, JR.
JosepH M. BUCKNER (Chief)
CHARLES T. ANDERSON
BEVERLY A. SCARLETT
LUNSFORD LONG

JAMES T. BRYAN

WiLLIAM G. McILwAIN (Chief)
REGINA M. JOE

JoHN H. HORNE, JR.

J. STANLEY CARMICAL (Chief)
HERBERT L. RICHARDSON
JOHN B. CARTER, JR.

JUDITH MILSAP DANIELS
WiLLIAM J. MOORE
FRrREDRICK B. WILKINS, JR. (Chief)
STANLEY L. ALLEN

JAMES A. GROGAN

CHARLES MITCHELL NEAVES, JR. (Chief)

SPENCER GRAY KEY, JR.
ANGELA B. PUCKETT

WiLLiaMm F. SOUTHERN IIT
WENDY M. ENOCHS (Chief)
SusaN ELIZABETH BRAY

H. THOMAS JARRELL, JR.
SusaN R. BUrRCH

THERESA H. VINCENT

WiLLiam K. HUNTER

SHERRY FOWLER ALLOWAY
PoLLy D. SIZEMORE

KIMBERLY MICHELLE FLETCHER
BETTY J. BROWN

ANGELA C. FOSTER

AVERY MICHELLE CRUMP

JAN H. SAMET

ANGELA B. Fox

WiLLIAM G. HAMBY, JR. (Chief)

xiii

ADDRESS

Fayetteville
Tabor City
Supply
Exum
Southport
Whiteville
Whiteville
Durham
Durham
Durham
Durham
Durham
Durham
Durham
Graham
Graham
Graham
Graham
Hillsborough
Hillsborough
Hillsborough
Chapel Hill
Hillsborough
Wagram
Raeford
Laurinburg
Lumberton
Lumberton
Lumberton
Lumberton
Pembroke
Wentworth
Wentworth
Wentworth
Elkin

Elkin

Elkin

Elkin
Greensboro
Greensboro
High Point
High Point
Greensboro
High Point
Greensboro
Greensboro
Greensboro
Greensboro
Greensboro
Greensboro
Greensboro
Greensboro
Kannapolis



DISTRICT

19B

19C

20A

20B

21

22A

22B

23

24

JUDGES

DONNA G. HEDGEPETH JOHNSON

MARTIN B. MCGEE

BRENT CLONINGER
MICHAEL A. SABISTON (Chief)?2
JAMES P. HILL, JR.

JAYRENE RUSSELL MANESS3
LEE W. GAVIN

ScoTT C. ETHERIDGE
DoNALD W. CREED, JR.
ROBERT M. WILKINS
CHARLES E. BROWN (Chief)
BETH SPENCER DIXON
WiLLiam C. KLUTTZ, JR.
KEVIN G. EDDINGER

RoY MARSHALL BICKETT, JR.
Lisa D. THACKER (Chief)
ScoTT T. BREWER

AMANDA L. WILSON
WiLLIAM TUCKER

N. Hunt GwyN (Chief)
JOSEPH J. WILLIAMS
WiLLiam F. HELMS

STEPHEN V. HIGDON
WiLLiaMm B. REINGOLD (Chief)
CHESTER C. DAvis

WIiLLIAM THOMAS GRAHAM, JR.
VICTORIA LANE ROEMER
LAURIE L. HUTCHINS

Lisa V. L. MENEFEE
LAWRENCE J. FINE

DENISE S. HARTSFIELD
GEORGE BEDSWORTH
CAMILLE D. BANKS-PAYNE
L. DALE GRAHAM (Chief)
H. THOMAS CHURCH
DEBORAH BROWN

EpwaArD L. HENDRICK IV
CHRISTINE UNDERWOOD
WAYNE L. MICHAEL (Chief)
JiMmy L. MYERS

APrIL C. WOOD

Mary F. COVINGTON
CARLTON TERRY

J. RODWELL PENRY
MircHELL L. McLEAN (Chief)
Davip V. BYRD

JEANIE REAVIS HOUSTON
MICHAEL D. DUNCAN
ALEXANDER LYERLY (Chief)
WILLIAM A. LEAVELL IIT4

R. GREGORY HORNE
THEODORE WRIGHT MCENTIRE
F. WARREN HUGHES

Xiv

ADDRESS

Concord
Concord
Mount Pleasant
Troy

Asheboro
Carthage
Asheboro
Asheboro
Southern Pines
Asheboro
Salisbury
Salisbury
Salisbury
Salisbury
Salisbury
Polkton
Monroe
Rockingham
Albemarle
Monroe
Monroe
Matthews
Monroe
Clemmons
Winston-Salem
Kernersville
Winston-Salem
Winston-Salem
Winston-Salem
Winston-Salem
Clemmons
Winston-Salem
Winston-Salem
Taylorsville
Statesville
Mooresville
Taylorsville
Olin
Lexington
Advance
Lexington
Thomasville
Advance
Lexington
Wilkesboro
Wilkesboro
Yadkinville
Wilkesboro
Banner Elk
Bakersville
Boone

Spruce Pine
Burnsville



DISTRICT

25

26

27TA

27B

28

29A

29B

JUDGES

ROBERT M. BrADY (Chief)
GREGORY R. HAYES

L. SUZANNE OWSLEY

C. THoMAS EDWARDS
BUFORD A. CHERRY
SHERRIE WILSON ELLIOTT
Awmy R. SiGmMON

J. GARY DELLINGER
ROBERT A. MULLINAX, JR.
Lisa C. BELL (Chief)
RICKYE McKOY-MITCHELL
Louts A. TROSCH, JR.
REGAN A. MILLER

BECKY THORNE TIN
THOMAS MOORE, JR.
CHRISTY TOWNLEY MANN
RoNALD C. CHAPMAN
DoONNIE HOOVER

PAIGE B. MCTHENIA

JENA P. CULLER

KiMBERLY Y. BEST-STATON
CHARLOTTE BROWN-WILLIAMS
JoHN TOTTEN

ELIZABETH THORNTON TROSCH
THEOFANIS X. NIXON
KAREN EADY-WILLIAMS
DoNALD CURETON, JR.
SEAN SMITH

MATT OSMAN

Tyvyawpi M. HANDS

RALPH C. GINGLES, JR. (Chief)
ANGELA G. HOYLE

JOHN K. GREENLEE

JAMES A. JACKSON

THOMAS GREGORY TAYLOR
MicHAEL K. LANDS
RICHARD ABERNETHY
LARRY JAMES WILsON (Chief)
ANNA F. FOSTER

K. DEAN BLACK

ALl B. PAksoy, JRr.
MEREDITH A. SHUFORD

J. CAvIN HILL (Chief)
REBECCA B. KNIGHT
PaTrICIA KAUFMANN YOUNG
JULIE M. KEPPLE

WARD D. Scortt

EpwiN D. CLONTZ

ANDREA DRAY

C. RanDpy PooL (Chief)
LAURA ANNE POWELL

J. THOMAS DAvis

ATHENA F. BROOKS (Chief)

ADDRESS

Lenoir
Hickory
Hickory
Morganton
Hickory
Newton
Conover
Morganton
Newton
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Gastonia
Belmont
Gastonia
Gastonia
Belmont
Gastonia
Gastonia
Shelby
Shelby
Denver
Shelby
Lincolnton
Asheville
Asheville
Asheville
Asheville
Asheville
Asheville
Asheville
Marion
Rutherfordton
Forest City
Fletcher



DISTRICT

30

JUDGES

DaviD KENNEDY Fox
THOMAS M. BRITTAIN, JR.
PETER KNIGHT

RicHLYN D. HoLt (Chief)
Monica HAYES LESLIE
RicHARD K. WALKER
DoNNA FORGA

Roy WIJEWICKRAMA
KRISTINA L. EARWOOD

ADDRESS

Hendersonville
Mills River
Hendersonville
Waynesville
Waynesville
Hayesville
Clyde
Waynesville
Waynesville

EMERGENCY DISTRICT COURT JUDGES

THOMAS V. ALDRIDGE, JR.
KyLE D. AUSTIN

SARAH P. BAILEY
GRAFTON G. BEAMAN
SAMUEL CATHEY
DANNY E. Davis®
SHELLY H. DESVOUGES
M. PaTRICIA DEVINE

J. KEATON FONVIELLE
THOMAS G. FOSTER, JR.
EARL J. FOWLER, JR.
JANE POWELL GRAY
SAMUEL G. GRIMES
JOYCE A. HAMILTON
LAWRENCE HAMMOND, JR.
JANE V. HARPER
RoBERT E. HODGES
SHELLY S. HoLr

JAMES M. HONEYCUTT
WAYNE G. KIMBLE
DaAviD Q. LABARRE
WiLLiam C. LAWTON

HaroLD PauL McCoy, JR.

LAWRENCE MCSWAIN
FRriTZ Y. MERCER, JR.
Nancy C. PHILLIPS
DENNIS J. REDWING
MICHAEL A. SABISTONS
ANNE B. SALISBURY

J. LARRY SENTER
JOSEPH E. SETZER, JR.
RUSSELL SHERRILL III
CATHERINE C. STEVENS
J. KENT WASHBURN

CHARLES W. WILKINSON, JR.

Ocean Isle Beach
Pineola
Rocky Mount
Elizabeth City
Charlotte
Waynesville
St. Augustine, FL
Hillsborough
Shelby
Pleasant Green
Asheville
Raleigh
Washington
Raleigh
Asheboro
Charlotte
Nebo
Wilmington
Lexington
Jacksonville
Durham
Raleigh
Scotland Neck
Greensboro
Summerfield
Elizabethtown
Gastonia

Troy

Cary

Raleigh
Franklinton
Raleigh
Chapel Hill
Burlington
Oxford



DISTRICT JUDGES

ADDRESS

RETIRED/RECALLED JUDGES

CLAUDE W. ALLEN, JR.
DoNALD L. BOONE
JOYCE A. BROWN

HuGH B. CAMPBELL

T. YAaTES DOBSON, JR.
JAMES W. HARDISON
JANE V. HARPER

JAMES A. HARRILL, JR.
RoLaND H. HAYES
PuiLip F. HOWERTON, JR.
LiLLIAN B. JORDAN
JAMES E. MARTIN
Epwarp H. McCORMICK
J. BRUCE MORTON

Otis M. OLIVER
STANLEY PEELE
MARGARET L. SHARPE
SAMUEL M. TATE

JOHN L. WHITLEY

Oxford
High Point
Supply
Charlotte
Smithfield
Williamston
Charlotte
Winston-Salem
Gastonia
Charlotte
Randleman
Greenville
Lillington
Greensboro
Dobson
Chapel Hill
Greensboro
Morganton
Wilson

1. Appointed 30 August 2012.

2. Retired 31 August 2012.

3. Appointed Chief 1 September 2012.
4. Retired 1 August 2011.

5. Reappointed 6 August 2012.

6. Appointed 5 September 2012.

xvii



ATTORNEY GENERAL OF NORTH CAROLINA

Attorney General
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CASES

ARGUED AND DETERMINED IN THE

COURT OF APPEALS

OF

NORTH CAROLINA
AT
RALEIGH

CHEYENNE SALEENA STARK, A MiNoR, CODY BRANDON STARK, A MINOR, BY THEIR
GUARDIAN AD LITEM, NICOLE JACOBSEN, PLAINTIFFS-APPELLANTS V. FORD MOTOR
COMPANY, A DELAWARE CORPORATION, DEFENDANT-APPELLEE

No. COA09-286
(Filed 18 May 2010)

1. Products Liability— defense—alteration or misuse—
seven-year-old child

The products liability defense of alteration or modification
was not applicable to a child under seven years of age injured by
a seat belt because children that age are not capable of negli-
gence. Defendant was unable as a matter of law to prove the req-
uisite element of foreseeability inherent in the proximate cause
portion of its N.C.G.S. § 99B-3 defense.

2. Products Liability— defense—alteration or misuse—party
to action

The trial court erred in a products liability action by denying
plaintiffs’ motion for a directed verdict on the defense of alter-
ation or misuse where a father who was not a party to the action
was alleged to have placed the seatbelt behind the child’s back.
The plain language of N.C.G.S. § 99B-3 states that the entity
responsible for the modification or misuse of the product must
be a party to the action in order for the defense to apply.
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STARK v. FORD MOTOR CO.
[204 N.C. App. 1 (2010)]

3. Costs— denial of directed verdict reversed—award of
costs reversed

An award of costs in favor of defendant was reversed where
the trial court’s denial of plaintiff’s motion for directed verdict on
a products liability defense was reversed.

4. Products Liability— child injured by seatbelt—evidence
sufficient

Plaintiff presented sufficient evidence to survive defendant’s
motions for summary judgment and directed verdict where a
child was injured by her seatbelt in an accident. Plaintiffs offered
evidence that tended to show that defendant manufactured a
product which had the potential to cause the injury and that
defendant did not use alternative designs that were available and
used by defendant in similar products.

Judge WYNN concurring in the result.

Appeal by Plaintiffs from judgment entered 15 May 2007 and
orders entered 28 April 2008 by Judge Forrest D. Bridges in Superior
Court, Mecklenburg County. Heard in the Court of Appeals 3
November 2009.

Wyrick Robbins Yates & Ponton LLP, by K. Edward Greene and
Tobias S. Hampson; and Gilbert, Ollanik & Komyatte, P.C., by
James L. Gilbert, for Plaintiffs-Appellants.

Smith, Anderson, Blount, Dorsett, Mitchell & Jernigan, LLP, by
Kirk G. Warner and Christopher R. Kiger; and Bowman and
Brooke LLP, by Robert L. Wise and Sandra Giannone Ezell, for
Defendant-Appellee.

McGEE, Judge.

Cheyenne Saleena Stark (Cheyenne), Cody Brandon Stark
(Cody), and Cory Christian Stark (Cory), through their then Guardian
ad Litem, Ruby Squires Stark; and Gordon Walter Stark, Jr. (Gordon
Stark), filed a complaint on 23 April 2004 against Ford Motor
Company (Defendant) alleging, inter alia, that Cheyenne suffered a
spinal cord injury caused by a defective design of the seatbelt she was
using during an accident involving her parents’ 1998 Ford Taurus (the
Taurus) on 23 April 2003. The complaint further alleged that Cody suf-
fered “severe abdominal injuries, including damage to his spleen.”
The claims of Gordon Stark and Cory were later dismissed, as dis-
cussed below.
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Cheyenne and Cody were passengers in the back seat of the
Taurus on 23 April 2003. At the time of the accident, Cheyenne was
five years old and Cody was nine years old. Each was secured in the
Taurus by a three-point seatbelt designed by Defendant. Neither
Cheyenne nor Cody was sitting in a booster seat. Their three-year-old
sibling, Cory, was sitting in the middle of the back seat.

Cheyenne’s mother, Tonya Stark, was driving the Taurus.
Cheyenne’s father, Gordon Stark, was a passenger in the front seat.
Tonya Stark was operating the Taurus in a parking lot at a speed of
twenty-six miles per hour, when the vehicle suddenly accelerated.
She lost control of the Taurus, and it collided with a light pole.

Following the collision, Cheyenne was dazed but able to walk.
However, after Cheyenne was taken to the hospital a short time later,
she complained of leg pain. Cheyenne later lost all feeling in her body
below her rib cage.

The complaint alleged that Defendant engaged in “[w]illful,
[w]anton and [r]eckless [m]isconduct” in designing the seatbelts in
the Taurus and that Defendant’s actions caused physical and cogni-
tive injuries to Cheyenne and Cody. The complaint also alleged that
the engine in the Taurus was defectively designed in that it caused a
“sudden unintended acceleration” which led to the collision. De-
fendant filed an answer generally denying negligence and defective
design and asserting that Tonya Stark and Gordon Stark were the
cause of any injuries. Defendant also alleged, inter alia, the affirma-
tive defenses of unauthorized modification or alteration of the Taurus
or its components and failure to follow instructions or warnings
given by Defendant.

Defendant filed a motion for summary judgment on 17 February
2005. The trial court filed an order on 22 August 2005 granting De-
fendant’s motion as to: (1) the claim for cognitive injury to Cheyenne,
and (2) the claim based on the sudden unintended acceleration of the
Taurus. In its order, the trial court also dismissed personal injury
claims asserted by Gordon Stark and Cory. The trial court denied
Defendant’s motion for summary judgment as to the remainder of
claims, finding that there remained genuine issues of material fact.

Nicole Jacobsen, (Guardian ad Litem), filed a motion on 15 March
2005 seeking to be substituted as Guardian ad Litem in the action.
The record is unclear as to when this motion was granted; however,
at the time of trial, plaintiffs in the action were as follows: Cheyenne



4 IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

STARK v. FORD MOTOR CO.
[204 N.C. App. 1 (2010)]

Saleena Stark and Cody Brandon Stark, by their Guardian ad Litem,
Nicole Jacobsen (Plaintiffs).

At trial, Plaintiffs presented expert testimony that the injuries
Cheyenne suffered were caused or enhanced by a design defect
known as “film spool” in the seatbelt she was using. This defect
allowed slack in the seatbelt to cause the shoulder portion of the belt
to slip off Cheyenne’s shoulder and come to rest in a position lower
on her body, such that she bent over the seatbelt during the accident.
It was this “film spool” and the resulting movement by Cheyenne that
Plaintiffs asserted as the cause of Cheyenne’s injuries. Plaintiffs fur-
ther presented evidence that the use of certain devices may prevent
“film spool” from occurring during accidents by retracting or other-
wise restricting any excess belt material during a collision. The
Taurus was not equipped with any of these devices.

At the close of Plaintiffs’ evidence, Defendant moved for a
directed verdict on the grounds that Plaintiffs failed to present evi-
dence of “testing to show that any of their alleged alternative designs
would have made the Taurus any safer in this crash.” Defendant
renewed its directed verdict motion at the close of all the evidence.
The trial court denied both of Defendant’s motions.

Defendant presented evidence at trial that Cheyenne’s injuries
were caused by her improper use of the seatbelt. Specifically, De-
fendant asserted that Cheyenne was wearing the seatbelt with the
shoulder portion behind her back. Defendant argued that, because
Cheyenne was not restrained by the shoulder portion of the belt, the
“film spool” effect could not have been the cause of her injuries.
Because “film spool” was not a cause, the use of the preventative
devices offered by Plaintiffs would have made no difference as to
Cheyenne’s injuries. Instead, Defendant presented three theories of
causation for Cheyenne’s injuries: (1) the accident itself; (2)
Cheyenne’s improper use of the seatbelt by wearing the shoulder belt
behind her back; and (3) Cheyenne’s non-use of a booster seat, con-
trary to Defendant’s instructions.

Plaintiffs filed a motion for a directed verdict as to two of
Defendant’s affirmative defenses. In their motion, Plaintiffs specifi-
cally requested a directed verdict as to Defendant’s affirmative
defenses of “Alteration or Modification of Product” pursuant to
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 99B-3, and “Adequate Warnings or Instruction” pur-
suant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 99B-4. With respect to their requested
directed verdict based on N.C.G.S. § 99B-3, Plaintiffs argued that,
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because Tonya Stark and Gordon Stark were not parties to the
action, and because Cheyenne was a minor under the age of seven
years and was therefore legally incapable of negligence, N.C.G.S.
§ 99B-3 did not provide an affirmative defense to Defendant. After
hearing arguments from Plaintiffs and Defendant, the trial court
denied Plaintiffs’ motion.

The trial court submitted questions to the jury. The jury answered
those questions, in pertinent part, as follows:

4. Did the Defendant Ford Motor Company act unreasonably in
designing the 1998 Ford Taurus and its component parts, proxi-
mately causing enhanced injury to Cheyenne Stark?

Answer: [Yes]

[If you answer “Yes” to this issue, then go to Issue 5; if you answer
“no” to this issue, then do not consider any further issues.]

5. Were the enhanced injuries to Cheyenne Stark caused by using
the 1998 Ford Taurus in a manner contrary to any express and
adequate instructions or warnings which were known or should
have been known by the user?

Answer: [No]

[If you answer “Yes” to this issue, then do not consider any fur-
ther issues; if you answer “no” to this issue, go to Issue 6.]

6. Were the enhanced injuries to Cheyenne Stark caused by an
alteration or modification of the 1998 Ford Taurus?

Answer: [Yes]

[If you answer “yes’ [sic] to this issue, then do not consider any
further issue; if you answer “no” to this issue, then go to Issue 7.]

The jury further determined that Defendant’s product, the Taurus,
was not the proximate cause of enhanced injury to Cody. The trial
court entered judgment in favor of Defendant on 15 May 2007, order-
ing that Plaintiffs recover nothing from Defendant, dismissing
Plaintiffs’ complaint, and awarding costs to Defendant. The trial
court retained jurisdiction for the purposes of determining costs and
expert witness fees.

Plaintiffs filed a motion for judgment notwithstanding the ver-
dict, or in the alternative, for a new trial on 24 May 2007. The trial
court filed an order denying Plaintiffs’ motion on 23 April 2008.
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Defendant filed a motion for costs in the amount of $135,634.74
on 8 August 2007 on the grounds of “its successful defense and jury
verdict”. In an order entered 28 April 2008, the trial court granted
Defendant’s motion in part but reduced the award to $45,717.92.
The trial court stated that “after consideration of the motion, affi-
davits, materials submitted by the parties, arguments of counsel, and
other matters of record, that [Defendant] was the prevailing party
at trial and that certain costs should, in the [c]ourt’s discretion,
be awarded to [Defendant].” The trial court awarded these costs
“against Plaintiffs and Nicole Jacobsen as Guardian ad Litem,
jointly and severally[.]”

Plaintiffs appeal from the trial court’s judgment entered 15 May
2007, the trial court’s order denying Plaintiffs’ motion for judgment
notwithstanding the verdict or a new trial, and the trial court’s order
granting Defendant’s motion for award of costs. Defendant cross-
assigns error and argues that the trial court erred in denying De-
fendant’s motions for summary judgment and directed verdict as to
Plaintiffs’ inadequate design claims.

Directed Verdict

[1] Plaintiffs first argue that the trial court erred by denying their
motion for a directed verdict on the issue of product alteration.
Because Cheyenne was five years old at the time of the collision,
Plaintiffs contend she was legally incapable of modifying or altering
the product under N.C. Gen. Stat. § 99B-3. Because neither Tonya
Stark nor Gordon Stark was a party to this action, Plaintiffs contend
that no misuse or modification on their part would provide a defense
under N.C.G.S. § 99B-3. Plaintiffs argue, therefore, that the trial court
should have granted a directed verdict as to Defendant’s § N.C.G.S.
99B-3 defense as described in jury question number 6, to wit: whether
“the enhanced injuries to Cheyenne Stark [were] caused by an alter-
ation or modification of the 1998 Ford Taurus[.]” We agree.

Our Court reviews a trial court’s ruling on a motion for directed
verdict de novo. Denson v. Richmond County, 159 N.C. App. 408, 411,
583 S.E.2d 318, 320 (2003).

The standard of review of directed verdict is whether the evi-
dence, taken in the light most favorable to the non-moving party,
is sufficient as a matter of law to be submitted to the jury. When
determining the correctness of the denial for directed verdict or
judgment notwithstanding the verdict, the question is whether



IN THE COURT OF APPEALS 7

STARK v. FORD MOTOR CO.
[204 N.C. App. 1 (2010)]

there is sufficient evidence to sustain a jury verdict in the
non-moving party’s favor, or to present a question for the jury.
Where the motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict is a
motion that judgment be entered in accordance with the movant’s
earlier motion for directed verdict, this Court has required the
use of the same standard of sufficiency of evidence in reviewing
both motions.

Davis v. Dennis Lilly Co., 330 N.C. 314, 322-23, 411 S.E.2d 133, 138
(1991) (internal citations omitted). Where a trial court errs in sub-
mitting an affirmative defense to a jury, our Court has the discretion
to remand for a new trial. Cicogna v. Holder, 345 N.C. 488, 490, 480
S.E.2d 636, 637 (1997). However, “[i]f the issue which was erro-
neously submitted did not affect the entire verdict, there should not
be a new trial on all issues.” Id.

N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 99B-1 et seq., which govern products liability
actions in North Carolina, provide a defense to a products liability
claim in N.C. Gen. Stat. § 99B-3, as follows:

(a) No manufacturer or seller of a product shall be held liable in
any product liability action where a proximate cause of the per-
sonal injury, death, or damage to property was either an alter-
ation or modification of the product by a party other than the
manufacturer or seller, which alteration or modification occurred
after the product left the control of such manufacturer or such
seller unless:

(1) The alteration or modification was in accordance with the
instructions or specifications of such manufacturer or such
seller; or

(2) The alteration or modification was made with the express
consent of such manufacturer or such seller.

(b) For the purposes of this section, alteration or modification
includes changes in the design, formula, function, or use of the
product from that originally designed, tested, or intended by the
manufacturer. It includes failure to observe routine care and
maintenance, but does not include ordinary wear and tear.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 99B-3 (2009).

Our Court has held that a determination of whether an act was a
proximate cause of an injury must include an analysis of “foresee-
ability.” Hastings for Pratt v. Seegars Fence Co., 128 N.C. App. 166,
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170, 493 S.E.2d 782, 785 (1997). Because the alteration or modifica-
tion of a product must be a proximate cause of an injury in order to
provide a viable defense under N.C.G.S. § 99B-3, we must analyze the
issue of foreseeability. Id., 493 S.E.2d at 784.

Foreseeability of some injurious consequence of one’s act is an
essential element of proximate cause, though anticipation of the
particular consequence is not required. While the usual test is
whether “a person of ordinary prudence could have reasonably
foreseen . . .” some injurious result from the unintended use of
the product; where, as in the present case, the actions of a minor
child are at issue, the test of foreseeability is whether a child of
similar “age, capacity, discretion, knowledge, and experience”
could have foreseen some injurious result from his or her use of
the product.

Id., 493 S.E.2d at 785 (internal citations omitted). “As a matter of law,
a child under 7 years of age is incapable of negligence.” State v.
Harrington, 260 N.C. 663, 666, 133 S.E.2d 452, 455 (1963). See also
Allen v. Equity & Investors Management Corp., 56 N.C. App. 706,
709, 289 S.E.2d 623, 625 (1982) (“An infant under 7 years of age is con-
clusively presumed to be incapable of contributory negligence.”)
(citation omitted).

Plaintiffs argue that, because Cheyenne was under seven years of
age at the time of the accident, she was incapable of negligence and
was therefore unable to “foresee” that any modification or alteration
could be a proximate cause of her injury. We agree.

In Hastings, our Court held that N.C.G.S. § 99B-3 did not provide
a defense to a manufacturer on the following facts. An eight-year-old
child was injured while playing on a fence and gate constructed by
the defendant. Hastings, 128 N.C. App. at 167, 493 S.E.2d at 783.
While the minor plaintiff was hanging on the gate, another child
caused the gate to roll. Id. When the gate rolled, two of the minor
plaintiff’s fingers were caught in a roller and were amputated. Id. The
minor plaintiff’s mother, as guardian ad litem for the child, filed a neg-
ligence action against the gate manufacturer. Id. The defendant ar-
gued that N.C.G.S. § 99B-3 provided a defense to the plaintiff’s claim
in that the minor child “used the fence in a manner other than as it
was originally designed, tested, or intended by the manufacturer to be
used[.]” Id. at 169, 493 S.E.2d at 784. The trial court eventually dis-
missed the plaintiff’s claims. Id. at 168, 493 S.E.2d at 783.
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Our Court held that the defendant’s allegation of “the minor plain-
tiff’s contributory negligence ‘by engaging in horseplay on the fence
and cantilevered gate . . . .” was sufficient to raise the defense pro-
vided by G.S. § 99B-3[.]” Id. at 169, 493 S.E.2d at 784. We then cited
the standard of care applicable to a minor child between the ages of
seven and fourteen years and held that “[i]ssues of proximate cause
and foreseeability, involving application of standards of conduct, are
ordinarily best left for resolution by a jury under appropriate instruc-
tions from the court.” Id. at 170, 493 S.E.2d at 785.

We apply the same principles of negligence to the N.C.G.S.
§ 99B-3 analysis in the present case. While the minor plaintiff in
Hastings was eight years old, in the case before us, Cheyenne was
five years old and therefore subject to a different standard of care. As
discussed above, the appropriate standard of care to apply, when ana-
lyzing the negligence of a child under seven years of age, is that such
children are, as a matter of law, incapable of negligence. Harrington,
260 N.C. at 666, 133 S.E.2d at 455. Therefore, because Cheyenne was
a child under seven years of age at the time of the alleged alteration
or modification, Defendant is unable, as a matter of law, to prove the
requisite element of foreseeability inherent in the proximate cause
portion of its N.C.G.S. § 99B-3 defense. Because foreseeability, and
therefore proximate cause, is lacking in Defendant’s defense as to
Cheyenne, N.C.G.S. § 99B-3 is inapplicable to any alteration or modi-
fication alleged to have been performed by Cheyenne herself.

Party Modifier

[2] Plaintiff next addresses Defendant’s argument that Gordon Stark
or Tonya Stark modified the seatbelt by improperly placing Cheyenne
in the seat with the shoulder belt behind her back. Plaintiffs argue
that Cheyenne was still entitled to a directed verdict because neither
Gordon Stark nor Tonya Stark was “a party” to the action, as required
by N.C. Gen. Stat. § 99B-3.

N.C.G.S. § 99B-3 provides in pertinent part that:

No manufacturer or seller of a product shall be held liable in any
product liability action where a proximate cause of the personal
injury, death, or damage to property was either an alteration or
modification of the product by a party other than the manufac-
turer or seller, which alteration or modification occurred after the
product left the control of such manufacturer or such seller. . . .

N.C.G.S. § 99B-3 (emphasis added).
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Defendant argues that the trial court’s judgment, based on the
jury’s verdict, was supported by evidence that Gordon Stark misused
the rear seatbelt by putting Cheyenne in the backseat and buckling
her seatbelt with the shoulder belt behind her back. Defending
against Plaintiffs’ motion for directed verdict, Defendant argued at
trial that “[m]ore importantly, what is the specific evidence in this
case about who used Cheyenne Stark’s belt; Gordon Stark. He put her
in that belt on that day. He is the one who affixed her to this vehicle.
He’s the one who used the product.” Plaintiffs argue that N.C.G.S.
§ 99B-3 is inapplicable to any alleged alterations or modifications per-
formed by either Tonya Stark or Gordon Stark in placing Cheyenne in
the seatbelt improperly, because neither Tonya Stark nor Gordon
Stark is a party to this action.

At the time of trial, neither Tonya Stark nor Gordon Stark
were parties to the action. Gordon Stark, originally a named plaintiff,
had his personal injury claims dismissed on 22 August 2006 when the
trial court granted Defendant’s motion for summary judgment.
Defendant filed a motion for leave to file a third-party complaint
against Tonya Stark and Gordon Stark as third-party defendants on 21
August 2006. Defendant’s motion was granted in an order filed 27
October 2006, with the condition that, “if the third party defendants
are unable to obtain counsel who can prepare for and participate in
the trial scheduled for October 30, 2006, then . . . the third party
action shall be SEVERED from the instant action and tried at a later
date.” Defendant did not file a third-party complaint naming as third-
party defendants Tonya Stark and Gordon Stark until January 2007.
At the time of trial, the parties were as follows: Cheyenne and Cody,
by their guardian ad litem, Nicole Jacobsen, as plaintiffs, and Ford
Motor Company as defendant.

Plaintiffs rely on three cases involving the application of N.G.C.S.
§ 99B-3, contending that “[i]n all three cases, the ‘modifier’ was, or
may have been, a party-defendant in the suit, and the cases do not
address modification by a non-party as a defense.” These cases are:
Edmondson v. Macclesfield L-P Gas Co., Inc., 182 N.C. App. 381, 642
S.E.2d 265 (2007); Phillips v. Restaurant Management, 146 N.C. App.
203, 552 S.E.2d 686 (2001); and Rich v. Shaw, 98 N.C. App. 489, 391
S.E.2d 220 (1990). We note that in Phtllips, the plaintiff named three
defendants in their action: a restaurant management company, Taco
Bell Corp., and a restaurant employee. Phillips, 146 N.C. App. at 207,
552 S.E.2d at 689. The plaintiff sought to pursue a claim under
Chapter 99B, and we held that he was precluded from pursuing this
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claim by N.C.G.S. § 99B-3 on the grounds that the product, a fast food
item, was produced by the management company and Taco Bell and
was modified when the defendant-employee spit into it. Phillips, 146
N.C. App. at 218-19, 552 S.E.2d at 696. Therefore, the modifier in
Phillips was a party to the action.

Likewise, in Edmondson, the plaintiff filed an action against
both the manufacturer of a heater and a company that performed a
“negligent repair” on that heater. 182 N.C. App. at 386, 642 S.E.2d at
269. Our Court upheld the trial court’s ruling that the manufacturer
was protected by the N.C.G.S. § 99B-3 defense on grounds that the
heater had been improperly modified for use with liquified petroleum
gas after it left the manufacturer’s control. Id. at 389-90, 642 S.E.2d at
271-72. The opinion is unclear on the issue of whether the modifier
was a party to the action, but Plaintiffs filed a motion requesting that
we take judicial notice of a portion of the defendant manufacturer’s
brief filed with our Court in Edmondson referring to the modifier as
a party. We grant that motion and take judicial notice of the following
statement: “the subject heater was sold . . . and left [defendant man-
ufacturer’s] possession, but before it was installed at [the plaintiff’s]
residence, it was modified by [the defendant repair company] so that
it could be used with Liquified Petroleum (L-P) Gas instead of Natural
Gas.” See Whitmire v. Cooper, 153 N.C. App. 730, 735, 570 S.E.2d 908,
911 n.4 (2002) (“this [C]ourt may take judicial notice of the public
records of other courts within the state judicial system”) (citation
omitted); see also State v. Benfield, 76 N.C. App. 453, 459, 333 S.E.2d
753, 757 n.1 (1985) (our Court taking judicial notice of “the records of
this Court”). Therefore, the modifier in Fdmonson was also a party to
the action.

Defendant counters that this Court did not address whether the
“modifier” was a party to the action in any of the three cases cited by
Plaintiffs, because “the [N.C.G.S. § 99B-3] defense does not require
it.” We note that in Rich, the third case upon which Plaintiffs rely, the
opinion is unclear whether the modification was performed by a
party or not. See Rich, 98 N.C. App. 489, 391 S.E.2d 220. However, the
argument concerning the application of the defense in Rich did not
turn, as here, on the requirement that the modifier be a party. See Id.,
98 N.C. App. at 492, 391 S.E.2d at 222-23. This issue appears to have
not been previously determined by our Courts. Defendant contends
that the defense enumerated under N.C.G.S. § 99B-3 “is concerned
only with whether the product was used properly and whether some-
one ‘other than the manufacturer’ altered or misused the product.”
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Defendant’s argument overlooks the plain language of the statute.
The statute does not provide a defense where “someone ‘other than
the manufacturer’ altered or misused the product[,]” as Defendant
contends. Rather, N.C.G.S. § 99B-3 provides a defense where “a party
other than the manufacturer or seller” causes the alteration or modi-
fication. N.C.G.S. § 99B-3 (emphasis added).

To the extent that Defendant contends the use of the term “party”
in N.C.G.S. § 99B-3 is unclear, we note that in N.C. Gen. Stat. § 99B-1,
which provides the definitions for terms used in Chapter 99B, the
terms “Claimant[,]” “Manufacturer[,]” and “Seller” are defined using
the phrases “a person or other entity[,]” “a person or entity[,]” and
“any individual or entity[,]” respectively. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 99B-1
(2009). Had the General Assembly intended N.C.G.S. § 99B-3 to apply
to any person, individual or entity, it would have used such terms. See
Fabrikant v. Currituck County, 174 N.C. App. 30, 42-43, 621 S.E.2d
19, 28 (2005) (citing Russello v. United States, 464 U.S. 16, 23, 78
L. Ed. 2d 17, 24 (1983) (“We refrain from concluding here that the dif-
fering language in the two subsections has the same meaning in each.
We would not presume to ascribe this difference to a simple mistake
in draftsmanship.”)). Instead, in the statute before us, the General
Assembly used the term “party,” which has independent legal signifi-
cance. We note that “party” is defined as “[o]Jne who takes part in a
transaction . . .. [or] [o]ne by or against whom a lawsuit is brought[.]”
Black’s Law Dictionary 1231-32 (9th ed. 2009). Therefore, the plain
language of N.C.G.S. § 99B-3 states that the entity responsible for the
modification or alteration of the product must be a party to the action
in order for the defense to apply. Because Defendant asserts that the
modification was performed by Gordon Stark, who is not a party to
the action in this case, Defendant is unable to establish an N.C.G.S.
§ 99B-3 defense as to such an alleged modification.

As discussed above, a directed verdict is proper when the evi-
dence, viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party, is
insufficient, as a matter of law, to submit the question to the jury.
Davis, 330 N.C. at 322-23, 411 S.E.2d at 138. Because Defendant is
unable, as a matter of law, to support an N.C.G.S. § 99B-3 defense as
to either Cheyenne, Tonya Stark, or Gordon Stark, Plaintiffs are en-
titled to a directed verdict as to Defendant’s N.C.G.S. § 99B-3 defense.
We therefore reverse the trial court’s order denying Plaintiffs’ motion
for directed verdict as to Defendant’s N.C.G.S. § 99B-3 defense.

In light of our holding, we need not address Plaintiffs’ arguments
concerning judgment notwithstanding the verdict, entry of judgment,
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or motion for a new trial. Because the jury found that Defendant
“act[ed] unreasonably in designing the 1998 Ford Taurus and its com-
ponent parts, proximately causing enhanced injury to Cheyenne
Stark,” we reverse the trial court’s judgment and remand for entry of
judgment in favor of Cheyenne Stark and for a trial on the issue of
damages. Cicogna, 345 N.C. at 490, 480 S.E.2d at 637.

Costs

[3] Plaintiffs next argue that the trial court erred in awarding court
costs against the Guardian ad Litem individually. Because we reverse
the trial court’s judgment, we vacate the trial court’s order awarding
costs in favor of Defendant. See N.C. Gen. Stat. § 6-1 (2009) (“To the
party for whom judgment is given, costs shall be allowed][.]”).

Defendant’s Cross-Assignments of Error

[4] Defendant argues that the trial court erred by denying its motions
for summary judgment and directed verdict. We disagree. As dis-
cussed above, a directed verdict is proper when the evidence, viewed
in the light most favorable to the non-moving party, is insufficient as
a matter of law to submit the question to the jury. Davis, 330 N.C. at
322-23, 411 S.E.2d at 138. Summary judgment is proper where, taking
the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party, the
moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Davis wv.
Town of Southern Pines, 116 N.C. App. 663, 665-66, 449 S.E.2d 240,
242 (1994).

Defendant cites N.C. Gen. Stat. § 99B-6 and argues that North
Carolina’s products liability act requires Plaintiffs to show, inter alia,
that Defendant failed to “adopt a ‘safer, practical, feasible, and other-
wise reasonable alternative design’ that would have prevented or
minimized [Cheyenne’s] injuries, [or that] the Taurus’s design was ‘so
unreasonable that a reasonable person, aware of the relevant facts,
would not use or consume a product of this design.’” Defendant
specifically argues that Plaintiffs’ expert testimony regarding alterna-
tive designs “lacked any methodologically-sound support” because
the experts cited to no testing to support their conclusions. However,
Defendant cites no authority to support its contention that Plaintiffs’
evidence was insufficient, nor that expert witness testimony of this
nature required “testing” in order to withstand a directed verdict.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 99B-6 provides in pertinent part:

(a) No manufacturer of a product shall be held liable in any prod-
uct liability action for the inadequate design or formulation of the
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product unless the claimant proves that at the time of its manu-
facture the manufacturer acted unreasonably in designing or for-
mulating the product, that this conduct was a proximate cause of
the harm for which damages are sought, and also proves one of
the following:

(1) At the time the product left the control of the manufacturer,
the manufacturer unreasonably failed to adopt a safer, practical,
feasible, and otherwise reasonable alternative design or formula-
tion that could then have been reasonably adopted and that
would have prevented or substantially reduced the risk of harm
without substantially impairing the usefulness, practicality, or
desirability of the product.

(2) At the time the product left the control of the manufacturer,
the design or formulation of the product was so unreasonable
that a reasonable person, aware of the relevant facts, would not
use or consume a product of this design.

(b) In determining whether the manufacturer acted unreason-
ably under subsection (a) of this section, the factors to be con-
sidered shall include, but are not limited to, the following:

(1) The nature and magnitude of the risks of harm associated
with the design or formulation in light of the intended and
reasonably foreseeable uses, modifications, or alterations of
the product.

(6) The technical, economic, and practical feasibility of using an
alternative design or formulation at the time of manufacture.

(7) The nature and magnitude of any foreseeable risks associ-
ated with the alternative design or formulation.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 99B-6 (2009).

Plaintiffs counter by pointing out the weight of evidence offered
at trial that supported their claims. Plaintiffs presented, inter alia,
the testimony of Dr. Joseph Burton, a forensic pathologist. Dr. Burton
testified that, based on the damage to the vehicle, he would have
expected the passengers to suffer injuries, but not “catastrophic
injury . . . . Maybe just a broken wrist.” Dr. Burton further testified
that Cheyenne was paralyzed from the accident because her shoulder
belt was not snug and had “slack in it[,]” causing the belt to “snap-
load[] the chest for her to have this injury.”
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Dr. Burton further testified that the injuries suffered by Cheyenne
were the result of a process called “film spool.” When “film spool”
occurs, excess webbing material in a seatbelt continues to extend
after the spool to which the material is secured ceases to move. The
use of certain devices may prevent “film spool” from occurring dur-
ing accidents by retracting, or otherwise restricting, any excess belt
material during a crash. He testified that though these devices were
available when the Taurus was manufactured and were, in fact, used
by Defendant in certain of its products sold outside of the United
States, none of these devices was present in the Taurus involved in
the collision that caused Cheyenne’s injuries.

Plaintiffs therefore offered evidence that, when viewed in the
light most favorable to Plaintiffs, tended to show that Defendant man-
ufactured a product which had the potential to cause the injury suf-
fered by Cheyenne. Though there were alternative designs available
at the time which were used by Defendant in similar products, the
product used by Plaintiffs did not include these alternative designs.
We hold that Plaintiffs presented sufficient evidence to survive
Defendant’s motions for summary judgment and directed verdict.
Defendant’s cross-assignments of error are therefore overruled.

Reversed in part, vacated in part, and remanded.
Judge BRYANT concurs.
Judge WYNN concurs in the result with a separate opinion.

WYNN, Judge concurring in the result.

I write separately to emphasize that judicial restraint guides our
interpretation of the affirmative defense to product liability codified
in N.C.G.S. § 99B-3 (“the modification defense”). Here, the language
of the statute is clear and we are duty-bound to follow the law as writ-
ten. Nonetheless, while I concur with the majority in following the
clear language of the statute, I do so mindful that the statutory lan-
guage appears inconsistent with general principles of negligence,
modification defenses in all other states, and possibly even the intent
of our legislature itself.

To begin, it warrants mention that Plaintiff’s claims are based on
Defendant’s alleged negligence in the design of the Ford Taurus. It is
a well-established principle in negligence cases that the plaintiff can-
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not prevail “[w]hen it clearly appears from the evidence that the
injury complained of was independently and proximately produced
by the wrongful act, neglect, or default of an outside agency or
responsible third person.” Smith v. Sink, 211 N.C. 725, 727, 192 S.E.
108, 109 (1937). It does not matter if the “responsible third person” is
a party to the action; what matters is that the person’s actions consti-
tute intervening negligence insulating the defendant from liability.
The fact that the case sub judice is a products liability action should
not, without more, mean that intervening negligence is only given
legal effect when the person who proximately caused the plaintiff’s
injury is a party to the suit. Indeed, this Court has stated that “[i]n an
action to recover for injuries resulting from the negligence of a man-
ufacturer, plaintiff must present evidence which tends to show that
the product manufactured by defendant was defective at the time it
left defendant’s plant, and that defendant was negligent in its design
of the product, in its selection of materials, in its assembly process,
or in its inspection of the product.” Jolley v. General Motors Corp.,
55 N.C. App. 383, 385, 285 S.E.2d 301, 303 (1982) (emphasis added)
(citing Cockerham v. Ward, 44 N.C. App. 615, 262 S.E.2d 651, disc.
rev. denied, 300 N.C. 195, 269 S.E.2d 622 (1980)).

The common sense corollary is that when a product is modified
after “the time it left defendant’s plant” the defendant is insulated
from claims of negligent design, regardless of whether the modifier is
a party to the action. Indeed, at first blush it seems illogical to subject
a manufacturer to liability for injuries resulting from a modified prod-
uct potentially quite different from that initially placed into the
stream of commerce solely on the grounds that the modifier had not
been joined in the action. However, “[i]n interpreting statutes, . . . it is
always presumed that the Legislature acted with full knowledge of
prior and existing law.” Investors, Inc. v. Berry, 293 N.C. 688, 695, 239
S.E.2d 566, 570 (1977). Thus, in light of the fact that N.C.G.S. § 99B-3
directly addresses the affirmative defense of product modification in
products liability actions, I concede that the language therein must
control this Court’s decision.

Nonetheless, it is troubling that strict adherence to the statutory
language regarding modification defense represents so dramatic a
departure from the view held in all other states regarding the legal
effect of product modification on the liability of manufacturers. While
a number of other states recognize a defense to such liability when
the product has been modified, none limit the defense to apply only
when modification was performed by a party to the litigation.
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Some of the statutes in other states explicitly allow for a defense
when anyone other than the manufacturer or seller modifies the prod-
uct. For example, Indiana provides a defense in a products liability
action when the product is modified or altered “by any person after
the product’s delivery to the initial user or consumer . . ..” Ind. Code
§ 34-20-6-5 (LexisNexis 2008). Similarly, in Kentucky a modification
defense to products liability applies “to alterations or modifications
made by any person or entity, except those made in accordance with
specifications or instructions furnished by the manufacturer.” Ky.
Rev. Stat. Ann. § 411.320 (West 2006); see also Smith v. Louis
Berkman Co., 894 F.Supp. 1084, 1090 (W.D. Ky. 1995) (“KRS 411.320
indicates the Kentucky legislature’s intent to benefit product manu-
facturers by precluding their tort liability when their products are
modified or altered by someone else.”).

Other statutes fail to even mention the identity of the modifier.
In Michigan, “[a] manufacturer or seller is not liable in a product
liability action for harm caused by an alteration of the product un-
less the alteration was reasonably foreseeable.” Mich. Comp. Laws
§ 600.2947(1) (2000). In North Dakota, the modification defense
applies when the alteration or modification “occurred subsequent to
the sale by the manufacturer or seller to the initial user or consumer.”
N.D. Cent. Code § 28-01.3-03 (2006).

Finally, there are state statutes which provide a modification
defense as long as the manufacturer/seller is not responsible for
the modification. For example, the Idaho statute defines the type of
alteration or modification giving rise to a defense in a products
liability action as that which “occurs when a person or entity other
than the product seller changes the design, construction, or formula
of the product, or changes or removes warnings or instructions that
accompanied or were displayed on the product.” Idaho Code Ann.
§ 6-1405(4)(a) (2004).

In sum, after reviewing products liability statutes in states other
than North Carolina, it appears that the clear language under our
statute, N.C.G.S. § 99B-3, creates within our borders a unique legal
regime with respect to products liability. However, I recognize and
respect the fact that “[t]he decisions from other jurisdictions, while
helpful in construing the provisions of our statute, are not control-
ling; neither is the interpretation placed upon a statute similar to
ours, binding on this Court.” Stanley v. Hyman-Michaels Co., 222
N.C. 257, 266, 22 S.E.2d 570, 576 (1942).
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I also respect the principle that “[w]hen the language of a statute
is clear and without ambiguity, it is the duty of this Court to give
effect to the plain meaning of the statute, and judicial construction of
legislative intent is not required.” Diaz v. Division of Soc. Servs., 360
N.C. 384, 387, 628 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2006) (citation omitted). Here, I agree
with the majority that the legislature’s use of the word “party” renders
the language of the statute clear and unambiguous. I further note that
even if the language were “ambiguous,” there is no definitive proof in
the legislative history of N.C.G.S. § 99B-3 that the General Assembly
intended to apply a contrary meaning to the word “party.” See id.
(“IW]hen the language of a statute is ambiguous, this Court will de-
termine the purpose of the statute and the intent of the legislature in
its enactment.”).

On 29 January 1979, Senate Bill 189 was introduced in the N.C.
Senate. This bill, which was the first attempt in that legislative ses-
sion to pass products liability reform, stated:

No manufacturer or seller of a product shall be held liable in any
product liability action where a contributing cause of the injury,
death or damage to property was either (a) an alteration or mod-
ification of the product which occurred after the product left the
control of the manufacturer or seller, or (b) a use of the product
in a manner for which the product was not originally designed,
manufactured, recommended or warranted.

S.B. 189, 1979 Gen. Assem., Reg. Sess. (N.C. 1979). Notably, this ini-
tial conception of the modification defense focused on the time when
modification took place (i.e. after the product left the control of the
manufacturer) rather than the identity of the modifier.

On the same day that Senate Bill 189 was introduced, House Bill
235 was introduced with the exact same language. On 28 February
1979, a joint public hearing of the committees considering Senate
Bill 189 and House Bill 235 met to discuss the proposed legislation.
There was no mention at this joint public hearing about limiting the
modification defense to modifiers that were parties in the products
liability action.

Indeed, the first reference to the identity of the modifiers was
added on 8 March 1979 when Senate Bill 189 was amended to read

No manufacturer or seller of a product shall be held liable in any
product liability action where a contributing cause of the injury,
death or damage to property was either (a) an alteration or mod-



IN THE COURT OF APPEALS 19

STARK v. FORD MOTOR CO.
[204 N.C. App. 1 (2010)]

ification of the product which occurred after the product left the
control of such manufacturer or such seller if the alteration or
modification was not done by the manufacturer or seller, or (b)
a use of the product in a manner for which the product was not
originally designed, manufactured, recommended or warranted.

S.B. 189, 1979 Gen. Assem., Reg. Sess. (N.C. 1979) (as amended 8
Mar. 1979) (emphasis added). This amendment limited the defense to
modifications made by someone other than the manufacturer or
seller, but again did not indicate that the modifier must be a party to
the case.!

On 30 March 1979, Representative Martin Lancaster introduced
House Bill 993 as a proposed alternative to Senate Bill 189. House Bill
993 was, according to Rep. Lancaster, the Uniform Products Liability
Bill prepared by the U.S. Department of Commerce. Rep. Lancaster
stated “[t]he Senate Bill provides that the manufacturer or seller of a
product is not liable when the injury is the result of an alteration or
modification of the product which occurred after the product left
their hands. My Bill will provide that same protection.” Hearing on
H.R. 993 Before H. Judiciary II Comm., 1979 Gen. Assem., Reg.
Sess. (N.C. 1979) (statement of Rep. Martin Lancaster, Member,
Judiciary II Comm.). Again, there was no indication that the avail-
ability of such protection depended on whether the modifier was a
party to the case.

House Bill 993 was the first draft of products liability legislation
to include the word “party” but it did so as follows:

A product seller shall not be liable for harm that would not have
occurred but for the fact that his product was altered or modified
by a third party unless:

(1) the alteration or modification was in accordance with the
product seller’s instructions or specifications;

(2) the alteration or modification was made with the express
consent of the product seller; or

(3) the alteration or modification was the result of conduct that
reasonably should have been anticipated by the product seller.

H.R. 993, 1979 Gen. Assem., Reg. Sess. (N.C. 1979) (emphasis added).

1. A subsequent amendment, adopted on 15 March 1979, clarified that for
the modification defense to apply the modification must have been a proximate cause
of the injury. S.B. 189, 1979 Gen. Assem., Reg. Sess. (N.C. 1979) (as amended 15
Mar. 1979).
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The three proposed bills concerning products liability (House Bill
235, House Bill 993, and Senate Bill 189) were referred to a special
study subcommittee of the House Judiciary II Committee. The sub-
committee drafted a proposed Committee substitute and this House
Substitute bill was given a favorable report. This House Committee
substitute bill is the first one that introduced the “by a party other
than the manufacturer or seller” language. Ultimately, this language
was retained in N.C.G.S. § 99B-3.

My research reveals no indication as to why the members of the
special study subcommittee of the House Judiciary II Committee
chose to add language to the statute. This is disconcerting in light of
the fact that all of the previous versions of the modification defense
seem to envision broad protection for modifiers whose products
were modified, regardless of whether the modifier was a party to the
suit, as long as the modification occurred after the product left the
manufacturer’s control. However, basic rules of statutory construc-
tion dictate that our legislature does not intend sub silentio to enact
statutory language that it has replaced with other words or phrases.
See INS v. Cardoza-Fonseca, 480 U.S. 421, 442-43, 94 L. Ed. 2d 434,
454 (1987) (citation omitted).

Furthermore, “the General Assembly is presumed to have acted
advisedly and with a knowledge of the meaning of language . . . and it
will never be assumed, if any other conclusion is permissible, that it
has done a vain and foolish thing . . . .” Bank v. Loven, 172 N.C. 666,
670-71, 90 S.E. 948, 950 (1916) (internal citation omitted). Therefore,
we are constrained to hold that the language of the modification
defense as written limits its availability to situations in which the
modifier is a party to the litigation.

It is worthwhile to query whether the burden of the legislature’s
limitation of the modification defense to “parties” could have been
mitigated by adding Tonya and Gordon Stark as new parties in this
case. The North Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure permit a defending
party to implead a new party “who is or may be liable to him for all or
part of the plaintiff’s claim against him.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1A-1, Rule
14(a) (2009). As such, Rule 14 allows impleader when the third-party
defendant may be liable to the original defendant for contribution or
indemnification. Spearman v. Pender Cty. Bd. of Educ., 175 N.C.
App. 410, 412, 623 S.E.2d 331, 333 (2006). Furthermore, “[i]t is not
necessary that the third-party defendant’s liability be previously
determined.” Rouse v. Maxwell, 40 N.C. App. 538, 543, 253 S.E.2d 326,
329, appeal dismissed, 298 N.C. 570, 261 S.E.2d 124 (1979).
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Indeed, in the instant case, Defendant was granted leave to file a
third-party complaint seeking indemnification or, in the alternative,
contribution from Tonya and Gordon Stark. The trial court granted
this motion and subsequently ordered the severance of the third-party
suit from the principal action to avoid delaying the trial in the latter.
Although this severance ultimately rendered the modification defense
unavailable to Defendant, Defendant did not argue on appeal that the
severance was error, and as such that issue is not before the Court.

In conclusion, because the language of the statute is clear, I
agree with its application in this case. If in fact the legislature
intended the modification defense to apply when the modifier is not
a party to the products liability action, it can revisit the issue and
amend the statute. As written, however, the language is subject to
only its plain and ordinary interpretation, which comports with that
of the majority.

AUDREY ANNE MIDKIFF, PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT V. JOHN MICHAEL COMPTON,
DEFENDANT-APPELLEE

No. COA09-254
(Filed 18 May 2010)

1. Appeal and Error— interlocutory order and appeal—dis-
covery—physician-patient privilege—substantial right
Although ordinarily discovery orders are not subject to im-
mediate appeal, plaintiff’s claim affected a substantial right and
was immediately appealable because plaintiff was ordered to dis-
close matters she asserted were protected by the physician-
patient privilege.

2. Discovery— motion to compel—medical records—physi-
cian-patient privilege
The trial court did not abuse its discretion in a personal
injuries case arising out of an automobile accident by granting
defendant’s motion to compel discovery. Plaintiff impliedly
waived her physician-patient privilege as to medical records
causally or historically related to her “great pain of body and
mind.”

Judge STEELMAN concurring in result in separate opinion.
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Appeal by Plaintiff from order entered 27 October 2008 by Judge
Jack W. Jenkins in Superior Court, Carteret County. Heard in the
Court of Appeals 30 September 2009.

Wheatly, Wheatly, Weeks & Lupton, PA., by Christopher L.
Beacham and Stevenson L. Weeks, for Plaintiff-Appellant.

Hall, Rodgers, Gaylord, & Millikan, PLLC, by Dwight G.
Rodgers, Jr. and Kathleen M. Millikan, for Defendant-Appellee.

McGEE, Judge.

Audrey Anne Midkiff (Plaintiff) filed a complaint on 17 April
2008, seeking to recover damages for personal injuries she sustained
when she was struck by a vehicle driven by John Michael Compton
(Defendant). Plaintiff alleged that, while she was jogging on the
shoulder of Little Deep Creek Road in Newport on or about 25
November 2006, Defendant’s vehicle ran off the pavement and struck
her, running over her right foot and injuring her lower leg, foot, and
ankle. Plaintiff alleged that Defendant was negligent in causing the
injuries cited above, which resulted in “great pain of body and mind.”

Defendant filed an answer in which he admitted he drove his
vehicle off the road but denied liability and alleged contributory neg-
ligence on the part of Plaintiff. Defendant served Plaintiff with inter-
rogatories and requests for production of documents on 17 June 2008
requesting, inter alia:

1. The office records of each physician or other health care
provider consulted by Plaintiff within the last ten (10) years,
including without limitation any chiropractors or ancillary
health care providers consulted during such period.

3. The admission and discharge summary for each hospitaliza-
tion of Plaintiff within the last ten (10) years.

Plaintiff objected to Defendant’s first and third request for pro-
duction of documents on the grounds that they were “unduly broad,
overly burdensome, and not reasonably calculated to lead to the dis-
covery of admissible evidence in that [they sought] medical records
pertaining to parts of [Plaintiff’s] body not injured in the subject col-
lision.” Plaintiff further asserted that the information sought was pro-
tected by the physician-patient privilege set forth under N.C. Gen.
Stat. § 8-63 (2009). Without waiving the foregoing objection, Plaintiff
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provided three exhibits containing Plaintiff’s medical records from
Carteret General Hospital, Carteret Surgical Associates, and Carteret
Foot & Ankle, which Plaintiff deemed related to the injuries alleged
in her complaint.

Defendant filed a motion to dismiss Plaintiff’s complaint, or in the
alternative to compel discovery, on 11 September 2008. Through his
motion, Defendant sought to compel discovery of all of Plaintiff’s
medical records for the past ten years, pursuant to Defendant’s first
and third discovery requests. Plaintiff filed a motion for a protective
order on 16 September 2008. In the motion, Plaintiff sought to prevent
discovery of the medical records in question, or in the alternative,
request that the trial court review the records in camera to make a
determination of which records were relevant to Plaintiff’s claim and
were, therefore, discoverable.

The trial court held a hearing on 29 September 2008 regarding the
motions. At the hearing, Defendant argued that Plaintiff had waived
her physician-patient privilege with respect to her entire medical his-
tory by filing lawsuit and “[bringing] her medical past into this arena.”
Defendant did not know what information could be found in the med-
ical records sought but asserted the records were necessary to the
preparation of his defense. The trial court indicated a reluctance to
conduct an in camera review because the judge presiding at the
eventual trial of the case would be in a better position to make the
necessary determinations regarding relevance of the documents.

The trial court entered an order on 27 October 2008 ordering,
inter alia:

1. That Defendants’ [sic] Motion to Dismiss is DENIED;

2. That Defendants’ [sic] Motion to Compel Discovery is
ALLOWED and that the Plaintiff shall furnish Plaintiff’s med-
ical records from each medical provider seen by her for a
period of five (5) years preceding the filing of this action and
that said records shall be furnished to Defendants [sic] within
30 days of entry of this Order;

3. That Plaintiff’s Motion for a Protective order is ALLOWED and
that the release of Plaintiff’s medical records shall be limited
to Defendant’s attorneys and their staff; and

4. That Plaintiff’s Motion to Compel Discovery is DENIED.
Plaintiff appeals.
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Timeliness of Appeal

[1] We first address the issue of whether this appeal is properly
before us. Ordinarily, discovery orders are interlocutory and are not
subject to immediate appeal. Mims v. Wright, 157 N.C. App. 339,
341, 578 S.E.2d 606, 608 (2003). Orders that are interlocutory are sub-
ject to immediate appeal when they affect a substantial right of a
party. Id. “‘[W]hen, as here, a party asserts a statutory privilege
which directly relates to the matter to be disclosed under an in-
terlocutory discovery order, and the assertion of such privilege is
not otherwise frivolous or insubstantial, the challenged order af-
fects a substantial right. . . . ” Id. (quoting Sharpe v. Worland, 351
N.C. 159, 166, 522 S.E.2d 577, 581 (1999)). Because the trial court in
the present case ordered Plaintiff to disclose matters she had
asserted were protected by the physician-patient privilege, the trial
court’s order is immediately appealable and is properly before us. See
id. (holding that appeal from a discovery order compelling disclosure
of records to which physician-patient privilege had been asserted
affected a substantial right and was, therefore, immediately appeal-
able); see also, Sharpe v. Worland, 351 N.C. at 166, 522 S.E.2d at 581,
Lockwood v. McCaskill, 261 N.C. 754, 757, 136 S.E.2d 67, 69 (1964) (“If
and when Dr. Wright is required to testify concerning privileged mat-
ters at a deposition hearing, eo instante the statutory privilege is
destroyed. This fact precludes dismissal of the appeal as fragmentary
and premature.”).

Standard of Review

When reviewing a trial court’s ruling on a discovery issue, our
Court reviews the order of the trial court for an abuse of discretion.
Midgett v. Crystal Dawn Corp., 58 N.C. App. 734, 737, 294 S.E.2d 386,
388 (1982) (noting that ordinarily, orders relating to discovery are
addressed to the discretion of the trial court and are to be reviewed
for abuse of discretion). “Abuse of discretion results where the
court’s ruling is manifestly unsupported by reason or is so arbitrary
that it could not have been the result of a reasoned decision.” State v.
Hennis, 323 N.C. 279, 285, 372 S.E.2d 523, 527 (1988).

Privilege

[2] Plaintiff first argues that the trial court abused its discretion
by granting Defendant’s motion to compel discovery because the
documents sought were protected by physician-patient privilege.
We disagree.
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As a preliminary matter, we stress that, while the two are related,
a determination of whether materials are subject to discovery is sep-
arate and independent of whether that evidence will later be admis-
sible at trial. See N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1A-1, Rule 26 (2009); N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 8C-1, Rules 402-03 (2009); see also Shellhorn v. Brad Ragan, Inc.,
38 N.C. App. 310, 314, 248 S.E.2d 103, 106 (1978) (“A determination
that particular information is relevant for discovery is not conclusive
of its admissibility as relevant evidence at trial.”). The issue before us
concerns N.C.G.S. § 1A-1, Rule 26 discovery of certain information
and not an ultimate determination of relevance and admissibility at
trial pursuant to N.C.G.S. § 1A-1, Rules 402-03.

N.C.G.S. § 1A-1, Rule 26 governs discovery and provides, in per-
tinent part, that “[p]arties may obtain discovery regarding any mat-
ter, not privileged, which is relevant to the subject matter involved in
the pending action[.]” N.C.G.S. § 1A-1, Rule 26(b)(1). N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 8-53 (2009) creates a privilege for confidential communications
between patients and their physicians and provides in pertinent part:

No person, duly authorized to practice physic or surgery, shall be
required to disclose any information which he may have acquired
in attending a patient in a professional character, and which
information was necessary to enable him to prescribe for such
patient as a physician, or to do any act for him as a surgeon . . . .
Confidential information obtained in medical records shall be fur-
nished only on the authorization of the patient, or if deceased, the
executor, administrator, or, in the case of unadministered estates,
the next of kin. Any resident or presiding judge in the district,
either at the trial or prior thereto, . . . may . . . compel disclosure
if in his opinion disclosure is necessary to a proper administra-
tion of justice.

N.C.G.S. § 8-53.

Our Supreme Court has held that the physician-patient privilege
is a qualified privilege and not an absolute one. Sims v. Charlotte
Liberty Mutual Insurance Co., 257 N.C. 32, 38, 123 S.E.2d 326, 331
(1962). The privilege belongs to the patient and may be waived by the
patient either expressly or impliedly. Capps v. Lynch, 2563 N.C. 18,
22-23, 116 S.E.2d 137, 141 (1960).

Defendant argues that Plaintiff waived her physician-patient priv-
ilege by filing this action and thereby placing her physical condition
at issue. Defendant relies on Jones v. Asheville Radiological Group,
PA. 134 N.C. App. 520, 518 S.E.2d 528 (1999) (Walker, J., dissenting
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in part) (dissent adopted by 351 N.C. 348, 524 S.E.2d 804 (2000));
Spangler v. Olchowski, 187 N.C. App. 684, 654 S.E.2d 507 (2007) and
Mims. We find it helpful to consider the history of the physician-
patient privilege in light of these three cases and therefore conduct
the following review.

Capps, Cates, and Jones

In reviewing the history of the physician-patient privilege and cir-
cumstances amounting to waiver thereof, the issue of waiver by
implication was addressed by our Supreme Court in 1960 in Capps v.
Lynch. The defendant in Capps called the plaintiff’s treating physi-
cian as a witness. Capps, 253 N.C. at 20, 116 S.E.2d at 139. The trial
court did not allow the physician to testify concerning treatment
given to the plaintiff, stating to defendant’s counsel that:

This is a confidential matter between the doctor and the plain-
tiff and if they have no objection to you using him for that, you
may do so. If they object to it, I will not let him say anything about
it. He has no right to say anything about it without the consent of
the plaintiff.

Id. at 21, 116 S.E.2d at 140. On appeal, the defendant argued that the
plaintiff had waived the physician-patient privilege by testifying him-
self about the procedure performed by his doctor. Id. Our Supreme
Court noted the following with respect to waiver:

A patient may surrender his privilege in a personal injury case by
testifying to the nature and extent of his injuries and the exami-
nation and treatment by the physician or surgeon. Whether the
testimony of the patient amounts to a waiver of privilege depends
upon the provisions of the applicable statute and the extent and
ultimate materiality of the testimony given with respect to the
nature, treatment and effect of the injury or ailment. The question
of waiver is to be determined largely by the facts and circum-
stances of the particular case on trial.

Id. at 23, 116 S.E.2d at 141. The Supreme Court ordered a new trial,
holding that, under the circumstances before it, the plaintiff had
indeed waived his privilege. Id. at 24-25, 116 S.E.2d at 142-43.

Our Supreme Court again addressed the question of implied
waiver in Cates v. Wilson, 321 N.C. 1, 361 S.E.2d 734 (1987). In Cates,
the Court noted that “[t]he principle underlying our decision in Capps
is that when a patient discloses, or permits disclosure of, information



IN THE COURT OF APPEALS 27

MIDKIFF v. COMPTON
[204 N.C. App. 21 (2010)]

gained by the physician during the physician-patient relationship, the
rationale for the physician-patient privilege evaporates.” Id. at 14, 361
S.E.2d at 742. The Court noted that Capps established a test for
waiver, “concluding that the issue must be resolved ‘largely by the
facts and circumstances of the particular case on trial.” ” Id. (quoting
Capps, 253 N.C. at 23, 116 S.E.2d at 141). The Cates court further
noted that certain situations “necessarily constitute implied
waiver[,]” such as where the patient calls the physician to testify, or
testifies himself, to the nature of the injuries or treatment. Id.

In Jones, our Court addressed the issue of waiver by implication.
The plaintiff had previously filed a malpractice action against her
gynecologist for his failure to diagnose her breast cancer. Jones, 134
N.C. App. at 522, 518 S.E.2d at 530. The plaintiff’s malpractice com-
plaint made references to a certain mammogram ordered by the gyne-
cologist and performed by a radiological facility. Id. at 523, 518 S.E.2d
at 530-31. During the course of the malpractice action, the gynecolo-
gist’s malpractice insurer served requests for discovery on the plain-
tiff requesting, inter alia, “the medical records for all care and treat-
ment received by plaintiff during the five-year period immediately
preceding . . .” the malpractice action. Id., 518 S.E.2d at 531. The
plaintiff forwarded these records to the insurer as well as to her gyne-
cologist. Id. The radiological facility subsequently released the plain-
tiff’s records to a physician retained as an expert by the defendant
gynecologist. Id. at 524, 518 S.E.2d at 531. During the malpractice
trial, the plaintiff, the defendant gynecologist, and the gynecologist’s
experts “all testified in detail about the circumstances surrounding
[the gynecologist’s] alleged failure to diagnose plaintiff’s breast can-
cer properly, including the mammogram procedure.” Id. The jury
returned a verdict in favor of the defendant gynecologist and our
Court found no error. Id. at 524-25, 518 S.E.2d at 531.

The plaintiff then filed a second action, which was later appealed
to our Court. In her second action, the plaintiff alleged, inter alia,
medical malpractice claims and breach of fiduciary duty and confi-
dentiality against the radiological facility and its employees. Id. at
525, 518 S.E.2d at 531. The trial court granted summary judgment to
the defendants as to all claims and the issue before our Court was, in
pertinent part, whether there existed “genuine issues of material fact
. .. as to whether plaintiff waived the physician-patient privilege with
regards to [the radiological facility’s] unauthorized release of her
films to [the gynecologist’s expert in the first medical malpractice
action]”. Id., 518 S.E.2d at 532.
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The majority in Jones began its analysis by noting that:

The filing of a medical malpractice suit by a patient against her
physician, however, constitutes a limited implied waiver of the
physician-patient privilege to the extent the defendant-physician
may reveal the patient’s confidential information contained in
the defendant-physician’s own records to third parties where it
is reasonably necessary to defend against the suit.

Id. at 527-28, 518 S.E.2d at 533 (emphasis in the original). The major-
ity continued, holding as follows:

In this case, plaintiff’s medical malpractice suit against [the gyne-
cologist] constituted an implied waiver of her physician-patient
privilege. [The gynecologist], as a defendant-physician in that
suit, therefore was free to disclose to third parties his own
records containing plaintiff’s confidential information, to the
extent he reasonably believed necessary in defending against
plaintiff’s action. In addition, plaintiff’s filing of the underlying
action against [the gynecologist] combined with her subsequent
conduct during the course of the medical malpractice action
impliedly waived her physician-patient privilege as to records
relating to plaintiff’s breast cancer which were not in [the gyne-
cologist’s] possession. It is the effect of plaintiff’s waiver as to
these records (i.e., plaintiff’s mammography films prepared by
and in the possession of [the radiological facility]), which is at
issue in this case.

Id. at 528, 518 S.E.2d at 533-34. The majority concluded that, because
the records were not in the possession of a defendant to the first mal-
practice action, “even after plaintiff’s waiver, the films only could be
disclosed pursuant to statutorily authorized discovery procedures or
pursuant to plaintiff’s authorization.” Id. at 529, 518 S.E.2d at 534. The
majority then reversed summary judgment as to the plaintiff’s claims
regarding confidentiality and waiver of privilege. Id.

Dissenting in part, Judge Walker analyzed “when a patient effec-
tively waives the privilege, and the extent to which the privilege is
waived.” Id. at 530, 518 S.E.2d at 535. Judge Walker discussed Cates
and set forth the test for determining waiver as set out above. Id. at
530-31, 518 S.E.2d at 536. Judge Walker then cited the concurring
opinion in Cates, wherein Justice Mitchell

stated it was time for the Court to recognize an exception to the
physician-patient privilege which has already been adopted by
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the majority of jurisdictions, the patient-litigant exception. That
exception recognizes that when a patient files a medical mal-
practice action against her treating physician in which an essen-
tial part of the claim is the existence of a physical ailment, there
should be a waiver of the privilege for all communications
causally or historically related to that ailment. However, the
Court concluded that a waiver had occurred under the facts and
therefore declined to adopt that exception.

Here, when plaintiff filed the [malpractice] action, she directly
put her medical condition at the time of the mammogram pro-
cedure at issue. Thereafter, plaintiff’s conduct during the
course of the [malpractice] action clearly establishes a waiver
of her physician-patient privilege. . . . All of these facts and cir-
cumstances lead to the conclusion that plaintiff never mani-
fested a desire to preserve her physician-patient privilege as
to [the gynecologist].

Id. at 531-32, 518 S.E.2d at 535-36 (citations omitted, emphasis
added). Judge Walker then stated that he found that the waiver as to
the gynecologist was sufficient to preclude the plaintiff’'s confiden-
tiality claims against the radiological facility. Id. at 532, 518 S.E.2d at
536. Judge Walker so concluded because, once the records were
properly in the hands of the gynecologist pursuant to discovery, “no
further discovery was necessary in order for [the gynecologist] to
permit [his expert witness] to review these medical records and
films.” Id. Judge Walker then stated that he would hold that “the
waiver of the privilege as to [the gynecologist] precludes any claims
against [the radiological facility, its employee and the expert wit-
ness].” Id. On appeal, the Supreme Court reversed our Court’s deci-
sion as to this issue, “[f]or the reasons stated in Judge Walker’s dis-
senting opinion[.]” Jones v. Asheville Radiological Group, PA., 351
N.C. 348, 524 S.E.2d. 804 (2000).

Jones’ Progeny

Our Court has interpreted Jones in two pertinent opinions. First,
in Mims, we addressed the issue of whether a defendant who
responded to a plaintiff’s allegations of negligence waived his physi-
cian-patient privilege. The trial court in Mims determined that, by
simply driving a car, the defendant had waived her physician-patient
privilege with respect to an action concerning the defendant’s alleged
negligence in driving the car. Mims, 157 N.C. App. at 342, 578 S.E.2d
at 609. The plaintiff sought to introduce the defendant’s medical
records, and the trial court compelled discovery over the defendant’s
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assertion of physician-patient privilege, concluding that “[t]he
[d]efendant, by driving, waived the physician-patient privilege, and
the medical records of [d]efendant are relevant and material and may
lead to the discovery of admissible or relevant evidence and should
be produced in discovery[.]” Id. at 340, 578 S.E.2d at 608. Our Court
held that this was error. Id. at 342, 587 S.E.2d at 609.

In determining whether the trial court erred, our Court reviewed
the law as follows:

In this case, there is absolutely no authority to support the trial
court’s conclusion that defendant waived the physician-patient
privilege simply by driving. Instead, our courts have ruled that
implied waivers occur where: the patient fails to object to testi-
mony on the privileged matter; the patient herself calls the physi-
cian as a witness and examines him as to the patient’s physical
condition; or the patient testifies to the communication between
herself and the physician. Capps v. Lynch, 253 N.C. 18, 23, 116
S.E.2d 137, 141 (1960). Subsequent case law has also recognized
an tmplied waitver where a patient by bringing an action,
counterclaim, or defense directly placed her medical condition
at issue. See Jones v. Asheville Radiological Grp., 134 N.C. App.
520, 531, 518 S.E.2d 528, 535 (1999) (Walker, J., dissenting in part)
(citing Cates v. Wilson, 321 N.C. 1, 17, 361 S.E.2d 734, 744 (1987)
(Mitchell, J., concurring in the result)), rev’'d, 351 N.C. 348, 524
S.E.2d 804 (2000) (per curiam); see also State v. Smith, 347 N.C.
453, 461-62, 496 S.E.2d 357, 362 (1998) (where the defendant
sought to suppress his statements to the police by arguing he had
been suffering from controlled substance withdrawal symptoms,
the defendant placed at issue his past state of mind, and the State
properly sought to rebut this evidence with his medical records);
Laznovsky v. Laznovsky, 357 Md. 586, 745 A.2d 1054, 1067 (2000)
(“Iw]hen a party-patient places a condition in issue by way of a
claim, counterclaim, or affirmative defense, she waives the physi-
cian-patient privilege as to all matters causally or historically
related to that condition, and information which would otherwise
be protected from disclosure by the privilege then becomes sub-
ject to discovery”). Thus, had defendant, through her answer,
placed her medical condition at issue, there would be an implied
waiver of the physician-patient privilege; however, defendant
simply denied plaintiff’s allegation of negligence and, in the alter-
native, raised the defense of contributory negligence. As nothing
in her answer or subsequent conduct during the course of dis-
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covery opened the door to an inquiry into defendant’s medical
history, the trial court abused its discretion in concluding de-
fendant had waived her privilege.

Id. at 342-43, 578 S.E.2d at 609 (emphasis added).

Citing Mims, our Court again addressed this issue in Spangler v.
Olchowski, 187 N.C. App. 684, 6564 S.E.2d 507 (2007). In Spangler, we
held that “neither federal nor state law prohibited the trial court from
ordering disclosure of the [information allegedly protected by the
physician-patient privilege].” Id. at 693, 654 S.E.2d at 514. Deter-
mining whether the plaintiff had waived her privilege under North
Carolina law, we conducted the following analysis:

This patient-physician privilege is not absolute, however, and may
be waived, either by express waiver or by waiver implied from the
patient’s conduct. Mims v. Wright, 157 N.C. App. 339, 342, 578
S.E.2d 606, 609 (2003). We have recognized that a patient
impliedly waives this privilege when she opens the door to her
medical history by bringing an action, counterclaim, or
defense that places her medical condition at issue. Id. at 342-43,
578 S.E.2d at 609. Here, by bringing a claim for emotional dis-
tress, which alleges that defendants’ actions caused decedent to
withdraw from her college studies and caused an overall loss in
decedent’s enjoyment of life, we find that plaintiff has placed
decedent’s mental health and history of substance abuse at issue.
Thus, plaintiff has impliedly waived the patient-physician privi-
lege conferred by § 8-563 et seq.

Id. at 691, 654 S.E.2d at 513.

After a careful review of the opinions filed in Jones, and in light
of the history of the physician-patient privilege, we question the
Mims Court’s restatement of the holding in Jones. We first address
State v. Smith, the first of two other cases cited in Mims for the
proposition that North Carolina has adopted the patient-litigant
exception. In an opinion decided before Jones, our Supreme Court
determined that a defendant had placed his mental health at issue by
basing his motion to suppress evidence on an allegation that he was
unwell while he gave certain contested statements. State v. Smith,
347 N.C. 453, 461-62, 496 S.E.2d 357, 362 (1998). The Supreme Court
conducted the following analysis:

Defendant sought to suppress statements he made to the police
while in jail by arguing that he was suffering from controlled sub-
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stance withdrawal symptoms and would therefore have been in
no condition mentally to give statements to the police. Defendant
thus placed at issue his state of mind during the time he was in
jail, and the State properly sought to rebut that evidence with his
medical records from jail. Defendant makes no argument, and we
perceive no reason to believe, that the trial court abused its dis-
cretion in ordering the medical records disclosed. This assign-
ment of error is overruled.

Id. We find this analysis inapposite as to the issue of whether a
patient, by bringing an action against a defendant, thereby waives the
physician-patient privilege as to medical records related to the
alleged injuries.

We further note that the second case Mims cites, Laznovsky v.
Laznovsky, 357 Md. 586, 745 A.2d 1054 (2000), is a Maryland case, and
although another state’s case law can be informative and persuasive
authority, it is not sufficient to justify our Court in holding in contrast
with our Supreme Court.

We now address our interpretation of Jones in Mims. In Mims,
our one-sentence statement of the law for which Jones was offered
was as follows: “Subsequent case law has also recognized an implied
waiver where a patient by bringing an action, counterclaim, or
defense directly placed her medical condition at issue.” Id. at 342-43,
578 S.E.2d at 609. We believe support for this language can be found
in only one paragraph of Judge Walker’s dissent. That paragraph con-
cerns the patient-litigant exception:

In his concurring opinion in Cates, Justice (now Chief Justice)
Mitchell stated it was time for the Court to recognize an excep-
tion to the physician-patient privilege which has already been
adopted by the majority of jurisdictions, the patient-litigant
exception. That exception recognizes that when a patient files a
medical malpractice action against her treating physician in
which an essential part of the claim is the existence of a physical
ailment, there should be a waiver of the privilege for all commu-
nications causally or historically related to that ailment.
However, the Court concluded that a waiver had occurred under
the facts and therefore declined to adopt that exception.

Jones, 134 N.C. App. at 531, 518 S.E.2d at 535 (citations omitted,
emphasis added). A close examination of this statement reveals
that Judge Walker merely referenced Justice Mitchell’s observations



IN THE COURT OF APPEALS 33

MIDKIFF v. COMPTON
[204 N.C. App. 21 (2010)]

on the law and himself observed that this course was not adopted
by the Court. Continuing, Judge Walker’s dissent applied the follow-
ing analysis:

Here, when plaintiff filed the [malpractice] action, she directly
put her medical condition at the time of the mammogram
procedure at issue. Thereafiter, plaintiff’s conduct during the
course of the [malpractice] action clearly establishes a waiver
of her physician-patient privilege. . . . All of these facts and
circumstances lead to the conclusion that plaintiff never mani-
fested a desire to preserve her physician-patient privilege as to
[the gynecologist].

Id. at 531-32, 518 S.E.2d at 535-36. This analysis, based on facts and
circumstances, clearly applies the Capps and Cates test for deter-
mining whether an implied waiver has occurred. See Cates, 321 N.C.
at 14, 361 S.E.2d at 742 (“the issue must be resolved ‘largely by the
facts and circumstances of the particular case on trial.” ” (quoting and
discussing Capps, 2563 N.C. at 23, 116 S.E.2d at 141)). Thus, we ques-
tion the holdings of Mims and Spangler to the extent those opinions
misinterpret Jones.

However, we are without authority to overrule opinions of our
Court. See In re Appeal from Civil Penalty, 324 N.C. 373, 384, 379
S.E.2d 30, 37 (1989) (“Where a panel of the Court of Appeals has
decided the same issue, albeit in a different case, a subsequent panel
of the same court is bound by that precedent, unless it has been over-
turned by a higher court.”). Though we question the reasoning of
those rulings, we are bound to follow Mims and Spangler. We there-
fore conduct the following analysis.

Analysis

Spangler concerned a medical malpractice action against the
defendants who performed a gastric bypass surgery on the decedent.
Spangler, 187 N.C. App. at 687, 6564 S.E.2d at 510. The decedent died
of unrelated causes during the course of litigation. The decedent’s
father, as executor of decedent’s estate, was substituted as the party-
plaintiff. Id. The plaintiff alleged, inter alia, that complications due
to the surgery forced the decedent to undergo a second procedure
and caused the decedent to suffer “unnecessary conscious physical
pain and emotional distress[.]” Id.

The defendants sought “discovery of all medical records for the
ten-year period preceding [the date of the surgery], and medical
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records up to the date of trial.” Id., 654 S.E.2d at 510-11. The defend-
ants’ motion to compel discovery was granted and the plaintiff did
not appeal at that time, but several months later filed a motion for a
protective order. Id. at 687-88, 6564 S.E.2d at 511. In his motion for a
protective order, the plaintiff sought to shorten the period for pro-
duction of medical records by two days and to protect from disclo-
sure records relating to substance abuse treatment obtained by the
decedent. Id. at 688, 6564 S.E.2d at 511.

The trial court denied the plaintiff’s motion for a protective order,
finding that:

A. [The decedent’s] Estate is seeking damages for pain and suf-
fering and emotional distress.

B. Mental suffering often results in substance abuse and rec-
ords relating to substance abuse treatment may be relevant to
mental pain.

C. In that the [p]laintiff has put before the Court a claim for
emotional distress, all medical records which the [p]laintiff
asserts are protected from disclosure under 42 CFR § 2.1[sic]
et seq. and N.C.G.S. § 122C-52, et seq. are discoverable and shall
be produced.

Id. The plaintiff appealed, contending in part that the trial court erred
by ordering disclosure of the records of substance abuse treatment.
Id. at 688-89, 654 S.E.2d at 511.

Our Court affirmed the trial court’s order, holding that the plain-
tiff had waived his physician-patient privilege.

This patient-physician privilege is not absolute, however, and
may be waived, either by express waiver or by waiver implied
from the patient’s conduct. We have recognized that a patient
impliedly waives this privilege when she opens the door to her
medical history by bringing an action, counterclaim, or defense
that places her medical condition at issue. Here, by bringing a
claim for emotional distress, which alleges that [the] defend-
ants’ actions caused decedent to withdraw from her college
studies and caused an overall loss in decedent’s enjoyment of life,
we find that [the] plaintiff has placed decedent’s mental health
and history of substance abuse at issue. Thus, [the] plaintiff
has impliedly waived the patient-physician privilege conferred by
§ 8-53 et seq.
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Id. at 691, 6564 S.E.2d 513 (internal citations omitted). We note, as
interpreted under Mims and Spangler, our Supreme Court has lim-
ited this implied waiver to information “causally or historically
related to the claims.” Jones, 134 N.C. App. at 531, 518 S.E.2d at 535.

In the case before us, Plaintiff brought a personal injury action
alleging, inter alia, that “Plaintiff has suffered and will continue to
suffer great pain of body and mind[.]” Defendant sought medical
records for the preceding ten years and, upon Plaintiff’s motion, the
trial court limited the production of Plaintiff’s medical records to the
preceding five years.

Plaintiff impliedly waived her physician-patient privilege as to
medical records causally or historically related to her “great pain of
body and mind.” The trial court heard Defendant’s arguments assert-
ing possible medical reasons for Plaintiff’s pain that predated the
accident and thereafter reduced the scope of discovery from the
requested ten years to five years. We review a trial court’s decision
concerning discovery matters for an abuse of discretion. Midgett, 58
N.C. App. at 737, 294 S.E.2d at 388. In light of Spangler, we can find
no decision that is “manifestly unsupported by reason or is so arbi-
trary that it could not have been the result of a reasoned decision.”
Hennis, 323 N.C. at 285, 372 S.E.2d at 527. We therefore find no abuse
of discretion.

In Camera Review

Plaintiff argues that the privilege provided by N.C.G.S. § 8-53 is
deemed destroyed eo instante the moment of compelled disclosure,
and that the trial court should have conducted an in camera review
of the records sought in order to prevent disclosure of irrelevant or
causally unrelated evidence. We disagree. The decision to conduct in

“ e ’”

camera review rests “ ‘in the sound discretion of the trial court.
Spangler, 187 N.C. App. at 693, 664 S.E.2d at 514 (quoting Midgett, 58
N.C. App. at 736, 294 S.E.2d at 387).

At the hearing on Plaintiff’s motion for a protective order, the
trial court made the following statement:

Might be difficult for me to review these records in camera and
make a snap judgment after a quick review as to whether some-
thing is relevant or not because I don’t know what sort of evi-
dence will be developed later, what kind of issues may come up.
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But would it not make more sense to allow the motion to compel
that the defendant has put forth with the caveat that when the
matter comes to trial if there are concerns about maybe some
diagnosis . . . that may not have anything to do with the case and
as the case develops that’s clearly not fair, let the trial judge be
the judge of what will be divulged or not?

The trial court then compelled discovery of the records with the fol-
lowing limitations: the scope of the discovery was narrowed from the
preceding ten years to the preceding five years and the records were
subject to review only by Defendant’s attorneys and their staff.

The procedure used by the trial court (1) allows Defendant to
prepare a defense, (2) limits disclosure of potentially unrelated mat-
ters to Defendant’s attorneys and their staff only, and (3) places the
ultimate review of the relevance and causal relationship of the
records in the hands of the judge at the trial on the merits, who is in
the best position to make the determination of admissibility. In the
present case, the trial court simply demurred from making an eviden-
tiary ruling which the trial court stated can better be made by the pre-
siding trial judge, who will have a better understanding of the issues
in the case and will be in a better position to make such determina-
tions. We cannot say this was a result “manifestly unsupported by rea-
son or . . . so arbitrary that it could not have been the result of a rea-
soned decision.” Hennis, 323 N.C. at 285, 372 S.E.2d at 527.
Therefore, we find no abuse of discretion.

Failure to Provide that Disclosure was Necessary

Plaintiff also argues the trial court erred in compelling disclosure
of her medical records without making a specific finding, or without
making it clear in the record, so as to leave no question or doubt that
the trial court was controlling the disclosure of the records. Plaintiff
also argues the trial court was required to make it clear in the record
that, in the trial court’s opinion, the disclosure was necessary to a
proper administration of justice. However, it is only when a trial court
compels disclosure of privileged information that such findings are
implicated. N.C.G.S. § 8-53; Sims, 257 N.C. at 38, 125 S.E.2d at 331.
Because we have held that Plaintiff impliedly waived her privilege
with respect to these records, we need not address this issue. Plain-
tiff’s assignment of error is overruled.

Affirmed.

Judge JACKSON concurs.
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Judge STEELMAN concurs in the result with a separate opinion.

STEELMAN, Judge concurs in separate opinion.

I fully concur in parts II and III of the majority opinion. As to part
I, I concur in the result.

The majority focuses upon plaintiff’s claim for pain and suffering
to support the waiver of plaintiff’s physician-patient privilege. This
view is too narrow. By instituting an action for personal injury,
regardless of whether there is a claim for pain and suffering, a plain-
tiff may impliedly waive the physician-patient privilege. The scope of
that waiver must be determined by the allegations contained in the
pleadings, and the nature and extent of the injury. See Spangler v.
Olchowski, 187 N.C. App. 684, 691, 654 S.E.2d 507, 513 (2007) (“[A]
patient impliedly waives this privilege when she opens the door to her
medical history by bringing an action, counterclaim, or defense that
places her medical condition at issue.” (citation omitted)). A defend-
ant is entitled to discover the condition of the plaintiff at the time of
the alleged injury in order to properly evaluate whether the plaintiff’s
condition is the result of that injury, an aggravation of a pre-existing
condition, or solely due to a pre-existing condition.

I discern no abuse of discretion on the part of the trial judge in
the instant case. I concur with the majority that the fact that plaintiff
has produced material in discovery is not determinative as to whether
it will be admissible at trial.

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. DOUGLAS CHARLES LEPAGE

No. COA09-842
(Filed 18 May 2010)

1. Evidence— prior crimes or bad acts—harmless error

Even assuming arguendo that the trial court erred in a sexual
offense case by admitting evidence of defendant’s prior sexual
actions, the error was harmless where there was overwhelming
evidence of defendant’s guilt in this case.
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2. Appeal and Error— preservation of issues—jury
instructions

Defendant properly preserved for appellate review his ar-
gument that the trial court erred in its instruction to the jury
concerning the use of N.C.G.S. § 8C-1, 404(b) evidence because
defendant requested a jury instruction from N.C.P.I.-Crim 104.15
at the charge conference.

3. Criminal Law— jury instructions—404(b) evidence—harm-
less error

Even if the trial court erred in instructing the jury regarding
the proper use of evidence admitted under N.C.G.S. § 8C-1, Rule
404(b), given the overwhelming evidence of defendant’s guilt of
the charged sexual offenses, there existed no reasonable possi-
bility that a different result would have been reached had the
error not been made.

4. Criminal Law— jury instructions—first-degree sexual of-
fense—supported by the evidence
The trial court did not commit plain error in its instruction to
the jury on first-degree sexual offense because the evidence was
sufficient to support the trial court’s instruction.

5. Drugs— indictments fatally flawed—no subject matter
jurisdiction
Defendant’s convictions for delivery of a controlled sub-
stance and contaminating food with a controlled substance were
vacated where the indictments for the offenses were fatally
flawed. The indictments alleged that the controlled substance
used by defendant was “benzodiazepines, which is included in
Schedule IV of the North Carolina Controlled Substances Act[,]”
but benzodiazepines are not listed in Schedule IV and there exist
derivatives of the benzodiazepine category of drugs that are not
listed under Schedule IV.

Appeal by Defendant from judgments entered 3 October 2008 by
Judge C. Philip Ginn in Superior Court, Macon County. Heard in the
Court of Appeals 27 January 2010.

Attorney General Roy Cooper, by Assistant Attorney General
Kevin Anderson, for the State.

Appellate Defender Staples Hughes, by Assistant Appellate
Defender Anne M. Gomez, for Defendant-Appellant.
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McGEE, Judge.

Douglas Charles LePage (Defendant) was indicted on 2 April 2007
for statutory sex offense, delivering a controlled substance to a
minor, indecent liberties with a minor, two counts of contaminating
food with a controlled substance, and possessing a controlled sub-
stance with the intent to deliver. A jury found Defendant guilty as
charged. Defendant was sentenced to consecutive sentences of 238 to
295 months, 64 to 86 months, 16 to 20 months, and 6 to 8 months, in
prison. Defendant appeals.

The evidence at trial tended to show that Defendant was ac-
quainted with JBS, the fourteen-year-old daughter of a friend.
Defendant and his wife, Karen Smith (Smith), asked JBS’s parents
if JBS could spend the night of 6 January 2007 at their home.
Defendant intended for JBS to help him make a collage for Smith who
was depressed because her daughter was not home for the holidays.
JBS’s parents agreed.

Defendant picked JBS up at 6:00 p.m. on 6 January 2007 and
brought her to his house. Defendant, Smith, and JBS ate dinner
together. Smith left the house for an 8:00 p.m. meeting, and Defendant
and JBS worked on the collage. Smith returned to the house at 9:15
p.m. Defendant and JBS gave Smith the collage, and the three then
watched a movie in the master bedroom.

At trial, JBS testified that Defendant served Smith and JBS por-
tions of a banana cream pie around 10:00 p.m. JBS did not want to eat
the pie, but Defendant repeatedly encouraged her to do so. JBS
noticed that one bite of the pie was “very, very salty[,]” though the
rest of her portion was very sweet. Shortly after eating, Smith and
JBS fell asleep. JBS awoke during the movie and went to the guest
bedroom. JBS said it was unusual for her to fall asleep so early in
the evening.

Defendant came into the guest bedroom at some point during the
night and told JBS that Smith’s snoring was keeping him awake. He
told JBS he usually came into the guest bedroom if Smith’s snoring
was bothering him. JBS offered to move to the other guest bedroom,
but Defendant said, “[n]o, no, it’s okay[.]” Defendant kissed JBS on
the mouth and told her she was “a good kisser.”

JBS “remember[ed] a hand going down into [her] pants and then
[she] felt something weird going up into [her] body.” JBS felt “some-
thing funky that [she] had never felt before,” and felt Defendant’s
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hand “on [her] skin.” JBS then “blacked out” and she remembered
nothing else that occurred that evening. She was not aware of any-
thing being wrong with her private area before going to Defendant’s
house for the night.

JBS’s father testified that JBS was supposed to return home by
9:00 a.m. on 7 January 2007. JBS’s father reached Defendant by tele-
phone and Defendant told him that Smith was sick. JBS’s father went
to Defendant’s house to pick up JBS. When he picked up JBS, she was
lethargic and her speech was slurred. She was unable to tie her own
shoes and could not control her movements. While in the car, JBS
was “blurting . . . statements out.” She said, “[h]e kissed me[,]” “[h]is
tongue was so big[,]” and “I felt his hand.” JBS’s father then took her
to the Macon County Sheriff’s office.

Macon County Sheriff Robert Holland (Sheriff Holland) testified
that JBS stated that she went to sleep in the guest room and woke up
with Defendant lying in bed next to her. Defendant rolled over to her
side of the bed and “started putting his hand around” her vaginal area
and “would rub fast and quick, going back and forth.” JBS told Sheriff
Holland that “she [was] not sure what sex is, but she thinks that they
had sex . . .. because their tongues were in each other[.]” Sheriff
Holland arranged an appointment for JBS later that day with Dr.
Jennifer Brown (Dr. Brown), a pediatrician at “Kid’s Place, [the] local
child advocacy center.”

Dr. Brown testified that she performed an evaluation on JBS on 7
January 2007 and found that JBS was “clearly impaired.” JBS had
abrasions and swelling in and around her vaginal and anal areas.
There was a “crusty discharge” on her pubic hair, and a fresh lacera-
tion in JBS’s posterior fourchette. The area around her anus was red
and there was a new laceration there as well. JBS had three linear
marks on her right arm, a puncture mark on the inside of her left arm,
a bruise on her neck, and markings on her breasts. JBS was unsteady,
her speech was slurred, and she appeared to be intoxicated.

JBS told Dr. Brown that one bite of the pie had tasted differently
from the rest of the pie; that Defendant had gotten into bed with her,
kissed her, and rubbed her vaginal area and breasts. Dr. Brown
opined that JBS’s “posterior fourchette and anal lacerations . . . .
[were] consistent with [JBS’s] history and with penetrating injury.”
Dr. Brown testified that, during her examination of JBS’ genital area,
JBS had fallen asleep. When Dr. Brown touched JBS’ genital region,
JBS cried out in pain, despite being asleep.
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Smith testified that she fell asleep during the movie and slept
until 2:00 p.m. the next day. When Smith awoke the next day, she felt
“[w]oozy [and] nauseous[,]” and she vomited. A friend came to
Smith’s house and took her to the hospital, where Smith displayed
symptoms similar to those of JBS. Smith returned home on 8 January
2007 and asked Defendant what had happened. Defendant at first
blamed Smith’s symptoms on the dinner they had eaten the prior
evening, but then told Smith he had put drugs in the pie so that he and
Smith could have “a relaxing sexual experience.” Defendant said that
JBS must have gotten the drugged pie by mistake. Smith also testified
that Defendant had received a package containing “[c]lonazepam or
pine, one of the two” a few days earlier.

Smith told Defendant to leave the house. Defendant left and went
to visit his female cousin, L.E., in Ohio. Defendant then went to Miami
and returned to North Carolina near the end of January 2007. Smith
also testified that, after returning home from the hospital, she found
sex toys in a bag under a bed in her house. Smith had never seen
these implements before and thought the bag and the toys had “left
with [Defendant] when he left [for Ohio].”

Sheriff Holland first questioned Defendant on 7 January 2007.
Sheriff Holland testified that Defendant stated that he sometimes
slept in the guest bedroom and masturbated there. Sheriff Holland
also interviewed Defendant on 29 January 2007. Defendant admitted
to Sheriff Holland that he had put medication in the pie, and had
kissed JBS and touched her breasts. Defendant said the use of med-
ication prior to sexual activities was common between him and
Smith. Defendant told Sheriff Holland that Smith did not want to
know the medication was in the pie on 6 January 2007, and that he did
not purposefully drug JBS.

Special Agent Aaron Joncich of the State Bureau of Investigation
(Agent Joncich) testified that he tested samples of JBS’s urine and the
“test indicated the presence of a class of drugs called [b]enzodi-
azepines.” Agent Joncich testified that JBS’s urine contained a
“metabolite of Clonazepam|,]” a drug used as a sleep aid which can
cause “anterograde amnesia[.]” He testified that anterograde amnesia
“means after you take that drug you forget things during the activity
of that drug in your body.” Davis Speed, a medical technologist at
Angel Medical Center, testified that he also found the presence of
benzodiazepines in Smith’s urine.

Defendant presented evidence through his own testimony. He tes-
tified that he placed “benzodiazepine” in the banana cream pie, but
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only drugged the piece he served to Smith. When JBS went to the
guest bedroom to change for bed, he followed her. When Defendant
and JBS were making the collage earlier in the evening, JBS had told
Defendant that she was worried she was not a good kisser. Defendant
kissed JBS in the guest bedroom and told her she was a good kisser.
Defendant stayed in the room for less than ten minutes and then went
back to the master bedroom where they finished watching the movie
and Defendant fell asleep next to Smith. Defendant did not leave the
master bedroom again until morning. Defendant also denied having
put his hand in JBS’s pants and testified that, if JBS was injured, the
injuries occurred before she came to his house.

404(b) Evidence

At trial, the State presented the following evidence pursuant to
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 8C-1 Rule, 404(b). First, the trial court offered the
testimony of B.E. B.E. testified that in July 2006, when she was six-
teen years old, she met Defendant at an Alcoholics Anonymous meet-
ing. Within a few months of becoming friends with Defendant,
Defendant began to discuss his sexual problems with B.E. Defendant
told her that he could no longer have sex because he had injected
drugs into his groin. However, Defendant told B.E. that he could
“make [B.E.] feel like a woman, meaning perform oral sex [on her],
touch [her], protrude [sic] [her] in other ways.” Defendant told B.E.
that he did not have a problem with her age because “it’s legal in
North Carolina.” B.E. ended her relationship with Defendant because
she “got scared.” Defendant contends that the “trial court erred in
admitting this evidence because it was not sufficiently similar to the
charged offenses.”

The State also presented a videotape displaying sexual activity
involving Defendant and his female cousin, L.E. The video was taken
during the time Defendant left his home and went to stay with L.E. in
Ohio. In the video, Defendant can be seen inserting objects into L.E.’s
vagina. L.E. did not appear to be conscious during the activity, and
she testified at trial that she did not remember the activity. L.E. also
testified that she did not consent to the activity and that she remem-
bered being ill and vomiting during Defendant’s visit.

The B.E. Evidence

[1] Defendant first argues that the trial court erred in admitting evi-
dence of Defendant’s prior actions with B.E. Defendant contends that
our Court reviews a trial court’s ruling on the relevance of evidence
de novo. However, we review a trial court’s ruling on the admissibil-
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ity of evidence pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 8C-1, Rule 404(b)for an
abuse of discretion. State v. Summers, 177 N.C. App. 691, 697, 629
S.E.2d 902, 907 (2006).

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 8C-1, Rule 404(b) provides in pertinent part:

Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to
prove the character of a person in order to show that he acted in
conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other
purposes, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, prepara-
tion, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake, entrap-
ment or accident.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 8C-1, Rule 404(b) (2009). Our Supreme Court has
held that

Rule 404(b) “state[s] a clear general rule of inclusion of relevant
evidence of other crimes, wrongs or acts by a defendant, subject
to but one exception requiring its exclusion if its only probative
value is to show that the defendant has the propensity or dispo-
sition to commit an offense of the nature of the crime charged.”

Rule 404(b) evidence, however, should be carefully scrutinized in
order to adequately safeguard against the improper introduction
of character evidence against the accused.

State v. Al-Bayyinah, 356 N.C. 150, 154, 567 S.E.2d 120, 122 (2002)
(quoting State v. Coffey, 326 N.C. 268, 278-79, 389 S.E.2d 48, 54
(1990)) (emphasis omitted). Evidence offered under Rule 404(b)
must be analyzed focusing on “the requirements of similarity and tem-
poral proximity.” Id., 567 S.E.2d at 123.

Even assuming, arguendo, that the trial court did commit er-
ror, we find that such error would be harmless. “ ‘The party who
asserts that evidence was improperly admitted usually has the bur-
den to show the error and that he was prejudiced by its admis-
sion.” . . . Evidentiary errors are harmless unless a defendant proves
that absent the error a different result would have been reached
at trial.” State v. Ferguson, 145 N.C. App. 302, 307, 549 S.E.2d 889,
893, disc. review denied, 354 N.C. 223, 554 S.E.2d 650 (2001) (cita-
tions omitted).

Excluding B.E.’s testimony, the evidence at trial tended to show:
(1) Defendant admitted to having drugged Smith and JBS; (2)
Defendant admitted to having kissed JBS and having touched her
breasts; (3) the videotape showed Defendant using sex toys with an
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apparently drugged L.E.; (4) L.E. testified that she had not consented
to the actions shown on the videotape and that she did not remember
engaging in those actions; (5) JBS’s medical exams showed the pres-
ence of the drugs Defendant admitted to applying to the pie; (6) Smith
found sex toys that she had previously not known about under
Defendant’s side of their bed; (7) those sex toys went missing at the
same time Defendant left to go to Ohio to stay with L.E.; (8) Smith
had earlier found a package addressed to Defendant which contained
“Clonazepam or Pine[;]” (9) JBS’s urine sample contained a metabo-
lite of Clonazepam, indicating that she had recently ingested that
drug; and (10) Smith’s urine also showed the presence of one of a
class of drugs that includes Clonazepam.

We find that there was overwhelming evidence of Defendant’s
guilt and that the admission of evidence of Defendant’s proposition
to B.E. would have no probable impact on the jury’s decision. See
State v. Zinkand, 190 N.C. App. 765, 771, 661 S.E.2d 290, 293
(“Additionally, in light of the overwhelming evidence, as detailed ear-
lier, of defendant’s guilt, defendant cannot show prejudice in the trial
court’s admission of the challenged evidence as it would have no
probable impact on the jury’s decision.”), disc. review denied, 362
N.C. 513, 668 S.E.2d 783 (2008). We therefore find no prejudicial error
as to this issue.

Jury Instructions

[2], [B] Defendant argues that the trial court erred in instructing the
jury that it might consider certain evidence admitted, pursuant to
N.C.G.S. § 8C-1, Rule 404(b), for the purpose of showing “the unnat-
ural disposition of [Defendant] to commit one or more of the crimes
with which he is charged.” Specifically, Defendant contends that the
jury was allowed to consider B.E.’s testimony and the videotape for
an improper purpose.

Defendant requested a jury instruction from N.C.P.I.-Crim 104.15.
The trial court granted Defendant’s request, and gave the follow-
ing instruction:

In addition, ladies and gentlemen, evidence has been received
during the course of this trial which tends to show evidence that
. . . [D]efendant had attempted a relationship with a witness,
[B.E.], and also that there were some acts which were depicted in
the video. This evidence has been received for certain purposes.
This type of evidence, ladies and gentlemen, of prior acts of . . .
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[D]efendant or intended acts of . . . [D]efendant are accepted
for the purpose of showing that . . . [D]efendant had a motive for
the commission of the crime or crimes charged in this case; that
... [D]efendant had the intent, which is a necessary element, of
the crimes in this case; that . . . [D]efendant had the knowledge
which is a necessary element of the crime which is charged in this
case; that . . . [D]efendant had the—that there existed in the mind
of ... [D]efendant a plan, a scheme, a system or design involving
the crimes which have been alleged in these cases before you;
that . . . [D]efendant had the opportunity to commit the crime and
the absence of mistake or accident. And in addition they have
been admitted to show, if you in fact find that they do, the
unnatural disposition of . . . [D]efendant to commit one or
more of the crimes with which he’s charged.

(Emphasis added). Defendant did not object to the instructions after
they were given. Defendant assigns error specifically to that portion
of the instruction concerning Defendant’s “unnatural disposition.” We
note that this language is not contained within the main text of
N.C.PI1.—Crim. 104.15, but instead derives from footnote 1 to the pat-
tern instruction. See N.C.P.I.—Crim. 104.15 (2008).

We must first address whether this argument is properly before
us. Defendant contends that this argument was preserved for review
because “[a] request for an instruction at the charge conference suf-
ficiently complies with Rule 10(b)(2) to preserve the error for appeal
where the requested instruction is promised but is not given as was
agreed upon.” Defendant relies on State v. Keel, 333 N.C. 52, 423
S.E.2d 458 (1992), wherein the defendant was charged with first-
degree murder. In that case, the State specifically requested that the
trial court give the portion of N.C.P.I.—Crim. 206.13 relevant to first-
degree murder and the defendant did not object. Keel, 333 N.C. at 56,
423 S.E.2d. at 461. The trial court then gave the requested instruction,
but included language from a footnote of N.C.P.I.—Crim. 206.13,
which was relevant only to second-degree murder or manslaughter
charges. Id. at 57, 423 S.E.2d at 461-62.

Our Supreme Court held that “[t]he State’s request, approved by
the defendant and agreed to by the trial court, satisfied the require-
ments of Rule 10(b)(2) of the North Carolina Rules of Appellate
Procedure and preserved this question for review on appeal.” Id. at
56, 423 S.E.2d at 461; see also State v. Ross, 322 N.C. 261, 265, 367
S.E.2d 889, 891 (1988) (“[A] request for an instruction at the charge
conference is sufficient compliance with the rule to warrant our full



46 IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

STATE v. LEPAGE
[204 N.C. App. 37 (2010)]

review on appeal where the requested instruction is subsequently
promised but not given, notwithstanding any failure to bring the error
to the trial judge’s attention at the end of the instructions.”).

In Keel, the State requested, by number, a portion of a specific
instruction from the pattern jury instruction and the trial court
diverged from that request by using additional language from a por-
tion of the pattern instruction that was neither specifically requested
nor legally correct or relevant. Keel, 333 N.C. at 56-57, 423 S.E.2d at
461-62. Also in Ross,

[the] defendant requested, and the trial judge indicated he would
give, a jury instruction concerning defendant’s decision not to
testify in his own defense at trial. Yet, the transcript reveals, and
the parties agree, that for whatever reason—perhaps the tension
associated with any capital murder trial—the trial judge neg-
lected to give the requested and promised jury instruction.

Ross, 322 N.C. at 264, 367 S.E.2d at 891.

We next compare these cases to the facts before us. In the
present case, Defendant requested the “jury be instructed in accord
with N.C.PI.—Crim. 104.15-EVIDENCE OF SIMILAR ACTS OR
CRIMES.” In light of Keel and Ross, Defendant’s request “satisfied the
requirements of Rule 10(b)(2) of the North Carolina Rules of
Appellate Procedure and preserved this question for review on
appeal.” Keel, 333 N.C. at 56, 423 S.E.2d at 461.

A defendant is prejudiced by errors relating to rights arising other
than under the Constitution of the United States when there is a
reasonable possibility that, had the error in question not been
committed, a different result would have been reached at the trial
out of which the appeal arises.”

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 15A-1443(a) (2009). Assuming, arguendo, that the
trial court committed error by including the additional language in its
jury instruction, we find there is no reasonable possibility that a dif-
ferent result would have been reached at trial had the questioned lan-
guage not been included.

Considering the overwhelming evidence reviewed above, we find
that the requested instruction would have had little effect. If the trial
court had instructed the jury with only the text of N.C.PI.—Crim.
104.15, and had not included the language from footnote 1, the jury
would have been allowed to consider the videotape and B.E.’s testi-
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mony only for the limited purposes of finding common identity,
motive, intent, common plan or scheme, opportunity, knowledge,
lack of mistake, lack of entrapment, or the absence of accident. See
N.C.PI.—Crim. 104.15. In light of the substantial evidence against
Defendant, there existed no reasonable possibility that a different
result would have been reached had only the requested instruction
been given. We therefore find no prejudicial error as to this issue.

First-Degree Sex Offense

[4] Defendant also argues that the trial court erred in that its instruc-
tion to the jury on first-degree sex offense allowed the jury to convict
on an unsupported theory. Specifically, Defendant contends that the
instruction given allowed the trial court to find Defendant guilty
based on anal penetration, which was a theory unsupported by the
evidence at trial. Defendant did not object to this portion of the
instruction at trial and, on appeal, argues that the error constituted
plain error.

In order for a trial court to instruct the jury on a particular theory
of guilt, that theory must be supported by both the indictment and the
evidence presented at trial. State v. Tucker, 317 N.C. 532, 540, 346
S.E.2d 417, 422 (1986). An instruction which allows a jury to convict
a defendant on a theory of guilt unsupported by either the evidence
presented, or the indictment, may rise to the level of plain error. Id.
We review the evidence to determine whether, when taken in the light
most favorable to the State, it warrants the trial court’s giving the
instruction to the jury. State v. Grooms, 353 N.C. 50, 80-81, 540 S.E.2d
713, 732 (2000) (“These facts, taken in the light most favorable to the
State, permit an inference that defendant had a consciousness of guilt
and took steps, albeit unsuccessful, to avoid apprehension. Thus, the
trial court’s jury instruction on flight was justified.”); see also State v.
Rouse, — N.C. App. —, 679 S.E.2d 520 (2009).

In the case before us, the trial court give the following instruction
to the jury:

For you to find . . . [D]efendant guilty of this particular crime the
State has to prove four things to you beyond a reasonable doubt.

Number 1, that . . . [D]efendant engaged in a sexual act with a vic-
tim. As it applies to the facts of this case, ladies and gentlemen, a
sexual act means any penetration, however slight, by any object
into the genital or anal opening of a person’s body.
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The second thing the State has to prove to you: that at the time of
the acts the victim was fourteen years old.

The third thing that the State has to prove to you, ladies and gen-
tlemen: that at the time of the acts . . . [D]efendant was at least
six years older than the victim—that . . . [D]efendant was six
years older than the victim.

The fourth thing that they have to prove to you: that at the time
of the acts . . . [D]efendant was not lawfully married to the victim.
I believe that is conceded by both sides to be understood in this
particular case, but that is an element of the crime.

If you find from the evidence beyond a reasonable doubt that on
or about the alleged date . . . [D]efendant engaged in a sexual
act with the victim who was fourteen years of age, that . . .
[D]efendant was at least six years older than the victim and that
they were not married, it would be your duty to return a verdict
of guilty.

Thus, the jury instruction allowed the jury to convict Defendant on a
theory of statutory sex offense predicated on anal penetration.

The evidence at trial tended to show that JBS felt nothing out of
the ordinary in her “private area” prior to arriving at Defendant’s
house on 6 January 2007. Defendant drugged a pie which he served to
Smith and JBS. Defendant then came into JBS’ room during the night
and kissed her and touched her breasts. JBS testified that she felt
Defendant’s hand go “down into [her] pants” and “up into [her] body.”
JBS drifted in and out of consciousness and was under the influence
of a chemical that causes anterograde amnesia. The next morning,
she had a fresh anal laceration that was so sensitive that it caused her
to cry out in pain when a doctor was examining the area. Taken in the
light most favorable to the State, we find this evidence sufficient to
support the trial court’s instruction on anal penetration. We therefore
overrule this assignment of error.

Indictments

[6] Defendant next argues that the indictments for delivery of a con-
trolled substance and contaminating food or drink with a controlled
substance were fatally flawed. The indictment for delivery of a con-
trolled substance to a minor charged Defendant with “delivering a
controlled substance, BENZODIAZEPENES, which is included in
Schedule IV of the North Carolina Controlled Substances Act, to
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[JBS][.]” The indictment for contaminating food or drink with a con-
trolled substance charged Defendant with “CONTAMINAT[ING] a
Banana Cream Pie with a controlled substance, namely BENZODI-
AZEPINES, which is included in Schedule IV of the North Carolina
Controlled Substances Act.” Defendant contends that, because “ben-
zodiazepines” is not listed in Schedule IV of the North Carolina
Controlled Substances Act, these indictments are fatally flawed and
the convictions must be vacated. We agree.

A felony conviction must be supported by a valid indictment
which sets forth each essential element of the crime charged. State v.
Westbrooks, 345 N.C. 43, 57, 478 S.E.2d 483, 492 (1996); State v.
Sturdivant, 304 N.C. 293, 308, 283 S.E.2d 719, 729 (1981). A challenge
to the facial validity of an indictment may be brought at any time, and
need not be raised at trial for preservation on appeal. Sturdivant, 304
N.C. at 308, 283 S.E.2d at 729. Defendant relies on our opinions in
State v. Ahmadzi-Turshizi, 175 N.C. App. 783, 625 S.E.2d 604 (2006)
and State v. Ledwell, 171 N.C. App. 328, 614 S.E.2d 412 (2005).

We begin by noting that “when an indictment is alleged to be
facially invalid, thereby depriving the trial court of its jurisdiction, it
may be challenged at any time, notwithstanding a defendant’s failure
to contest its validity in the trial court.” State v. Call, 353 N.C. 400,
429, 545 S.E.2d 190, 208 (2001) (citations omitted). In Ledwell, our
Court addressed the question of whether “the trial court lacked juris-
diction on [a] charge of felonious possession of a controlled sub-
stance because the indictment was facially insufficient in failing to
allege a substance listed in Schedule 1.” Ledwell, 171 N.C. App. at 331,
614 S.E.2d at 414. Discussing the requirements of a valid indictment,
we noted that the “[i]dentity of a controlled substance allegedly pos-
sessed is . . . an essential element[,]” and must be set forth in order
for an indictment to stand. Id.

Comparing the indictment in Ledwell with the language con-
tained in Schedule I of the Controlled Substances Act, our Court
noted: “In the case sub judice, the indictment alleged possession of
‘(m]ethylenedioxyamphetamine (MDA), a controlled substance
included in Schedule I of the North Carolina Controlled Substances
Act.’ No such substance, however, appears in Schedule 1.” Id. at 332,
614 S.E.2d at 415. We then conducted the following review of similar
cases arising in other jurisdictions:

In a similar case, United States v. Huff, 512 F.2d 66 (5th Cir.1975),
the defendant was charged with two crimes: distribution of “3,4
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methylenedioxy amphetamine,” a controlled substance pursuant
to a statutory schedule of controlled substances, and possession
of “methylenedioxy amphetamine,” which was not listed on the
statutory schedule of controlled substances. The Fifth Circuit
stated that while “[t]he addition of the numbers ‘3,4’ would have
indeed saved this count, . . . we cannot regard this defect as a
mere technicality, for the chemical and legal definition of these
substances is itself technical and requires precision.” Id. at 69.
The Fifth Circuit held that the second count failed to charge an
offense and reversed the defendant’s conviction. In contrast, in
Rogers v. State, 599 So.2d 930 (Miss. 1992), the Supreme Court of
Mississippi upheld an indictment that charged a defendant with
distribution of “crystal methamphetamine.” Notably, however, the
Mississippi controlled substance statute explicitly included as
controlled substances “[a]ny substance which contains any quan-
tity of methamphetamine, including its salts, isomers, and salts of
isomers[.]” Id. at 933 (emphasis omitted) (quotation omitted).
North Carolina’s Schedule I, in contrast, does not include any
substance which contains any quantity of “methylenedioxyam-
phetamine (MDA).”

Id. at 332-33, 614 S.E.2d at 415. Our Court concluded that, because
“the substance listed in [the d]efendant’s indictment does not appear
in Schedule I of the North Carolina Controlled Substances Actl[,] . . .
the indictment must fail, and [the d]efendant’s conviction of felonious
possession of ‘{m]ethylenedioxyamphetamine (MDA)[ ]’ [must be]
vacated.” Id. at 333, 614 S.E.2d at 415. See also Ahmadi-Turshizi, 175
N.C. App. at 786, 625 S.E.2d at 606 (“As the substance listed in de-
fendant’s indictment does not appear in Schedule I of our Controlled
Substances Act, the indictment is fatally flawed and each of de-
fendant’s convictions . . . must be vacated.”).

In the case before us, the challenged indictments contained the
following language:

I. The jurors for the State upon their oath present that on or
about the date of offense shown and in the county named
above the defendant named above unlawfully, willfully, and
feloniously did

CONTAMINATE a Banana Cream Pie with a controlled sub-
stance, namely BENZODIAZEPINES, which is included in
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Schedule IV of the North Carolina Controlled Substances Act,
that was meant to render [Smith] physically helpless.

And the jurors for the State upon their oath present that on or
about the date of offense shown and in the county named
above the defendant named above unlawfully, willfully, and
feloniously did

KNOWINGLY POSSESS with the intent to deliver or possess a
controlled substance, namely BENZODIAZEPINES, as defined
in G.S. 90-87(5) for the purpose of violating this section. G.S.
14-401.16(b)

. The jurors for the State upon their oath present that on or

about the date of offense shown and in the county named
above the defendant named above unlawfully, willfully, and
feloniously did

violate G.S. 90-95(a)(1) by delivering a controlled substance,
BENZODIAZEPINES, which is included in Schedule IV of the
North Carolina Controlled Substances Act to [JBS], a person
under 16 years old but more than 13 years old, namely 14. The
defendant was at least eighteen years old or older at the time
of the offense.

And the jurors for the State upon their oath present that on or
about the date of offense shown and in the county named
above the defendant named above unlawfully, willfully, and
feloniously did

contaminate Banana Cream Pie with a controlled substance,
namely Benzodiazepines, which is included in Schedule IV of
the North Carolina Controlled Substances Act, that was meant
to render [JBS] physically helpless.

Schedule IV of the Controlled Substances Act is contained within
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 90-92 (2009). N.C.G.S. § 90-92 contains language enu-
merating forty-nine “[d]epressants”; ten “[s]timulants”; two
“[n]arcotic [d]rugs”; and six more chemicals either listed individually
or under the heading: “Other [s]ubstances.” N.C.G.S. § 90-92. Not one
of these categories, nor any of the enumerated substances, contains
the term “benzodiazepines.”
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In discussing the nature of benzodiazepines, Agent Joncich
testified at trial that: “Benzodiazepines are a class of drugs with a
similar chemical structure . . . . There’s well over twenty different
[b]enzodiazepine type drugs.” He further stated that: “Most of the
[b]enzodiazepines fall under Schedule IV of the North Carolina
General Statutes.” Agent Joncich testified that “Clonazepam” is the
generic name for a drug marketed as Klonopin, and that Clonazepam
is a benzodiazepine.

The Attorney’s Dictionary of Medicine and Word Finder de-
fines “benzodiazepines” as: “A group of drugs whose properties are
somewhat similar to those of barbiturates but which are much su-
perior. . . . The most familiar examples of this group are chlor-
diazepoxide (better known by the brand name Librium) and diazepam
(brand name: Valium).” 1 J.E. Schmidt, MD, Attorneys’ Dictionary of
Medicine and Word Finder B-70, B-71 (2008). The Comprehensive
Textbook of Psychiatry, third edition, discusses “the benzodiazepine
derivatives” as follows:

The first of the benzodiazepine derivatives, synthesized in 1957,
was chlordiazepoxide. Six additional derivatives of that class are
now available in the United States: diazepam, oxazepam, clo-
razepate, lorazepam, prazepam, and flurazepam. Other benzodi-
azepines are available on foreign markets and are undergoing
study in the United States and elsewhere.

3 Harold I. Kaplan et al., Comprehensive Textbook of Psychiatry/II1
2317 (3rd. Ed. 1980). Likewise, the Attorney’s Illustrated Medical
Dictionary defines “benzodiazepine” as “the parent compound of a
group of widely prescribed minor tranquilizers used to treat anxiety
and neuroses.” Ida G. Dox, Ph.D., et al., Attorney’s Illustrated Medical
Dictionary B9 (1997). Thus, the term “benzodiazepine” describes a
class of drug which encompasses a number of individual drugs. There
is not a drug called simply “benzodiazepine;” rather, there exist sev-
eral drugs, including Clonazepam, Diazepam, Pramazepam and oth-
ers, all of which fall within the class of benzodiazepines.

The State argues that the indictment was not fatally flawed
because, though “benzodiazepines” does not appear in Schedule IV,
an indictment must merely “apprise[] . . . [D]efendant of the charge
against him with enough certainty to allow him to prepare his
defense[.]” The State relies on State v. Newton, 21 N.C. App. 384, 204
S.E.2d 724 (1974). In Newton, our Court held that an indictment was
sufficient even though it charged a defendant with possession of
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“Desoxyn[,]” which was a substance not listed in the controlled sub-
stances act. Newton, 21 N.C. App. at 386, 204 S.E.2d at 725-26. Under
the facts of Newton, our Court held that the indictment was sufficient
because “Desoxyn” and “Methamphetamine” were “the same thing.”
Id. at 386, 204 S.E.2d at 725. We noted that:

Each of the Schedules of the Controlled Substances Act provides
that it “includes the controlled substance listed or to be listed by
whatever official name, common or usual name, chemical name,
or trade name designated.” We take notice that Desoxyn is a trade
name used by Abbott Laboratories, North Chicago, Illinois, for
methamphetamine hydrochloride.

Id.

The State contends that “in essence, [b]enzodiazepines and
Clonazepam are the same thing. At the very least, [b]enzodiazepines
is a ‘common’ name for Clonazepam.” We disagree. In essence,
Clonazepam is a benzodiazepine. However, not all benzodiazepines
are Clonazepam. For example, Diazepam is marketed under the name
“Valium” and Clonazepam is marketed under the name “Klonopin.”
See Physician’s Desk Reference (PDR) 2880 (64th ed. 2010); PDR
2855. These are not the same drug, and there are significant chemical
differences between the two. See Id. However, both Diazepam and
Clonazepam are benzodiazepines. PDR 2880 (“Valium (diazepam) is a
benzodiazepine derivative.”); PDR 2855 (“Klonopin, a benzodi-
azepine, is available[.]”). Thus, “benzodiazepines” is not a common
name for Clonazepam, nor are benzodiazepines and Clonazepam
the same thing.

Further, we note that not all benzodiazepines are listed under
Schedule IV. As Agent Joncich testified at trial: “Most of the
Benzodiazepines fall under Schedule IV of the North Carolina General
Statutes.” (Emphasis added). Agent Joncich did not testify that all
benzodiazepines were listed in Schedule IV. For example, we note
that “phenazepam” is not listed among the sixty-seven enumerated
substances listed in Schedule IV under N.C.G.S. § 90-92. However,
according to the U.S. Department of Justice Drug Enforcement
Administration, phenazepam is a benzodiazepine. See DEA
Microgram Bulletin, Volume 42, Number 12, December 2009, 94 (dis-
cussing recovery of “phenazepam (a benzodiazepine)” on a sheet of
paper suspected to contain LSD). Thus, it appears that there exist
benzodiazepines which are not regulated under Schedule IV of the
Controlled Substances Act.
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In the case before us, the indictments charged Defendant with
certain crimes involving “BENZODIAZEPINES, which is included in
Schedule IV of the North Carolina Controlled Substances Act[.]”
Pursuant to our review above, we note first that the word “BENZO-
DIAZEPINES” is not listed among any of the sixty-seven substances
listed in Schedule IV. Further, there exist derivatives of the benzodi-
azepine category of drugs that are not listed under Schedule IV.
Therefore, the indictment was flawed in that it: (1) incorrectly stated
that “benzodiazepines” is listed under Schedule IV; and (2) charged
Defendant with crimes involving the use of a category of substances,
some of which are not regulated under Schedule IV. For reasons
detailed above, we cannot agree with the State’s argument that “ben-
zodiazepines” is “essentially the same thing as [C]lonozepam.” We
therefore find that the indictments for the charges involving benzodi-
azepines are defective, and, as in Ledwell, “we cannot regard this
defect as a mere technicality, for the chemical and legal definition of
these substances is itself technical and requires precision.” Ledwell,
171 N.C. App. at 332-33, 614 S.E.2d at 415.

We are bound by the principle established under Ledwell and
Ahmadi-Turshizi, that “when an indictment fails to list a controlled
substance by its chemical name as it appears in [the relevant
Schedule of the North Carolina Controlled Substances Act], the
indictment must fail.” Ahmadi-Turshizi, 175 N.C. App. at 785, 625
S.E.2d at 605 (citing Ledwell, 171 N.C. App. at 333, 614 S.E.2d at 415).
Because an invalid indictment deprives a trial court of jurisdiction to
try a defendant, we must vacate the convictions based on the indict-
ments for delivery of a controlled substance and contamination of
food or drink with a controlled substance. State v. Felmet, 302 N.C.
173, 176, 273 S.E.2d 708, 711 (1981) (“When the record shows a lack
of jurisdiction in the lower court, the appropriate action on the part
of the appellate court is to arrest judgment or vacate any order
entered without authority.”).

Plain Errov/Ineffective Counsel

Defendant next argues that the trial court erred in instructing the
jury regarding the contamination of the pie. Because we have found
the indictment on this issue to be fatally flawed, we need not address
this argument.

No error in 07 CRS 50108 and 07 CRS 50111.
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Vacated in 07 CRS 50110 and 07 CRS 50114.

Judges STEELMAN and BEASLEY concur.

HIGH ROCK LAKE PARTNERS, LLC, A NORTH CAROLINA LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY,
PeETITIONER V. NORTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION,
RESPONDENT

NO. COA09-95
(Filed 18 May 2010)

1. Appeal and Error— interlocutory order—denial of motion
to intervene or be joined as party—Rule 54(b) certifica-
tion—substantial right

Although N.C.G.S. § 1A-1, Rule 54(b) certification did not pro-
vide the Court of Appeals with jurisdiction over this appeal since
the case did not involve a final judgment as to any claim or party,
the trial court’s denial of an individual’s motion to intervene or be
joined as a party affected a substantial right that would be lost
absent immediate appellate review because petitioner no longer
owned the pertinent property and had no reason to pursue the
case on remand. Further, petitioner’s continued pursuit of this
case could be dismissed as moot.

2. Parties— motion to intervene or be joined as party—real
party in interest

The trial court erred by denying the current property owner’s
motion to intervene or be joined as a party in a case regarding
DOT’s denial of an application for a driveway permit. The trial
court’s failure to join the real party in interest before addressing
the merits required the order to be set aside and remanded for an
order joining the property owner as a party, and for reconsidera-
tion of the petition for judicial review.

Appeal by John M. Dolven, M.D. from order entered 26 August
2008 by Judge Forrest Donald Bridges in Mecklenburg County
Superior Court. Heard in the Court of Appeals 19 August 2009.
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Van Winkle, Buck, Wall, Starnes and Davis, PA., by Craig D.
Justus, for John M. Dolven, M.D., appellant.

Attorney General Roy Cooper, by Assistant Attorney General
James M. Stanley, Jr. and Assistant Attorney General Scott K.
Beawver, for respondent-appellee.

GEER, Judge.

John M. Dolven, M.D. (“Dolven”) appeals from the trial court’s
order entered in this action commenced by High Rock Lake Partners,
LLC (“High Rock”) against the North Carolina Department of
Transportation (“DOT”). Dolven’s appeal from that order, in which
the trial court denied Dolven’s motion to intervene or be joined as a
party and remanded the matter to the DOT for further proceedings, is
interlocutory. Only the denial of Dolven’s motion to intervene or be
joined as a party is properly before this Court, and as to that issue, we
believe that a substantial right will be affected absent immediate
appellate review. Because Dolven, as the current owner of the prop-
erty for which the permit at issue is sought, is the real party in in-
terest, we reverse the trial court’s denial of his motion to be joined
as a party.

With respect to the merits of the trial court’s order, because
Dolven was not a party to the action below, he lacks standing to
appeal the trial court’s rulings on the merits of High Rock’s petition.
Nevertheless, since the trial court did not join the real party in inter-
est—Dolven—before addressing the merits, we must set aside the
order and remand for an order joining Dolven as a party and for
reconsideration of the petition for judicial review.

Facts

High Rock is a real estate development company based in
Mecklenburg County, North Carolina. On 12 August 2005, HCL
Partnership, LLP, the predecessor entity to High Rock, bought a par-
cel of land totaling approximately 188 acres near High Rock Lake in
Davidson County, North Carolina for $5,200,000.00. Financing for the
purchase price was secured by three deeds of trust, including a first
deed of trust held by Dolven.

The property is located on a peninsula jutting out into High Rock
Lake, which is situated to the south and east of a railroad crossing.
The only means of ingress and egress onto the peninsula from the
mainland is by way of a 14-foot-wide road that runs across the rail-
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road tracks. That road is SR 1135 and is part of the North Carolina
highway system maintained by the DOT. North Carolina Railroad
Company (“NCRC”) owns an easement over the railroad crossing sub-
ject to the DOT’s right of way on SR 1135. Norfolk Southern
(“Norfolk™), which manages the railroad crossing and rail lines for
NCRC, operates a regional hump station on the north and west side
of the railroad crossing.

On 9 September 2005, High Rock submitted an application to
Davidson County for preliminary plat approval of a 60-home subdivi-
sion to be developed on the property. On 20 September 2005, the
Davidson County Planning and Zoning Board (“the Planning Board”)
conducted a meeting regarding the preliminary plat. Representatives
from Norfolk appeared at the meeting to voice their opposition to the
development, questioning the safety of the railroad crossing on SR
1135 located 1/4 mile from the proposed entrance to the development.

On 4 October 2005, the Planning Board met to consider approval
of the preliminary plat. At the meeting, DOT representative Danny
Gilbert voiced the DOT’s opposition to the development. Gilbert rec-
ommended that the County require High Rock to build a bridge or
grade separation at the railroad crossing due to safety issues result-
ing from (1) the high speed and number of trains crossing the loca-
tion, (2) the hump station causing blocking of the crossing, and
(3) the increased traffic on SR 1135 because of the proposed devel-
opment. A representative from Norfolk also opposed the develop-
ment, citing safety concerns related to trains blocking the crossing,
train horn noise, and the potential for increased trespassers at the
hump station. The Planning Board subsequently voted to deny the
preliminary plat.

High Rock appealed the decision to the Davidson County Board
of Commissioners, which conducted a public hearing on the appeal
on 7 November 2005. At the hearing, DOT representatives and
Norfolk again spoke in opposition to the development, with the DOT
recommending that County approval of the plat be conditioned on
High Rock building a bridge at the railroad crossing. On 12 December
2005, the Board of Commissioners reconvened the public hearing and
approved the preliminary plat based on High Rock’s meeting all of the
County’s requirements for subdivision approval.

On 6 October 2005, High Rock submitted to the DOT a driveway
permit application seeking to extend the end of SR 1135 in order to
create an access to the development. On 12 December 2005, the DOT
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sent High Rock a letter informing it that the driveway permit applica-
tion had been denied because SR 1135 was too narrow to accommo-
date additional traffic from the development, and the parties could
not agree as to any widening improvements.

On 11 January 2006, High Rock appealed the DOT’s initial deci-
sion to deny the driveway permit to Pat Ivey, the DOT Division
Engineer. On 3 March 2006, Ivey approved the driveway permit sub-
ject to certain conditions. In essence, Ivey ruled that High Rock was
required to widen the railroad crossing to allow safe passage of
two-way traffic on the road. Ivey said this would require High Rock to
(1) “[o]btain all required licenses and approvals from the owning
railroad, NCRR, to widen the crossing and approaches on their right
of way”; and (2) “[o]btain all necessary agreements and approvals
from the operating railroad, Norfolk Southern Railway Company
(NSR), necessary to revise and acquire the automatic flashers, gates
and enhanced devices that will enable the crossing to remain at
the current ‘Sealed Corridor’ level of safety consistent with the
USDOT designation of the corridor for development of high-speed
intercity passenger rail service.” Ivey directed that “[a]ll expenses
and costs associated with the subject improvements shall be borne by
the applicant.”

On 30 March 2006, High Rock appealed Ivey’s decision to the
DOT Driveway Permit Appeals Committee. On 12 June 2006, the
Appeals Committee upheld the conditions set forth in Ivey’s letter. On
12 July 2006, High Rock filed a petition for judicial review in
Davidson County Superior Court. The trial court dismissed High
Rock’s petition with prejudice on 13 September 2007, and on 17
September 2007, High Rock re-filed its petition in Mecklenburg
County Superior Court.

On 20 June 2008, High Rock and Dolven filed a motion to join
Dolven as a party petitioner to the action. The motion explained that
Dolven had acquired the property in a foreclosure proceeding and
that High Rock had assigned to Dolven its rights to seek the driveway
permit and pursue the appeal of the denial of the permit. The motion
contended that “Dolven is a real party in interest and/or a necessary
party to this action.” High Rock and Dolven also argued that
“Dolven’s interests as the owner of the Property are different than
Petitioner’s and not, therefore, adequately represented by the existing
Petitioner.” Dolven moved in the alternative for an order allowing him
to intervene in the action.
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The trial court entered an order on 24 July 2008 and an amended
order on 26 August 2008 in which it denied the motion for
joinder/intervention. The court explained that “High Rock’s attempt
to assign its claim for relief to Dr. Dolven is contrary to the anti-
assignment provisions of G.S. § 143B-426.40A(b) and that, pursuant to
that statute, any attempt to assign this claim to Dr. Dolven is void.”

The court concluded that the portion of the Final Agency
Decision that conditioned receipt of the driveway permit on High
Rock’s obtaining licenses and approvals from the owning and operat-
ing railroads was an unlawful delegation of the determination of the
permit application. It reasoned that such a condition unlawfully left
to the discretion of the railroads the decision whether or not the nec-
essary licenses and approvals would be issued. The court, therefore,
ordered those conditions stricken and remanded the case to the
Appeals Committee “for purposes of entering an amended order that
determines whether or not to issue a Driveway Permit with respect to
this property and, if such Permit is to issue, to determine and specify
what, if any[,] conditions are to be attached to the issuance of the
Permit.” The trial court stated: “Any conditions specified must be
articulated by the agency issuing the decision and not left to the dis-
cretion of any third party.”

The trial court authorized the Appeals Committee on remand to
consider additional evidence as necessary to determine what could
reasonably be required of High Rock by the railroads and to specify
those requirements as conditions of the permit. The court stated:

The Court’s intent is that, at the hearing upon remand, the
Committee should consider all pertinent evidence, including evi-
dence of what improvements need to be made for a safe crossing.
The Committee would then have authority to deny the applica-
tion, grant the application without conditions, or grant the appli-
cation subject to whatever conditions Respondent determines
necessary, but the conditions cannot be contingent upon ap-
proval of any third party. In other words, whatever steps are nec-
essary to complete the process need to be fully investigated and
determined during the hearing process with the Committee.

The court then held that “[a]s to all other aspects of the case, the
Court is ruling in favor of the Department.” The court concluded:
“This matter be, and hereby is, remanded to the Department for con-
sideration, consistent with this Court’s order, of whether to deny the
Application for Driveway Permit, grant the Application, or grant the
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Application conditioned upon the satisfaction of any lawfully speci-
fied conditions, but any conditions imposed must be determined by
and specified with particularity by the Department rather than by a
third party|[.]”

Finally, the trial court stated that it was certifying its order for
immediate review under Rule 54(b), explaining:

In making this certification, this Court fully recognizes that it ulti-
mately will be for the appellate courts to determine whether or
not this order constitutes a final order. It is the intent of this
court, however, that this order operates as a final determination
of the issues of the statutory authority of the Department of
Transportation to require improvements at the railroad crossing
in connection with the issuance of the permit and the unlawful
delegation of decision making authority to a third party.

Dolven gave notice of appeal on 15 September 2008.
Discussion

[1] As an initial matter, we must address the interlocutory nature of
the trial court’s order, as it presents a jurisdictional issue. Akers v.
City of Mount Airy, 175 N.C. App. 777, 778, 625 S.E.2d 145, 146
(2006). “An interlocutory order . . . is one made during the pendency
of an action which does not dispose of the case, but leaves it for fur-
ther action by the trial court in order to settle and determine the
entire controversy.” Cagle v. Teachy, 111 N.C. App. 244, 247, 431
S.E.2d 801, 803 (1993). In this case, although the trial court purported
to make a final ruling on certain legal arguments, because it
remanded for further proceedings, the order did not fully dispose of
the case.

Akers involved an almost identical situation. In Akers, 175 N.C.
App. at 778, 625 S.E.2d at 146, the trial court entered an order on a
petition for judicial review of an annexation ordinance that resolved
various issues raised in the petition, but also remanded the matter to
the Board of Commissioners for further proceedings. In dismissing
the appeal as interlocutory, this Court observed: “[T]his Court has
consistently held that an order by a superior court, sitting in an appel-
late capacity, that remands to a municipal body for additional pro-
ceedings is not immediately appealable. See, e.g., Heritage Pointe
Builders, [Inc. v. N.C. Licensing Bd. of Gen. Contractors], 120 N.C.
App. [602,] 504, 462 S.E.2d [696,] 698 (1995) (appeal of superior
court’s remand to a licensing board for rehearing dismissed as inter-
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locutory); Jennewein v. City Council of the City of Wilmington, 46
N.C. App. 324, 326, 264 S.E.2d 802, 803 (1980) (appeal of superior
court’s remand to a city council for a de novo hearing dismissed as
interlocutory).” Akers, 175 N.C. App. at 779-80, 625 S.E.2d at 146-47.

Under Akers, Heritage Pointe, and Jennewein, this appeal is,
therefore, interlocutory. An interlocutory order may be immediately
appealed in only two circumstances: (1) when the trial court, pur-
suant to N.C.R. Civ. P. 54(b), enters a final judgment as to one or more
but fewer than all of the claims or parties and certifies that there is
no just reason to delay the appeal; or (2) when the order deprives the
appellant of a substantial right that would be lost absent appellate
review prior to a final determination on the merits. Jeffreys v.
Raleigh Oaks Joint Venture, 115 N.C. App. 377, 379, 444 S.E.2d 252,
253 (1994).

The trial court, in this case, included language in the order
purporting to certify it for immediate appeal under Rule 54(b). The
appellate courts are not, however, bound by a trial court’s determina-
tion that Rule 54(b) applies. See Dep’t of Transp. v. Olinger, 172 N.C.
App. 848, 851, 616 S.E.2d 672, 675 (2005) (explaining that “ ‘the trial
court’s determination that “there is no just reason to delay the
appeal,” while accorded great deference, cannot bind the appellate
courts because “ruling on the interlocutory nature of appeals is prop-
erly a matter for the appellate division, not the trial court”’ ” (quoting
First Atl. Mgmt. Corp. v. Dunlea Realty Co., 131 N.C. App. 242, 247,

507 S.E.2d 56, 60 (1998))).

Our courts have stressed that “a Rule 54(b) certification is ef-
fective to certify an otherwise interlocutory appeal only if the trial
court has entered a final judgment with regard to a party or a claim in
a case which involves multiple parties or multiple claims.” CBP
Res., Inc. v. Mountaire Farms of N.C., Inc., 134 N.C. App. 169, 171,
517 S.E.2d 151, 153-64 (1999) (emphasis added). The order in this
case does not involve, as required by Rule 54(b), a final judgment as
to any claim or party. See Sharpe v. Worland, 351 N.C. 159, 162, 522
S.E.2d 577, 579 (1999) (cautioning that “the trial court may not, by
certification, render its decree immediately appealable if ‘[it] is not a
final judgment’ ” (quoting Lamb v. Wedgewood S. Corp., 308 N.C. 419,
425, 302 S.E.2d 868, 871 (1983))); Cook v. Export Leaf Tobacco Co., 47
N.C. App. 187, 189, 266 S.E.2d 754, 756 (1980) (“The court did make a
finding that Cook ‘shall be entitled to appeal’ which might comply
with the Rule’s requirement that the court determine ‘there is no
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just reason for delay.’” However, the judgment is not final which is
also a requirement for appealability under Rule 54(b).”). Since the
order in this case did not involve a final judgment as to any claim or
party, Rule 54(b) does not provide this Court with jurisdiction over
this appeal.

We believe, however, that the trial court’s denial of Dolven’s
motion to intervene or be joined as a party affects a substantial right
that would be lost absent appellate review prior to a final determina-
tion on the merits. We acknowledge that, ordinarily, an appeal of an
order denying a motion to intervene or be joined should be dismissed
as interlocutory because “such challenges may be asserted after a
final judgment on all the claims without prejudice.” Nello L. Teer Co.
v. Jones Bros., Inc., 182 N.C. App. 300, 306, 641 S.E.2d 832, 837
(2007). Here, however, the particular procedural posture of this case
is such that we are convinced a substantial right will be lost without
immediate review. See United Servs. Auto. Ass’n v. Simpson, 126
N.C. App. 393, 395, 485 S.E.2d 337, 339 (explaining that this Court will
review interlocutory order if appellant demonstrates “the order
adversely affects a substantial right which appellant may lose if not
granted an appeal before final judgment”), disc. review denied, 347
N.C. 141, 492 S.E.2d 37 (1997).

High Rock no longer owns the property for which the permit is
sought. It, therefore, has no reason to pursue the permit on remand
from the trial court. Moreover, High Rock’s continued pursuit of the
permit could well be dismissed as moot. See Messer v. Town of
Chapel Hill, 346 N.C. 259, 261, 485 S.E.2d 269, 270 (1997) (holding
plaintiff’s sale of property to third party rendered moot his challenge
to constitutionality of re-zoning decision). Because of these circum-
stances, it is possible that there may never be a final judgment
entered in this case.

“Our jurisprudence regarding the substantial right analysis is not
defined by fixed rules applicable to all cases of a certain type, but
rather is based on an individual determination of the facts and proce-
dural context presented by each case.” Boyce & Isley, PLLC wv.
Cooper, 169 N.C. App. 572, 574-75, 611 S.E.2d 175, 176 (2005). As this
may be Dolven’s only chance for review of the denial of his motion for
joinder/intervention, we conclude his appeal is properly before us.
See Councill v. Town of Boone Bd. of Adjustment, 146 N.C. App. 103,
104, 551 S.E.2d 907, 908 (addressing merits of denial of motion to
intervene in connection with application for conditional use permit
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although appeal interlocutory), disc. review denied, 354 N.C. 360, 560
S.E.2d 130 (2001).

[2] Turning to the merits of the trial court’s decision on the interven-
tion/joinder motion, we first address the trial court’s determination
that Dolven should not be made a party to this action because High
Rock’s assignment to Dolven of the right to pursue the permit was
invalid under N.C. Gen. Stat. § 143B-426.40A(b) (2009). N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 143B-426.40A(b) provides:

Except as otherwise provided in this section, any assignment of a
claim against the State is void, regardless of the consideration
given for the assignment, unless the claim has been duly audited
and allowed by the State and the State has issued a warrant for
payment of the claim. Except as otherwise provided in this sec-
tion, the State shall not issue a warrant to an assignee of a claim
against the State.

After Dolven purchased the property, High Rock and Dolven
entered into an agreement that provided:

To the extent allowed by law, for good and valuable consid-
eration, HIGH ROCK LAKE PARTNERS, LLC does hereby assign,
to JOHN DOLVEN, except as reserved below, its rights of appeal
set forth in the Petition for Judicial Review (“Petition”) with the
North Carolina Department of Transportation, et al as Re-
spondents, filed in Mecklenburg County Superior Court on
September 17, 2007, being File No. 07 CVS 18706, along with any
and all rights and claims of ownership to the driveway permit
application identified as Exhibit “I” to the Petition; the driveway
permit, or decisions related thereto, being appealed identified as
Exhibit “S” to the Petition; and any and all rights to receive gov-
ernmental approvals, including a driveway permit, for the devel-
opment identified in paragraph #10 of the Petition as 60 single
family residential lots off SR 1135 on the Property described in
Deed Book 1634, at Page 695, Davidson County Registry. The par-
ties agree that High Rock Lake Partners, LLC reserves the right to
remain a party in the Petition case in the event that an assignment
of any of the foregoing approvals is not allowed under any applic-
able law and in order to protect its interests and standing in the
damages case referenced below. Notwithstanding, the parties
agree that Dolven have [sic] the sole and exclusive discretion in
deciding any future use or sale of the property in question, includ-
ing all rights to retain any profits associated therewith.
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Whether this assignment is barred by N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 143B-426.40A(b) depends on whether the subject of High Rock’s
assignment is a “claim against the State.”

As this is a question of statutory interpretation, we review this
argument de novo. Brown v. Flowe, 349 N.C. 520, 523, 507 S.E.2d 894,
896 (1998) (“A question of statutory interpretation is ultimately a
question of law for the courts.”). The statute does not specifically
define “claim against the State” except to provide that it includes a
part or interest in a claim. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 143B-426.40A(a)(2). It is,
however, fundamental that “statutory interpretation requires the
plain meaning of the statute to control its applicability.” Univ. of N.C.
at Chapel Hill v. Feinstein, 161 N.C. App. 700, 704, 590 S.E.2d 401,
403 (2003), disc. review denied, 358 N.C. 380, 598 S.E.2d 380 (2004).

Generally, a “claim” is defined as “[t]he assertion of an exist-
ing right; any right to payment or to an equitable remedy” or “[a]
demand for money, property, or a legal remedy to which one as-
serts a right. . . .” Black’s Law Dictionary 281-82 (9th ed. 2004). The
manner in which the phrase “claim against the State” is used in
§ 143B-426.40A(b) comports with such a definition of “claim” as an
entitlement to a legal remedy. The statute specifies that any assign-
ment of a claim against the State is void “unless the claim has been
duly audited and allowed by the State and the State has issued a war-
rant for payment of the claim.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 143B-426.40A(b)
(emphasis added). Similarly, the statute defines “[a]ssignment” as
“[a]n assignment or transfer of a claim, or a power of attorney, an
order, or another authority for receiving payment of a claim.” N.C.
Gen. Stat. § 143B-426.40A(a)(1) (emphasis added).

The two cases cited by DOT in its brief—the only authority con-
struing N.C. Gen. Stat. § 143B-426.40A(b) or its predecessor—also
indirectly support this construction. In Ledbetter Bros., Inc. v. N.C.
Dep’t of Transp., 68 N.C. App. 97, 100-01, 314 S.E.2d 761, 763 (1984),
this Court held that a “hold harmless” clause did not constitute an
assignment under § 143B-426.40A(b). Even though a subcontractor
had agreed to “hold harmless” a general contractor if the DOT
declined a claim by the general contractor based on the subcontrac-
tor’s work, the Court held that the general contractor could sue the
DOT for funds withheld based on the subcontractor’s work. Id. The
Court reasoned that the “hold harmless” agreement had not trans-
ferred anything to the general contractor, and no payment had been
made to the general contractor that would preclude it from pursuing
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its own claim for relief since it remained unpaid. Id. at 101-02, 314
S.E.2d at 765.

In contrast, in Bolton Corp. v. State, 95 N.C. App. 596, 598, 383
S.E.2d 671, 672 (1989), disc. review denied, 326 N.C. 47, 389 S.E.2d 85
(1990), the other case cited by the DOT, a subcontractor assigned its
claim for damages against the State to the prime contractor and the
prime contractor brought suit. On appeal, this Court affirmed the trial
court’s ruling that the subcontractor’s assignment of its claim for
damages was void under the anti-assignment statute. Id. at 599, 383
S.E.2d at 673.

Neither of these cases explicitly discusses what constitutes
a “claim against the State.” Both cases, however, assumed that
an assignment falling within the scope of N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 143B-426.40A(b) would involve the transfer of a claim for legal
relief—more specifically, a claim for payment of monetary dam-
ages—that would be sought in an adjudicative forum. High Rock’s
application to obtain a driveway permit and subsequent appeal from
the denial is not a demand for payment or other legal remedy from
the DOT. Instead, High Rock was seeking appellate review of a deci-
sion made by the DOT in an administrative capacity. In fact, the
assignment agreement specified that High Rock reserved the right to
remain a party in the action to protect its claim to monetary damages.
We hold, therefore, that High Rock did not assign a “claim against the
State”—within the meaning of the anti-assignment statute—to
Dolven, and its assignment was, therefore, not void on that ground.

Since N.C. Gen. Stat. § 143B-426.40A(b) is inapplicable, we
must determine whether Dolven was otherwise entitled to be joined
or to intervene as a party. One of the bases for the motion was
Rule 17(a) of the Rules of Civil Procedure, which requires that
“[e]very claim shall be prosecuted in the name of the real party in
interest . . . .”! “ ‘The real party in interest is the party who by sub-
stantive law has the legal right to enforce the claim in question.””
Whittaker v. Furniture Factory Outlet Shops, 145 N.C. App. 169, 175,
550 S.E.2d 822, 825 (2001) (quoting Reliance Ins. Co. v. Walker, 33
N.C. App. 15, 19, 234 S.E.2d 206, 209, disc. review denied, 293 N.C.
159, 236 S.E.2d 704 (1977)). Thus, the real party in interest is “ ‘a party
who is benefitted or injured by the judgment in the case.” ” Id. (quot-
ing Reliance Ins. Co., 33 N.C. App. at 19, 234 S.E.2d at 209).

1. The DOT does not address the applicability of Rule 17 in its brief on appeal.
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Here, it is undisputed that Dolven is now the owner of the prop-
erty, and High Rock no longer has any interest in that property. Only
Dolven, as the owner, would benefit from a decision by the DOT
allowing a driveway permit. High Rock has assigned all of its rights in
the driveway permit application to Dolven, and Dolven has exclusive
discretion to decide how to use the property. The DOT has not
argued, apart from N.C. Gen. Stat. § 143B-426.40A(b), that this assign-
ment of the driveway permit application is necessarily improper.
Dolven is the only party who will be benefitted or injured by the deci-
sion on appeal in this case and is, therefore, the real party in interest.
See Land v. Tall House Bldg. Co., 150 N.C. App. 132 133, 563 S.E.2d
8, 9 (2002) (holding that insurance carrier for defendant contractor
was real party in interest as to third party claim against stucco man-
ufacturer when plaintiff homeowners assigned their right to sue for
defects in their house to insurance carrier).

Rule 17(a) makes plain that the trial court should not have
addressed the merits of the case without first allowing the real party
in interest to be joined. It provides: “No action shall be dismissed on
the ground that it is not prosecuted in the name of the real party in
interest until a reasonable time has been allowed after objection for
ratification of commencement of the action by, or joinder or substi-
tution of, the real party in interest[.]” In Daniel v. Wray, 158 N.C.
App. 161, 167, 580 S.E.2d 711, 716 (2003), this Court held that pur-
suant to this language, when an action has not been brought by the
real party in interest, the trial court should, before ruling on the mer-
its of an action, “either grant[] a continuance to permit [the real party
in interest’s] joinder or correct[] the defect ex mero motu.”

As in Daniel, where the trial court erred in ruling on the merits
before permitting joinder, the trial court, in this case, erred in
addressing the merits without first joining Dolven as a party.2 We can-
not find this failure to join Dolven harmless because, since High Rock
will not benefit if the driveway permit is allowed, there is no guaran-
tee that High Rock will pursue the permit on remand or that the DOT
would allow High Rock, a non-owner, to proceed with the applica-
tion. See Booker v. Everhart, 294 N.C. 146, 158, 240 S.E.2d 360, 367
(1978) (holding that failure to join necessary party was prejudicial).
Accordingly, we reverse and remand so that Dolven can be added as
the real party in interest. See Richland Run Homeowners Ass’n v.
CHC Durham Corp., 123 N.C. App. 345, 353, 473 S.E.2d 649, 655

2. Because of this holding, we need not address Dolven’s arguments regarding
intervention.
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(1996) (Greene, J., dissenting) (concluding that under Rule 17, trial
court should have either corrected plaintiff’'s error by joining real
party in interest or refused to rule on merits until real party in in-
terest was substituted for plaintiff, and reversing and remanding “to
give the real party in interest an opportunity to join or be substituted
as a party plaintiff”), adopted per curiam, 346 N.C. 170, 484 S.E.2d
527 (1997).

Only after Dolven is joined should the trial court decide the mer-
its of the petition for judicial review. Dolven, however, urges this
Court to go ahead and address the substantive issues raised in its
appellant’s brief regarding the order below. Dolven, the sole person
bringing this appeal, was not, however, a party below.

In Bailey v. State, 3563 N.C. 142, 156, 540 S.E.2d 313, 322 (2000),
this Court held that the Attorney General, who had represented the
State in a class action, could not himself appeal the trial court’s award
of attorney’s fees to counsel for the class, because the Attorney
General was not a party. The Court explained that “[i]n order to con-
fer jurisdiction on the state’s appellate courts, appellants of lower
court orders must comply with the requirements of Rule 3 of the
North Carolina Rules of Appellate Procedure.” Id. Because those
requirements are “jurisdictional,” “failure to follow the rule’s prereq-
uisites mandates dismissal of an appeal.” Id.

The Court observed:

Rule 3 specifically designates that “any party entitled by
law to appeal from a judgment or order of a superior or district
court rendered in a civil action or special proceeding may take
appeal.” More specifically, only a “party aggrieved” may appeal a
trial court order or judgment, and such a party is one whose
rights have been directly or injuriously affected by the action of
the court.

A careful reading of Rule 3 reveals that its various subsec-
tions afford no avenue of appeal to either entities or persons who
are nonparties to a civil action. Therefore, as we have already
determined that the Attorney General is not a party to the case
sub judice, we can find no grounds on which to allow his appeal.
Accordingly, as presented, it must be dismissed.

Id. (internal citations omitted). See also In re Brownlee, 301 N.C. 532,
546, 272 S.E.2d 861, 869 (1981) (“One who is not a party to an action
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or who is not privy to the record is not entitled to appeal from the
judgment of a lower court.”).

Because Dolven was not a party below, he cannot appeal the trial
court’s ruling on the merits of High Rock’s action. The decision below
is, therefore, vacated, and this matter is remanded for further pro-
ceedings in accordance with this opinion.

Vacated and remanded.

Judges ROBERT C. HUNTER and STEELMAN concur.

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. JOHN EDWARD BREWINGTON

No. COA09-956
(Filed 18 May 2010)

Constitutional Law— right to confront witnesses—report of
drug test
The trial court erred by admitting over defendant’s constitu-
tional objection testimony from an SBI agent about a drug analy-
sis performed by another agent. The witness’s determination that
she would have come to the same conclusion as the testing ana-
lyst was not an independent expert opinion arising from the
observation and analysis of raw data; defendant could only hope
to attack on cross-examination pure assumptions about whether
procedures were properly followed during the testing process.
The evidence was prejudicial because the only other evidence
concerning the substance found was the officer’s testimony that
he believed it to be cocaine.

Appeal by defendant from judgment entered 13 February 2009 by
Judge Arnold O. Jones, II, in Wayne County Superior Court. Heard in
the Court of Appeals 10 December 2009.

Attorney General Roy Cooper, by Assistant Attorney General
Lisa Bradley Dawson, for the State.

Lucas & Ellis, PLLC, by Anna S. Lucas, for defendant appellant.
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HUNTER, JR., Robert N., Judge.

Defendant John Edward Brewington (“defendant”) appeals from
a judgment finding him guilty of possessing cocaine. Defendant
argues on appeal that the trial court erred by allowing the State’s
expert forensic chemist to offer an opinion as to the composition of
the contraband substance in issue because the testifying expert was
not the expert that conducted the analysis of the substance. After
careful review, we hold that the expert testimony should have been
excluded, and award defendant a new trial.

I. BACKGROUND

On 1 December 2008, a grand jury returned a true bill of indict-
ment against defendant charging him with possession of a controlled
substance. Defendant pled not guilty, and the trial commenced on 12
February 2009.

The State’s evidence tended to show that on 18 January 2008,
defendant was stopped on the street by Officer James Serlick of the
Goldsboro Police Department for riding a bicycle with no reflective
lights. Officer Serlick advised defendant that it was unlawful to oper-
ate a bicycle without reflectors, and asked if defendant would con-
sent to being searched. Defendant consented, and during the course
of the search, a napkin fell out of one of defendant’s socks. Officer
Serlick testified that when he looked inside the napkin, he discovered
an “offwhite rock like substance, what [he] believed to be cocaine.”
Officer Serlick testified that he placed defendant under arrest for pos-
session of a controlled substance, and transported him to the magis-
trate’s office. After delivering defendant to the jail, Officer Serlick
completed the necessary paperwork and secured the “rock like sub-
stance” in the police department evidence locker.

Officer Robert Smith, an evidence technician at the Goldsboro
Police Department, testified that he and another officer later re-
trieved the evidence placed in the locker and packaged it to be
sent to the State Bureau of Investigation (“SBI”) for analysis. Officer
Smith testified that he received the evidence back from the SBI on 9
May 2008, along with the written results of the analysis conducted by
the SBI.

SBI Special Agent Kathleen Schell was tendered as an expert wit-
ness in forensic chemistry, and testified regarding the testing of the
“offwhite rock like substance.” Defendant objected to the testimony
of Special Agent Schell on Sixth Amendment grounds, and argued
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that the testimony should be excluded because Special Agent Schell
was not the expert that actually conducted the testing. Defendant
contended that he was entitled to cross-examine the testing expert
under the Confrontation Clause. The trial court allowed an extensive
voir dire of Special Agent Schell, but declined to rule on defendant’s
motion. Thereafter, the jury was brought back into the courtroom,
and after further direct examination by the State, the trial court qual-
ified Special Agent Schell as an expert in forensic chemistry. Court
was then recessed until the following morning.

On 13 February 2009, the trial court opened proceedings with fur-
ther voir dire of Special Agent Schell. After hearing final arguments
from each side, the trial court denied defendant’s motion, citing State
v. Delaney, 171 N.C. App. 141, 613 S.E.2d 699 (2005); State v. Jones,
No. COA03-976, 2004 N.C. App. LEXIS 1655, 2004 WL 1964890 (N.C.
Ct. App., Sept. 7, 2004) (unpublished); and State v. Huffstetler, 312
N.C. 92, 322 S.E.2d 110 (1984). Applying these cases, the trial court
ruled that admitting Special Agent Schell’s testimony did not violate
the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment.

After testifying in detail about routine SBI lab procedures,
Special Agent Schell offered the following testimony.

Q. And who, according to the information that you located
in the computer, who analyzed the sample containing State’s
Exhibit 1B?

A. Nancy Gregory.

Q. And according to the lab notes, if you'll just right now list
them. What types of tests were performed on this sample?

A. There were two preliminary color tests, a preliminary crystal
test and a more specific instrumental analysis test that was con-
ducted on this piece of evidence.

Q. And from the notes that you retrieved were you able to deter-
mine what the result was of this particular color test?

A. In this particular color test it did not turn any color.

Q. And based on your training and experience, what does that
indicate?
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A. That indicates that such drugs like heroin, which would turn
purple for this test; or methamphetamine, which would turn
orange, are not present. We're looking for something that doesn’t
turn this particular color test a color.

Q. And when you reviewed this particular case, did you see the
result of this [second] test?

A. Tdid.
Q. And what was the result of that test?
A. It turned blue.

Q. And based on your training and experience, what does
that mean?

A. It means that those specific chemical groups are present.
Q. What was the next test that was performed?

A. The next test was a crystal test.

Q. And based on your review of the lab report, were you able to
determine what the result was of this particular test?

A. Yes, crosses were obtained. Those specific crosses were
obtained.

Q. And what does that result mean to you as a chemical analyst?

A. It indicates that cocaine is present.

Q. [T]he testing that Agent Gregory did on April 9 of 2008,
was that reviewed by anyone else at the State Bureau of In-
vestigation Laboratory?

A. It was reviewed by the supervisor of the Drug Chemistry
Section, Ann Hamlin.

Q. Now have you reviewed the testing procedures that
you've described and the results of the examinations of the test
yourself?
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A. Thave.
Q. And have you also reviewed Agent Gregory’s conclusion?
A. T have.

Q. Have you formed an opinion as to the item that was submitted
inside the plastic bag that’s been marked as State’s Exhibit 1B?

A. T have.
Q. And what is your opinion based on?

A. Based upon all the data that she [Agent Gregory] obtained
from the analysis of that particular item, State’s Exhibit 1B, I
would have come to the same conclusion that she did.

Q. And what is your opinion as to the identity of the substance
that was submitted as State’s Exhibit 1B?

MR. GURLEY: Just objection for the record, Judge.

THE COURT: I'll overrule the objection. You can answer
the question.

A. State’s Exhibit 1B is the Schedule II controlled substance co-
caine base. It had a weight of 0.1 gram.

The jury convicted defendant of possession of cocaine on 13
February 2009, and defendant gave oral notice of appeal.

II. JURISDICTION AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

Jurisdiction in this Court is proper pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 7A-27(b) (2009). This Court reviews alleged violations of constitu-
tional rights de novo. State v. Tate, 187 N.C. App. 593, 599, 6563 S.E.2d
892, 897 (2007). If a defendant shows that an error has occurred, the
State bears the burden of proving the error was harmless beyond a
reasonable doubt. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 15A-1443(b) (2009). Under the de
novo standard of review, this Court “considers the matter anew and
freely substitutes its own judgment for that of the [trial court].” In re
Appeal of the Greens of Pine Glen Ltd. P’ship, 356 N.C. 642, 647, 576
S.E.2d 316, 319 (2003) (citing Mann Media, Inc. v. Randolph Cty.
Planning Bd., 356 N.C. 1, 13, 565 S.E.2d 9, 17 (2002)).

III. ANALYSIS

On appeal, defendant argues that it was reversible error for the
trial court to allow the testimony of Special Agent Schell as to the
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identity of the substance contained in State’s Exhibit 1B. Defendant
argues that by permitting Special Agent Schell to testify as to her
opinion regarding the substance based solely on testing conducted by
Agent Gregory, defendant was denied his right under the Sixth
Amendment to meaningfully confront the witness against him, Agent
Gregory. We agree.

“The Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment bars admis-
sion of testimonial evidence unless the declarant is unavailable to tes-
tify and the accused has had a prior opportunity to cross-examine the
declarant.” State v. Locklear, 363 N.C. 438, 452, 681 S.E.2d 293, 304
(2009) (citing Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 68, 158 L. Ed. 2d
177, 203 (2004)). The U.S. Supreme Court has recently applied the
holding in Crawford to documents or reports that the government
seeks to enter into evidence that are “testimonial” in nature, holding
that “[t]he Sixth Amendment does not permit the prosecution to
prove its case via ex parte out-of-court affidavits, and the admission
of such evidence [is] error.” Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts, 557
U.S. —, 174 L. Ed. 2d 314, 332 (2009).

In Melendez-Diaz, the government sought to introduce “certifi-
cates of analysis” as evidence that a substance was cocaine. The
Supreme Court held that the “certificates of analysis” prepared by a
forensic analyst for trial were “functionally identical to live, in-court
testimony, doing ‘precisely what a witness does on direct examina-
tion.” ” Id. at —, 174 L. Ed. 2d at 321 (quoting Davis v. Washington,
547 U.S. 813, 830, 165 L. Ed. 2d 224, 242 (2006)).

In the case sub judice, we are faced not with the State’s attempt
to introduce the documents themselves as proof of the identity of a
substance, but the testimony of an expert allegedly relying on such
documents as the basis for her opinion. The North Carolina Supreme
Court has squarely addressed the issue of expert testimony based on
reports prepared by other, non-testifying experts in State v. Locklear,
363 N.C. 438, 681 S.E.2d 293 (2009). In that case, the North Carolina
Supreme Court applied the holding of Melendez-Diaz to the in-court
testimony of an expert who relied on the contents of “testimonial”
reports prepared by forensic examiners. The Locklear Court held that

[t]The [Melendez-Diaz] Court determined that forensic analyses
qualify as “testimonial” statements, and forensic analysts are
“witnesses” to which the Confrontation Clause applies. The
Court specifically referenced autopsy examinations as one such
kind of forensic analyses. Thus, when the State seeks to intro-
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duce forensic analyses, “[a]bsent a showing that the analysts
[are] unavailable to testify at trial and that petitioner had a prior
opportunity to cross-examine them” such evidence is inadmis-
sible under Crawford.

Id. at 452, 681 S.E.2d at 304-05 (quoting Melendez-Diaz, 557 U.S.
at ——, 174 L. Ed. 2d at 322).

The Locklear Court made clear that, like the certificates of analy-
sis at issue in Melendez-Diaz, the contents of the reports were “testi-
monial,” and the defendant had the right to confront the expert that
had prepared the report, and who in effect was “testifying” through
that report. Locklear, 363 N.C. at 452, 681 S.E.2d at 304-05.

This Court has applied the Locklear extension of Melendez-Diaz
in several decisions relevant to this appeal. In State v. Galindo, —
N.C. App. —, 683 S.E.2d 785 (2009), this Court held that the trial
court erred in admitting the testimony of chemist Michael Aldridge,
where the record showed that Aldridge

had been the supervisor of the lab for 20 years. Aldridge testified
that although he did not personally weigh or observe the weigh-
ing of the seized cocaine, as part of his supervisory duties he cal-
ibrated the scale on which it was weighed both the month before
and after it was weighed and found that the scale was in “perfect
working order.” When asked, Aldridge stated that the analyst that
had identified and weighed the cocaine and prepared the lab
report was currently working in a crime lab in South Carolina and
that she had not been subpoenaed to testify.

Aldridge explained the chain of custody procedures at the lab
and stated that they had been followed in this case. Aldridge
stated that the lab’s analysis procedures exceeded industry stan-
dards and that the types of tests performed and recorded in the
lab’s reports are relied upon by experts in the field of forensic
chemistry. Aldridge then went on to testify that in his opinion—
based “solely” on the lab report—the substances seized from the
West Ridge Road residence were, in fact, marijuana and cocaine.
With respect to the cocaine, Aldridge gave his opinion—over
defendant’s objections—that approximately 1031.83 grams of
cocaine [were] found in various parcels.

Galindo, — N.C. App. at —, 683 S.E.2d at 787. Though we held that
admission of Aldridge’s testimony was error, we did not reverse
defendant’s conviction because the State succeeded in meeting its
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burden on appeal that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable
doubt based on other evidence adduced at trial. Id. at —, 683 S.E.2d
at 788-89.

After Galindo, this Court held in State v. Mobley, — N.C.
App. —, 684 S.E.2d 508 (2009), disc. review denied, 363 N.C.
809, — S.E.2d — (2010), that a forensic DNA analyst’s expert opin-
ion was admissible because the expert merely based her opinion on
otherwise inadmissible testimonial hearsay documents. In reviewing
the DNA expert’s testimony under a plain error standard of review via
Rule 2 of the North Carolina Rules of Appellate Procedure, this Court
observed that the State’s expert “testified not just to the results of
other experts’ tests, but to her own technical review of these tests,
her own expert opinion of the accuracy of the non-testifying experts’
tests, and her own expert opinion based on a comparison of the orig-
inal data.” Mobley, — N.C. App. at —, 684 S.E.2d at 511.

State v. Davis,— N.C. App. —, 688 S.E.2d 829 (2010) followed
Galindo and Mobley. In that case, we upheld defendant’s convictions
for possession with intent to sell or deliver cocaine and sale of co-
caine, in part, because defense counsel at trial failed to object to the
forensic expert’s testimony on Sixth Amendment grounds. Id. at —,
688 S.E.2d at 834 (“As Defendant failed to object at trial to any of the
aforementioned testimony, Defendant failed to preserve for appeal
the argument that the evidence was erroneously admitted.”). Since
the defendant in Davis failed to object to “copious” evidence at trial
showing that the confiscated substance was crack cocaine—includ-
ing the forensic chemist’s expert testimony based purely on underly-
ing tests not performed by the testifying expert—we held that admis-
sion of the underlying testimonial report was harmless beyond a
reasonable doubt. Id. at —, 688 S.E.2d at 835 (“[W]e conclude that,
even if Aldridge’s laboratory report was erroneously admitted, such
error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in view of the copi-
ous—indeed, overwhelming—unchallenged evidence establishing
that the substance at issue was crack cocaine.”).

This Court distinguished Galindo and applied the Mobley excep-
tion in a new factual context in State v. Hough, — N.C. App. ——, 690
S.E.2d 285 (2010). In Hough, we held that the admission of expert
forensic testimony on the issue of whether several confiscated sub-
stances were, in fact, marijuana and cocaine was not plain error
under Locklear. Id. at —, 690 S.E.2d at 291. Despite the fact that the
testifying expert in Hough did not conduct the tests on the contra-
band in issue, we concluded that the testifying expert conducted a
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“peer review” of her colleague’s work, such that Galindo did not pre-
clude admission of the forensic expert’s testimony.

1d.

The report at issue in this case formed the basis of Alloway’s
expert opinion, but was not offered for the proof of the matter
asserted and was not prima facie evidence that the substances
recovered from the crime scene were, in fact, marijuana and
cocaine. It is not our position that every “peer review” will suffice
to establish that the testifying expert is testifying to his or her
expert opinion; however, in this case, we hold that Alloway’s tes-
timony was sufficient to establish that her expert opinion was
based on her own analysis of the lab reports.

In the most recent case in this series, State v. Brennan, this Court

held that an expert’s “peer review” of drug testing procedures by a
testing analyst was not admissible evidence. No. COA09-1362, 2010
WL 17563339, *3-4 (N.C. Ct. App., May 4, 2010). In concluding that the
forensic expert chemist’s “peer review” failed to qualify as an admis-
sible independent opinion at trial, this Court stated:

It is obvious from the above-excerpted testimony that
Agent Icard was merely reporting the results of other experts.
We cannot conclude from this, as this Court did in Mobley,
that “the underlying report, which would be testimonial on its
own, is used as a basis for the opinion of an expert who indepen-
dently reviewed and confirmed the results, and is therefore not
offered for the proof of the matter asserted under North Carolina
case law.” Id. at —, 684 S.E.2d at 512. On the contrary, as Agent
Icard explained on cross-examination, her “review” consisted
entirely of testifying in accordance with what the underlying
report indicated. Although there is some indication that Agent
Knott was unavailable due to illness, there is no indication in the
record of any prior opportunity by Defendant to cross-examine
Agent Knott.

Agent Icard did no independent research to confirm Agent
Knott’s results; in fact, she saw the substance for the first time in
open court when she testified to what—in her expert opinion—it
was. Such expertise is manifestly no more reliable than lay opin-
ion based on a visual inspection of suspected powder cocaine,
such as has been deemed inadmissible. See State v. Llamas-
Hernandez, 189 N.C. App. 640, 652, 659 S.E.2d 79, 86 (2008)
(Steelman, J., dissenting), rev’d for reasons stated in the dissent,
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363 N.C. 8, 673 S.E.2d 658 (2009) (per curiam). Insofar as Agent
Icard testified to Agent Knott’s results, the testimony violated
Defendant’s constitutional rights as interpreted in Melendez-Diaz
and Locklear.

Id. at *4.

In making our decision here, we believe it is paramount to revisit
Melendez-Diaz to ensure clarity. We believe that Melendez-Diaz and
Locklear, without further influence, clearly resolve the admissibility
of (1) an expert utilizing data collected by another person to form an
independent opinion and (2) the impermissible reiteration of an-
other’s findings and conclusions. The Supreme Court in Melendez-
Diaz stated that the foundation for a Confrontation Clause analysis is
as follows:

“[T]he [Confrontation] Clause’s ultimate goal is to ensure relia-
bility of evidence, but it is a procedural rather than a substantive
guarantee. It commands, not that evidence be reliable, but that
reliability be assessed in a particular manner: by testing in the
crucible of cross-examination. . . . Dispensing with confrontation
because testimony is obviously reliable is akin to dispensing with
jury trial because a defendant is obviously guilty. This is not what
the Sixth Amendment prescribes.”

Melendez-Diaz, 557 U.S. at ——, 174 L. Ed. 2d at 326 (emphasis
added) (citation omitted). The Supreme Court went on to say that
“[a] forensic analyst responding to a request from a law enforcement
official may feel pressure—or have an incentive—to alter the evi-
dence in a manner favorable to the prosecution.” Id. The Court
explained that “[c]onfrontation is one means of assuring accurate
forensic analysis. While it is true, as the dissent notes, that an honest
analyst will not alter his testimony when forced to confront the
defendant . . . the same cannot be said of the fraudulent analyst.” Id.
“Like the eyewitness who has fabricated his account to the police, the
analyst who provides false results may, under oath in open court,
reconsider his false testimony.” Id. “Confrontation is designed to
weed out not only the fraudulent analyst, but the incompetent one as
well. Serious deficiencies have been found in the forensic evidence
used in criminal trials.” Id. at —, 174 L. Ed. 2d at 326-27. “Like expert
witnesses generally, an analyst’s lack of proper training or deficiency
in judgment may be disclosed in cross-examination.” Id. at —, 174
L. Ed. 2d at 327.
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These excerpts make clear that the purpose of requiring the ana-
lysts themselves testify is so that their honesty, competence, and the
care with which they conducted the tests in question could be
exposed to “‘testing in the crucible of cross-examination.’” Id.
at —, 174 L. Ed. 2d at 326 (citation omitted). Thus, to allow a testi-
fying expert to reiterate the conclusions of a non-testifying expert
would eviscerate the protection of the Confrontation Clause.

Here, the question of whether the Sixth Amendment rights of
defendant were violated turns on whether Special Agent Schell
offered an independent expert opinion as to the chemical composi-
tion of the State’s evidence or whether she merely summarized the
findings of Agent Gregory. If Special Agent Schell simply offered the
opinion contained in Agent Gregory’s report—the type of report that
the Supreme Court held to be “testimonial” in Melendez-Diaz and
that the North Carolina Supreme Court held to be inadmissible
through a testifying expert in Locklear—then the defendant’s right to
confrontation was implicated and violated. If, however, Special Agent
Schell offered her own expert opinion based on independent analysis,
then her use of the underlying report prepared by Agent Gregory as a
source of data facilitating that analysis would not violate defendant’s
right to confrontation.

Applying the rules articulated in Melendez-Diaz and Locklear
to the case at bar, a four-part inquiry! is necessary: (1) determine
whether the document at issue is testimonial; (2) if the document is
testimonial, ascertain whether the declarant was unavailable at trial
and defendant was given a prior opportunity to cross-examine the
declarant; (3) if the defendant was not afforded the opportunity to
cross-examine the unavailable declarant, decide whether the testify-
ing expert was offering an independent opinion or merely summariz-
ing another non-testifying expert’s report or analysis; and (4) if the
testifying expert summarized another non-testifying expert’s report
or analysis, determine whether the admission of the document
through another testifying expert is reversible error.

In this case, the law is clear that the report utilized by Special
Agent Schell was testimonial in nature. Melendez-Diaz, 557 U.S.
at ——, 174 L. Ed. 2d at 321 (testimonial evidence includes “ ‘state-
ments that were made under circumstances which would lead an
objective witness reasonably to believe that the statement would be

1. For an explanation on the genesis of this inquiry, see State v. Conley,
COA09-456, 2010 WL 157554 (Jan. 5, 2010) (unpublished) and State v. King, COA09-524,
2010 WL 521022 (Feb. 16, 2010) (unpublished).
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available for use at a later trial’ ”) (citation omitted). Moreover, there
is nothing in the record to suggest that the State claimed that Agent
Gregory was unavailable and defendant had a previous opportunity to
cross-examine Agent Gregory. Accordingly, we conclude that Agent
Gregory’s report was inadmissible testimonial evidence, so we next
examine whether Special Agent Schell’s testimony based on Agent
Gregory’s report was an independent expert opinion or merely a sum-
mation of inadmissible testimonial evidence.

Special Agent Schell testified extensively at trial about the test-
ing procedures that are typically adhered to at the SBI lab. She testi-
fied regarding the manner in which tests are conducted in the reg-
ular course of business. However, the following exchange that
occurred between Special Agent Schell and defense counsel on
cross-examination is revealing:

Q. OKkay. And it’s true that you did not perform any of the tests on
this evidence; is that correct?

A. It is. I did not perform these tests.

Q. So you didn’t do any color test that came back negative—or
the first test in this case you said didn’t show any color change; is
that right?

A. That’s correct.

Q. So it didn’t test—it didn’t test positive on the first test. The
second test you didn’t observe any part of this evidence put in a
liquid and turn blue.

A. 1did not, but these are tests that are commonly performed in
our section.

Q. Right. But my point is you didn’t do this test so you don’t
know; you didn’t see it turn blue for yourself.

A. 1did not, no.

Q. Okay. And the crystal test, you didn’t look through the slide
that was where a part of the evidence was mixed with a liquid and
showed cross crystals. You didn’t actually see that, did you?

A. 1did not, no.

Q. And the last test about the graph that had to be cleaned up,
you didn’t see this actual result being cleaned up or see the test
performed, did you?
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A. Idid not see the test performed, but I have the data that Nancy
Gregory obtained.

It is clear from the testimony of Special Agent Schell that she had
no part in conducting any testing of the substance, nor did she con-
duct any independent analysis of the substance. She merely reviewed
the reported findings of Agent Gregory, and testified that if Agent
Gregory followed procedures, and if Agent Gregory did not make any
mistakes, and if Agent Gregory did not deliberately falsify or alter the
findings, then Special Agent Schell “would have come to the same
conclusion that she did.” As the Supreme Court clearly established in
Melendez-Diaz, it is precisely these “ifs” that need to be explored
upon cross-examination to test the reliability of the evidence.
Melendez-Diaz, 557 U.S. at —, 174 L. Ed. 2d at 327 (methodology
that forensic drug analysts use “requires the exercise of judgment and
presents a risk of error that might be explored on cross-examina-
tion”). Special Agent Schell could not have answered these questions
because she conducted no independent analysis. She testified exclu-
sively as to the tests that Agent Gregory claimed to have performed,
and used testimonial documents not admissible under Melendez-
Diaz. Her conclusion that she agreed with Agent Gregory’s analysis
assumes that Agent Gregory conducted the tests in the same manner
that Special Agent Schell would have; however, the record shows that
Special Agent Schell had no such actual knowledge of Agent
Gregory’s actions during the testing process.

The State’s attempt to posture Special Agent Schell’s testimony as
an admissible “peer review” both at trial and on appeal is not persua-
sive. In the end, the transcript of the trial shows that the testimonial
document prepared by Agent Gregory was admitted into evidence
against defendant for the substantive purpose of showing that the
contraband seized was cocaine. This end was achieved through the
testimony of Special Agent Schell. Under Melendez-Diaz and
Locklear, we are bound to conclude that this testimony was admitted
in violation of defendant’s right under the Confrontation Clause of the
Sixth Amendment.

In reaching this conclusion under these particular facts, we
believe that the facts of this case are closer to those in Brennan
rather than those in Hough. We believe that the Hough Court cor-
rectly stated that not “every ‘peer review’ will suffice to establish that
the testifying expert is testifying to his or her expert opinion[.]”
Hough, — N.C. App. at ——, 690 S.E.2d at 291. Though the Hough
Court did not further explain under what circumstances a “peer
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review” would skirt the edges of a constitutional violation and thus
avoid the mandate of Melendez-Diaz, we believe that this case pre-
sents such a situation.

In Melendez-Diaz, Justice Scalia addressed a portion of the
dissenting opinion—in which Justice Kennedy insisted that the
“certificates of analysis” were admissible—because the certificates
were akin to admissible authentications produced by a clerk of court
at common law. In disagreeing with the dissent’s position, Justice
Scalia explained the scope of the clerk’s ability to provide evidence
through the authenticating document in the context of the
Confrontation Clause:

The dissent identifies a single class of evidence which,
though prepared for use at trial, was traditionally admissible: a
clerk’s certificate authenticating an official record—or a copy
thereof—for use as evidence. But a clerk’s authority in that
regard was narrowly circumscribed. He was permied “to certify
to the correctness of a copy of a record kept in his office,” but
had “no authority to furnish, as evidence for the trial of a lawsuit,
his interpretation of what the record contains or shows, or to cer-
tify to its substance or effect.” The dissent suggests that the fact
that this exception was “ ‘narrowly circumscribed’ ” makes no
difference. To the contrary, it makes all the difference in the
world. It shows that even the line of cases establishing the one
narrow exception the dissent has been able to identify simulta-
neously vindicates the general rule applicable to the present case.
A clerk could by affidavit authenticate or provide a copy of an
otherwise admissible record, but could not do what the analysts
did here: create a record for the sole purpose of providing evi-
dence against a defendant.

Far more probative here are those cases in which the prose-
cution sought to admit into evidence a clerk’s certificate attesting
to the fact that the clerk had searched for a particular relevant
record and failed to find it. Like the testimony of the analysts in
this case, the clerk’s statement would serve as substantive evi-
dence against the defendant whose guilt depended on the nonex-
istence of the record for which the clerk searched. Although the
clerk’s certificate would qualify as an official record under
respondent’s definition—it was prepared by a public officer in the
regular course of his official duties—and although the clerk was
certainly not a “conventional witness” under the dissent’s
approach, the clerk was nonetheless subject to confrontation.
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Melendez-Diaz, 557 U.S. at ——, 174 L. Ed. 2d at 328-29 (footnotes and
citations omitted).

This same distinction is applicable here. If the substance of a tes-
timonial document is to be admitted into evidence, the author of the
testimonial document must be subjected to confrontation either (1)
before trial if he or she is unavailable and defendant chooses to exer-
cise his right or (2) during trial if he or she is available. If a third
party, such as an expert, wishes to give testimony concerning the con-
tents of a testimonial document, he or she may take one of two per-
missible approaches: (1) “certify” the correctness of the testimonial
document without offering either an “interpretation of what the
record contains or shows” or a certification “to its substance or
effect,” id. at —, 174 L. Ed. 2d at 328; or (2) render an opinion inde-
pendent of the substance of the testimonial document such that the
information in the document is not being offered for the truth of the
matter asserted.

It is precisely these principles that support the divergent direc-
tions of Mobley and Brennan. As Mobley explains in detail, a forensic
DNA analyst must perform an independent analysis of raw data to
form their expert opinion. Mobley, — N.C. App. at ——, 684 S.E.2d at
511-12. In this process, the underlying DNA data collectors do not
reach their own conclusions that are then merely reviewed by the
forensic expert based solely on a cold record. Id. This contrasts
starkly with the process utilized in this case.

As Special Agent Schell testified, her expert opinion could go no
further than the determination that she “would have come to the
same conclusion” as the testing analyst. This, as Brennan correctly
holds, is not an independent expert opinion arising from the observa-
tion and analysis of raw data. Unlike an analysis of DNA data, there
is no opportunity for a meaningful cross-examination of testimony
concerning the results of a drug test, and a defendant presented with
such damning evidence can only hope to attack pure assumptions on
whether procedures were properly followed during the forensic test-
ing process. As the Supreme Court explained in Melendez-Diaz, it is
this sort of accountability, placed directly on the testing analyst, that
the Sixth Amendment requires. It was therefore error to allow Special
Agent Schell to testify concerning the composition of the confiscated
substance at issue in this case.

We now turn to the question of whether this error requires re-
versal. The only other evidence offered by the State at trial concern-
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ing the composition of the “offwhite rock like substance” was Officer
Serlick’s testimony.

Q. And what happened next?

A. ... I picked the napkin up, looked inside the napkin and saw
an offwhite rock like substance, what I believed to be cocaine.

(Emphasis added.)

Unlike Galindo and Dawvis, this evidence is not sufficient to
show that the admission of Special Agent Schell’s testimony was
harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Lewis, 361 N.C. 541,
549, 648 S.E.2d 824, 830 (2007) (“‘A violation of the defendant’s
rights under the Constitution of the United States is prejudicial un-
less . . . it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.””) (quoting
N.C.G.S. § 15A-1443(b) (2005)). Absent any concrete evidence or
testimony that the substance in question was indeed cocaine, it is
possible that the jury could have reached a different conclusion
regarding the guilt of defendant on the charge of possession of
cocaine. We therefore agree with defendant that he should be
awarded a new trial.

IV. CONCLUSION

The trial court erred in admitting the testimony of Special Agent
Schell over defendant’s constitutional objection. Because the State
has not shown that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable
doubt, defendant is deserving of a new trial.

New trial.

Judges STROUD and ERVIN concur.
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DAVID NEAL WHISNANT anp LOIS MILLER WHISNANT, PLAINTIFFS V. CAROLINA
FARM CREDIT, ACA, DEFENDANT

No. COA09-180
(Filed 18 May 2010)

Sureties— accommodation makers—summary judgment—gen-
uine issue of material fact—fraud—negligence—unfair
trade practices

The trial court erred in a case arising out of loan defaults by
granting summary judgment in favor of defendant bank on all
claims including fraud in the inducement, actual fraud, negli-
gence, and unfair trade practices. The record raised a genuine
issue of material fact as to whether plaintiffs were induced to
enter into a contract to help their extended family receive fi-
nancing for a greenhouse in which plaintiffs had no ownership
interest or financial benefit, in ignorance of facts materially
increasing the risk of which defendant had knowledge, and de-
fendant had an opportunity before accepting plaintiffs’ undertak-
ing to inform plaintiffs of such facts. Further, there was a genuine
issue of material fact as to whether plaintiffs were accommoda-
tion makers.

Appeal by plaintiffs from order entered 21 August 2008 by Judge
Forrest D. Bridges in Superior Court, Cleveland County. Heard in the
Court of Appeals 2 September 2009.

Katten Muchin Rosenman LLP, by William L. Sitton, Jr., for
plaintiffs-appellants.

Bell, Davis & Pitt, PA., by Michael D. Phillips, for defendant-
appellee.
STROUD, Judge.

Plaintiffs appeal the trial court’s order granting summary judg-
ment on all of their claims. For the following reasons, we reverse the
trial court order granting summary judgment on all claims and re-
mand for further proceedings.

I. Background

Plaintiffs alleged that defendant loaned money to James and
Elaine Wilson (“the Wilsons”) for their greenhouse project. Plaintiffs
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had an extensive business relationship with defendant outside of the
context of the greenhouse project. Plaintiffs allege that they relied on
representations made by defendant and agreed to co-sign the Wilsons’
loan documents because of the defendant’s representations. At least
one of the loans was secured by plaintiffs’ farm, which includes their
personal residence. The Wilsons were unable to repay their loans and
defendant attempted to collect the balance from plaintiffs, including
an action to foreclose their farm. On 17 July 2007, plaintiffs filed a
verified complaint with causes of action for fraud in the inducement,
actual fraud, and negligence. Plaintiffs also requested injunctive re-
lief to prohibit the foreclosure of their property. The history of the
loans is quite complex and was summarized by the trial court in its
preliminary injunction order as follows:

1. Plaintiffs are husband and wife, residents of Cleveland
County and are owners of a residence and farm property located
on Jackson White Road, Lawndale, North Carolina (the “Farm
Property”) consisting of approximately fifty-one (51) acres.

2. Defendant Carolina Farm Credit, ACA (“CFC”) is a lending
institution and is a member institution of the Farm Credit System,
with its principal place of business in Statesville, North Carolina.

3. By letter dated June 19, 2007, Defendant notified Plaintiffs
that it intended to initiate foreclosure proceedings to sell the
Farm Property to satisfy certain indebtedness as hereinafter de-
scribed pursuant to a Deed of Trust recorded in Book 1419 at
Page 289 in the Cleveland County Registry, dated June 29, 2004.

4. Since 1998, the Plaintiffs have borrowed money for their
own use through a series of loans from the Defendant, for which
loans Plaintiffs have provided as security certain deeds of trust
against the Farm Property described above. These deeds of trust
are dated April 3, 1998, recorded in Book 1219 at Page 609;
November 22, 2002, recorded in Book 1351 at Page 2309, of the
Cleveland County Registry, respectively. The present balance of
such loans owed by the Plaintiffs to the Defendant as of the date
of this hearing was $115,375.68, together with interest accumu-
lating thereon at the rate of $23.7783 per day.

5. James and Elaine Wilson (“Wilsons” or “Debtors”) were
the owners and operators of the South Mountain Greenhouse (the
“Nursery”). The Wilsons are the sister and brother-in-law of the
Plaintiff, David Whisnant.
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6. Between December 7, 2001 and July 29, 2005, the
Plaintiffs, together with the Wilsons, signed a series of promis-
sory notes to obtain financing for the South Mountain Green-
house. Some of the later notes in the series were executed for
purposes of consolidating, modifying and refinancing earlier
notes made by the makers. These loans were made for the opera-
tion of the South Mountain Greenhouse by the Wilsons.

7. The loans described in paragraph 6 above were secured by
a Deed of Trust on the Farm Property dated June 29, 2004 and
recorded in Book 1419 at Page 289 of the Cleveland County
Registry. Defendant also asserts that, pursuant to a Future
Advances clause in the 1998 and the 2002 Deeds of Trust, these
loans also are secured by the first and second priority deeds
of trust against the Farm Property, though the Plaintiffs dispute
this contention.

8. The Plaintiffs and Defendant disagree as to the role of the
Plaintiffs in the transactions described above: the Plaintiffs refer
to themselves as “accommodation makers” while the Defendant
refers to the Plaintiffs as “co-makers.” This court does not con-
sider it necessary to determine the exact status of the Plaintiffs in
these transactions at this stage of the proceedings, but does note
that, according to the evidence presented to date, the Plaintiffs
did not receive any of the proceeds of the loans made for the
operation of the South Mountain Greenhouse.

9. The total indebtedness presently owed arising out of the
series of notes described in paragraph 6 above, as of the date of
this hearing, was $122,628.66, together with interest thereon from
August 20, 2007, at the rate of $30.8556 per day. There presently
exists a default under the terms of payment under the applicable
promissory notes for the said indebtedness.

10. Defendant has been unable to collect any payments on
the said indebtedness from the Wilsons due to the filing of a
Chapter 13 Bankruptcy Petition on September 9, 2005 by the
Wilsons. Defendant has obtained relief from the bankruptcy stay
to proceed against collateral, consisting both of the Farm
Property and a security interest in certain greenhouse equipment.
The parties disagree on the present status of liens against the
greenhouse property.

On 19 September 2007, defendant answered plaintiff’s complaint
alleging various affirmative defenses and requesting plaintiffs’ action
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be dismissed. On 19 November 2007, the trial court issued a condi-
tional preliminary injunction staying the foreclosure of the plaintiffs’
farm. On 8 January 2008, plaintiffs filed a “motion for order to show
cause[,]” (original in all caps), for defendant’s alleged violation of the
preliminary injunction order; on this same date the trial court issued
a show cause order and a notice of hearing. On 14 January 2008,
defendant filed a motion to dismiss the show cause order, which was
subsequently granted because defendant filed a voluntary dismissal
of the foreclosure action.

On 29 February 2008, plaintiffs filed a motion to amend their com-
plaint which was later allowed. Plaintiffs’ amended complaint added
a claim for unfair and deceptive trade practices. On 13 May 2008,
plaintiffs filed a motion to extend the preliminary injunction order to
prohibit defendant “from noticing or filing any claim of foreclo-
sure[.]” On or about 27 June 2008, defendant filed a motion for sum-
mary judgment. On 21 August 2008, the trial court denied plaintiff’s
motion to extend the preliminary injunction order and granted sum-
mary judgment in favor of defendant. On 15 September 2008, plain-
tiffs filed a notice of appeal.

II. Standard of Review

We are reviewing the trial court’s order granting summary judg-
ment in favor of defendant as to all of plaintiffs’ claims.

[TThe standard of review is whether there is any genuine issue of
material fact and whether the moving party is entitled to a judg-
ment as a matter of law. Summary judgment is appropriate when
viewed in the light most favorable to the non-movant, the plead-
ings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on
file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no gen-
uine issue as to any material fact and that any party is entitled to
a judgment as a matter of law.

S.B. Simmons Landscaping v. Boggs, — N.C. App. —, ——, 665
S.E.2d 147, 152 (2008) (citations and quotation marks omitted) (citing
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1A-1, Rule 56(c)).

III. Summary Judgment

Plaintiffs contend that the trial court erred in granting summary
judgment in favor of defendant regarding plaintiffs’ claims for negli-
gence, fraud in the inducement, actual fraud, and unfair and decep-
tive trade practices. Plaintiffs also contend that by signing the notes,
they were accommodation makers.
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A. Application of Suretyship Law

In order to determine “whether there is any genuine issue of
material fact and whether the moving party is entitled to a judgment
as a matter of law[,]” we must first know what law to apply. S.B.
Simmons Landscaping at ——, 665 S.E.2d 147, 152. Plaintiffs’ brief
cites to Trust Co. v. Akelaitis, 25 N.C. App. 522, 525, 214 S.E.2d 281,
284 (1975) and Gant v. NCNB, 94 N.C. App. 198, 200, 379 S.E.2d 865,
867, review dismissed, 388 S.E.2d 453 (N.C. 1989), which are both
cases regarding suretyship law. However, defendant contends that
suretyship law is not applicable.

Defendant attempts to distinguish this case from Akelaitis and
Gant on several grounds. First, defendant argues that both Akelaitis
and Gant involved “motions to dismiss, rather than motions for sum-
mary judgment. Thus, these opinions set forth limited rules for plead-
ing claims under suretyship law without the benefit of a developed
record of evidence.” However, the rule of law is the same whether we
are dealing with a motion to dismiss or a motion for summary judg-
ment; this is demonstrated by Constr. Co. v. Crain and Denbo, Inc.,
a case which proceeded to a bench trial and where certainly there
was “a developed record of evidence.” 256 N.C. 110, 114, 123 S.E.2d
590, 593 (1962). In Crain and Denbo, this Court articulated that

[i]f the creditor knows or has good grounds for believing that
the surety is being deceived or misled, or that he was induced to
enter into the contract in ignorance of facts materially increasing
the risk, of which he has knowledge, and he has an opportunity
before accepting his undertaking, to inform him of such facts,
good and fair dealing demand that he should make such disclo-
sure to him; and if he accepts the contract without doing so, the
surety may afterwards avoid it. It was at one time asserted that all
the information in obligee’s power must be given to enable the
promisor to estimate the character of the risk he is invited to
undertake. This view, however, finds no support today. A surety
is in general a friend of the principal debtor, acting at his request,
and not at that of the creditor; and, in ordinary cases, it may be
assumed that the surety obtains from the principal all of the infor-
mation which he requires. This is the rule applicable unless there
is some fact, which the creditor knows the surety probably will
not discover, of such vital importance to the risk that the creditor
must have been aware that the non-disclosure would in effect
amount to a contrary representation to the surety. The conceal-
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ment must in fact or in law be fraudulent. There is nothing in the
mere nature of the contract of suretyship itself which requires the
obligee to disclose to the proposed surety all the material facts
affecting the risk. There must be a duty on the part of the obligee
to make the disclosure.

Id. at 120-21, 123 S.E.2d at 598 (citations, quotation marks, and
ellipses omitted). Thus, the fact that we are addressing a motion for
summary judgment instead of a motion to dismiss does not change
the applicable law. The question we must consider as to summary
judgment is whether, “when viewed in the light most favorable to the
[plaintiffs], the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories,
and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that
there is [a] genuine issue as to any material fact[,]” S.B. Simmons
Landscaping at ——, 665 S.E.2d at 152, specifically whether defend-
ant knew or had

good grounds for believing that the . . . [plaintiffs were] being
deceived or misled, or that [they were] induced to enter into the
contract in ignorance of facts materially increasing the risks, of
which [defendant ha[d] knowledge, and [defendant] ha[d] an
opportunity, before accepting [plaintiffs’] undertaking, to inform
[them] of such facts.

Gant at 199-200, 379 S.E.2d at 867.

Defendant next contends that Akelaitis and Gant are distin-
guishable because though plaintiffs claim to be accommodation mak-
ers “the present case does not involve guarantors or sureties who
were third parties to the primary loan obligations. Rather, under the
plain terms of the promissory notes, [p]laintiffs were co-borrowers
with the Wilsons and co-makers of the notes.”

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 25-3-419 provides that

(a) If an instrument is issued for value given for the benefit
of a party to the instrument, the “accommodated party”, and
another party to the instrument, the “accommodation party”,
signs the instrument for the purpose of incurring liability on the
instrument without being a direct beneficiary of the value given
for the instrument, the instrument is signed by the accommoda-
tion party “for accommodation”.

(b) An accommodation party may sign the instrument
as maker, drawer, acceptor, or indorser and, subject to subsec-
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tion (d) of this section, is obliged to pay the instrument in the
capacity in which the accommodation party signs. The obligation
of an accommodation party may be enforced notwithstanding any
statute of frauds and whether or not the accommodation party
receives consideration for the accommodation.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 25-3-419(a)-(b) (2007). Also, “[w]hether a person
is an accommodation party is a question of fact.” N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 25-3-419, Official Comment 3.

The evidence when “viewed in the light most favorable to” plain-
tiffs, see S.B. Simmons Landscaping at —, 665 S.E.2d at 152, fore-
casts that plaintiffs signed the 29 July 2005 promissory note and
therefore incurred liability. Furthermore, plaintiffs signed the note in
order for their extended family to receive financing for a greenhouse
in which plaintiffs had no ownership interest and from which plaintiff
would receive no financial benefit; plaintiffs were also not recipients
of the loan proceeds. Thus, the evidence forecasts that plaintiffs
“sign[ed] the instrument for the purpose of incurring liability on the
instrument without being a direct beneficiary of the value given for
the instrument” and therefore plaintiffs would have signed “for
accommodation.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 25-3-419(a). Though defendant is
correct in noting that “[a]Jn accommodation party may sign the instru-
ment as maker, drawer, acceptor, or indorser|[,]” it must be further
noted that

“[a]ny party to a negotiable instrument may be a surety if he
signs for the accommodation of another party.” Restatement of
Security § 82 cmt. k (1941 & Supp. 1991-92); see also First
Citizens Bank & Trust Co. v. Larson, 22 N.C. App. 371, 376,
206 S.E.2d 775, 779, cert. denied, 286 N.C. 214, 209 S.E.2d 315
(1974) (“an accommodation party is always a surety”). This
would also include makers and co-makers who sign for accom-
modation purposes.

Branch Banking and Trust Co. v. Thompson, 107 N.C. App. 53, 57
n.1, 418 S.E.2d 694, 697 n.1 (citation omitted), disc. review denied,
332 N.C. 482, 421 S.E.2d 350 (1992); see also N.C. Gen. Stat. § 25-3-419,
Official Comment 1 (“An accommodation party is a person who signs
an instrument to benefit the accommodated party either by signing at
the time value is obtained by the accommodated party or later, and
who is not a direct beneficiary of the value obtained. An accommo-
dation party will usually be a co-maker or anomalous indorser.”). As
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the evidence “viewed in the light most favorable to” plaintiffs, see
S.B. Simmons Landscaping at ——, 665 S.E.2d at 152, forecasts they
are accommodation parties and thus sureties, see Thompson at 57
n.1, 418 S.E.2d at 697 n.1, suretyship law would apply and defendant’s
attempt to distinguish Akelaitis and Gant fails. As we have con-
cluded that all of defendant’s arguments regarding Akelaitis and
Gant fail, we now consider whether there were “genuine issue[s] of
material fact” in light of suretyship law. See S.B. Simmons
Landscaping at —, 665 S.E.2d at 152.

B. Genuine Issues of Material Fact

Plaintiffs argue that all of their claims were erroneously dis-
missed. Defendant claims summary judgment was properly granted
because “[p]laintiffs did not come forward with any evidence that
[defendant] concealed or misrepresented material information
regarding the financial condition of the Wilsons and South Mountain
Greenhouse and because, as a matter of law, [defendant] did not owe
[p]laintiffs a duty to disclose or warrant such information.”
Defendant contends that “the record is nevertheless void of any evi-
dence showing that [defendant] concealed from [p]laintiffs any ma-
terial information regarding the Wilsons and South Mountain
Greenhouse.”

In regard to defendant’s contentions, we first note that plaintiffs
need not allege defendants made an affirmative misrepresentation to
them as “[w]here there is a duty to speak, fraud can be practiced by
silence as well as by a positive misrepresentation.” Akelaitis at 525,
214 S.E.2d at 284 (citation omitted). Furthermore, defendant may also
have owed a duty to disclose to plaintiff its knowledge regarding the
Wilsons’ and the greenhouse’s financial state. See Gant at 200, 379
S.E.2d at 867; Akelaitis at 526, 214 S.E.2d at 284 (“If the creditor
knows, or has good grounds for believing that the surety is being
deceived or misled, or that he was induced to enter into the contract
in ignorance of facts materially increasing the risks, of which he has
knowledge, and he has an opportunity, before accepting his under-
taking, to inform him of such facts, good and fair dealing demand that
he should make such disclosure to him; and if he accepts the contract
without doing so, the surety may afterwards avoid it.” (citations and
quotation marks omitted)).

In Gant, the “[p]laintiff . . . alleged the defendant knew that she
was unaware of the financial condition of the principal debtor and
knew she was relying on defendant’s good faith and financial exper-
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tise in making the loans.” Gant at 200, 379 S.E.2d at 867 (quotation
marks omitted). This Court noted that

[t]he crux of plaintiff’s complaint is that defendant failed to
fulfill its obligation to inform her of the financial condition of the
company whose loans she guaranteed. Although there is no fidu-
ciary relationship between creditor and guarantor, in some
instances a creditor owes a duty to the guarantor to disclose
information about the principal debtor.

If the creditor knows, or has good grounds for believing that
the surety or guarantor is being deceived or misled, or that he is
induced to enter into the contract in ignorance of facts materially
increasing the risks, of which he has knowledge, and he has an
opportunity, before accepting his undertaking, to inform him of
such facts, good and fair dealing demand that he should make
such disclosure to him; and if he accepts the contract without
doing so, the surety or guarantor may afterwards avoid it.

94 N.C. App. at 199-200, 379 S.E.2d at 867 (emphasis added) (citations
and brackets omitted). Although this Court has noted that “[i]t is
unclear whether a breach of this duty to disclose is more properly
labeled a breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing or a
claim for negligent nondisclosure[,]” see First Union Nat. Bank v.
Brown, 166 N.C. App. 519, 532, 603 S.E.2d 808, 818 (2004), we have
recognized that an accommodation party may have a claim on this
basis. See Gant at 200, 379 S.E.2d at 867. Thus, we disagree with
defendant’s contentions and now consider whether there were gen-
uine issues of material fact.

Summary judgment should not have been granted because the
“pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions
on file, together with the affidavits . . . show that there [are] . . .
genuine issue[s of] . . . material fact.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1A-1, Rule
56(c). Plaintiff alleged defendant made material misrepresenta-
tions and Fred Miller, “a commercial lender and real estate specialist
in major financial institutions around the country[,]” filed an affi-
davit stating that “CFC may have misrepresented its position regard-
ing the Wilsons’ collateral to the Whisnants.” Mr. Miller further
averred that

[flrom November 22, 2002 through June 2005, the only basis for
entering into these loan agreements was the security interest that
CFC had obtained in the Whisnants’ farm property. Sound loan
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practices required that CFC inform the Whisnants in December
2001 and thereafter that there was no reasonable basis upon
which to loan these monies to the Wilsons other than the equity
provided by the Whisnants’ real estate. If, as the Whisnants
contend in their Verified Complaint, they repeatedly questioned
CFC regarding the ability of the Wilsons to repay such monies
as were actually disbursed by CFC to their account(s), sound
loan practices would require that CFC disclose to the Whisnants,
in writing, that there was no reason or evidence to believe
that the Wilsons could possibly repay the principal amount of
these loans.

In addition, David Whisnant testified during his deposition that
he had worked with Carolina Farm Credit, and specifically Kathy
Carroll, since 1984. Ms. Carroll had previously handled loans and
deeds of trust for Mr. Whisnant, and he trusted her. Mr. Whisnant tes-
tified that it was Ms. Carroll who informed him a co-signer would be
needed and that he and his wife “were depending on [Ms. Carrol]
to tell [them] what [they] needed to know, as far as accommoda-
tion makers on South Mountain Greenhouse.” As plaintiffs were sign-
ing more notes, they began to “question the financial health of the
South Mountain Greenhouse” and were informed by Ms. Carroll that
“everything looks to be running okay[,]” so they continued signing
loan documents.

We conclude that the record before us raises a “genuine issue of
material fact[,]” see S.B. Simmons Landscaping at —, 665 S.E.2d at
152, as to whether plaintiffs were “induced to enter into the contract
in ignorance of facts materially increasing the risk, of which [de-
fendant] ha[d] knowledge, and [defendant] ha[d] an opportunity
before accepting [plaintiffs’] undertaking, to inform [plaintiffs] of
such facts[.]” Crain and Denbo at 120, 123 S.E.2d at 598. We recog-
nize that defendant contends it neither misrepresented nor concealed
material information; however, for purposes of summary judgment
we must view the evidence forecast in the light most favorable to
plaintiffs, and thus a genuine issue of material fact does exist. See
S.B. Simmons Landscaping at —, 665 S.E.2d at 152.

1. Negligence

Negligence is the breach of a legal duty owed by defendant
that proximately causes injury to plaintiff. In order to establish
actionable negligence, a plaintiff must show that: (1) defendant
failed to exercise due care in the performance of some legal duty
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owed to plaintiff under the circumstances; and (2) the negligent
breach of such duty was the proximate cause of the injury. A duty
is defined as an obligation, recognized by the law, requiring the
person to conform to a certain standard of conduct, for the pro-
tection of others against unreasonable risks.

Guthrie v. Conroy, 152 N.C. App. 15, 25, 567 S.E.2d 403, 410-11 (2002)
(citations, quotation marks, and brackets omitted).

In Gant,

[pllaintiff ha[d] alleged the defendant knew that she was un-
aware of the financial condition of the principal debtor and knew
that she was relying on defendant’s good faith and financial
expertise in making the loans. Further, plaintiff alleged the de-
fendant at all times knew or had sufficient information to know
the principal debtor was insolvent. Plaintiff has alleged sufficient
facts to state a claim against defendant, whether the cause of
action is ultimately determined to be one for negligence or
breach of duty of good faith, as plaintiff has labeled her claims.

Gant at 200, 379 S.E.2d at 867 (quotation marks omitted).

Here, the evidence “viewed in the light most favorable to” plain-
tiffs raises a “genuine issue of material fact[,]” S.B. Simmons
Landscaping at ——, 665 S.E.2d at 152, as to whether defendants neg-
ligently breached a duty of disclosure to plaintiffs, see Gant at 200,
379 S.E.2d at 867, which resulted in plaintiffs being “induced to enter
into the contract in ignorance of facts materially increasing the risk,
of which [defendant] ha[d] knowledge, and [defendant] ha[d] an
opportunity before accepting [plaintiffs’] undertaking, to inform
[plaintiffs] of such facts[.]” Crain and Denbo at 120, 123 S.E.2d at
598; see Guthrie at 25, 567 S.E.2d at 410-11. Accordingly, the trial
court improperly granted summary judgment as to plaintiff’s claim
for negligence.

2. Actual Fraud

The essential elements of fraud are: (1) False representa-
tion or concealment of a past or existing material fact, (2) rea-
sonably calculated to deceive, (3) made with intent to deceive,
(4) which does in fact deceive, (5) resulting in damage to the
injured party, A claim for fraud may be based on an affirmative
misrepresentation of a material fact, or a failure to disclose a
material fact relating to a transaction which the parties had a
duty to disclose.
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Hardin v. KCS Intern., Inc., — N.C. App. —, —, 682 S.E.2d 726,
733 (2009) (emphasis added) (citations, quotation marks, and brack-
ets omitted). Plaintiff’'s evidence shows that defendants may have
misrepresented or concealed information regarding the financial
state of the greenhouse project, in order to induce plaintiffs to co-
sign the loan documents. Plaintiffs did co-sign the notes and are at
risk of losing their farm and home because of the Wilsons’ default. As
plaintiffs have demonstrated genuine issues of material fact regard-
ing fraud, the trial court erred in granting summary judgment on
plaintiffs’ claim for actual fraud. See id.; see also Gant at 200, 379
S.E.2d at 867.

3. Fraud in the Inducement

“The essential elements of fraud in the inducement are: (1) False
representation or concealment of a material fact, (2) reasonably cal-
culated to deceive, (3) made with intent to deceive, (4) which does in
fact deceive, (5) resulting in damage to the injured party.” Media
Network v. Long Haymes Carr, Inc., — N.C. App. —, 678 S.E.2d
671, 684 (2009) (citation, quotation marks, and brackets omitted). In
this instance, as the elements for fraud in the inducement and the
forecast of evidence are the same as for actual fraud, we again con-
clude that the trial court improperly granted summary judgment.

4. Unfair and Deceptive Trade Practices

“Proof of fraud in the inducement necessarily constitutes a viola-
tion of Chapter 75 and shifts the burden of proof from the plaintiff to
the defendant, which must then prove that it is exempt from Chapter
75’s provisions.” Media Network at —, 678 S.E.2d at 684. As we have
concluded that the trial court erred in granting summary judgment as
to plaintiff’s claim for fraud in the inducement, we also conclude that
the trial court erred in granting it as to plaintiff’s claim for unfair and
deceptive trade practices as “[p]roof of fraud in the inducement nec-
essarily constitutes a violation of Chapter 75[.]” Id.

C. Accommodation Party

Lastly, plaintiffs ask that we conclude they are accommodation
makers; however, it is not the duty of this Court to find facts. See In
re J.Z.M., 191 N.C. App. 158, 162, 663 S.E.2d 435, 437 (2008) (“The
trial court is the trier of fact[.]” (citation omitted)). As we noted
above, there is a genuine issue of material fact as to whether plaintiffs
are accommodation makers. The evidence as forecast by plaintiffs, if
taken as true, demonstrates that they are accommodation makers;
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however, we cannot make the factual determination necessary for us
to conclude that plaintiffs are accommodation makers as a matter of
law. See 1d.

IV. Conclusion

As we conclude that there was a genuine issue of material fact as
to each of plaintiffs’ claims, we reverse the order granting summary
judgment and remand for further proceedings.

REVERSED AND REMANDED.

Judges GEER and ERVIN concur.

RODNEY A. LEE, anp wirg, STEPHANIE F. LEE, LEO GIBSON, KAMAMU ABUBAKARI
AND WIFE, JENIFER P. ABUBAKARI, HARLEE DAVIS AND WIFE, ALMA P. DAVIS AND
MARY B. GRIFFIN, Praintirrs v. WINGET ROAD, LLC, NVR, INC., T/A RYAN
HOMES, NVR SETTLEMENT SERVICES, INC., BRIAN IAGNEMMA, TODD DAVID
WILLIAMS, KUESTER ESTATE SERVICES, INC., anxp ERIN BOTTENBERG,
DEFENDANTS

No. COA09-828
(Filed 18 May 2010)

Appeal and Error— notice of appeal—failure to serve on all
parties—jurisdictional—significant violation
An appeal was dismissed where plaintiff-appellants failed to
comply with N.C. R. App. P. Rule 3(a) by not serving a notice of
appeal on the non-appealing plaintiffs and previously dismissed
defendants. Compliance with Rule 3 is jurisdictional and may be
raised by the court. Furthermore, noncompliance is a significant
and fundamental violation that frustrates the adversarial process
and that no sanction less than dismissal will remedy.

Appeal by plaintiffs Rodney A. Lee and wife, Stephanie F. Lee,
Harlee Davis and wife, Alma P. Davis, and Mary B. Griffin from order
entered 4 February 2009 by Judge Yvonne Mims Evans in Superior
Court, Mecklenburg County. Heard in the Court of Appeals 19
November 2009.

Parker Poe Adams & Bernstein LLP, by Michael G. Adams and
Morgan H. Rogers, for defendants-appellees.



IN THE COURT OF APPEALS 97

LEE v. WINGET RD., LLC
[204 N.C. App. 96 (2010)]

STROUD, Judge.

Plaintiff-appellants filed a notice of appeal of a summary judg-
ment order dismissing their claims.! After the parties briefed the
issues, defendant-appellees filed a motion to dismiss the appeal for
failure to comply with the requirements of North Carolina Rule of
Appellate Procedure 3(a) as to service of the notice of appeal. We
agree with defendant-appellees and dismiss the appeal.

I. Background

On 7 March 2008, Rodney and Stephanie Lee (“Lees”), Leo Gibson
(“Mr. Gibson”), Kamamu and Jenifer Abubakari (“Abubakaris”™),
Harlee and Alma Davis (“Davises”), and Mary Griffin (“Ms. Griffin”)
filed a complaint against Winget Road, LLC (“Winget”), NVR, Inc. T/A
Ryan Homes (“NVR One”), NVR Settlement Services, Inc. (“NVR
Two”), Brian Iagnemma (“Mr. Iagnemma”), Todd Williams (“Mr.
Williams”), Kuester Real Estate Services, Inc. (“Kuester”), and Erin
Bottenberg (“Ms. Bottenberg”) regarding modifications to the
Declaration for Winget Pond Subdivision. On 13 November 2008, all
plaintiffs voluntarily dismissed defendants Kuester and Ms.
Bottenberg from the action with prejudice. All remaining defendants,
Winget, NVR One, NVR Two, Mr. lagnemma, and Mr. Williams, filed
motions for summary judgment.

On 4 February 2009, the trial court granted defendants’ motions
for summary judgment. On 5 March 2009, Roger Bruny, as counsel for
plaintiff-appellants the Lees, the Davises, and Ms. Gibson, filed a
notice of appeal. On or about 11 June 2009, plaintiff-appellants with-
drew their appeal as to Winget. On or about 16 September 2009,
defendant-appellees NVR One, NVR Two, Mr. lagnemma, and Mr.
Williams, filed a motion to dismiss plaintiff-appellants’ appeal. The
motion to dismiss was based on two grounds; the first ground is that
“Appellants failed to serve the Notice of Appeal on all parties because
Appellants failed to serve the Notice of Appeal on the non-appealing
Plaintiffs and the Kuester Defendants.”

II. Motion to Dismiss

Defendant-appellees argue that plaintiff-appellants appeal should
be dismissed because plaintiff-appellants failed to serve a notice of
appeal on non-appealing plaintiffs, the Abubakaris and Mr. Gibson,

1. Though plaintiff-appellants’ counsel Roger H. Bruny did submit a brief to this
Court, he failed to sign either the brief or the certificate of service. Pursuant to N.C.R.
App. P. R. 28(b)(8), his name is therefore not listed as counsel for plaintiffs.
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and on previously dismissed defendants, Kuester and Ms. Bottenberg,
in violation of North Carolina Rule of Appellate Procedure 3(a). We
first consider plaintiff-appellants’ failure to serve the non-appealing
plaintiffs.

A. Failure to Serve Notice of Appeal on Other Plaintiffs

The notice of appeal in the record provides that only the Lees, the
Davises, and Ms. Griffin are appealing. The certificate of service for
the notice of appeal certifies that it was served on Richard Fennell,
Winget’s attorney, and Michael Adams and Morgan Rogers, attorneys
for NVR One, NVR Two, Mr. lagnemma, and Mr. Williams. Neither the
notice of appeal nor certificate of service mentions the Abubakaris or
Mr. Gibson. The record shows that Kenneth Davies of Davies & Grist,
LLP represented the non-appealing parties, the Abubakaris and Mr.
Gibson, before the trial court. The notice of appeal and certificate of
service also make no mention of Mr. Davies or his law firm.

1. Standing and Waiver

Plaintiff-appellants contend that defendant-appellees do not have
standing to bring their motion to dismiss and that because defendant-
appellants had over six months notice of this appeal, during which
time substantial time and money have been spent, the issues in the
motion to dismiss have been waived. However,

[iln order to confer jurisdiction on the state’s appellate courts,
appellants of lower court orders must comply with the require-
ments of Rule 3 of the North Carolina Rules of Appellate
Procedure. The provisions of Rule 3 are jurisdictional, and fail-
ure to follow the requirements thereof requires dismissal of an
appeal.

Stephenson v. Bartlett, 177 N.C. App. 239, 241, 628 S.E.2d 442, 443
(citations and quotation marks omitted), disc. review denied, 360
N.C. 544, 635 S.E.2d 58 (2006). Furthermore, “an appellate court has
the power to inquire into jurisdiction in a case before it at any time,
even sua sponte.” Xiong v. Marks, 193 N.C. App. 644, 652, 668 S.E.2d
594, 599 (2008). Thus, even assuming arguendo that defendant-
appellees do not have standing or that they have waived any argu-
ments for which they properly had standing, this Court still may and
will consider whether plaintiff-appellants complied with Rule 3(a).
See id.; see also Guthrie v. Conroy, 152 N.C. App. 15, 17, 567 S.E.2d
403, 406 (2002) (“[D]efendant’s motion for dismissal presents a ques-
tion of jurisdiction, which may be addressed by this Court at any
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time, sua sponte, regardless of whether defendants properly pre-
served it for appellate review.” (citation omitted)).

In addition, plaintiff-appellants’ argument as to standing is based
on a lack of prejudice to defendant-appellees. However, clearly the
parties most likely to be prejudiced by this appeal are the unserved
parties who, as best we can tell from the record, are unaware of the
appeal and therefore cannot possibly file a motion to dismiss. Like-
wise, the parties who would need to waive the lack of service of the
notice of appeal were not served with a notice and thus have not had
the opportunity to waive service. Thus, we must consider whether
dismissal of the appeal is necessary as this is the only way that we
can address this issue of compliance with the Rules of Appellate
Procedure and protection of the rights of all of the parties.

2. North Carolina Rule of Appellate Procedure 3(a)

Plaintiff-appellants argue that Rule 3(a) does not provide “that
the Notice of Appeal must be served on all parties to the action at the
trial level, nor does it provide that the Notice of Appeal should be
served on parties who have chosen not [to] appeal.” We disagree with
these contentions. Rule 3(a) provides that

[alny party entitled by law to appeal from a judgment or order of
a superior or district court rendered in a civil action or special
proceeding may take appeal by filing notice of appeal with the
clerk of superior court and serving copies thereof upon all other
parties within the time prescribed by subdivision (c) of this rule.

N.C.R. App. P. 3(a) (emphasis added).

Neither defendant-appellees nor plaintiff-appellants direct this
Court to any case law regarding an appellant’s failure to serve a
notice of appeal on parties on the same side of a suit. However, the
plain language of Rule 3(a) provides that “all other parties” must be
served with a copy of the notice of appeal. N.C.R. App. P. 3(a). “ ‘All’
is defined as ‘the whole quantity of,” ‘everyone,’ or ‘entirely.” ” Farrior
v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 164 N.C. App. 384, 388, 595 S.E.2d
790, 793 (citation omitted), disc. review denied, 358 N.C. 731, 601
S.E.2d 530 (2004). Furthermore, this Court has dismissed a plaintiff’s
appeal “because there is no proof of service of the notice of appeal on
the other parties to the appeal, as is required by our Rules of
Appellate Procedure.” Spivey and Self v. Highview Farms, 110 N.C.
App. 719, 729, 431 S.E.2d 535, 541, disc. review denied, 334 N.C. 623,
435 S.E.2d 342 (1993).
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In Hale v. Afro-American Arts Int’l, 335 N.C. 231, 436 S.E.2d 588
(1993), the appellant filed a notice of appeal, but failed to include in
the record a certificate of service of the notice of appeal upon the
appellee. Id. at 232, 436 S.E.2d at 589. The Court of Appeals dismissed
the appeal, finding that the lack of a certificate of service of the
notice of appeal was a jurisdictional defect. Id. Judge Wynn dissented
and concluded that failure to serve the notice of appeal could be
waived “by not raising the issue by motion or otherwise and by par-
ticipating without objection in the appeal.” Id. The Supreme Court
adopted Judge Wynn'’s dissent and reversed the majority opinion. Id.
Thus, pursuant to Hale, filing of the notice of appeal is jurisdictional,
but where a notice of appeal is filed, service of the notice of appeal
upon all parties may be waived.2 Id.

In Ribble v. Ribble, the appellant filed a notice of appeal but failed
to include in the record a certificate of service upon the appellee,
who did not appear or file a brief in the appeal. 180 N.C. App. 341, 343,
637 S.E.2d 239, 240 (2006). This Court discussed Hale and concluded
that the appellant in Ribble did not fall within the Hale exception
because the “[appellee] . . . has not filed a brief or any other document
with this Court or otherwise participated in this appeal. This record
does not indicate plaintiff had notice of this appeal and plaintiff has
not waived defendant’s failure to include proof of service in the
record before this Court.” Ribble at 343, 637 S.E.2d at 240; see In re
C.T., 182 N.C. App. 166, 168, 641 S.E.2d 414, 415 (dismissing appeal
pursuant to Ribble), aff’d per curiam, 361 N.C. 5681, 650 S.E.2d 593
(2007); see also Blyth v. McCrary, 184 N.C. App. 654, 660, 646 S.E.2d
813, 817 (2007) (noting that the fact that a party allegedly told the
appellant that he did not wish to be served with court documents still
does not excuse another party from failing to serve all required doc-
uments on all required parties), disc. review denied, 362 N.C. 175, 6568
S.E.2d 482 (2008).

Here, the record does not reflect that the non-appealing plaintiffs
were ever notified of this appeal, and they have not filed any briefs or
participated in the appeal in any way. In response to the motion to
dismiss the appeal the appellants could have obtained written
waivers from the unserved plaintiffs to present to this Court, but they

2. We note that this Court must consider this appeal because it presented a
jurisdictional question. Though we have concluded that the actual issue presented,
specifically regarding service upon the non-appealing plaintiffs, was not jurisdictional,
it was necessary for us to consider this appeal in order to determine if the issue was
jurisdictional.
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failed to do so. The plaintiff-appellants’ failure to comply with Rule 3
has not been waived by the non-appealing plaintiffs.

3. North Carolina Rule of Appellate Procedure 26(e)

Plaintiffs argue that because North Carolina Rule of Appellate
Procedure 3(e) refers to Rule 26, Rule 26 controls. Rule 3(e) provides
that “[s]ervice of copies of the notice of appeal may be made as pro-
vided in Rule 26 of these rules.” N.C.R. App. P. 3(e). Plaintiffs then
argue that North Carolina Rule of Appellate Procedure 26(e) states
that “/a/ny paper required by these rules to be served on a party is
properly served upon all parties joined in the appeal by service
upon any one of them.” N.C.R. App. P. 26(e) (emphasis added).
However, the provision of Rule 26(e), entitled “Joint appellants and
appellees,” allows service on one party only as to parties who are
joined in the appeal. See id. There is no indication in the record that
plaintiffs-appellants and the Abubakaris and Mr. Gibson are “joint
appellants.” See N.C.R. App. P. 5(a).

North Carolina Rule of Appellate Procedure 5 sets forth the
requirements for joinder of appellants in an appeal. See id. In order
for appellants to be considered joined they

may give a joint oral notice of appeal or file and serve a joint
notice of appeal in accordance with Rule 3 and 4; or they may join
in appeal after timely taking of separate appeals by filing notice
of joinder in the office of the clerk of superior court and serving
copies thereof upon all other parties.

Id. Rule 5(c) goes on to provide that “/a/fter joinder, the parties pro-
ceed as a single appellant or appellee. Filing and service of papers by
and upon joint appellants or appellees is provided by Rule 26(e).”
N.C.R. App. P. 5(c) (emphasis added).

Rule 3(a) directs that all parties must be served with the notice
of appeal. See N.C.R. App. P. 3(a). Rule 26 is entitled, “Filing and
service.” N.C.R. App. P. 26. Rule 26 describes methods of serving var-
ious appellate documents. See id. Furthermore, Rule 26(e) specifi-
cally addresses “[jloint appellants and appellees[.]” N.C.R. App. P.
26(e). However, plaintiff-appellants’ argument ignores Rule 5, which
sets forth the procedure for joinder. See N.C.R. App. P. 5. The purpose
of a notice of appeal is obviously to provide parties with notice that
an appeal is being made. If the parties wish to join in the appeal under
Rule 5, they may do so. See N.C.R. App. P. 5. However, unless there is
joinder, all parties have to be served with the notice of appeal. See
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N.C.R. App. P. (3)(a), 5, 26(e). The Abubakaris and Mr. Gibson were
not “joined in the appeal” with plaintiff-appellants and thus Rule
26(e) is inapplicable. N.C.R. App. P. 26(e), see N.C.R. App. P. 5(a), (¢).

4. Dismissal

As plaintiff-appellants have failed to comply with Rule 3, we must
now consider whether the appeal must be dismissed pursuant to
Dogwood Dev. & Mgmt. Co. LLC, v. White Oak Transp. Co., 362 N.C.
191, 193, 657 S.E.2d 361, 362 (2008). If the failure to comply with Rule
3 created “[a] jurisdictional default” we would be required “to dismiss
the appeal.” Id. at 197, 6567 S.E.2d at 365 (citations omitted). In fact,
Dogwood noted lack of notice of appeal in the record or failure to
give timely notice of appeal as examples of jurisdictional defects. Id.
at 197-98, 657 S.E.2d at 365. However, Dogwood did not address the
situation we have here, where a notice of appeal is properly and
timely filed, but not served upon all parties. Pursuant to Hale, as
noted above, we find that this violation of Rule 3 is a nonjurisdic-
tional defect. Hale, 335 N.C. 231, 436 S.E.2d 588.

Dogwood states that a nonjurisdictional failure to comply with
appellate rules “normally should not lead to dismissal of the appeal.”
Id. at 198, 657 S.E.2d at 365 (citations omitted). Neither dismissal nor
other sanctions under North Carolina Rules of Appellate Procedure
25 or 34 should be considered unless the noncompliance is a “sub-
stantial failure” to comply with the Rules or a “gross violation” of the
Rules. Id. at 199, 657 S.E.2d at 366 (quotation marks omitted). This
Court is required to make a “fact-specific inquiry into the particular
circumstances of each case” mindful of the need to enforce the rules
as uniformly as possible. Id. at 199-200, 657 S.E.2d at 366 (citations
omitted). Dismissal is appropriate only for the “most egregious
instances of nonjurisdictional default[.]” Id. at 200, 657 S.E.2d at 366
(citations omitted). To determine the severity of the rule violation,
this Court is to consider: “[(1)] whether and to what extent the non-
compliance impairs the court’s task of review[,] [(2)] . . . whether and
to what extent review on the merits would frustrate the adversarial
process . . . [, and (3)] [t]he court may also consider the number of
rules violated[.]” Id. at 200, 657 S.E.2d at 366-67 (citations omitted).

In this instance, we find that the noncompliance has impaired this
Court’s task of review and that review on the merits would frustrate
the adversarial process. Failure to serve notice of appeal on all par-
ties is a significant and fundamental violation. A notice of appeal is
intended to let all parties to a case know that an appeal has been filed
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by at least one party. Because two of the parties to this case3 were
never informed of the fact that there was an appeal which affects
their interests, this Court has no way of knowing the positions these
parties would have taken in this appeal. The fact that these parties
have not objected to our consideration of the appeal is irrelevant,
because as far as we can tell from the record, these parties are un-
aware of the appeal. Simply put, all parties to a case are entitled to
notice that a party has appealed. The unserved plaintiffs have been
denied the opportunity to be heard, as they received no notice of the
appeal and there is no written waiver filed in the record or in
response to the motion to dismiss.

Notice to all parties is not a mere formality but a fundamental
requirement of Rule 3(a). The United States Supreme Court has long
recognized the importance of notice. “An elementary and fundamen-
tal requirement of due process in any proceeding which is to be
accorded finality is notice reasonably calculated, under all the cir-
cumstances, to apprise interested parties of the pendency of the
action and afford them an opportunity to present their objections.”
Mullane v. Central Hanover B. & T. Co., 339 U.S. 306, 314, 94 L. Ed.
865, 873 (1950) (citations omitted). The North Carolina Supreme
Court has also noted that “[t]he fundamental premise of procedural
due process protection is notice and the opportunity to be heard.”
Peace v. Employment Sec. Comm’n, 349 N.C. 315, 322, 507 S.E.2d 272,
278 (1998) (citation omitted). Although we are not directly address-
ing a due process issue in this case, these basic principles of law
inform our analysis of the importance of the requirement of Rule 3(a)
of service of a notice of appeal upon all parties. See N.C.R. App. P.
3(a), see generally Mullane at 314, 94 L. Ed. at 873, Peace at 322, 507
S.E.2d at 278.

The principles of due process also support our finding that failure
to serve the notice of appeal upon all parties is a “gross violation” of
the rules “which frustrates the adversarial process[.]” Dogwood at
200, 657 S.E.2d at 366-67. Once notice is served upon all parties, any

3. We are not addressing plaintiff-appellants’ failure to serve the notice of appeal
upon defendants Kuester and Ms. Bottenberg, as these defendants were voluntarily dis-
missed with prejudice by all plaintiffs prior to both the order granting summary judg-
ment and the filing of the notice of appeal. These defendants were not “parties” at the
time of the notice of appeal, although we recognize that previously dismissed parties
before the trial court might be “parties” on appeal where a plaintiff is challenging their
dismissal. However, this dismissal was a voluntary dismissal which was agreed upon
by all plaintiffs, not a dismissal by the trial court, and the dismissal is not a subject of
the appeal.
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party may chose not to participate, but our rules require that all par-
ties have notice and an opportunity to participate to protect their own
interests. See N.C.R. App. P. 3(a), see generally Mullane at
314, 94 L. Ed. at 873; Peace at 322, 507 S.E.2d at 278. The noncompli-
ance impairs this Court’s task of review as well, see Dogwood at
200, 657 S.E.2d at 366, as parties have been omitted from the case and
we cannot review any contentions or arguments those parties might
have raised.

In addition, requiring service of the notice of appeal on all parties
promotes uniformity in enforcement of the rules. See Dogwood at
199-200, 657 S.E.2d at 366. Rule 3 states plainly that “all . . . parties”
must be served with the notice of appeal, N.C.R. App. P. 3(a), and as
noted above, this is a fundamental requirement for the rest of the
appeal. Hale has previously recognized that where the unserved par-
ties have actual notice of the appeal and have participated in the
appeal without objection, dismissal is not appropriate. Hale, 335 N.C.
231, 436 S.E.2d 588. In the situation presented in Hale, neither the
adversarial process nor this Court’s task of review was compromised;
the violation in Hale was merely technical. Compare id.

No lesser sanction, such as monetary sanctions, can remedy this
particular rule violation, as a sanction less than dismissal cannot
make up for the failure to notify all parties of the existence of this
appeal. We therefore conclude that dismissal is the only appropri-
ate sanction under N.C.R. App. P. 34(b) and this sanction is also
supported by Hale. Hale, 335 N.C. 231, 436 S.E.2d 588. Where we find
that dismissal is the appropriate sanction, the Supreme Court in
Dogwood has directed that we may consider invoking North Carolina
Rule of Appellate Procedure 2, but we should do this only on “rare
occasions and under exceptional circumstances . . . to prevent mani-
fest injustice to a party, or to expedite decision in the public inter-
est[.]” Dogwood at 201, 6567 S.E.2d at 367 (citations, quotation marks,
and brackets omitted). We do not find that this case presents excep-
tional circumstances where use of Rule 2 is required to prevent
“manifest injustice” or that it is necessary to “expedite decision in the
public interest.” Id. Our decision to this effect is reinforced by the
fact that we have reviewed plaintiff-appellant’s substantive chal-
lenges to the trial court’s summary judgment order and conclude that
they have no merit.

B. Other Issues

As we are dismissing plaintiff-appellants’ appeal we need not ad-
dress defendant-appellees’ other arguments in their motion to dismiss
or plaintiffs’ argument on appeal.
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III. Conclusion

As plaintiff-appellants failed to comply with the plain language of
a rule of appellate procedure, we dismiss.

DISMISSED.

Judges HUNTER, JR. and ERVIN concur.

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. DONALD LEE McCORMICK

No. COA09-1032
(Filed 18 May 2010)

1. Indictment and Information— first-degree burglary—nom-
inal error—indictment not fatally defective
The trial court did not err in denying defendant’s motion
to dismiss the charge of first-degree burglary because there
was no fatal variance between the indictment and the proof
adduced at trial. Although the indictment alleged that the break-
ing and entering occurred at 407 Ward’s Branch Road and the evi-
dence indicated that the house number was 317, this was a nomi-
nal or inconsequential error which did not render the indictment
fatally defective.

2. Burglary and Unlawful Breaking or Entering— subject mat-
ter jurisdiction—indictment sufficient

The trial court did not lack jurisdiction over a first-degree
burglary case where the indictment failed to allege that the break-
ing and entering was done “without consent” because this ele-
ment is not required to be specifically pled.

3. Criminal Law— judicial notice—time of sunset—no error

The trial court in a first-degree burglary case did not imper-
missibly supply the essential element of an act being done at
“nighttime” by taking judicial notice of the time of sunset. The
application of judicial notice in this case was a routine applica-
tion of this evidentiary rule.
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Appeal by defendant from judgment entered 11 February 2009 by
Judge Ronald E. Spivey in Watauga County Superior Court. Heard in
the Court of Appeals 12 January 2010.

Attorney General Roy Cooper, by Assistant Attorney General,
G. Mark Teague, for the State.

Megerian & Wells, by Franklin E. Wells, Jr., for defendant
appellant.

HUNTER, JR., Robert N., Judge.

Donald Lee McCormick (“defendant”) appeals as a matter of right
from a verdict finding him guilty of two counts of assault by pointing
a gun, two counts of communicating threats, assault with a deadly
weapon inflicting serious injury and first-degree burglary. On appeal,
defendant argues that the trial court erred in the following manner:
(1) by denying defendant’s motion to dismiss the first-degree burglary
charge at the close of the evidence because of an alleged fatal vari-
ance between the indictment and the proof adduced at trial; (2) by
hearing evidence regarding the first-degree burglary charge based on
his contention that the trial court lacked jurisdiction because the
indictment failed to allege, or there was insufficient proof, that the
property was taken “without consent”; (3) by improperly taking judi-
cial notice of the time of sunset, a necessary element of first-degree
burglary; and (4) by submitting an improper verdict sheet and enter-
ing an improper judgment in the charges of pointing a gun at and
communicating threats to Matthew Minton. After review, we hold that
defendant’s trial and judgment was free of error.

I. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

The Watauga County grand jury indicted defendant for two
counts of assault by pointing a gun, two counts of communicating
threats, assault with a deadly weapon inflicting serious injury and
first-degree burglary. The language, as pertinent to this appeal, con-
tained in the 1 January 2008 indictment for first-degree burglary, in
violation of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 14-51 (2009), provided the following:

The jurors for the State upon their oath present that on or
about the date of offense shown and in the county named above
the defendant named above unlawfully, willfully and feloniously
did during the nighttime [] break and enter the dwelling house of
Lisa McCromick [sic] located at 407 Wards Branch Road, Sugar
Grove, Watauga County. At the time of the breaking and entering
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the dwelling house was actually occupied by Timothy James
Ward, Amy Dancy, and Matthew Minton. The defendant broke and
entered with the intent to commit a felony therein, to wit: Assault
with a Deadly Weapon Inflicting Serious Injury.l

At trial, the State’s evidence tended to show the following:
Defendant and Lisa McCormick (“Ms. McCormick”) were married in
2001, had a daughter in 2003, and separated in 2006. After the couple
separated, Ms. McCormick and the couple’s daughter moved to a
house located on Ward’s Branch Road in Watauga County, North
Carolina. The events which transpired and subsequently led to
defendant’s arrest and indictment occurred at the Ward’s Branch
Road residence.

On 1 January 2008, during the daylight afternoon hours, Ms.
McCormick’s brother Timothy James Ward (“Tim”), Tim’s girlfriend
Amy Dancy (“Amy”), and Matthew Minton (“Matthew”) arrived at Ms.
McCormick’s house on Ward’s Branch Road. They began drinking,
playing poker, and listening to music while waiting for Ms.
McCormick to arrive at the home. Approximately one hour after their
arrival, Tim answered the telephone and recognized defendant’s
voice, who asked to speak to Ms. McCormick. Tim told defendant that
Ms. McCormick was not at home, but was expected to arrive shortly;
the phone call ended. Approximately five minutes later, defendant
called a second time and began cursing at Tim when he answered
defendant’s call, whereupon Tim hung up the phone. Defendant called
a third time and left a voice message when no one answered. Two
other messages were subsequently left on the machine which Tim
found threatening. Tim called his brother, Dennis Presnell (“Dennis”),
and requested that he come to Ms. McCormick’s house to help calm
down defendant should he arrive. Dennis testified that he received
three calls from Tim, the first at approximately 5:30 p.m., the second
around 6:00 p.m., and the third call at approximately 6:15 p.m. On the
third call, Dennis testified that he heard defendant’s voice and recog-
nized Tim’s voice crying.

Approximately fifteen to twenty minutes after the last message
from defendant to Tim, defendant arrived at Ms. McCormick’s home,
kicked in the backdoor, and fired three shots with his .22 caliber
revolver. Matthew fled outside the home. Amy locked herself in a

1. State argues in its brief that the language of the indictment reads “during the
nighttime between the hours of 6PM TO 7PM break and enter,” however this language
appears only in the warrant for arrest which was later replaced by the grand jury
indictment quoted above.
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bathroom. Tim initially ran to hide in the house, but after realizing his
girlfriend Amy was locked in the bathroom, left his hiding place and
approached the bathroom, at which point defendant hit Tim with the
butt of the revolver, knocking him to the floor. Defendant continued
to hit Tim about the face and head with the gun, stopping on several
occasions to intermittently put the barrel of the weapon in Tim’s
mouth while threatening to shoot him.

Amy opened the bathroom door and saw defendant kicking and
hitting Tim with the gun as he laid unconscious and bleeding. When
Amy went to Tim’s aid, defendant pulled her by her hair and threw her
on the floor, while pointing the gun in her face and telling her, “Bitch,
I will kill you.”

Defendant dragged Tim into a nearby bedroom, whereupon Amy
found a cell phone, called for emergency help, and fled to the back
porch of the house. Tim regained consciousness and escaped out of
the front door while defendant was momentarily distracted by the
arrival of Tim’s brother, Dennis, and Erin Street (“Erin”), Dennis’s
girlfriend. Tim collapsed into his brother’s arms on the front porch as
he was coming out of the front door. Dennis testified that he
“believed it was like 8:30” and it was dark at the time he arrived at
the home.

Defendant then emerged from the house, pulled out the revolver,
pointed the barrel of the gun into Dennis’s mouth, and asked Dennis
if he wanted to die. Defendant threatened Erin also after she con-
fronted defendant and slapped him. After this confrontation, Erin,
Dennis, and Tim retreated to the driveway area. While they were
retreating, a state trooper arrived and the trio took cover behind the
highway patrol vehicle. Shortly thereafter, Deputy Edward Hodges
and one other Watauga County Sheriff’s Deputy arrived and arrested
defendant. Lieutenant Green of the Watauga County Sheriff’s Office
testified that he was dispatched to the scene at approximately 7:07
p-m. and was the third officer to arrive at the scene.

Dr. Carol Olsen, the emergency medical physician who treated
Tim, testified that his injuries included abrasions on his head, arms,
and hip, damage to his teeth, a laceration to his right ear, a scalp lac-
eration that was stapled, and a two-and-a-half-centimeter laceration
through his lower lip that required stitches. Tim was confined to bed
for two weeks and his injuries to his mouth and teeth required him to
be fed by drinking from a straw.
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At the close of the State’s evidence, the State filed a motion
with the court to take judicial notice of the time of sunset and civil
twilight pursuant to Rule 201 of the North Carolina Rules of
Evidence. The trial judge granted the State’s motion and gave the
jury the following instruction:

At the end of the State’s case in chief Members of the Jury.
The court will take judicial notice of two facts. In this case you
may but are not required to accept as conclusive any fact judi-
cially noticed by the Court.

The facts judicially noticed in this case are as follows.
First that on January 1st, 2008 in Boone, North Carolina the
sun set at 5:23 in the afternoon. And second, on January 1st][,]
2008 in Boone, North Carolina the end of civil twilight was 5:51
in the afternoon.

Civil twilight is defined to begin in the morning and to end in
the evening when the center of the sun is geometrically six
degrees below the horizon. This is the limit at which twilight illu-
mination is sufficient under good weather conditions for terres-
trial objects to be clearly distinguished. In [the] evening after the
end of civil twilight artificial illumination is normally required to
carry on outdoor activities.

Again, the Court will take judicial notice of these two facts,
and you may but are not required to accept them as conclusive on
these two issues.

Defendant’s evidence tended to show the following: As his first
witness, defendant recalled Deputy Edward Hodges. Deputy Hodges
testified that the records of the Watauga County Sheriff’s emergency
system indicated that a 911 call was received from Melvie Ann Dollars
at 7:06 p.m. This was the call to which Deputy Hodges responded
when he arrived at Ward’s Branch Road.

Defendant testified that he and Ms. McCormick lived together at
the Ward’s Branch Road residence after their separation during a
brief, but failed attempt at reconciliation. Defendant moved out of the
residence in April of 2007. Defendant further testified regarding his
army service, employment history, and prior convictions for drunk
driving and assault with a deadly weapon.

Regarding the 1 January 2008 incident, defendant testified that he
called his wife’s residence to speak with his daughter. Tim answered
the phone and cursed at defendant. In two subsequent phone calls,
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defendant testified that Tim told him that when his four-year-old
daughter arrived at the house, he was going to have a “real good time
with her.” This conversation angered defendant. Defendant grabbed
his gun and about ten minutes later arrived at 317 Ward’s Branch
Road, where he entered the house. Defendant testified that he did not
intend to injure anyone when he entered the house, and that the gun
accidentally fired when he came through the back door. Defendant
describes the confrontations that took place in the house and admits
to fighting with Tim and beating him.

On cross-examination, defendant admits that the answering ma-
chine showed the final call from defendant to the house to be at 6:36
p.m., and that it took defendant about 10 to 15 minutes to arrive
thereafter. Defendant also admitted that it was getting dark when he
arrived at the house. Furthermore, when the police arrived, defen-
dant testified that he surrendered after being asked to do so.

At the close of all of the evidence, defendant renewed his motion
to dismiss the charges, which was denied. After receiving instruc-
tions from the court, the jury found defendant guilty of two counts of
assault by pointing a gun and communicating threats, assault with a
deadly weapon inflicting serious injury, and first-degree burglary.

After the jury returned the verdict, the State presented evidence
to the jury that defendant had attained the status of an habitual felon.
The jury subsequently found defendant guilty of having attained such
status. Defendant was sentenced within the presumptive range of 61
to 83 months’ imprisonment for the first-degree burglary conviction
to run consecutively with a 23- to 37-month sentence of imprisonment
for assault with a deadly weapon inflicting serious injury. In addition,
defendant was sentenced to 75 days’ imprisonment to run concurrent
with the other judgments for the two misdemeanor convictions of
assault by pointing a gun and communicating threats. Defendant gave
notice of appeal in open court.

II. FIRST-DEGREE BURGLARY CONVICTION

Defendant’s primary challenge in this appeal is to his conviction
for first-degree burglary in violation of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 14-51.
Specifically, defendant contends that (1) the trial court should have
granted his motion to dismiss this charge on the basis that there was
a fatal variance between the indictment and the proof, and (2) the
trial court lacked jurisdiction because the indictment did not allege
that the breaking and entering was done “without consent” and that



IN THE COURT OF APPEALS 111

STATE v. MCCORMICK
[204 N.C. App. 105 (2010)]

there was insufficient evidence of lack of consent. We disagree with
both contentions.

First-degree burglary is defined as the unlawful breaking and
entering of an occupied dwelling or sleeping apartment, at nighttime,
with the intent to commit a felony therein. State v. Hannah, 149
N.C. App. 713, 719, 563 S.E.2d 1, 5 (2002). It is clear from comparing
the elements of this common law crime, as described above from
case law, and examining the indictment in this case that all of
the legal elements of first-degree burglary were properly charged in
the indictment.

A. Fatal Variance Between the Indictment
and Proof at Trial

[1] With regard to the first issue, defendant contends that the indict-
ment was incomplete in charging the elements on the basis that it
fails to properly identify the premises broken and entered into with
sufficient certainty as to enable him to properly prepare a defense. In
support, defendant cites that the indictment alleges that defendant
“did break and enter the dwelling house of Lisa McCormick located at
407 Ward’s Branch Road, Sugar Grove Watauga County”; however, the
evidence adduced at trial indicated that the house number was 317
instead of 407.

The contention that a defendant is not sufficiently informed of
the place of the crime, if the indictment misidentifies the street
number of the dwelling where a crime has taken place, has been the
subject of adjudication in our appellate courts. State v. Davis, 282
N.C. 107, 113, 191 S.E.2d 664, 668 (1972), has established the law on
this point.

In Dawis, the indictment alleged that “the defendant ‘did unlaw-
fully . . . break and enter the dwelling house of Nina Ruth Baker
located at 840 Washington Drive, Fayetteville, North Carolina,” ” but
the evidence at trial tended to show that Ruth Baker lived at 830
Washington Drive. Id. Based on this indictment, where there was no
controversy as to the location of Ms. Baker’s residence, the Court
concluded that

[t]he description of the house in this case was adequate to
bring the indictment within the language of the statute. This
house was also identified with sufficient particularity as to
enable the defendant to prepare his defense and plead his con-
viction or acquittal as a bar to further prosecution for the same
offense. . . .
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. .. We hold, however, that this inconsequential error in the
street address appearing in the indictment does not render the
indictment fatally defective.

Id.

We note that defendant’s reliance on State v. McDowell, 1 N.C.
App. 361, 161 S.E.2d 769 (1968), a Court of Appeals opinion which
predated Dawis, is misplaced. That opinion stands for the proposition
that a fatal variance is present when the indictment alleges that the
property entered was a “storehouse, shop, warehouse, banking
house, counting house or other building” and the proof adduced at
trial was in fact a “residence.” Id. There is no identity issue present
under these facts. As provided in Dawvis, a nominal or inconsequential
error in the street address does not render the indictment fatally
defective. See Davis, 282 N.C. at 113, 191 S.E.2d at 668. Moreover,
defense counsel does not cite any case or posit any contention with
regard to how, if at all, defendant was prejudiced by this error.

B. Jurisdiction of the Trial Court Where the Burglary
Indictment Did Not Allege the Element of “Without Consent”

[2] With regard to the first-degree burglary charge, defendant’s sec-
ond contention is that the trial court did not have jurisdiction to hear
the charge because the indictment failed to allege that the breaking
and entering was done “without consent” of the owner of the house.
We disagree.

Our case law does not require that this element be specifically
pled for the crime of burglary. See State v. Pennell, 54 N.C. App. 252,
283 S.E.2d 397 (1981). The Court in State v. Pennell held that “lan-
guage in the indictment, that the defendant ‘unlawfully and wilfully
did feloniously break and enter a building of Forsyth Technical
Institute, belonging to the Board of Trustees’ implies that defendant
did not have consent of the Board of Trustees.” Id. at 260, 283 S.E.2d
at 402. In the case at bar, the identical language of the indictment car-
ries the same implication or presumption as in Pennell. Defendant did
not place this “consent” issue in controversy, but rather understood,
according to his testimony, that he would not be welcomed at his
estranged wife’s house.

We hold that the indictment met the requirements of both statu-
tory and common law and find no error in the criminal pleadings of
this case.
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III. JUDICIAL NOTICE

[8] Defendant argues that taking judicial notice of the time of sunset
in a burglary case, which requires that the acts be done at “night-
time,” has the effect of impermissibly supplying an essential element
of the offense, lowers the State’s burden of proof, and amounts to an
unfair weighing in by the Court. We disagree.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 8C-1, Rule 201, Judicial Notice of Adjudicative
Facts, provides as follows:

(a) Scope of rule.—This rule governs only judicial notice of
adjudicative facts.

(b) Kinds of facts.—A judicially noticed fact must be one not
subject to reasonable dispute in that it is either (1) generally
known within the territorial jurisdiction of the trial court or (2)
capable of accurate and ready determination by resort to sources
whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned.

(c) When discretionary.—A court may take judicial notice,
whether requested or not.

(d) When mandatory.—A court shall take judicial notice
if requested by a party and supplied with the necessary
information.

(e) Opportunity to be heard.—In a trial court, a party is en-
titled upon timely request to an opportunity to be heard as to the
propriety of taking judicial notice and the tenor of the matter
noticed. In the absence of prior notification, the request may be
made after judicial notice has been taken.

() Time of taking notice.—Judicial notice may be taken at
any stage of the proceeding.

(g) Instructing jury—In a civil action or proceeding, the
court shall instruct the jury to accept as conclusive any fact judi-
cially noticed. In a criminal case, the court shall instruct the jury
that it may, but is not required to, accept as conclusive any fact
judicially noticed.

At the end of the State’s case-in-chief, and before defendant
began presentation of his defense, the State filed a written motion
with the court to take judicial notice of the time of the sunset and the
time of civil sunset as established by the Naval Observatory. The
court, out of the presence of the jury, gave defendant the opportunity
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to be heard as to the propriety of taking judicial notice and the
tenor of the matter noticed. Subsequently, the judge instructed the
jury that it “may, but is not required to, accept as conclusive any fact
judicially noticed.”

Our Courts have taken judicial notice of days, weeks, and months
of the calendar. See Weavil v. Myers, 243 N.C. 386, 90 S.E.2d 733
(1956). Our Courts have also taken judicial notice of the time of
sunrise and sunset on a particular date. Oxendine v. Lowry, 260 N.C.
709, 713, 133 S.E.2d 687, 687 (1963). Furthermore, our Courts have
taken judicial notice of the phase of the moon and the time of its ris-
ing from the records of the U.S. Naval Observatory. State v. Dancy,
297 N.C. 40, 42, 252 S.E.2d 514, 515 (1979). The application of this rule
of evidence in the present case is a routine application of this evi-
dentiary principle, thus we hold that judicial notice was procedurally
taken. The court committed no error in admitting the celestial
timetable. See also Jason Emerson, Moonlight: Abraham Lincoln and
the Almanac Trial, Journal of the Illinois State Historical Society
(Summer 2001).

IV. CLERICAL ERROR

Both the State and defendant agree that there is a clerical error in
the record with regard to the sentencing sheet. On the judgment, the
court inadvertently listed the criminal action number for a case of a
crime against Mr. Minton, which the District Attorney had dismissed.
It is clear from the text of the document and the trial transcript that
defendant was only convicted of the offenses against Ms. Dancy and
Mr. Presnell. We therefore remand the matter to the trial court for the
limited purpose of correcting the file number on the judgment sen-
tencing for the purposes of “making the record speak the truth”.

V. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, we hold that there was no error in the
trial of defendant, but remand this matter to the trial court for cor-
rection of clerical errors in the judgment sentencing defendant.

No error.

Judges ELMORE and JACKSON concur.



IN THE COURT OF APPEALS 115

GRANTHAM v. CRAWFORD
[204 N.C. App. 115 (2010)]

JUSTIN GRANTHAM, A MINOR CHILD, BY AND THROUGH THE TRUST COMPANY OF
STERNE, AGEE & LEACH, INC., His GUARDIAN AD LiTEM, PLAINTIFF v. ROBERT C.
CRAWFORD, M.D., CAROLINA WOMANCARE, PA., r/k/A ROBERT C.
CRAWFORD, M.D., PA., JOHN DOE; JOHN DOE, M.D.; HIGH POINT REGIONAL
HEALTH SYSTEM, pb/B/A HIGH POINT REGIONAL HOSPITAL; JOHN DOE P.C. AND
JOHN DOE, INC., DEFENDANTS

No. COA09-528
(Filed 18 May 2010)

Medical Malpractice— Rule 9(j) certification—reasonable ex-
pectation of qualifications
The trial court erred by granting summary judgment on a
medical malpractice claim in favor of defendants. Plaintiff rea-
sonably expected that two witnesses would have been qualified
under N.C.G.S. § 8C-1, Rule 702, thus satisfying the pleading
requirements of N.C.G.S. § 1A-1, Rule 9(j).

Appeal by plaintiff from orders entered 31 October 2008 and 6
November 2008 by Judge John O. Craig, II in Guilford County
Superior Court. Heard in the Court of Appeals 26 October 2009.

Ferguson, Stein, Chambers, Gresham & Sumter, PA., by Adam
Stein, William Simpson and James E. Ferguson, II, for
plaintiff-appellant.

Smith, Anderson, Blount, Dorsett, Mitchell & Jernigan, L.L.P,,
by Samuel G. Thompson, Robert E. Desmond and Elizabeth
Horton, for Robert C. Crawford, M.D. and Carolina Womancare,
PA. f/k/a Robert C. Crawford, M.D., PA., defendants-appellees.

Carruthers & Bailey, PA., by Pamela A. Robertson, for High
Point Regional Health System d/b/a High Point Regional
Hospital, defendant-appellee.

JACKSON, Judge.

Justin Grantham (“plaintiff”), a minor child, by and through his
guardian ad litem, appeals the 31 October 2008 and 6 November 2008
orders granting summary judgment of his medical malpractice claim
to Robert C. Crawford, M.D. (“Dr. Crawford”); Carolina Womancare,
PA.; and High Point Regional Health System (“High Point Regional”)
(collectively, “defendants”). For the reasons stated below, we reverse
and remand.
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On 26 March 2008, plaintiff filed a complaint alleging medical
negligence and breach of contract against defendants based upon the
allegedly negligent delivery of plaintiff on 22 January 1997 and his
subsequent neurological injuries. Although defendants include dis-
cussion of an earlier complaint in their briefs, plaintiff voluntarily dis-
missed that complaint and no information regarding it is included in
the current record. Plaintiff offered two experts to satisfy the plead-
ing requirement for a medical malpractice suit—Edith Gurewitsch,
M.D. (“Dr. Gurewitsch”), and Certified Nurse-Midwife Pamela
Scudder Kelly (“CNM Kelly”) (collectively, “proposed experts”).

Dr. Gurewitsch had spent several rotations during her residency
in the early 1990’s at LaGuardia Hospital in Queens, New York, a small
community hospital run by an HMO. When Dr. Gurewitsch worked
there, LaGuardia had approximately four labor rooms, one obstetrical
operation room, and an anesthesiologist whom doctors had to call in
from home. In 1996, the year preceding the incident in question, Dr.
Gurewitsch was a medical fellow in maternal and fetal medicine at
New York Hospital, Cornell University Medical Center. She was a
licensed physician at the time but was not yet board-certified. During
1996, Dr. Gurewitsch acted as an attending obstetrics-gynecological
(“OB-GYN") physician, working independently and supervising resi-
dents. Also during that time frame, maternal and fetal medicine
attending physicians supervised Dr. Gurewitsch with respect to high
risk procedures. Dr. Gurewitsch has never visited High Point, North
Carolina, nor High Point Regional.

CNM Kelly was a registered nurse who was certified in midwifery
in 1980. She practiced as a CNM in Raleigh, North Carolina, from 1980
through 1990; however, from 1985 through 1990, she did not perform
deliveries. CNM Kelly did not maintain her licensure and certification
in North Carolina after 1990. From 1990 through 2000, including the
year in question, CNM Kelly practiced as a CNM at Bethesda
Memorial Hospital in Boynton Beach, Florida. She often delivered
babies during her decade at Bethesda Memorial. Bethesda Memorial
was a Level 2 hospital at least part of the time during those ten
years, had approximately six labor rooms, and had to call in a sepa-
rate operation room team for Cesarian sections. CNM Kelly has been
to High Point and has relatives in the area but was unsure of whether
she had visited High Point Regional. Both proposed experts opined
that Dr. Crawford and the nursing staff at High Point Regional vio-
lated the applicable standards of care during plaintiff’s delivery on 22
January 1997.
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On 1 October 2008, defendants moved for summary judgment
based upon North Carolina Rules of Evidence, Rule 702; North
Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 9(j); and North Carolina
General Statutes, section 90-21.12. The trial court conducted a hear-
ing on the motions on 27 October 2008. On 31 October 2008, the trial
court granted summary judgment in favor of Dr. Crawford and
Carolina Womancare, and on 6 November 2008, it granted summary
judgment in favor of High Point Regional. Plaintiff appeals.

Plaintiff contends that he reasonably expected that Dr.
Gurewitsch and CNM Kelly would qualify as experts pursuant to Rule
702, thereby satisfying the pleading requirements of Rule 9(j). The
trial court, therefore, should not have granted defendants’ motion for
summary judgment. We agree.

“We review a trial court’s ruling on summary judgment de novo.”
Barringer v. Wake Forest Univ. Baptist Med. Ctr., 197 N.C. App. 238,
247, 677 S.E.2d 465, 472 (2009) (citing In re Will of Jones, 362 N.C.
569, 573, 669 S.E.2d 572, 576 (2008)). In addition, “[w]hether the
pleader could reasonably expect the witness to qualify as an expert
under Rule 702 presents a question of law and is therefore reviewable
de novo by this Court.” Trapp v. Maccioli, 129 N.C. App. 237, 241 n.2,
497 S.E.2d 708, 711 n.2 (1998) (citing State v. Chaplin, 122 N.C. App.
659, 664, 471 S.E.2d 653, 656 (1996)).

Rule 9(j) provides, in relevant part:

Any complaint alleging medical malpractice by a health
care provider as defined in G.S. 90-21.11 in failing to comply
with the applicable standard of care under G.S. 90-21.12 shall be
dismissed unless:

(1) The pleading specifically asserts that the medical care has
been reviewed by a person who is reasonably expected to qualify
as an expert witness under Rule 702 of the Rules of Evidence and
who is willing to testify that the medical care did not comply with
the applicable standard of care].]

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1A-1, Rule 9(j) (2007). Rule 702(b) sets forth the
qualifications for an expert in a medical malpractice case:

In a medical malpractice action as defined in G.S. 90-21.11, a per-
son shall not give expert testimony on the appropriate standard
of health care as defined in G.S. 90-21.12 unless the person is a
licensed health care provider in this State or another state and
meets the following criteria:
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(1) If the party against whom or on whose behalf the testimony
is offered is a specialist, the expert witness must:

a. Specialize in the same specialty as the party against whom
or on whose behalf the testimony is offered; or

b. Specialize in a similar specialty which includes within its
specialty the performance of the procedure that is the sub-
ject of the complaint and have prior experience treating sim-
ilar patients.

(2) During the year immediately preceding the date of the occur-
rence that is the basis for the action, the expert witness must
have devoted a majority of his or her professional time to either
or both of the following:

a. The active clinical practice of the same health profession
in which the party against whom or on whose behalf the tes-
timony is offered, and if that party is a specialist, the active
clinical practice of the same specialty or a similar specialty
which includes within its specialty the performance of the
procedure that is the subject of the complaint and have prior
experience treating similar patients; or

b. The instruction of students in an accredited health profes-
sional school or accredited residency or clinical research
program in the same health profession in which the party
against whom or on whose behalf the testimony is offered,
and if that party is a specialist, an accredited health profes-
sional school or accredited residency or clinical research
program in the same specialty.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 8C-1, Rule 702(b) (2007). Section 90-21.12 further
clarifies that the standards an expert must apply are “the standards of
practice among members of the same health care profession with
similar training and experience situated in the same or similar com-

munities at the time of the alleged act giving rise to the cause of
action.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 90-21.12 (2007).

This Court inquires as to whether plaintiff reasonably expected
Dr. Gurewitsch and CNM Kelly to qualify as expert witnesses pur-
suant to Rule 702, not whether they ultimately will qualify. Smith v.
Serro, 185 N.C. App. 524, 527, 648 S.E.2d 566, 568 (2007) (citing N.C.
Gen. Stat. § 1A-1, Rule 9(3)(1) (2005); Trapp, 129 N.C. App. at 241, 497
S.E.2d at 711). “In other words, were the facts and circumstances
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known or those which should have been known to the pleader such
as to cause a reasonable person to believe that the witness would
qualify as an expert under Rule 702.” Trapp, 129 N.C. App. at 241, 497
S.E.2d at 711 (citing Black’s Law Dictionary 1265 (6th ed. 1990)
(defining reasonable belief)).

According to our Supreme Court, “[a]ssuming expert testimony is
properly qualified and placed before the trier of fact, section 90-21.12
reserves a role for the jury in determining whether an expert is suffi-
ciently familiar with the prevailing standard of medical care in the
community.” Crocker v. Roethling, 363 N.C. 140, 150, 675 S.E.2d 625,
633 (2009) (Martin, J., concurring) (citing N.C. Gen. Stat. § 90-21.12
(2007)). “Our statutes and case law do not require an expert to have
actually practiced in the community in which the alleged malpractice
occurred, or even to have practiced in a similar community.” Id. at
151, 675 S.E.2d at 633 (Martin, J., concurring) (citing N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 90-21.12; N.C. Gen. Stat. § 8C-1, Rule 702(b) (2007)). “[O]ur law does
not prescribe any particular method by which a medical doctor must
become familiar with a given community. Book or Internet research
may be a perfectly acceptable method of educating oneself regarding
the standard of medical care applicable in a particular community.”
Id. (Martin, J., concurring) (citing Coffman v. Roberson, 153 N.C.
App. 618, 624-25, 571 S.E.2d 255, 259 (2002), disc. rev. denied, 356
N.C. 668, 577 S.E.2d 111 (2003)) (internal quotation marks omitted).

In the instant case, Dr. Gurewitsch was a licensed physician—
she had received her license in 1992, five years before the incident
in question; she worked in the same speciality as Dr. Crawford—
both specialized in obstetrics; and in the year prior to the incident,
she spent a majority of her time in either clinical practice or teach-
ing—she spent all of her time as a medical fellow, practicing obstet-
rics and gynecology and teaching residents. Therefore, she satisfies
the three basic elements of Rule 702(b). We agree with plaintiff
that defendants’ arguments concerning Dr. Gurewitsch’s being
supervised during the year in question and her lack of board certifi-
cation at the time go to the weight of her testimony, rather than to
her initial qualification.

CNM Kelly also satisfies Rule 702(b)—she had been certified as a
nurse-midwife in North Carolina in 1980 and became dual-certified as
a registered nurse and nurse-midwife in Florida in 1990; she and the
nurses in the case sub judice all specialized in obstetrics; and in the
year prior to the incident, she spent the majority of her time actively
practicing obstetrical nursing at a hospital. The fact that she had not
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been involved in delivering babies in North Carolina for a decade—
but rather had been a preceptor for medical students and then per-
formed deliveries in Florida—again goes to the weight of the testi-
mony, not the threshold qualification.

The major concern for both proposed experts is section 90-21.12,
which requires that an expert witness apply the standard of practice
from “the same or similar communities[.]” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 90-21.12.
Our Supreme Court’s decision in Crocker, supra, provides helpful
analysis as to whether the proposed experts’ depositions and affi-
davits reveal sufficient familiarity with High Point Regional as it
relates to their experiences in community hospitals. We note that
all parties in the instant case argue that Crocker is inapplicable,
because unlike Crocker, the current case is not a “close case.”
However, each party contends that these facts clearly are in his or
its favor. We disagree.

As is true in the case sub judice, in Crocker a discrepancy
appeared between the knowledge to which the expert testified in
his deposition and the knowledge included in his subsequent affi-
davit. In Crocker, “Dr. Elliott’s [the proposed expert’s] deposition
testimony tended not to support the admission of his testimony at
trial.” 363 N.C. at 150, 675 S.E.2d at 633 (Martin, J., concurring). He
was unsure about significant information, including the level of the
hospital at issue, the number of beds it had, and facts about the com-
munity in which it was situated. Id. at 150-51, 675 S.E.2d at 633
(Martin, J., concurring).

Dr. Elliott’s affidavit, on the other hand, indicated that he had
researched and was knowledgeable about the standard of care in
Goldsboro[,] . . . [including] “the size of the population [of
Goldsboro], the level of care available at the hospital, the facili-
ties and the number of health care providers for obstetrics,” and
“the prevailing standard of care for handling shoulder dystocia in
the same or similar community to Goldsboro.”

Id. at 151, 675 S.E.2d at 633 (Martin, J., concurring) (quoting Dr.
Elliott’s affidavit). Similarly, both Dr. Gurewitsch and CNM Kelly
shared knowledge in their affidavits with respect to the community of
High Point, its population, the per capita income there, the number of
beds in High Point Regional, and the number of beds in the obstetrics
unit, including one operating room for Cesarian sections. They both
also stated that they had practiced in community hospitals “with sim-
ilar equipment and facilities as High Point Regional Hospital and in an
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area of similar per capita income.” However, their deposition testi-
monies several months earlier generally had been lacking such spe-
cific information.

Even the depositions, though, contained some evidence of simi-
larities between the hospitals in which the experts had practiced and
High Point Regional. For instance, CNM Kelly stated that her hospital
was a Level 2 for at least a portion of the time she worked there dur-
ing the relevant time period; she also knew that, similar to High Point
Regional, the staff at her hospital had to call in an operating room
team for Cesarian sections. Of particular relevance is CNM Kelly’s
reference to the policies and procedures of High Point Regional dur-
ing her deposition. CNM Kelly specifically quoted the applicable poli-
cies of High Point Regional and explained that the nurses did not fol-
low these policies and procedures during plaintiff’s delivery. Clearly,
the policies of the specific hospital at issue are relevant evidence of
that hospital’s local standard of care. Similarly, Dr. Gurewitsch stated
her knowledge that High Point Regional was either a Level 1 or Level
2 hospital in 1997, that it had to call anesthesia from home, and that
it had a separate operating room team for Cesarian sections. Al-
though she had not reviewed any bylaws, policies, or procedures of
High Point Regional, she did later review that information. Dr.
Gurewitsch may have been more explicit than CNM Kelly that she
applied a standard of care specific to High Point Regional and to Dr.
Crawford when providing her expert opinions. The paper record,
therefore, may be ambiguous—i.e. a close case—with respect to the
extent of these experts’ bases of knowledge.

When this Court previously has interpreted Crocker, we reached
a similar conclusion. The expert in Barringer, Dr. Mosca, spoke “in
the language of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 90-21.12” in his affidavit, and yet, his
deposition testimony created questions as to whether he had applied
a national standard of care when evaluating the defendant’s
actions. 197 N.C. App. at 247, 677 S.E.2d at 472-74. Dr. Mosca’s depo-
sition testimony revealed that he was uncertain “whether Winston-
Salem was indeed similar to the communities with which he was
familiar.” Id. at 251, 677 S.E.2d at 474. Although neither Dr.
Gurewitsch nor CNM Kelly seemed unsure of the standard she
applied to the actions of Dr. Crawford and the nurses of High Point
Regional, defendants nonetheless question whether the proposed
experts’ knowledge with respect to the hospital is sufficient to make
their testimonies relevant. Therefore, in accordance with both
Crocker and Barringer, we reverse the trial court’s grant of summary
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judgment and remand to the trial court to conduct a voir dire exam-
ination of the proposed experts.!

For these reasons, we reverse the grant of summary judg-
ment and remand to the trial court for further action consistent
with this opinion.

Reversed and remanded.

Chief Judge MARTIN and Judge ERVIN concur.

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. JIMMY REID

No. COA09-1292
(Filed 18 May 2010)

1. Appeal and Error— preservation of issues—constitutional
issue not raised at trial

Defendant did not preserve for appellate review his argument
that the trial court erred by failing to dismiss a charge of incest
because the relevant statute was overbroad. Defendant did not
raise this constitutional issue at trial.

2. Appeal and Error— preservation of issues—issue not
raised at trial—failed to make offer of proof

Defendant did not preserve for appellate review his argu-
ment that the trial court erred in sustaining the prosecution’s
objections to defendant’s cross-examination of the prosecuting
witness. Defendant did not assert any constitutional claims at
trial and failed to make any specific offer of proof when the trial
court sustained the objections. Moreover, even if defendant had
preserved this issue, he failed to show that the trial court abused
its discretion.

1. According to Justice Newby in his dissent, “Justice Martin’s opinion, having the
narrower directive, is the controlling opinion . . . and requires the trial court to conduct
a voir dire examination of the proffered expert witness.” Crocker, 363 N.C. at 154 n.1,
675 S.E.2d at 635 n.1 (Newby, J., dissenting) (citing Marks v. United States, 430 U.S.
188, 193, 51 L. Ed. 2d 260, 266 (1977) (“When a fragmented [Supreme Court of the
United States] decides a case and no single rationale explaining the result enjoys the
assent of five Justices, ‘the holding of the Court may be viewed as that position taken
by those Members who concurred in the judgments on the narrowest grounds . . .." ”)).
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3. Constitutional Law— right to self-representation—no
error—issue not preserved for appellate review

The trial court did not err by allowing defendant to represent
himself because defendant’s actions did not reflect mental illness,
delusional thinking, or a defendant who lacked the mental capac-
ity to conduct his trial defense unless represented. Furthermore,
defendant did not preserve for appellate review his argument that
he was denied his constitutional right to represent himself and
present his defense because the trial court allowed jailers to seize
defendant’s legal papers at night when he returned to jail.

Appeal by defendant from judgment entered 30 January 2009 by
Judge R. Stuart Albright in Guilford County Superior Court. Heard in
the Court of Appeals 24 February 2010.

Attorney General Roy Cooper, by Assistant Attorney General
Elizabeth J. Weese, for the State.

M. Alexander Charns for defendant.

BRYANT, Judge.

Defendant Jimmy Reid was indicted on one count each of second-
degree rape and incest. During the 20 January 2009 criminal session
of Guilford County Superior Court, a jury found him guilty of both
charges. The trial court sentenced defendant to 125 to 159 months on
the second-degree rape charge and 19 to 23 months on the incest
charge. The trial court also ordered defendant to register as a sex
offender and be subject to satellite-based monitoring for the rest of
his life. Defendant appeals. As discussed below, we find no error.

Facts

The evidence tended to show the following. C.H. had been de-
fendant’s step-daughter since defendant married her mother, L.R., in
1998. C.H. testified that she had a good relationship with defendant
until she was sixteen, when he made a sexually suggestive comment
to her. In 2007, C.H. got a rose tattoo near her waistline and defendant
became angry about it, telling C.H. the tattoo was “drawing attention
to [her] ass.” Defendant again made sexual comments to C.H.

On 26 February 2008, L.R. was at work and C.H., then age nine-
teen, was in her bedroom. Defendant came into the room wearing
only shorts and carrying a towel. Defendant told C.H. he was going to
punish her for the tattoo drawing his attention to her. He straddled
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C.H. on her bed, pulled her legs apart, and told her that they could “do
it the hard way or the easy way.” C.H. struggled and pleaded with
defendant to stop, but he had vaginal intercourse with her.
Afterwards, defendant left C.H.'s room and she went to her
boyfriend’s house to take a shower. A few hours later, C.H. told her
mother what had happened, and C.H. was taken to the police depart-
ment to make a report and to the hospital for an examination.

Following a lengthy pre-trial hearing, defendant was allowed to
represent himself during the trial with court-appointed standby coun-
sel. He did not present evidence but did cross-examine the State’s wit-
nesses. During closing arguments, defendant admitted having sex
with C.H. but claimed it was consensual.

Defendant made nine assignments of error which he brings
forward in three arguments to this Court: that the trial court erred
in (I) failing to dismiss the incest charge because the relevant stat-
ute is overbroad, (II) sustaining the prosecution’s objections to his
cross-examination of C.H., and (III) allowing him to represent himself
when he was mentally ill, or, in the alternative, allowing jailors to
seize his legal papers when he returned to jail at night during the
trial. After careful review of defendant’s arguments and the record,
we find no error.

1

[1] Defendant first argues the trial court erred in failing to dismiss
the incest charge against him, contending that N.C. Gen. Stat. § 14-178
is constitutionally overbroad. Because defendant did not preserve
this issue for appellate review, we do not consider his argument and
dismiss his related assignments of error.

“[A] constitutional question which is not raised and passed upon
in the trial court will not ordinarily be considered on appeal.” State v.
Hunter, 305 N.C. 106, 112, 286 S.E.2d 535, 539 (1982) (citations omit-
ted). Defendant was charged under N.C.G.S. § 14-178, which provides
in pertinent part:

(a) Offense.—A person commits the offense of incest if the per-
son engages in carnal intercourse with the person’s (i) grandpar-
ent or grandchild, (ii) parent or child or stepchild or legally
adopted child, (iii) brother or sister of the half or whole blood, or
(iv) uncle, aunt, nephew, or niece.

N.C.G.S. § 14-178 (2009). In his brief, defendant argues that the
statute is overbroad because it would criminalize sexual encounters
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between consenting adults even after the familial bonds that linked
them had been dissolved by death or divorce. However, our thorough
review of the record indicates that defendant did not raise the con-
stitutional issue of overbreadth at trial.

In a written pretrial motion, defendant moved to dismiss the
incest charge, stating in pertinent part:

Now back to the Incest Indictment where Perjury was committed
in order to obtain an Indictment by the Grand Jury. The lead
Detective, Prosecutor and Magistrate All was [sic] complicity
[sic] in Perjury when they implied that the plaintiff was a minor
with evidence in hand shown [sic] plaintiff’s age was 19 going on
20 years old and not a minor like 14-27.3(A) reguest [sic] Plaintiff
or victim must be.

This motion raises no constitutional issue and instead appears to
allege perjury before the grand jury and indicates defendant’s confu-
sion about the statute under which he was charged for the crime of
incest. This motion mentions the “Incest Indictment,” but then cites
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 14-27.3, which concerns second-degree rape, a
charge for which defendant was also indicted and convicted. Section
14-27.3 does not mention age of the victim. Defendant may have
intended to refer N.C. Gen. Stat. § 14-27.7, entitled “Intercourse and
sexual offenses with certain victims; consent no defense”, which pro-
vides, in pertinent part:

(a) If a defendant who has assumed the position of a parent in
the home of a minor victim engages in vaginal intercourse or a
sexual act with a victim who is a minor residing in the home, or
if a person having custody of a victim of any age or a person who
is an agent or employee of any person, or institution, whether
such institution is private, charitable, or governmental, having
custody of a victim of any age engages in vaginal intercourse or a
sexual act with such victim, the defendant is guilty of a Class E
felony. Consent is not a defense to a charge under this section.

N.C.G.S. § 14-27.7 (2009). However, defendant was not charged under
this statute.

During the hearing on pretrial motions, defendant moved to allow
his court-appointed counsel to withdraw and to be allowed to repre-
sent himself. When the trial court asked defendant why he wished to
represent himself, he launched into a rambling explanation about his
counsel colluding with the district attorney in refusing to meet with
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defendant “because they knew that the evidence that I had to show
would get both of my charges dismissed, both indictments dis-
missed.” Defendant then put forward the same argument from his
written motion, as quoted above, that there was perjury before the
grand jury about the age of C.H. Defendant was again apparently
confused about the statute under which he was charged since he
stated “the person must be a minor when you play a parental role
then the person must be a minor . . . .” This language is similar to that
quoted above from N.C.G.S. § 14-27.7 but does not appear in N.C.G.S.
§ 14-178. Again, defendant raised no constitutional issue but focused
only on the “problem indictment.”

Later in the hearing, when the trial court asked defendant to sum
up his concerns with his court-appointed counsel, defendant re-
sponded that the indictments “[d]oesn’t [sic] legally qualify according
to the constitution.” Although defendant mentioned the constitution
at this point, it was in connection with his concern about the possi-
bility that someone committed perjury before the grand jury by claim-
ing C.H. was a minor. At no point did he allege overbreadth of
N.C.G.S. § 14-178 or even mention that statute.

Defendant also moved to dismiss at the close of all evidence
based on insufficiency of the evidence and renewed the motion after
the jury charge. Defendant did not mention overbreadth or make any
other constitutional argument. The trial court denied those motions.
Because defendant did not raise his constitutional arguments in the
trial court, they are not properly before us, and we dismiss these
assignments of error.

I

[2] Defendant next argues the trial court erred in sustaining the
prosecution’s objections to his cross-examination of C.H. Because
defendant failed to preserve this issue for our review, we dismiss his
argument and related assignments of error.

“[A] witness may be cross-examined on any matter relevant to
any issue in the case, including credibility.” N.C. Gen. Stat. 8C-1, Rule
611(b) (2009). However, “the trial court has the duty to ensure that
time is not wasted in useless and repetitive presentation of the evi-
dence.” State v. Long, 113 N.C. App. 765, 771, 440 S.E.2d 576, 579
(1994). The scope of cross-examination is left to the sound discretion
of the trial court. State v. Forte, 360 N.C. 427, 442, 629 S.E.2d 137, 147,
cert. denied, 549 U.S. 1021, 166 L. Ed. 2d 413 (2006). “[Alny ‘ruling
committed to a trial court’s discretion is to be accorded great defer-
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ence and will be upset only upon a showing that it was so arbitrary
that it could not have been the result of a reasoned decision.” ” State
v. T'.D.R., 347 N.C. 489, 503, 495 S.E.2d 700, 708 (1998) (quoting White
v. White, 312 N.C. 770, 777, 324 S.E.2d 829, 832 (1985)). Finally, “[iln
order for this Court to rule on the trial court’s exclusion of evidence,
a specific offer of proof is required unless the significance of the
excluded evidence is clear from the record.” Long, 113 N.C. App. at
768, 440 S.E.2d at 578 (citing N.C. Gen. Stat. § 8C, Rule 103(a)(2)
(1992) and State v. Simpson, 314 N.C. 359, 334 S.E.2d 53 (1985)).

Defendant bases this argument on his fifth and sixth assignments
of error. Both assignments of error assert that defendant’s right to
present a defense under the federal and state constitutions was vio-
lated. Assignment of error five refers to “objections to defendant’s
questions to witnesses and to his closing argument.” Assignment of
error six refers to “objections to defendant’s questions to his wife
about her previous occupation and drug usage. [sic] argument.” In his
brief, defendant explains that he wished to cross-examine C.H. about
her relationship and feelings toward him and the “complicated family
dynamics of a stepfamily” to show that C.H. had a motive to lie about
being raped. In addition, he wished to cross-examine C.H. and L.R.
about L.R.’s alleged drug use to show that L.R. did not “perceive
events accurately.”

We first note that defendant did not assert any constitutional
claims in the trial court and failed to make a specific offer of proof
when the trial court sustained the State’s objections. Therefore,
defendant has failed to preserve this issue for our review. See Hunter,
305 N.C. at 112, 286 S.E.2d at 539; Long, 113 N.C. App. at 768, 440
S.E.2d at 578. Further, even if defendant had preserved this issue, he
fails to show any abuse of the trial court’s discretion.

During his closing argument, the trial court sustained several
objections by the State when defendant tried to discuss his wife
“using [his] kids against” him and mentioned his wife’s “nasty letters.”
The transcript reveals that although the trial court sustained the
objections, defendant continued to talk about the letters. Likewise,
when the trial court sustained an objection to defendant talking
about C.H. allegedly holding a knife to his throat, defendant had
already twice before mentioned this allegation. Our close review of
the trial transcript shows that the trial court gave defendant, acting
pro se, wide latitude in both his cross-examinations and closing argu-
ment. Defendant repeatedly and extensively discussed his theory that
C.H. and L.R. were not being truthful and were out to get him. The
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trial court also allowed defendant to cross-examine C.H. about their
relationship and her alleged dislike of defendant. The trial court
acted appropriately and within its discretion in preventing the waste
of time by needlessly repetitive testimony. Long, 113 N.C. App. at
771, 440 S.E.2d at 579. Defendant’s assignments of error five and six
are dismissed.

17

[3] In his final argument, defendant contends that “the trial court
erred by allowing [him] to represent himself when the pre-trial hear-
ing and the trial [were] filled with indications that defendant was
mentally ill and not able to represent himself, or, in the alternative,
for allowing jailers to seize defendant’s legal papers at night when he
returned to jail denying him the right to represent himself.” We dis-
agree. Defendant failed to properly preserve his alternative argument
for appellate review and we dismiss defendant’s assignment of error
seven. As to defendant’s assignment of error eight, regarding his
alleged mental illness, we find no error.

Defendant begins the third argument in his brief with an ex-
tended assertion about the alleged ineffectiveness of his court-
appointed counsel prior to her withdrawal and appointment as his
standby counsel. However, defendant did not assign error on this
point and thus, his ineffective assistance of counsel argument is
not before us.

Defendant then acknowledges that the trial court conducted the
review required by N.C. Gen. Stat. § 15A-1242 before allowing him to
proceed pro se, but contends that the trial court was “under the mis-
apprehension that [it] couldn’t force [him] to have a court-appointed
attorney.” Defendant states that “the Constitution permits judges to
take realistic account of the particular defendant’s mental capacities
by asking whether a defendant who seeks to conduct his own defense
at trial is mentally competent to do so.” Indiana v. Edwards, —
U.S. —, —, 171 L. Ed. 2d 345, 357 (2008). As defendant notes,
Edwards involved a defendant who had been previously ruled incom-
petent to stand trial twice and who had diagnosed mental illness
including schizophrenia. Id. at —, 171 L. Ed. 2d at 351. Defendant
agrees that his case is factually distinguishable from Edwards, but
asserts that his pretrial motions and claims indicated delusional
thinking and mental illness. We disagree.

As discussed above, defendant’s written motions and some of his
arguments during the pretrial hearing indicate that he was confused
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about what elements were required to be proved under various
statutes. However, this is not clear evidence of delusional thinking
but rather of the confusion one might expect of a layperson grappling
with our State’s complicated statutes relating to sexual offenses. The
transcript reveals that defendant formed a coherent theory of his
case: that he and C.H. engaged in consensual sex rather than rape,
and that C.H. lied about consenting because she disliked him.
Defendant stuck to this theory throughout the trial and attempted to
find support for it during his cross-examination of the State’s wit-
nesses. Defendant then summed up his theory and argued it during
his closing statement. Defendant was able to file a written motion to
dismiss and to renew that motion appropriately at the close of all evi-
dence. He was able to make the decision not to testify, which would
have opened him up to cross-examination and attacks on his credi-
bility. Given the evidence against him, specifically medical evidence
and testimony from C.H. supporting the rape charge and witness tes-
timony about his difficult relationship with C.H., defendant appears
to have made a strategic decision to admit sexual contact but contest
rape. This decision may have been unsuccessful and may even have
been ill-advised, but it does not reflect mental illness, delusional
thinking, or a defendant who “lacks the mental capacity to conduct
his trial defense unless represented.” Id. at —, 171 L. Ed. 2d at 355.
The trial court did not err in allowing defendant to represent himself
after complying with the requirements of N.C.G.S. § 15A-1242. In fact,
the trial court conducted an extensive inquiry regarding defendant’s
ability represent himself.

As to defendant’s alternative argument, that defendant was de-
nied his constitutional rights to represent himself and present his
defense because jailers seized his legal papers, we conclude that he
did not preserve this issue for appellate review. At trial, defendant
made no motion or objection on constitutional grounds before the
trial court. Hunter, 305 N.C. at 112, 286 S.E.2d at 539.

In any event, defendant cannot show error. The transcript reveals
that, outside the presence of the jury at approximately 9 a.m. on 23
January 2009, defendant reported to the trial court that someone at
the jail had “ambushed” him that morning and taken his legal papers.
The trial court asked defendant to look through his materials to
insure that he had all his papers. Defendant stated that he did have
everything. The trial court went further and asked defendant twice
more to make sure he had everything he needed and that his papers
were in order; defendant said he was ready to proceed. After the jury
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was brought in, the trial court again asked defendant if needed a few
minutes to get organized and when defendant said he was unsure, the
trial court called a ten minute recess so that defendant could further
prepare himself. The trial court then confirmed that defendant was
ready to proceed. In his brief, defendant contends that he was pre-
vented from preparing his defense and compares the incident to “the
Government tak[ing] a lawyer’s work product for the evening, pre-
venting him or her from preparing for the next day’s court examina-
tions and arguments[.]” Defendant’s legal papers were not taken
overnight; even if someone at the jail had “seized” his papers that
morning, defendant acknowledged to the trial court that he had
everything back at 9 a.m. At no point did defendant suggest that he
was unprepared for court or hindered in any way by the incident. In
context, defendant appears to have been concerned with being “am-
bushed.” This interpretation is further supported by his reference to
the incident during the sentencing hearing, when defendant stated
that he had been “attacked” during the incident. When defendant
raised this issue, both at trial and during sentencing, the trial court
made a point of clarifying that defendant had not been physically
attacked, had access to his materials during the evening in his cell,
had all his materials when he arrived in court, and was organized and
prepared to proceed. Defendant does not show that he was prevented
from representing himself or presenting his defense.

Dismissed in part; no error.

Judges STROUD and BEASLEY concur.

FISH HOUSE, INC., PLAINTIFF v. PATRICE C. CLARKE, DEFENDANT

No. COA09-1047
(Filed 18 May 2010)

1. Trespass— navigable waters—public trust doctrine

The trial court did not err in dismissing plaintiff’s trespass
action because the manmade canal upon which defendant
allegedly trespassed was a navigable waterway held by the State
in trust for all citizens of North Carolina pursuant to the public
trust doctrine.
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2. Jurisdiction— subject matter—standing—navigable waters

Plaintiff’s argument that the trial court erred in determining
whether a canal was navigable because defendant had no stand-
ing to litigate the rights of the State of North Carolina was over-
ruled because defendant raised navigable waters as a defense to
plaintiff’s trespass claim and was not seeking monetary damages
for interference with navigable waters.

3. Trespass— title to land—immaterial—mavigable waters

Plaintiff’s argument that the trial court erred in dismissing
its trespass claim because it was immaterial that plaintiff did
not allege title to the land in question was dismissed because
the canal at issue was navigable water subject to the public
trust doctrine.

4. Waters and Adjoining Lands— navigable canal in its en-
tirety—no error

The trial court did not err in determining that a canal
was navigable in its entirety because plaintiff’s complaint did not
limit its trespass claim to any particular portion of the canal and
defendant did not limit its defense of navigability to a specific
portion of the canal.

Appeal by Plaintiff from an order entered 12 February 2009 by
Judge Quentin T. Sumner in Hyde County Superior Court. Heard in
the Court of Appeals 10 February 2010.

Vandeventer Black LLP, by Norman W. Shearin, Jr. and Allison
Holmes Pant, for Plaintiff.

Pritchett & Burch, PLLC, by Lloyd C. Smith, Jr., Jonathan E.
Huddleston, and S. Adam Stallings, for Defendant.

BEASLEY, Judge.

Fish House, Inc. (Plaintiff) appeals from an order denying its mo-
tion for partial summary judgment and dismissing its trespass action
and all claims alleged therein. Because we agree with the trial court
that the canal through which Patrice C. Clarke (Defendant) has
allegedly trespassed is navigable waters, and therefore subject to the
public trust doctrine, we affirm.

Plaintiff and Defendant own adjacent tracts of land in the Village
of Engelhard, North Carolina, upon which they each operate their
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respective fish houses. Plaintiff purchased three contiguous parcels
(the “Fish House Parcels”) from its principals pursuant to a deed exe-
cuted on 22 June 1992. Far Creek, LLC (who was a co-plaintiff in this
action but filed notice of voluntary dismissal under Rule 41(a)) pur-
chased the Fish House Parcels on 30 August 2005 and leased the land
back to Plaintiff. Therefore, since 1992, Plaintiff has been and re-
mains in possession of the Fish House Parcels, either pursuant to the
lease or as record owner thereof. Located on the western border of
Plaintiff’s property and to the east of Defendant’s lies a canal called
the Old Sam Spencer Ditch (the “Canal”). Defendant has consistently
allowed boats to enter upon the Canal and tie up on the western side.

Plaintiff commenced a trespass action against Defendant by filing
a complaint on 9 October 2007 to enjoin her from using the Canal. In
Defendant’s answer, she moved to dismiss the trespass action pur-
suant to Rule 12(b)(6) on the grounds that Plaintiff’s leasehold inter-
est is not sufficient to confer a viable claim. Defendant raised as af-
firmative defenses adverse possession, prescriptive easement, and
navigable waters, and asserted several counterclaims. Defendant
filed a motion for summary judgment on 8 December 2008, and
Plaintiff filed a motion for partial summary judgment for dismissal of
Defendant’s counterclaims the following day. A motions hearing was
held at the 12 January 2009 civil session of Martin County Superior
court. The trial court found that neither party was entitled to judg-
ment as a matter of law and denied both parties’ summary judgment
motions. Defendant’s motion to dismiss, which was converted to a
summary judgment motion at the hearing, for lack of standing was
also denied. Finally, the trial court found that the waters of the Old
Sam Spencer Ditch are navigable waters in which the State of North
Carolina has public trust rights. Accordingly, the trial court con-
cluded that neither party has any rights in the waters of the Canal
except as members of the public and, therefore, dismissed the action
in its entirety. Plaintiff appealed from this order.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“Our standard of review of an appeal from summary judgment is
de novo; such judgment is appropriate only when the record shows
that ‘there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that any
party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.”” In re Will of
Jones, 362 N.C. 569, 573, 669 S.E.2d 572, 576 (2008) (citation omitted).

“Under the public trust doctrine, the lands under navigable
waters ‘are held in trust by the State for the benefit of the public’ and
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‘the benefit and enjoyment of North Carolina’s submerged lands is
available to all its citizens, subject to reasonable legislative regula-
tion, for navigation, fishing and commerce.’ ” Parker v. New Hanover
Cty., 173 N.C. App. 644, 653, 619 S.E.2d 868, 875 (2005) (quoting State
ex rel. Rohrer v. Credle, 322 N.C. 522, 527, 369 S.E.2d 825, 828 (1988));
see also N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1-45.1 (2007) (codifying the public trust doc-
trine and extending its protections to “the right to navigate, swim,
hunt, fish, and enjoy all recreational activities in the watercourses of
the State”). “Though ‘the extent of the public trust ownership of
North Carolina is confused and uncertain[,] the Supreme Court of
North Carolina has affirmed original state ownership of . . . lands
under all waters navigable-in-fact.” ” Bauman v. Woodlake Partners,
LLC, —— N.C. App. —, ——, 681 S.E.2d 819, 824 (2009) (quoting
Thomas J. Schoenbaum, Public Rights and Coastal Zone
Management, 51 N.C. L. Rev. 1, 17 (1970-71)).

Our Supreme Court has clarified the law on navigability in the
context of the public doctrine succinctly: “ ‘[A]ll watercourses are
regarded as navigable in law that are navigable in fact.” ” Gwathmey
v. State of North Carolina, 342 N.C. 287, 300, 464 S.E.2d 674, 682
(1995) (quoting State v. Baum, 128 N.C. 600, 604, 38 S.E. 900, 901
(1901)); see also State v. Twiford, 136 N.C. 603, 606, 48 S.E. 586,
587 (1904) (“[I]f a stream is ‘navigable in fact . . . it is navigable in
law.” ). The Court has explained that “if a body of water in its natural
condition can be navigated by watercraft, it is navigable in fact and,
therefore, navigable in law, even if it has not been used for such pur-
pose.” Gwathmey, 342 N.C. at 301, 464 S.E.2d at 682. Those lands sub-
merged under such waters that are navigable in law are the subject of
the North Carolina public trust doctrine. See id.

L

[1] Plaintiff argues that the trial court committed reversible error in
dismissing its trespass action because even if the Old Sam Spencer
Ditch is “navigable,” Plaintiff is entitled to exclude Defendant there-
from. We disagree.

Plaintiff cites Vaughn v. Vermillion, 62 L. Ed. 2d 365, 444 U.S. 206
(1979) and Kaiser Aetna v. United States, 62 L. Ed. 2d 332, 444 U.S.
164 (1979) for the proposition that the privately owned, manmade
waterways in those cases did not become open to use by all United
States citizens simply because it joined with other navigable water-
ways. These cases, however, address the laws of the United States
regarding the general public use of navigable waters in the context of
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interstate commerce. Plaintiff never addresses the rights enjoyed by
the citizens of North Carolina under the Public Trust Doctrine, based
upon which the trial court’s order was rendered, and the cases cited
are inapposite thereto.

We agree with the trial court and Defendant that the Canal, al-
though manmade, is a navigable waterway held by the state in trust
for all citizens of North Carolina.

This Court recently stated that “the public ha[s] the right to []
unobstructed navigation as a public highway for all purposes of plea-
sure or profit, of all watercourses, whether tidal or inland, that are in
their natural condition capable of such use.” Bauman, — N.C. App.
at ——, 681 S.E.2d at 824 (quoting Gwathmey, 342 N.C. at 300, 464
S.E.2d at 682). The question here is whether the test for navigability
is different when applied to a manmade canal. “Gwathmey clearly
states that the public has a right to unobstructed navigability of
waters in their natural state.” Id. at —, 681 S.E.2d at 824-25.
However, it is not whether the waterway itself is natural or artificial
but, rather, “[w]ater that is navigable in its natural state flows without
diminution or obstruction.” Id. at ——, 681 S.E.2d at 825 (citing Wilson
v. Forbes, 13 N.C. 30, 35 (1828)). The South Carolina case of Hughes
v. Nelson, 303 S.C. 102, 399 S.E.2d 24 (1990), is instructive, as it
addresses very similar facts under a similar state law providing for
common law rights of the public in navigable water. The issue before
the South Carolina Court of Appeals was “whether the waters of the
canal are navigable waters, making the canal a public highway, or
whether, on the other hand, the canal is private property, like a pri-
vately owned road.” Id. at 104, 399 S.E.2d at 25. Moreover, the test for
navigability used by the South Carolina courts is akin to that
employed in North Carolina, such that the court’s analysis in Hughes
is particularly persuasive. See id. at 105, 399 S.E.2d at 25 (“The true
test to be applied is whether a stream inherently and by its nature has
the capacity for valuable floatage, irrespective of the fact of actual
use or the extent of such use.”).

The court in Hughes held that “[t]he fact that a waterway is arti-
ficial, not natural, is not controlling. When a canal is constructed to
connect with a navigable river, the canal may be regarded as a part of
the river.” Id.; see also State ex rel. Medlock v. S.C. Coastal Council,
289 S.C. 445, 448, 346 S.E.2d 716, 718 (1986) (holding canals and
ditches, dug by rice planters for the purpose of water control but
used thereafter by the general public as natural waterways, “have
become the functional equivalent of natural streams”); State v.
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Columbia Water Power Co., 82 S.C. 181, 186, 63 S.E. 884, 887 (1909)
(stating that a canal constructed to improve the navigability of two
navigable rivers becomes “a part of those rivers, and therefore navi-
gable just as any other portion of them is navigable”). Accordingly,
the court in Hughes concluded that the canal which was privately
constructed to connect with a navigable river, had the capacity for
navigation, and had indeed been navigated for the past fifteen years
without exclusion of the public was navigable water.

Although the North Carolina authority on this issue is sparse,
the N.C. Department of Environment and Natural Resources, Divi-
sion of Coastal Management (DCM) likewise suggests that our
test for navigability does not discriminate between natural and
artificial waterways. The DCM, in its CAMA [Coastal Area
Management Act] Handbook for Development in Coastal Carolina,
defines navigable waters and identifies the various public trust
areas. The handbook identifies public trust areas as, inter alia:
(1) “all navigable natural water bodies and the lands underneath;”
(2) “all water in artificially created water bodies that have signifi-
cant public fishing resources and are accessible to the public from
other waters;” and (3) “all waters in artificially created water
bodies where the public has acquired rights by prescription, cus-
tom, usage, dedication or any other means.” Division of Coastal
Management, N.C. Dep’t of Envt & Natural Res., CAMA Hand-
book for Development in Coastal North Carolina § 2(A)(1),

http://dcm2.enr.state.nc.us/Handbook/section2.htm. In Pine Knoll
Assn. v. Cardon, this Court stated, without dispute, that Plaintiff
and defendant own adjoining canal front properties on the dead end
canal of Davis Landing Canal, which is navigable by pleasure boats,
and described the canal as a navigable waterway. 126 N.C. App. 155,
157, 484 S.E.2d 446, 447 (1997). In light of the preceding authority, we
hold that the controlling law of navigability concerning the body of
water in its natural condition reflects only upon the manner in which
the water flows without diminution or obstruction. Therefore, any-
waterway, whether manmade or artificial, which is capable of navi-
gation by watercraft constitutes navigable water under the public
trust doctrine of this state.

Here, there is no dispute that boats with a length of thirty (30)
feet have navigated the Old Sam Spencer Ditch or that Defendant and
other members of the public have used the Canal for commercial pur-
poses in excess of twenty (20) years. Several affidavits setting forth
the navigability and historical use of the Canal, which remain uncon-
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tested by Plaintiff, indicate that the Old Sam Spencer Ditch is indeed
navigable water and subject to the public trust doctrine.Therefore,
we hold the trial court did not err in dismissing Plaintiffs action for
trespass against Defendant to enjoin her from using these waters held
in trust by the state for the benefit of the public.

II.

[2] Plaintiff argues that even if the waters of the Canal are navigable,
the trial court erred in determining their navigability because De-
fendant has no standing to litigate the rights of the State of North
Carolina. Plaintiff contends that the issue of navigable waters is not a
defense or a claim available to Defendant. We disagree.

Standing implicates a courts subject matter jurisdiction and may
be raised at any time, even on appeal. Woodring v. Swieter, 180 N.C.
App. 362, 366-67, 637 S.E.2d 269, 274-75 (2006).

Although Plaintiff is correct that no party has the standing to liti-
gate the rights of the state, Defendant in this case raised navigable
waters as an affirmative defense to Plaintiffs trespass action. Our
courts have held that private litigants lack standing to sue for damage
to public lands, including navigable waters. See Fabrikant v.
Currituck Cty., 174 N.C. App. 30, 42, 621 S.E.2d 19, 27-28 (2005)
(holding that because of the unique nature of the public trust doc-
trine, this is a claim that may only be raised by a sovereign). This
Court stated: “As such, the public trust doctrine cannot give rise to
an assertion of ownership that would be available to any ‘private
litigants in like circumstances.”” Id. at 41-42) 621 S.E.2d at 27 (cita-
tion omitted).

The state is the sole party able to seek non-individualized, or pub-
lic, remedies for alleged harm to public waters. Under the public
trust doctrine, the State holds title to the submerged lands under
navigable waters, but it is a title of a different character than that
which it holds in other lands. It is a title held in trust for the peo-
ple of the state so that they may navigate, fish, and carry on com-
merce in the waters involved.

Neuse River Found., Inc. v. Smithfield Foods, Inc., 155 N.C. App.
110, 118-19, 574 S.E.2d 48, 54 (2002) (internal quotations omitted).

Defendant is not seeking monetary damages for interference with
navigable waters but, rather, merely raises the doctrine as a defense
to Plaintiffs trespass claim and to preserve the publics rights to the
Canal under the public trust doctrine. Cf. Bauman, —— N.C. App. —,
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681 S.E.2d 819 (allowing the class action suit brought by riparian
owners against defendants who had begun charging a toll for use of
the lake to proceed). Although the lake in Bauman was ultimately
not deemed navigable, this Court did not prohibit the plaintiffs from
invoking the public trust doctrine where they merely wanted access
to the lakes allegedly navigable waters, free from interference and
charge. Similarly, Defendant invokes the public trust doctrine, not to
litigate the rights of the state, but to ensure that Plaintiff does not pre-
vent her from enjoying those rights. Accordingly, we hold the trial
court did not err in deciding that the waters of the canal were navi-
gable because Defendants standing is not an issue.

III.

[3] Plaintiff argues that the trial court committed reversible error in
dismissing its trespass action because it is immaterial that Plaintiff
does not allege title to the land in question. Pursuant to the discus-
sion above, the trial courts proper determination that the Canal at
issue is navigable water subject to the public trust doctrine means
exactly that no party can attain possessory rights therein sufficient to
support a trespass cause of action. Accordingly, Plaintiffs argument is
meritless, and we dismiss this assignment of error.

Iv.

[4] Lastly, Plaintiff argues that the trial court committed reversible
error in adjudicating the rights in the eastern half of the Canal
because there was no dispute between the parties as to that portion
of the Old Sam Spencer Ditch. We disagree.

The relief granted by the trial court is proper when consistent
with the claims pleaded and embraced within the issues presented to
the court. NCNB v. Carter, 71 N.C. App. 118, 322 S.E.2d 180 (1984).
Not only did Plaintiffs complaint fail to limit the action to any partic-
ular portion of the Canal, but Defendant also raised the issue of nav-
igability of the Canal, without specifying which portion, as an affir-
mative defense and as a counterclaim in her answer. Therefore, the
issue of navigability of the entire canal was properly before the trial
court, and the judge did not err in adjudicating the Canal as navigable
in its entirety.

In conclusion, we affirm the order of the trial court.
Affirmed.

Chief Judge MARTIN and Judge HUNTER, JR. concur.
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IN THE MATTER OF: D.R.F., A MiNOR CHILD

No. COA09-1716
(Filed 18 May 2010)

1. Appeal and Error— termination of parental rights—failure
to appeal from adjudication order

Respondents’ argument that the trial court erred in terminat-
ing their parental rights to their minor child based upon neglect
was not properly preserved for appellate review. Because respon-
dents only appealed from the dispositional order, the adjudica-
tion order in which the minor child was adjudicated neglected
remained valid and final.

2. Termination of Parental Rights— disposition—best inter-
ests of the child—no abuse of discretion

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in a termination of
parental rights case by ordering the minor child be adopted by
the child’s foster parents instead of placing the child in kinship
placement. The trial court made findings of fact concerning the
statutory factors in N.C.G.S. § 7B-1110(a) and clearly considered
the child’s best interests.

3. Appeal and Error— preservation of issues—failure to
make a motion to recuse trial judge

Respondent-father failed to preserve for appellate review his
argument that the trial judge in a termination of parental rights
case erred by failing to recuse himself from the termination of
parental rights hearing after having recused himself from a per-
manency planning hearing in the same case. The trial judge was
not required to recuse himself sua sponte and respondent failed
to move for the trial judge’s recusal when the trial judge presided
over the adjudication and disposition hearings.

Appeal by respondents from an order entered 1 October 2009 by
Judge J. Carlton Cole in Chowan County District Court. Heard in the
Court of Appeals 26 April 2010.

W. Hackney High, Jr., for Chowan County Department of Social
Services, petitioner-appellee.

N.C. Administrative Office of the Courts, by Appellate Counsel
Pamela Newell, for Guardian ad Litem.
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Peter Wood, for respondent-appellant mother.

Jeffrey L. Miller, for respondent-appellant father.

JACKSON, Judge.

Both respondent-father and respondent-mother (“respondents™)
appeal the 1 October 2009 order terminating their parental rights to
the minor child, D.R.F. For the reasons stated herein, we affirm.

Respondents are the natural parents of D.R.F., who was born in
September 2007. When D.R.F. was born, the Chowan County
Department of Social Services (“DSS”) already had custody of
respondent-mother’s three older children, and respondent-father was
in jail on three counts of child abuse based upon his interactions with
respondent-mother’s other children. DSS took custody of D.R.F. on 6
November 2007 after respondent-mother violated orders prohibiting
her from having any contact with respondent-father and from allow-
ing her children to have any contact with him. On 7 November 2007,
D.R.F. was placed with a licensed foster care family (“foster parents”)
with whom she continues to reside. Following a hearing on 19 De-
cember 2007, the trial court adjudicated D.R.F. a neglected juvenile
and ordered, inter alia, that DSS remain responsible for the care and
placement of D.R.F., that respondents be allowed supervised visits
with D.R.F. at the discretion of DSS, and that respondents comply
with the requirements of their case plans.

At both the 19 December 2007 and 19 March 2008 hearings, re-
spondents were ordered to provide information as to relatives who
may be able to care for D.R.F., but neither respondent could suggest
an appropriate placement. At a 2 September 2008 meeting, almost ten
months after D.R.F. was taken into DSS custody, respondents first
informed DSS that respondent-father’s aunt and her husband (“pater-
nal relatives”) were willing to be considered as a placement for D.R.F.
The paternal relatives were unaware of D.R.F.’s being in foster care
until September 2008. Beginning on 11 October 2008, D.R.F. had reg-
ular visits with her paternal relatives. A kinship assessment of the
paternal relatives revealed “no issues or concerns.”

On 21 October 2008, based upon a permanency planning hearing
held on 3 September 2008, the trial court ordered concurrent plans of
reunification of D.R.F. with respondents and guardianship with a rel-
ative or adoption. Following another permanency planning hearing,
the trial court entered a 5 November 2008 order “reliev[ing] [DSS] of
its duty to use reasonable efforts to prevent the need for the place-



140 IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

IN RE D.R.F.
[204 N.C. App. 138 (2010)]

ment of [D.R.F.]” and requiring DSS to “work[] towards the perma-
nent plan of guardianship with a relative or adoption.” On 20 Novem-
ber 2008, the trial judge recused himself from the permanency plan-
ning hearing scheduled for 17 December 2008, but the reason for the
recusal is not set forth in the record before us. Another trial judge
presided over the 17 December 2008 and 13 January 2009 permanency
planning hearings and ordered, inter alia, that the permanent plan
for D.R.F. be adoption by her foster parents, that DSS proceed with
filing an action to terminate respondents’ parental rights, and that the
paternal relatives continue to have a minimum of four hours of visi-
tation with D.R.F. each month.

On 13 March 2009, DSS filed a motion to terminate respondents’
parental rights. At the 18 June 2009 adjudication hearing, both re-
spondents, through counsel, stipulated to a finding of past neglect. In
a 7 August 2009 adjudication order, the trial court found that grounds
existed for termination based upon respondents’ stipulation, testi-
mony from the social worker, and prior court orders. During several
dispositional hearings, the trial court heard evidence as to the appro-
priateness of placement with the paternal relatives as compared to
adoption by the foster parents, including the recommendation of
D.R.F’s guardian ad litem (“GAL”) that “it is still in the best interest
of the child that she be placed with the relatives (aunt and uncle).” In
a 1 October 2009 order, the trial court found, inter alia, that “it is in
[D.R.F’s] best interest to be adopted by the foster family” and granted
DSS’s motion for termination of respondents’ parental rights. The
trial judge who previously had recused himself from a permanency
planning hearing presided over both the adjudication and disposition
hearings. Respondents appeal the 1 October 2009 order.

Initially, we note that respondent-mother and respondent-father
filed separate briefs to this Court. However, two of their arguments—
the sufficiency of the trial court’s findings as to neglect and the trial
court’s potential abuse of discretion in preferring adoption by the fos-
ter parents to placement with the paternal relatives—coincide. The
final argument discussed herein—whether the trial judge erred in fail-
ing to recuse himself from the termination of parental rights hear-
ing—is raised only by respondent-father.

[1] Respondents first contend that the trial court’s termination of
their parental rights based upon neglect was erroneous, because the
stipulation was not sufficient to support a finding of neglect and the
trial court made no finding as to the likelihood of repetition of



IN THE COURT OF APPEALS 141

IN RE D.R.F.
[204 N.C. App. 138 (2010)]

neglect. Because respondents did not appeal the 7 August 2009 adju-
dication order, we do not address this argument.

“[Rule 3(d) of the North Carolina Rules of Appellate Procedure]
requires that a notice of appeal designate the order from which
appeal is taken.” In re A.L.A., 175 N.C. App. 780, 782, 625 S.E.2d 589,
590-91 (2006). An order remains final and valid when no appeal is
taken from it. In re Wheeler, 87 N.C. App. 189, 194, 360 S.E.2d 458, 461
(1987). In an unpublished opinion, which is not binding on this Court
but which we find persuasive, application of these principles required
us to decline to review an adjudication order from which respondent-
mother had failed to appeal. In re D.D., 182 N.C. App. 765, 643 S.E.2d
83, 2007 WL 1119687 (unpublished). See Kelly v. Kelly, 167 N.C. App.
437, 443, 606 S.E.2d 364, 369 (2004).

In the case sub judice, respondents appeal only the 1 October
2009 disposition order, according to their respective notices of
appeal. Therefore, the 7 August 2009 adjudication order remains valid
and final, and we do not address respondents’ alleged errors as to
that order.

[2] Second, respondents argue that the trial court abused its dis-
cretion when it preferred adoption by D.R.F.’s foster parents, who
have cared for her since 7 November 2007, over a kinship place-
ment. We disagree.

A termination of parental rights proceeding is held in two phases,
the adjudication stage and the disposition stage. In re Mills, 152 N.C.
App. 1, 6, 567 S.E.2d 166, 169 (2002). Once a trial court has concluded
during the adjudication phase that grounds exist for termination of
parental rights, it must decide in the disposition phase whether ter-
mination is in the best interests of the child. Id. at 7, 567 S.E.2d at
169-70. The trial court’s decision as to the best interests of the child
is discretionary. Id. at 7, 567 S.E.2d at 170. “A ruling committed to a
trial court’s discretion is to be accorded great deference and will be
upset only upon a showing that it was so arbitrary that it could not
have been the result of a reasoned decision.” White v. White, 312 N.C.
770, 777, 324 S.E.2d 829, 833 (1985).

North Carolina General Statutes, section 7B-1110(a) provides six
factors that trial courts must consider when making a determination
as to a child’s best interest:

(1) The age of the juvenile.
(2) The likelihood of adoption of the juvenile.
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(3) Whether the termination of parental rights will aid in the
accomplishment of the permanent plan for the juvenile.

(4) The bond between the juvenile and the parent.

(56) The quality of the relationship between the juvenile and the
proposed adoptive parent, guardian, custodian, or other perma-
nent placement.

(6) Any relevant consideration.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 7B-1110(a) (2007). The General Assembly also has
set forth its intent with respect to the State’s termination of parental
rights statutes, which includes, inter alia:

(2) Itis the further purpose of this Article to recognize the neces-
sity for any juvenile to have a permanent plan of care at the ear-
liest possible age, while at the same time recognizing the need to
protect all juveniles from the unnecessary severance of a rela-
tionship with biological or legal parents.

(3) Action which is in the best interests of the juvenile should be
taken in all cases where the interests of the juvenile and those of
the juvenile’s parents or other persons are in conflict.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 7B-1100 (2007).

In the instant case, the trial court made findings of fact that mir-
ror the statutory considerations. In its 1 October 2009 order, it found,
inter alia:

7. The juvenile was approximately six weeks old when [DSS]
assumed custody of the juvenile and was approximately 22
months old at the time of the August 29, 2009 hearing in this
matter.

19. The juvenile is now almost two years old and at that age is
likely to be adopted.

20. The [] foster parents have long expressed a willingness and
strong desire to adopt the juvenile and as such there is a high like-
lihood the juvenile will be adopted.

21. The adoption of the juvenile by the [foster parents] will
accomplish the goal of the permanent plan for the juvenile.
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23. The bond between the juvenile and the [] foster parents, as
proposed adoptive parents, is strong.

24. There is little bond between the juvenile and the juvenile’s
parents to the extent that such bond is practically non-existent.

33. Since November 7, 2007 the [] foster parents have provided
the juvenile with a safe, loving, caring and stable home.

In addition to these findings that address the relevant factors in
North Carolina General Statutes, section 7B-1110(a), the trial court
made extensive findings as to the relative situations of the foster
parents and D.R.F.’s paternal relatives. It also specifically provided
its reasons for determining that D.R.F’s best interests would be
served by termination of parental rights and subsequent adoption by
her foster parents:

56. The [c]ourt’s primary concern is a safe permanent home
for the juvenile within a reasonable amount of time and the
[paternal relatives], although currently able to provide the juve-
nile a proper home, were unable to provide the juvenile a safe
permanent home within a reasonable time after the juvenile was
taken into custody due to circumstances not within the control of
the [paternal relatives] but due to circumstances which were
within the control of the [respondents].

57. That if the [paternal relatives] were ordered to have place-
ment of the juvenile the [paternal relatives] would view their role
as caretakers of the juvenile until such time that the parents were
living their lives in a way and manner such that the [c]ourt would
return placement to the parents, whereas the [c]ourt is looking
for a plan that would be more permanent for the juvenile.

58. The [c]ourt is aware of policy and statutory provisions
regarding relative placement priority of juveniles and is of the
opinion that the [] foster parents provided the juvenile with a safe
permanent home within a reasonable time and that no relatives
presented themselves to the [c]ourt or [DSS] in a reasonable time
to provide the juvenile a safe permanent home.

Based upon these findings of fact, in addition to the numerous others
within the order, the trial court clearly considered the best interests
of D.R.F. thoroughly, and we cannot say that its decision to terminate
respondents’ parental rights “was so arbitrary that it could not have
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been the result of a reasoned decision.” White, 312 N.C. at 777, 324
S.E.2d at 833.

[8] Respondent-father’s final argument is that the trial judge erred by
failing to recuse himself from the termination of parental rights hear-
ing after having recused himself from a permanency planning hearing
in the same case. We disagree.

The North Carolina Code of Judicial Conduct sets forth instances
in which a party’s motion for recusal of a judge should be granted.
Code of Judicial Conduct Canon 3(C), 2010 Ann. R. N.C. 518-19.1 It
then notes that “[nJothing in this Canon shall preclude a judge from
disqualifying himself/herself from participating in any proceeding
upon the judge’s own initiative.” Code of Judicial Conduct Canon
3(D), 2010 Ann. R. N.C. 519. “While this provision certainly encour-
ages a judge to recuse himself or herself in cases where his or her
‘impartiality may reasonably be questioned’ upon their [sic] own
motion, they [sic] are not required to do so in the absence of a mo-
tion by a party.” In re Key, 182 N.C. App. 714, 719, 643 S.E.2d 452,
456 (2007) (quoting Code of Judicial Conduct Canon 3, 2007 Ann. R.
N.C. 446).

“In order to preserve an issue for appellate review, a party must
have presented to the trial court a timely request, objection, or
motion[.]” N.C. R. App. P. 10(a)(1) (2009). When a party does not
move for a judge’s recusal at trial, the issue is not preserved for our
review. In re Key, 182 N.C. App. at 719, 643 S.E.2d at 456 (citing State
v. Love, 177 N.C. App. 614, 627-28, 630 S.E.2d 234, 243 (2006)).

Here, the trial judge offered no reason for his original recusal but
simply decreed as part of the 20 November 2008 order, “Upon his own
motion, [the trial judge] recuse[s] himself from the hearing on the
permanent plan scheduled for December 17, 2008.” Respondent-
father concedes that when the same trial judge later presided over
both the adjudication and disposition hearings in this case, he did not
move for recusal. Respondent-father contends that we should con-
sider this alleged error one “which by rule or law was deemed pre-
served . . ..” N.C. R. App. P. 10(a)(1) (2009). We decline to treat this
situation as one in which preservation is automatic. Because the trial
judge has no duty to recuse himself sua sponte, because we have no
indication of the reasons underlying this trial judge’s initial recusal or

1. Canon 3 was amended last in 2006. Therefore, the 2010 version of the North
Carolina Code of Judicial Conduct reflects the same principles that were applicable
during the proceedings at issue here.
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whether those reasons continued to exist, and most importantly,
because this issue was not preserved for our review, we hold that the
trial judge did not err by failing to recuse himself from the adjudica-
tion and disposition hearings in this case.

For these reasons, we hold that respondents’ arguments as to the
7 August 2009 adjudication order were not preserved. We also hold
that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in preferring adoption
by the foster parents to placement with the paternal relatives nor did
the trial judge err in presiding over the termination of parental rights
hearing after he had recused himself from an earlier proceeding.

Affirmed.

Chief Judge MARTIN and Judge BEASLEY concur.

NORTH CAROLINA FARM BUREAU MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY, INC., PLAINTIFF
v. GERVIS E. SADLER, INDIVIDUALLY AND BY AND THROUGH STEVE ANTHONY
SADLER, HIS ATTORNEY-IN-FACT, DEFENDANT

No. COA09-1054
(Filed 18 May 2010)

1. Appeal and Error— interlocutory order and appeal—Rule
54(b) certification

Plaintiff’s appeal from the grant of a partial summary judg-
ment order in favor of defendant was certified for immediate
appeal under N.C.G.S. § 1A-1, Rule 54(b).

2. Insurance— homeowner’s insurance—partial summary
judgment—breach of contract—appraisal process

The trial court did not err in a declaratory judgment action
seeking an appraisal amount for a homeowner’s insurance claim
by granting partial summary judgment in favor of defendant on a
counterclaim for breach of contract and awarding defendant the
full appraisal value for damage to the house caused by wind. De-
fendant presented sufficient evidence of a disagreement as to the
value of the damage to enter into the appraisal process under the
terms of the insurance policy. Further, the trial court’s appoint-
ment of an umpire absent a representative appraiser by plaintiff
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insurance company was proper. Appraisal awards are assumed to
be valid and binding absent evidence of fraud, duress, or other
impeaching circumstances.

Appeal by plaintiff from judgment entered 21 May 2009 by Judge
William C. Griffin, Jr. in Hyde County Superior Court. Heard in the
Court of Appeals 10 February 2010.

Young Moore and Henderson, PA., by Walter E. Brock, Jr. and
Matthew J. Gray, for plaintiff-appellant.

Armstrong & Armstrong, PA., by L. Lamar Armstrong, Jr., and
Ledolaw, by Michele A. Ledo, for defendant-appellee.

BRYANT, Judge.

Plaintiff North Carolina Farm Bureau (Farm Bureau) appeals
from an order granting defendant Gervis Sadler (Sadler) partial sum-
mary judgment on a counterclaim for breach of contract and award-
ing Sadler $150,000.00 plus interest from the date of breach. For the
reasons stated herein, we affirm.

On 1 September 2005, Sadler submitted a home owner’s insurance
claim to Farm Bureau for damage to his house occurring during a
wind storm on 6 May 2005. Farm Bureau initially denied the claim
but, after a request to re-assess the property, estimated Sadler’s dam-
ages to be valued at $3,203.03 “for roof damage and damage due to
roof damage.” On 18 May 2006, Farm Bureau issued Sadler a check
for $3,203.03. The check went uncashed, and on 5 June 2006, Sadler
provided Farm Bureau with the following notice:

[W]e feel like there is a lot more you should have covered.
We have talked to some friends of ours that have used the
appraisal process to work these sort of things out. This process
sounds like it would work perfect and we would like to use it.
Please go ahead and name the parties you intend to represent
you. We are talking to . . . some other folks about being our rep-
resentative. As soon as we get someone to agree to it we will give
you their name.”

On 22 June 2006, Sadler retained Lewis O’Leary as his representative
in the appraisal process. Farm Bureau did not immediately respond.
On 30 June 2006, the trial court entered an order appointing Martin
Overbolt to serve as umpire for the parties’ respective appraisers.
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On 31 July 2006, Farm Bureau retained appraiser Rick Manning.
In his summary report, Manning stated that his “inspection was to
determine damages from wind which allegedly came from a storm on
May 6, 2005.” Manning noted damage to roof shingles, water stains on
interior ceiling, mold growth, and termite damage. Manning assessed
the value of loss at $31,561.39.

On 1 February 2008, Umpire Overbolt and Sadler’s appraiser
agreed on an appraisal amount of $162,500.00. Farm Bureau filed a
complaint for declaratory relief in which it argued among other things
that the appraisal award was not covered by the homeowner’s policy.
Sadler counterclaimed alleging breach of policy/contract, breach of
covenant of good faith, and unfair claim settlement practices.

On 21 May 2009, the trial court entered an order granting par-
tial summary judgment in favor of Sadler, concluding that no
genuine issue of material fact existed with respect to Sadler’s coun-
terclaim for breach of contract and that considering the categori-
cal limits of Sadler’s homeowner’s insurance policy and the perti-
nent deductible Sadler was “entitled to summary judgment against
Farm Bureau in the amount of $150,500, plus interest . . . .” The order
was certified for immediate appeal pursuant to Rule 54(b). Farm
Bureau appeals.

[1] “An order is interlocutory if it does not determine the entire
controversy between all of the parties.” Romig v. Jefferson-Pilot
Life Ins. Co., 132 N.C. App. 682, 684, 513 S.E.2d 598, 600 (1999)
(citation omitted).

[From an interlocutory order,] a party may appeal where the trial
court enters a final judgment with respect to one or more, but
less than all of the parties or claims, and the court certifies the
judgment as immediately appealable under Rule 54(b) of the
North Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. . . . [T]he burden is on
the appellant to present appropriate grounds for this Court’s
acceptance of an interlocutory appeal and our Court’s responsi-
bility to review those grounds.

Id. at 685, 513 S.E.2d at 600 (internal citations omitted).

Farm Bureau argues that the trial court entered a final judgment
as to Sadler’s counterclaim for breach of contract. We agree and note
that the trial court’s order substantially determines the action in favor
of Sadler. Further, as previously noted, the trial court certified the
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order for immediate appeal. Therefore, we consider the merits of
Farm Bureau’s appeal.

On appeal, Farm Bureau raises the following three arguments: did
the trial court err in granting Sadler’s motion for summary judgment
for the full amount of the appraisal award where (I) Sadler violated
the policy in obtaining the appraisal award; (II) the policy states that
the appraisal award is subject to reduction; and (IIT) Farm Bureau did
not waive the policy limitations applicable to the appraisal award.

Under our Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 56(c), summary judg-
ment “shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions,
answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the
affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any ma-
terial fact and that any party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of
law.” N.C. R. Civ. P. 56(c) (2007). “[W]hen considering a summary
judgment motion, all inferences of fact must be drawn against the
movant and in favor of the party opposing the motion. We review a
trial court’s order granting or denying summary judgment de novo.”
Craig v. New Hanover County Bd. of Educ., 363 N.C. 334, 337, 678
S.E.2d 351, 3563-54 (2009) (internal citations, quotations, and ellip-
sis omitted).

1

[2] Farm Bureau first questions whether the trial court erred in
granting Sadler’s motion for summary judgment and awarding him
the full appraisal value for damage to the house. Farm Bureau con-
tends that Sadler violated the terms of his policy by (a) engaging in an
appraisal that purported to determine causation and policy coverage
as opposed to mere value loss, (b) failing to demonstrate a genuine
disagreement as to the amount of loss prior to demanding an
appraisal, and (c) failing to allow the appraisers the contracted time
to reach an agreement on a suitable umpire prior to obtaining the ex-
parte appointment of an umpire by the trial court. We separately
address each contention.

A

Farm Bureau contends that Sadler violated the terms of his insur-
ance policy by submitting an appraisal that included the date and the
cause of the damage to the Sadler house, beyond merely providing
the value of the loss. We disagree.
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To support its position, Farm Bureau cites High Country Arts
and Crafts Guild v. Hartford Fire Ins. Co., 126 F.3d 629 (4th Cir.
1997), where the appraisers determined “the period of coverage
under the business interruption provisions of the policy in question
should be limited to sixty days.” Id. at 631. The Court held that “the
policy conferred on appraisers only the right to determine ‘the
amount of loss,” and consequently the parties [were] not to be bound
by the appraisers’ determinations of coverage issues.” Id. at 634. The
matter before us is distinguishable.

In the instant case both parties acknowledged at some point that
the determination of loss was based on wind damage. Farm Bureau’s
appraiser, Manning, stated that his “inspection [of the Sadler house]
was to determine damages from wind which allegedly came from a
storm on May 6, 2005.” Sadler’s appraiser also identified the date of
the loss as 6 May 2005 and the cause of the damage as wind.
Therefore, this scenario, where the appraisers were informed of or
identified the likely cause of damage to the property and considered
that cause when assessing the property for damage and loss of value,
is distinguishable from that in High Country Arts. The appraisers in
High Country Arts reviewed the insurance policy at issue and in
essence interpreted its content, then limited the scope of their assess-
ment to the extent of damage they interpreted the policy to cover.

Here, the appraisers were clearly informed as to the cause of
damage—wind—and assessed Sadler’s property for loss of value con-
sidering the type of damage that may have resulted from such a
cause. The appraisers’ individual notes on the likely cause and date of
damage do not indicate an interpretation of Sadler’s homeowner’s
insurance policy. We think the following language from a federal
court in Delaware makes this point quite cogently. “Indeed, to the
extent that the appraisers’ assessment may overlap with a coverage
question, the parties certainly may seek the Court’s ultimate review.
However, . . . it would be inappropriate to curtail the appraisal
process simply because it might come shoulder-to-shoulder with sub-
sequent legal questions.” CIGNA Ins. Co. v. Didimoi Prop. Holdings,
N.V,, 110 F. Supp. 2d 259, 269 (D. Del. 2000). We note the additional
compelling language stated by the CIGNA Court.

As a general matter, public policy favors alternate resolution pro-
cedures like the appraisal process. If the Court were to curtail the
appraisers authority to include only dollar value assessments
without regard for whether the property was damaged as a result
of the [cause insured against], the Court would be reserving a
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plethora of detailed damage assessments for judicial review,
thereby debunking the purpose of appraisal which is to minimize
the need for judicial intervention.

Id. It would be impractical for an appraiser to make a value determi-
nation for potentially insured damages without acknowledging the
cause. Therefore, we overrule this argument.

B

Farm Bureau argues that Sadler failed to demonstrate a genuine
disagreement as to the amount of loss before demanding an appraisal.
Farm Bureau cites Hailey v. Auto-Owners Ins. Co., 181 N.C. App.
677, 640 S.E.2d 849 (2007) in support of its argument.

In Hailey, the plaintiff claimed that his properties were damaged
and filed damage claims with the defendant. The defendant made pay-
ment on the claims. Subsequently, the plaintiff discovered that the
payments were insufficient to cover his losses and invoked his insur-
ance policy’s appraisal clause, appointed an appraiser, and requested
that the defendant do the same. Id. at 678, 640 S.E.2d at 850. On
appeal, this Court reasoned that the plaintiff’s disagreement with the
amount proffered by the defendant was unilateral: the plaintiff failed
to communicate to the defendant any amount of loss greater than the
amount already paid. We held that “the unsupported opinion of the
insured that the insurer’s payment was insufficient does not rise to
the level of a disagreement necessary to invoke appraisal.” Id. at 687,
640 S.E.2d at 855. The facts of the instant case are distinguishable.

Here, Sadler gave notice of his claim on 1 September 2005. In a
letter to Farm Bureau, Sadler stated that a night storm occurred on 6
May 2005, and following the storm, shingles were missing from his
roof. Farm Bureau denied the claim. On 18 May 2006, per Sadler’s
request, a Farm Bureau adjuster assessed the property and estimated
the value of the damage to be $3,203.03. Farm Bureau issued a check
for this amount. Sadler did not cash the check, and on 5 June 2006,
Sadler informed Farm Bureau that he felt as though “there is a lot
more [Farm Bureau] should have covered” and that others in similar
situations had “used the appraisal process to work these sort of
things out. This process sounds like it would work perfect [sic] and
[I] would like to use it.” We hold that Sadler presented sufficient evi-
dence of a disagreement as to the value of the damage done to his
house to enter into the appraisal process under the terms of the in-
surance policy.
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C

Farm Bureau argues that Sadler prematurely obtained the ex
parte appointment of an umpire. We disagree.

“Under North Carolina law, when the language of the contract
is clear and unambiguous, construction of the agreement is a mat-
ter of law for the court . . ..” Fin. Servs. of Raleigh, Inc. v. Barefoot,
163 N.C. App. 387, 395, 594 S.E.2d 37, 42 (2004) (citation and quota-
tions omitted).

Here, the insurance policy contains the following pertinent
provision:

If you and we fail to agree on the value or amount of any item or
loss, either may demand an appraisal of such item or loss. In this
event, each party will choose a competent and disinterested
appraiser within 20 days after receiving a written request from
the other. The two appraisers will choose a competent and impar-
tial umpire. If they cannot agree upon an umpire within 15 days,
you or we may request that a choice be made by a judge of a court
of record in the state where the insured premises is located.

In a letter dated 5 June 2006, Sadler gave notice to Farm Bureau
that he disagreed with Farm Bureau’s assessed value of loss, and that
he would utilize his insurance policy’s appraisal process to determine
the value of loss. Furthermore, Sadler stated that Farm Bureau
should “go ahead and name the parties [Farm Bureau] intended to
represent [it].” Within twenty days of the 5 June 2006 letter, Sadler
selected Lewis O’Leary as his representative. Farm Bureau did not
reply to Sadler’s letter or give notice of its representative in the
appraisal process until 31 July 2006. However, over twenty days
after Sadler’s notice to begin the appraisal process but prior to
Farm Bureau giving notice of the person who would represent it,
the trial court entered an order which stated that “[Farm Bureau]
failed to appoint their choice of appraisers on a timely basis, in vio-
lation of the policy provision to do so. Pursuant to the insurance con-
tract, it is ordered that Martin Overbolt is hereby appointed to serve
as the Umpire.”

Farm Bureau failed to adhere to the terms of Sadler’s insurance
policy by failing to appoint an appraiser within twenty days of receiv-
ing Sadler’s notice of utilizing the appraisal process to determine the
value of loss, and furthermore, failed to appoint an appraiser within a
month of the close of the applicable twenty-day window. Therefore,
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we hold the trial court’s appointment of an umpire absent a repre-
sentative appraiser by Farm Bureau was proper. Accordingly, Farm
Bureau’s arguments are overruled.

II & 11T

Next, Farm Bureau argues that the trial court erred in granting
partial summary judgment and awarding the full value of the ap-
praisal award where genuine issues of material fact exist as to
whether the appraisal award is subject to reduction due to policy cov-
erages, exclusions, limitations and conditions. Furthermore, Farm
Bureau argues that it did not waive and is not estopped from enforc-
ing its policy terms and exclusions. Farm Bureau argues that there
remain genuine issues of material fact as to whether Sadler’s damages
resulted from wind or causes specifically excluded, such as long-term
water leaks and lack of flashing around the windows, settlement of
the foundation, and expansion and contraction of framing and fin-
ishes due to seasonal moisture changes. We disagree.

“[Alppraisal provisions are analogous to arbitrations, in that they
provide a mechanism whereby the parties can rapidly and inexpen-
sively determine the amount of property loss without resorting to
court process.” Harleysville Mut. Ins. Co. v. Narron, 155 N.C. App.
362, 368, 574 S.E.2d 490, 494 (2002) (citation and quotations omitted).
“[TThis Court has held that if the contractual appraisal provisions are
followed, an appraisal award is presumed valid and is binding absent
evidence of fraud, duress, or other impeaching circumstances.” N.C.
Farm Bureauw Mut. Ins. Co. v. Harrell, 148 N.C. App. 183, 185, 557
S.E.2d 580, 581 (2001) (citation and quotations omitted).

Here, the insurance policy states that “[i]f [the appraisers] fail to
agree, they will submit their differences to the umpire. A decision
agreed to by any two will set the amount of loss.” (Emphasis added).
Farm Bureau does not suggest that fraud, duress, or other impeach-
ing circumstances occurred during the appraisal process; therefore,
we hold the trial court did not err in granting partial summary judg-
ment to Sadler for the amount of the appraisal award. Accordingly,
we overrule Farm Bureau’s assignments of error.

Affirmed.

Judges ELMORE and STROUD concur.
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STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. RICKY EARLE LACKEY

No. COA09-1069
(Filed 18 May 2010)

1. Jury— instructions—Allen charge—no error
The trial court in a possession of cocaine case did not com-
mit plain error by giving the jury an Allen instruction after the
jury had deliberated for an hour and a half and before the jury
retired to continue deliberations. The instruction was in accor-
dance with N.C.G.S. § 15A-1235 (a) and (b) and was not an abuse
of discretion.

2. Sentencing— not cruel and unusual punishment—habitual
felon
Defendant’s argument that his prison sentence of 84 to 110
months was grossly disproportionate to his crime of possession
of 0.1 grams of cocaine and constituted cruel and unusual pun-
ishment was overruled. Defendant did not argue that he suffered
from an abuse of discretion, procedural misconduct, circum-
stances which manifested an inherent unfairness or injustice,
or conduct offending a public sense of fair play and defend-
ant was sentenced as an habitual felon in accordance with
N.C.G.S. § 14-7.6.

3. Jury— individual polling—no error

The trial court did not err by failing to separately inquire
whether the jurors in a possession of controlled substance case
assented to the verdicts in the jury room and in the courtroom.
The clerk asked each individual juror in open court whether the
verdict announced was his or her verdict, which met the require-
ments of N.C.G.S. § 15A-1238.

Appeal by defendant from judgment entered 20 February 2009 by
Judge Thomas H. Lock in Johnston County Superior Court. Heard in
the Court of Appeals 10 February 2010.

Attorney General Roy Cooper, by Assistant Attorney General
Letitia C. Echols, for the State.

Sofie W. Hosford for defendant-appellant.
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BRYANT, Judge.

Defendant Ricky Lackey appeals from a judgment entered after a
jury found him guilty of felony possession of cocaine and defendant
pled guilty to attaining habitual felon status. For the reasons stated
herein, we find no error.

On 29 August 2009, Johnston County Deputy Sheriff John Canady
pulled over defendant after noticing that defendant’s license plate
was registered to a 1999 Saturn; defendant was driving an S-10
Chevrolet Blazer. With defendant’s consent, the deputy searched the
vehicle for weapons or illegal narcotics and discovered a small
amount of what appeared to be “crack” cocaine. Defendant was
placed under arrest and indicted on possession of cocaine, maintain-
ing a vehicle to keep or sell controlled substances, and having
obtained habitual felon status. The State later dismissed the charge of
maintaining a vehicle to keep or sell controlled substances.

At trial, after the close of the State’s case-in-chief, defendant
made a motion to dismiss the charges. The motion was denied.
Defendant did not present any evidence. The trial court instructed the
jury on the charge of possession of cocaine, and the jury retired for
deliberation. Approximately an hour later, the judge received a note
that the jury was “not able to render a verdict as [they were] voting
11-1.” The trial court, with the consent of both the prosecutor and
defendant, recalled the jury to the courtroom and instructed them in
accordance with N.C.PI. Criminal Charge 101.40, entitled failure of
the jury to reach a verdict. The jury further deliberated for an addi-
tional thirty minutes before the trial court called the jury to the court-
room and recessed for the evening with an instruction to reconvene
the next morning.

The next morning, before the jury retired to continue its deliber-
ations, the trial court gave an instruction in accordance with N.C.
Gen. Stat. § 15A-1235 (a) and (b). After further deliberation, the jury
returned a verdict of guilty on the charge of possession of cocaine.
Defendant entered a plea of guilty on the charge of attaining the sta-
tus of a habitual felon. The trial court sentenced defendant to a term
of 84 to 110 months in the custody of the North Carolina Department
of Correction. Defendant appeals.

On appeal, defendant raises the following arguments: (I) did the
trial court err in providing the jury with an Allen instruction; (II) did
defendant’s prison sentence constitute cruel and unusual punish-
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ment; and (III) did the trial court permit the courtroom clerk to
improperly poll the jurors.

1

[1] Defendant first argues that the trial court abused its discretion or
committed plain error in providing the jury with a second Allen
chargel, after the jury announced it was deadlocked. We disagree.

Under North Carolina General Statutes, section 15A-1235, our
General Assembly has codified the standard applicable for charges
which are to be given a jury that is apparently unable to agree upon a
verdict—an Allen instruction.

(a) Before the jury retires for deliberation, the judge must give
an instruction which informs the jury that in order to return a ver-
dict, all 12 jurors must agree to a verdict of guilty or not guilty.

(b) Before the jury retires for deliberation, the judge may give an
instruction which informs the jury that:

(1) Jurors have a duty to consult with one another and to
deliberate with a view to reaching an agreement, if it can be done
without violence to individual judgment;

(2) Each juror must decide the case for himself, but only
after an impartial consideration of the evidence with his fel-
low jurors;

(3) In the course of deliberations, a juror should not hesitate
to reexamine his own views and change his opinion if convinced
it is erroneous; and

(4) No juror should surrender his honest conviction as to the
weight or effect of the evidence solely because of the opinion of
his fellow jurors, or for the mere purpose of returning a verdict.

(c) If it appears to the judge that the jury has been unable to
agree, the judge may require the jury to continue its deliberations
and may give or repeat the instructions provided in subsections
(a) and (b). The judge may not require or threaten to require the
jury to deliberate for an unreasonable length of time or for unrea-
sonable intervals.

(d) If it appears that there is no reasonable possibility of agree-
ment, the judge may declare a mistrial and discharge the jury.

1. See Allen v. United States, 164 U.S. 492, 41 L. Ed. 528 (1896).
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N.C. Gen. Stat. § 15A-1235 (2009). Our Supreme Court has held that
such an instruction is permissive rather than mandatory and, thus,
within the trial court’s discretion. See State v. Williams, 315 N.C. 310,
326, 338 S.E.2d 75, 85 (1986) (citing N.C.G.S. § 15A-1235(c)).
However, when a trial court gives an instruction authorized under
N.C.G.S. § 15A-1235(b), the trial court must instruct the jury in accor-
dance with all of the instructions under § 15A-1235(b). On appeal, in
determining whether a court’s instructions forced a verdict or merely
served as a catalyst for further deliberations, “an appellate court
must consider the circumstances under which the instructions were
made and the probable impact of the instructions on the jury.” State
v. Peek, 313 N.C. 266, 271, 328 S.E.2d 249, 253 (1985) (citation omit-
ted). However, where the defendant failed to object to the instruction
outside of the presence of the jury, our review is limited to a deter-
mination of plain error. See N.C. R. App. P. 10(c); Williams, 315 N.C.
at 328, 338 S.E.2d at 86.

[TThe plain error rule . . . is always to be applied cautiously and
only in the exceptional case where, after reviewing the entire
record, it can be said the claimed error is a fundamental error,
something so basic, so prejudicial, so lacking in its elements that
justice cannot have been done, or where [the error] is grave error
which amounts to a denial of a fundamental right of the accused,
or the error has resulted in a miscarriage of justice or in the
denial to appellant of a fair trial or where the error is such as to
seriously affect the fairness, integrity or public reputation of judi-
cial proceedings or where it can be fairly said the instructional
mistake had a probable impact on the jury’s finding that the
defendant was guilty.

State v. Cummings, 361 N.C. 438, 470, 648 S.E.2d 788, 807 (2007)
(citation omitted) (original emphasis).

Here, after an hour of deliberation, the jury foreman sent the trial
court a note stating that the jury was “not able to render a verdict as
[they were] voting 11-1.” The trial court recalled the jury to the court-
room and, with the consent of the prosecutor and defendant, in-
structed them in accordance with N.C.P.I. Criminal Charge 101.40,
failure of the jury to reach a verdict.

Members of the jury, you are reminded that it is your duty to do
whatever you can to reach a verdict. You should reason the mat-
ter over together as reasonable men and women in an effort to
reconcile your differences, if you can, without the surrender of
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you conscientious convictions. No juror should surrender an hon-
est conviction as to the weight or effect of the evidence solely
because of the opinion of his fellow jurors are [sic] for the mere
purpose of returning a verdict.

At this time I'm going to allow you to resume your deliberations
and to continue your efforts to reach a verdict. Thank you.

The jury then returned to deliberate for thirty minutes before the trial
judge recessed court for the evening. The next morning, before the
jury retired to continue deliberations, the trial court gave the follow-
ing instruction:

Members of the jury, before you retire for your deliberations this
morning, I do want to remind you that, in order to return a ver-
dict, all twelve juror [sic] must agree to the verdict of “guilty” or
“not guilty.” Jurors do have a duty to consult with one another
and to deliberate with a view to reaching an agreement if it can
be done without violence to individual judgment. Each juror must
decide the case for himself or herself but only after an impartial
consideration of the evidence with his or her fellow jurors.

In the course of deliberations, a juror should not hesitate to reex-
amine his or her own views and to change his or her own opinion
if convinced it is erroneous. However, no juror should surrender
his or her honest conviction as to the weight or effect of the evi-
dence solely because of the opinion of his or her fellow jurors or
for the mere purpose of reaching a verdict.

We hold the trial court’s instruction, given before deliberations re-
sumed, was in accordance with the standard for instructions to be
given when a jury is unable to agree as set out in N.C.G.S. § 15A-1235
(a) and (b) and was not an abuse of discretion, much less plain error.
Accordingly, we overrule defendant’s argument.

I

[2] Next, defendant argues that the trial court’s sentence of 84 to 110
months was grossly disproportionate to his crime of possession of 0.1
grams of cocaine and constituted cruel and unusual punishment in
violation of the Eigth and Fourteenth Amendments of the Consti-
tution of the United States. We disagree.

Under North Carolina General Statutes, section 14-7.1, “[a]ny per-
son who has been convicted of or pled guilty to three felony offenses
in any federal court or state court in the United States or combination
thereof is declared to be an habitual felon.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 14-7.1.



158 IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

STATE v. LACKEY
[204 N.C. App. 153 (2010)]

“When an habitual felon as defined in this Article commits any felony
under the laws of the State of North Carolina, the felon must, upon
conviction or plea of guilty under indictment as provided in this
Article . . . be sentenced as a Class C felon.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 14-7.6.
“[L]egislation which is designed to identify habitual criminals and
which authorizes enhanced punishment has withstood eighth amend-
ment challenges.” State v. Todd, 313 N.C. 110, 119, 326 S.E.2d 249, 254
(1985) (citations omitted). “[And,] only in exceedingly unusual non-
capital cases will the sentences imposed be so grossly disproportion-
ate as to violate the Eighth Amendment’s proscription of cruel and
unusual punishment.” Id. (citations omitted). However,

[a]bsent specific authority, it is not the role of an appellate court
to substitute its judgment for that of the sentencing court as to
the appropriateness of a particular sentence; rather, in applying
the Eighth Amendment the appellate court decides only whether
the sentence under review is within constitutional limits. In view
of the substantial deference that must be accorded legislatures
and sentencing courts, a reviewing court rarely will be required
to engage in extended analysis to determine that a sentence is not
constitutionally disproportionate.

State v. Ysaguire, 309 N.C. 780, 786, 309 S.E.2d 436, 440-41 (1983)
(citation omitted). As previously stated by our Supreme Court, “the
proper review involves a determination [under Structured Senten-
cing] of whether there has been a showing of abuse of discretion, pro-
cedural conduct prejudicial to defendant, circumstances which man-
ifest inherent unfairness or injustice, or conduct which offends the
public sense of fair play.” Todd, 313 N.C. at 119, 326 S.E.2d 249, 254.
See also, Rummel v. Estelle, 445 U.S. 263, 63 L. Ed. 2d 382 (1980)
(holding that the defendant’s life sentence imposed under a recidivist
statute, after the defendant was convicted of obtaining $120.75 by
false pretenses, did not constitute cruel and unusual punishment in
violation of the Eight and Fourteenth Amendments).

Here, defendant does not argue that he suffered from an abuse of
discretion, procedural misconduct, circumstances which manifested
an inherent unfairness or injustice, or conduct offending a public
sense of fair play. Indeed, the trial court found that the mitigating fac-
tors outweighed the aggravating factors and sentenced defendant,
who had a prior record level IV2, to a term within the mitigated range

2. Defendant’s criminal convictions spanned twenty-two years and included
convictions for armed robbery, possession with intent to sell and deliver cocaine,
and forgery.
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for a Class C felony. Therefore, we hold that defendant’s sentence to
a term of 84 to 110 months in prison for possession of cocaine, as an
habitual felon, did not offend the proscription against cruel and un-
usual punishment as stated in the Eighth and Fourteenth Amend-
ments. Accordingly, defendant’s argument is overruled.

11

[38] Last, defendant argues that the trial court erred in allowing the
courtroom clerk to improperly poll the jurors. Defendant contends
that by failing to separately inquire whether the jurors assented to the
verdicts in the jury room and in the courtroom, defendant’s right to a
proper jury poll was denied. We disagree.

The Constitution of North Carolina establishes that “[n]Jo person
shall be convicted of any crime but by the unanimous verdict of a jury
in open court.” N.C. Const. art. I, sec. 24. Under North Carolina Gen-
eral Statutes, section 15A-1238, “[u]pon the motion of any party made
after a verdict has been returned and before the jury has dispersed,
the jury must be polled. . . . The poll may be conducted by the judge
or by the clerk by asking each juror individually whether the verdict
announced is his verdict.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 15A-1238.

Here, the trial court received a note that the jury had reached a
unanimous verdict. Recalled to the courtroom, the jury foreman
stated that the jury had reached a unanimous verdict. The verdict
sheet was handed to the trial court and read out loud for the record.
“We, the jury, returned as our unanimous verdict that the Defendant
Ricky Earle Lackey is guilty of possession of cocaine.” The trial court
instructed the jurors to verify that this was their verdict by raising
their right hands. All of the jurors raised their right hands. Defendant
made a motion to poll the jury, after which the courtroom clerk con-
ducted the following voir dire:

THE CLERK: [Juror 4], would you stand?
[Juror 4]: [Stood]

THE CLERK: As foreperson on the jury, you have returned for
the unanimous verdict of the jury, “We, the jury,
return as you unanimous verdict that the Defend-
ant Ricky Earle Lackey is guilty of possession of
cocaine.” Is this your verdict, and do you still
assent thereto?

[Juror 4]: Yes.
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The clerk proceeded to question each of the remaining jurors indi-
vidually, and in each instance, the juror responded in the affirmative.
We hold that this process, whereby the clerk asked each individual
juror in open court whether the verdict announced was his or her ver-
dict, meets the requirements of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 15A-1238. Accord-
ingly, we overrule defendant’s argument.

No error.

Judges ELMORE and STROUD concur.

JOHN S. COLLIER anpD BRYAN COLLIER, INDIVIDUALLY AND ON BEHALF OF THE PANILLA
CORPORATION, PLAINTIFFS v. JUDITH J. COLLIER, As SOLE DIRECTOR AND VICE
PRESIDENT OF THE PANILLA CORPORATION AND PANILLA CORPORATION, DEFENDANTS

No. COA09-786
(Filed 18 May 2010)

Corporations— issuance of share certificates—summary
judgment
The trial court did not err by granting summary judgment in
favor of defendants on plaintiffs’ claim that defendant corpora-
tion should be required to bring a claim against defendant indi-
vidual to recover sale proceeds, and requesting share certifi-
cates be reissued to plaintiffs. Plaintiffs could only prevail by
proving that share certificates were actually issued to them in
compliance with N.C.G.S. § 55-6-25. There was no forecast of evi-
dence of the total number of shares issued, and the percentages
owned by the various alleged shareholders would be impossible
to determine.

Appeal by plaintiffs from order entered 9 December 2008 by
Judge James C. Spencer, Jr. in Superior Court, Wake County. Heard in
the Court of Appeals 5 November 2009.

Tenney & Tenney, LLP by Brian H. Tenney, for plaintiff-
appellants.

Clifton & Singer, LLP, by Benjamin F. Clifton, Jr., for
defendants-appellees.
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STROUD, Judge.

Plaintiffs appeal order granting summary judgment in favor of
defendants. For the following reasons, we affirm.

I. Background

Plaintiffs John S. Collier and Bryan Collier alleged in their 22
January 2008 verified complaint that they are shareholders in the
Panilla Corporation (“Panilla”) but have lost their Certificates of
Shares (“share certificates”). Plaintiffs further alleged that defendant
Judith Collier wrongfully sold real property belonging to Panilla and
kept the proceeds for her own personal use. Plaintiffs requested that
Panilla be required to bring a claim against Judith Collier to recover
the sale proceeds and that their share certificates be reissued to
them. On or about 26 March 2008, defendants Judith Collier and
Panilla answered plaintiffs’ complaint and filed a motion to dismiss.
On or about 12 September 2008, defendants filed a motion for sum-
mary judgment. In its 9 December 2008 order the trial court granted
summary judgment in favor of defendants. Plaintiffs appeal.

II. Summary Judgment
A. Standard of Review
Summary judgment should be allowed when

the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and
admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that
there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that any
party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. A trial court’s
grant of summary judgment receives de novo review on appeal,
and evidence is viewed in the light most favorable to the non-
moving party.

Fairway Outdoor Adver. v. Edwards, — N.C. App. —, —, 678
S.E.2d 765, 768-69 (2009) (citation omitted). Furthermore, although
the trial court made numerous findings of fact in its order granting
summary judgment,

[sJummary judgment should be entered only where there is no
genuine issue as to any material fact. If findings of fact are nec-
essary to resolve an issue as to a material fact, summary judg-
ment is improper. There is no necessity for findings of fact where
facts are not at issue, and summary judgment presupposes that
there are no triable issues of material fact. Although findings of
fact are not necessary on a motion for summary judgment, it is
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helpful to the parties and the courts for the trial judge to articu-
late a summary of the material facts which he considers are not
at issue and which justify entry of judgment. The “Findings of
Fact” entered by the trial judge, insofar as they may resolve
issues as to a material fact, have no effect on this appeal and are
irrelevant to our decision.

Ins. Agency v. Leasing Corp., 26 N.C. App. 138, 142 215 S.E.2d 162,
164-65 (1975) (citations omitted). We therefore do not consider the
findings of fact made by the trial court but will review de novo
whether summary judgment was properly granted. See Fairway
Outdoor Adver. at ——, 678 S.E.2d at 769; Ins. Agency at 142, 215
S.E.2d 162, 165.

B. Genuine Issues of Material Fact

Plaintiffs first contend that the trial court erred in concluding
that there was no genuine issue of material fact. Plaintiffs argue there
is a genuine issue of material fact as to whether they were share-
holders. “A genuine issue is one which can be maintained by sub-
stantial evidence.” Board of Educ. of Hickory v. Seagle, 120 N.C.
App. 566, 569, 463 S.E.2d 277, 280 (1995) (citation omitted), disc.
review improvidently allowed per curiam, 343 N.C. 509, 471 S.E.2d
63 (1996).

Shares may or may not be represented by certificates. See N.C.
Gen. Stat. § 55-6-25(a) (2007). Plaintiffs did not allege that they
owned shares without certificates; rather, plaintiffs allege that they
owned shares which had certificates, but the certificates were lost. If
a share is represented by a certificate,

[a]t minimum each share certificate must state on its face:

(1) The name of the issuing corporation and that it is orga-
nized under the law of North Carolina;

(2) The name of the person to whom issued; and

(3) The number and class of shares and the designation of
the series, if any, the certificate represents.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 55-6-25(b) (2007). The share certificate must also “be
signed (either manually or in facsimile) by two officers designated in
the bylaws or by the board of directors[.]” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 55-6-25(d)
(2007). Thus, plaintiffs can only prevail by proving that share certifi-
cates were actually issued to them in compliance with N.C. Gen. Stat.
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§ 55-6-25. Plaintiffs’ only forecast of evidence that share certificates
were issued is alleged in their complaint, their answers to defendants’
requests for admissions, and Bryan Collier’s affidavit; however, both
the complaint and answers to defendants’ requests for admissions
simply repeat the same allegations as Bryan Collier’s affidavit and
assert no additional evidence that share certificates were issued to
the plaintiffs.

We thus turn to Bryan Collier’s affidavit which averred that he
had seen share certificates issued in the names of himself, his brother
John S. Collier, his half-sister, Pamela Marie Collier, his father, and his
defendant stepmother. However, Bryan Collier’s affidavit fails to
establish a genuine issue of material fact as it does not “maintain[] by
substantial evidence” the information needed to prove that plaintiffs
were shareholders. Board of Educ. of Hickory at 569, 463 S.E.2d
at 280. Even assuming arguendo that eyewitness testimony alone
could be sufficient to establish the existence of share certificates,
here the affidavit fails to provide necessary information about the
alleged certificates. The affidavit does not state the number of shares
issued or that the share certificates were signed by two officers as
required pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 55-6-25(b), (d). See N.C. Gen.
Stat. § 55-6-25(b), (d); Board of Educ. of Hickory at 569, 463 S.E.2d
at 280. Plaintiffs’ complaint alleges “[t]hat on information and belief
the Plaintiffs believing it to be true that Certificates of Shares were
issued for Fifty (50) shares to each of the Plaintiffs[.]” However,
plaintiffs fail to forecast any evidence for this “belief[.]” In fact, the
only individual whom plaintiffs claim saw their Certificates of Shares,
Bryan Collier, stated in his affidavit that he did “not recall the exact
number of shares on each certificate.” Thus, there is no forecast of
evidence as to the total number of shares issued, and the percentages
owned by the various alleged shareholders would be impossible to
determine. Without “substantial evidence” that Panilla issued share
certificates in compliance with N.C. Gen. § 55-6-25, plaintiffs cannot
demonstrate that they were “shareholders” of Panilla and therefore
cannot prevail in their lawsuit. The trial court properly concluded
that there was “no genuine issue as to any material fact[.]” Fairway
Outdoor Adver. at ——, 678 S.E.2d at 769; Board of Educ. of Hickory
at 569, 463 S.E.2d at 280. This argument is overruled.

C. Entitled to Judgment as a Matter of Law

Plaintiffs next contend that “the Defendants were not entitled to
judgment as a matter of law][.]” Plaintiffs rely solely on their argument
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that Bryan Collier’s affidavit created a genuine issue of material fact.
As we have already established plaintiffs failed to establish a genuine
issue of material fact because plaintiffs failed to bring forth evidence
as required by N.C. Gen. Stat. § 55-6-25 to demonstrate that share cer-
tificates were actually issued in compliance with the law of North
Carolina, defendants were entitled to judgment as a matter of law, as
without evidence of share certificates issued in compliance with N.C.
Gen. Stat. § 55-6-25 plaintiffs cannot prevail at trial. We reinterate that
had plaintiffs alleged they were issued stock without certificates an
entirely different analysis would have taken place pursuant to N.C.
Gen. Stat. §. 55-6-26; however, because plaintiffs alleged that they
were issued certificates, they must show compliance with N.C. Gen.
Stat. § 55-6-25. This argument is overruled.

III. Conclusion

We conclude that the trial court properly granted summary judg-
ment in favor of defendants.

AFFIRMED.

Judges STEPHENS and BEASLEY concur.

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. STEPHANIE NICOLE NUNEZ

No. COA09-1236
(Filed 18 May 2010)

1. Drugs— trafficking in marijuana—motion to dismiss—suf-
ficient evidence

The trial court did not err in denying defendant’s motion to
dismiss trafficking in marijuana charges because the State pre-
sented sufficient evidence of all the elements of the offenses,
including that defendant had knowledge that boxes delivered to
her apartment contained controlled substances, for the charges
to be submitted to the jury.

2. Sentencing— consecutive sentences—two trafficking in
marijuana offenses

The trial court erred in imposing consecutive sentences as a
matter of law on defendant for his convictions of two trafficking
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in marijuana offenses. While N.C.G.S. § 90-95 mandates that when
sentencing a defendant for trafficking in marijuana pursuant to
subsection (h) of N.C.G.S. § 90-95, the trial court must run the
sentence consecutively to any sentence the defendant is cur-
rently serving, it does not mean that when a defendant is con-
victed of multiple trafficking offenses at a term of court that
those sentences, as a matter of law, must run consecutively to
each other. The trial court had the discretion to run defendant’s
sentences consecutively or concurrently.

Appeal by defendant from judgments entered 16 April 2009 by
Judge W. Russell Duke, Jr. in Pitt County Superior Court. Heard in the
Court of Appeals 24 March 2010.

Attorney General Roy Cooper, by Special Deputy Attorney
General Victoria L. Voight, for the State.

James W. Carter for defendant-appellant.

STEELMAN, Judge.

The State introduced sufficient circumstantial evidence for the
trafficking in marijuana charges to be submitted to the jury. Pursu-
ant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 90-95(h), when a defendant is convicted of
multiple drug trafficking offenses at the same term of court, the
trial court has the discretion to run the sentences either consecu-
tively or concurrently.

1. Factual and Procedural Background

On 27 June 2006, a police drug dog alerted the Greenville Police
to two suspicious packages at the United Parcel Service (UPS) hub
in Greenville. A search warrant was obtained, and the packages
were searched. They each contained two 5-gallon paint cans sealed
in plastic wrap. Inside the cans was marijuana, weighing a total of
25.5 pounds.

The packages were addressed to “Holly Wright,” 2429 Charles
Boulevard, Number 19 in Greenville. Holly Wainwright (Wainwright)
and Stephanie Nicole Nunez (defendant) had shared the apartment,
but Wainwright had moved out prior to 27 June 2006. A controlled
delivery of the packages was organized for later that day. The pack-
ages were delivered, accepted by defendant, and dragged into the
apartment by defendant. Defendant then called her boyfriend, Dia
Smallwood (Smallwood), and advised him that the packages had
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arrived. Shortly thereafter, Smallwood pulled up, opened the hatch-
back of his vehicle, and entered the apartment. Police executed a
search warrant for the apartment and found Smallwood holding
one of the packages. Smallwood dropped the package and bolted
from the apartment.

Defendant and Smallwood were both charged with drug offenses.
Defendant was indicted for two counts of trafficking in marijuana; by
possession and transportation. Defendant was also indicted for pos-
session with intent to sell and deliver marijuana, two counts of con-
spiracy to traffic in marijuana; by possession and transportation,
felony maintaining of a dwelling for controlled substances, and pos-
session of drug paraphernalia.

On 16 April 2009, a jury found defendant guilty of the four traf-
ficking offenses, the charge of possession of drug paraphernalia, and
of the lesser-included offense of possession of marijuana. Defendant
was found not guilty of maintaining a dwelling for controlled sub-
stances. The trial court arrested judgment on the conspiracy charges,
the possession of marijuana charge, and the possession of drug para-
phernalia charge. Defendant was sentenced to two consecutive terms
of active imprisonment of 25-30 months on the remaining two traf-
ficking offenses.

Defendant appeals.

II. Motion to Dismiss at the Close of the State’s Evidence

[1] In her first argument, defendant contends that the trial court
erred in not dismissing each of the charges. We disagree.

Because the trial court arrested judgment on the conspiracy
offenses, the possession of marijuana charge, and the possession of
drug paraphernalia charge, defendant’s assignments of error pertain-
ing to those charges are dismissed. State v. Roman, — N.C.
App. —, —, S.E.2d —, — (2010).

A. Standard of Review

“The denial of a motion to dismiss for insufficient evidence is a
question of law, which this Court reviews de novo.” State v. Bagley,
183 N.C. App. 514, 523, 644 S.E.2d 615, 621 (2007) (internal citations
omitted). The question upon review is “whether there is substantial
evidence (1) of each essential element of the offense charged, or of a
lesser offense included therein, and (2) of defendant’s being the per-
petrator of such offense. If so, the motion is properly denied.” State
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v. Blizzard, 169 N.C. App. 285, 289, 610 S.E.2d 245, 249 (2005) (cita-
tion and quotations omitted). In considering the motion, the trial
court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State
and give the State every reasonable inference. State v. Thaggard, 168
N.C. App. 263, 281, 608 S.E.2d 774, 786 (2005) (citing State v. Gibson,
342 N.C. 142, 150, 463 S.E.2d 193, 199 (1995)).

B. Sufficiency of the Evidence

While each of the trafficking offenses contains slightly different
elements, defendant’s argument focuses solely upon one element;
whether defendant had knowledge that the boxes delivered to her
apartment contained controlled substances.

The class H felony of trafficking in marijuana by transportation
requires the State to prove (1) that defendant knowingly transported
the marijuana, and (2) that the marijuana weighed more than 10
pounds, but less than 50 pounds. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 90-95(h)(1)(a)
(2009); see also N.C.P.I., Crim. 260.30.

The class H felony of trafficking in marijuana by possession
requires the State to prove (1) that defendant knowingly possessed
the marijuana, and (2) that the marijuana weighed more than 10
pounds, but less than 50 pounds. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 90-95(h)(1)(a)
(2009); see also N.C.P.IL., Crim. 260.17. The possession element can be
proven by showing that defendant had both the power and intent to
control the disposition or use of the marijuana. State v. Dow, 70 N.C.
App. 82, 85, 318 S.E.2d 883, 885 (1984) (citations omitted). De-
fendant’s “possession may be either actual or constructive.” Id. (cita-
tion omitted). We note that both defendant and the State discuss at
length the concept of constructive possession in their briefs. De-
fendant accepted both packages from the UPS delivery person and
dragged the packages into her apartment. Defendant thus had actual,
not constructive, possession of the packages, and the principles of
constructive possession are irrelevant to our analysis of this case.

Defendant argues that the State failed to establish that she had
knowledge that the packages contained marijuana. “Knowledge” is
defined as, “[a]n awareness or understanding of a fact or circum-
stance; a state of mind in which a person has no substantial doubt
about the existence of a fact.” Black’s Law Dictionary 950 (9th
ed. 2009).

Knowledge is a mental state and may be proved by the conduct
and statements of the defendant, by statements made to him by



168 IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

STATE v. NUNEZ
[204 N.C. App. 164 (2010)]

others, by evidence of reputation which it may be inferred had
come to his attention, and by circumstantial evidence from which
an inference of knowledge might reasonably be drawn.

State v. Boone, 310 N.C. 284, 294-95, 311 S.E.2d 552, 559 (1984) (cita-
tions omitted).

In the absence of a confession by defendant that she knew the
boxes contained marijuana, the State’s proof of this element must of
necessity be circumstantial. “[Clircumstantial evidence is that which
is indirectly applied by means of circumstances from which the exis-
tence of the principal fact may reasonably be deduced or inferred.”
State v. Blackwelder, 182 N.C. 899, 904, 109 S.E. 644, 647 (1921). The
law makes no distinction between the weight to be given to either
direct or circumstantial evidence. State v. Sluka, 107 N.C. App. 200,
204, 419 S.E.2d 200, 203 (1992) (citation omitted).

The State presented the following evidence, which was sufficient
circumstantial evidence to submit the charges to the jury: (1) the
packages were addressed to “Holly Wright,” a person who no longer
lived in the apartment with defendant; (2) defendant immediately
accepted possession of the packages, dragged them into the apart-
ment, and never mentioned to the delivery person that Wainwright
no longer lived there; (3) Wainwright testified that she had not
ordered the packages; (4) defendant told a neighbor that Smallwood
had ordered the packages for her; (5) defendant did not open the
packages, but she immediately called Smallwood to tell him the pack-
ages had arrived; (6) after getting off the phone with Smallwood,
defendant acted like she was in a hurry to leave; and (7) Smallwood
came to the apartment within thirty-five minutes of the packages
being delivered.

“‘In ‘borderline’ or close cases, our courts have consistently
expressed a preference for submitting issues to the jury . ... ” State
v. Jenkins, 167 N.C. App. 696, 701, 606 S.E.2d 430, 433 (quoting State
v. Jackson, 103 N.C. App. 239, 244, 405 S.E.2d 354, 357 (1991) (inter-
nal quotations and citations omitted), aff’d, 331 N.C. 113, 413 S.E.2d
798 (1992)), aff’d, 359 N.C. 423, 611 S.E.2d 833 (2005). Both Jenkins
and Jackson involved the charges of trafficking in drugs and of con-
spiracy to traffic in drugs, and the submission of these offenses to the
jury based upon the sufficiency of circumstantial evidence.

We hold that the State presented sufficient circumstantial evi-
dence that defendant had knowledge that the contents of the pack-
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ages contained controlled substances for the cases to be submitted
to the jury.

This argument is without merit.

III. Consecutive Sentences

[2] In her second and third arguments, defendant contends that the
trial court erred in imposing consecutive sentences for the two traf-
ficking in marijuana offenses. We agree and remand these cases to
the trial court for a new sentencing hearing.

Defendant was sentenced for two counts of trafficking in mari-
juana. At the sentencing hearing, the prosecutor told the trial judge
that under the provisions of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 90-95(h)(6), the trial
court was required as a matter of law to run the two sentences con-
secutively to each other. The trial court expressed skepticism con-
cerning this, but defense counsel agreed with the prosecutor. In sen-
tencing defendant on the second trafficking charge, the trial court
stated: “This sentence to be served at the expiration of the sentence
imposed in Count 1 as required by law.”

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 90-95 provides that, “[s]entences imposed pur-
suant to this subsection shall run consecutively with and shall com-
mence at the expiration of any sentence being served by the person
sentenced hereunder.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 90-95(h)(6) (2009). This lan-
guage mandates that when sentencing a defendant for trafficking in
marijuana pursuant to subsection (h) of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 90-95, the
trial court must run the sentence consecutively to “any sentence
being served” by the defendant. This means that if the defendant is
already serving a sentence, the new sentence under N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 90-95(h) must run consecutively to that sentence. It does not mean
that when a defendant is convicted of multiple trafficking offenses
at a term of court that those sentences, as a matter of law, must run
consecutively to each other. When this occurs, the trial court has
the discretion to run the sentences either consecutively or concur-
rently. State v. Bozeman, 115 N.C. App. 658, 662-63, 446 S.E.2d 140,
143 (1994); State v. Walston, 193 N.C. App. 134, 141, 666 S.E.2d 872,
877 (2008).

“When multiple sentences of imprisonment are imposed on a per-
son at the same time or when a term of imprisonment is imposed on
a person who is already subject to an undischarged term of impris-
onment, . . . the sentences may run either concurrently or consecu-
tively, as determined by the court.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 15A-1354(a)
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(2009). The trial court has the discretion to determine whether
to impose concurrent or consecutive sentences. See State v. Parker,
350 N.C. 411, 441, 516 S.E.2d 106, 126 (1999) (citing N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 15A-1354(a)), cert. denied, 528 U.S. 1084, 145 L. Ed. 2d 681 (2000).

In the instant case, the trial court erroneously believed that it was
mandated by law to impose consecutive sentences. When a trial judge
acts under a misapprehension of the law, this constitutes an abuse of
discretion. Hines v. Wal-Mart Stores E., L.P,, 191 N.C. App. 390, 393,
663 S.E.2d 337, 339 (2008) (citing State v. Cornell, 281 N.C. 20, 30, 187
S.E.2d 768, 774 (1972)), disc. review denied, 363 N.C. 126, 673 S.E.2d
131 (2009); see also Riviere v. Riviere, 134 N.C. App. 302, 307, 517
S.E.2d 673, 676 (1999). We vacate the judgments entered in the two
trafficking cases and remand for a new sentencing hearing.

Upon remand, we note that the sentence for these offenses is
25-30 months, as mandated by N.C. Gen. Stat. § 90-95(h)(1)(a).
Whether the two sentences should run concurrently or consecutively
rests in the discretion of the trial court.

DISMISSED IN PART, NO ERROR IN PART, VACATED AND
REMANDED FOR NEW SENTENCING HEARING IN PART.

Judges BRYANT and BEASLEY concur.

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. YOVANIS GONZALEZ TOLEDO

No. COA09-1063
(Filed 18 May 2010)

Search and Seizure— probable cause—motion to suppress
improperly granted—exigent circumstances

The trial court in a possession of marijuana case erred by
finding and concluding that exigent circumstances did not exist
to justify a search of a spare tire located underneath defendant’s
vehicle without a search warrant and suppressing the marijuana
found therein. The search of the inside of defendant’s vehicle was
within the scope of defendant’s consent and the discovery of
marijuana inside a tire located in the vehicle was sufficient prob-
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able cause to allow the officer to search every part of the vehicle,
including the tire located underneath the vehicle.

Appeal by the State from order entered 7 May 2009 by Judge
Henry W. Hight, Jr. in Johnston County Superior Court. Heard in the
Court of Appeals 10 March 2010.

Attorney General Roy Cooper, by Assistant Attorney General
Derrick C. Mertz, for the State.

Ann B. Petersen for defendant-appellee.

BRYANT, Judge.

The State appeals from an order granting defendant’s motion to
suppress the contents of a spare tire taken from under defendant’s
vehicle without a search warrant. For the reasons stated herein, we
reverse and remand.

Defendant Yovanis Toledo was indicted on charges of trafficking
in marijuana by possession and trafficking in marijuana by trans-
portation. Defendant filed a pretrial motion to suppress evidence ob-
tained as a result of a warrantless search of defendant’s vehicle, argu-
ing that it was a violation of defendant’s Fourth Amendment rights as
stated in the United States Constitution. On 7 May 2009, at a hearing
on defendant’s motion, Sergeant Nathan Memmelaar testified to the
events which led to the search of defendant’s vehicle.

On 21 October 2008, Sergeant Memmelaar, an officer with fifteen
years of law enforcement experience and five years with the
Smithfield Police Department, was parked along Interstate 95 near
the Brogden Road exit when he noticed a black Chevrolet Suburban
with a Connecticut license plate. The vehicle moved behind a tractor
trailer and came within a car length and a half of it. Sergeant
Memmelaar activated his blue lights and stopped the vehicle for fol-
lowing too closely. Sergeant Memmelaar approached the vehicle,
identified himself, and informed the driver why he had been stopped.
The driver, defendant, accompanied the sergeant back to his police
car where the sergeant checked to see if defendant’s driver’s license
and vehicle registration were valid. Upon confirmation, defendant
was informed that he would receive only a warning ticket. Still, while
in the sergeant’s vehicle, defendant seemed extremely nervous: “[h]e
was continually rubbing his hands on his thighs” and avoided eye con-
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tact. Upon completing the ticket, Sergeant Memmelaar asked if de-
fendant would speak with him and then asked defendant if he had
anything such as guns, drugs, or large amounts of currency, to which
defendant replied he did not. Sergeant Memmelaar then asked if he
could look in defendant’s vehicle. Defendant said “Yeah,” “[g]o ahead
and look,” and pointed toward the vehicle.

Inside the vehicle, Sergeant Memmelaar noticed a large tire in the
luggage area. The tire was larger than the tires on the vehicle, and
when asked to what vehicle the tire belonged, defendant said it be-
longed to his truck in Miami. Sergeant Memmelaar asked defendant
why he would have a truck in Miami if he lived in Connecticut but did
not receive a satisfactory answer. Sergeant Memmelaar removed the
tire from the vehicle and conducted a “ping” test, pressing the tire
valve to release some of the air. Immediately, Sergeant Memmelaar
noted a “very strong odor of marijuana.” Sergeant Memmelaar hand-
cuffed defendant and placed him in his patrol vehicle, then continued
to search the vehicle. In the undercarriage of defendant’s vehicle was
another spare tire. Sergeant Memmelaar removed the second spare
and performed another ping test. Again, Sergeant Memmelaar noted a
strong odor of marijuana. Sergeant Memmelaar then called his super-
visor. Detective J.G. Whitley, a narcotics investigator, arrived at the
scene and took possession of the tires. He pulled from the tires
approximately thirty-five gallon sized freezer bags of marijuana
weighing a total of 16.45 pounds.

After hearing the testimony, the trial court found and concluded
that defendant’s consent to search extended only to the interior of the
vehicle; that the search of the tire located within the luggage area of
defendant’s vehicle was within the scope of consent; and that
Sergeant Memmelaar had probable cause to seize the tire when the
odor of marijuana was expelled. However, the trial court found and
concluded that the search of the tire from the vehicle’s undercarriage
exceeded the scope of the consent to search. Therefore, the trial
court denied defendant’s motion to suppress evidence found in the
tire located within the vehicle but granted the motion to suppress evi-
dence taken from the second tire, located in the undercarriage. From
this order, the State appeals.

On appeal, the State raises three questions; however, we address
them as a single issue. Did the trial court err by making mixed find-
ings of fact and conclusions of law that exigent circumstances did not
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exist to justify a search of the second spare tire without a search war-
rant and suppressing the marijuana found therein.

Standard of Review

“Generally, an appellate court’s review of a trial court’s order on
a motion to suppress is strictly limited to a determination of whether
its findings are supported by competent evidence, and in turn,
whether the findings support the trial court’s ultimate conclusion.”
State v. White, 184 N.C. App. 519, 523, 646 S.E.2d 609, 611 (2007)
(citation omitted). “Findings of fact are conclusive on appeal if sup-
ported by competent evidence, even if the evidence is conflicting.
However, the trial court’s conclusions of law are fully reviewable on
appeal.” State v. Robinson, 189 N.C. App. 454, 458, 658 S.E.2d 501, 504
(2008) (internal citations and quotations omitted).

Analysis

The State argues that the trial court erred in finding and conclud-
ing that exigent circumstances did not exist to warrant the seizure of
the second tire absent a warrant. We agree.

On appeal, defendant cites Arizona v. Gant, — U.S. —, 173
L. Ed. 2d 485 (2009), as providing the basis for the trial court’s sup-
pression of the evidence seized from the second tire. There, the
Supreme Court of the United States considered whether the Fourth
Amendment allowed police to conduct a warrantless search of a ve-
hicle after the defendant had been handcuffed and secured in a police
vehicle for the offense of driving with a suspended license. The Court
noted that as a basic rule “[s]earches conducted outside the judicial
process, without prior approval by judge or magistrate, are per se
unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment—subject only to a few
specifically established and well-delineated exceptions.” Id. at —,
173 L. Ed. 2d at 493 (citation omitted). A search incident to a lawful
arrest is such an exception. Id. However, the Gant Court determined
that the rationale underlying a warrantless vehicle search incident to
an arrest, i.e. officer safety and preservation of evidence, did not exist
based on the facts of that case, where the suspect had been arrested
on the charge of driving with a suspended license, had been hand-
cuffed, and placed in an patrol car. Id. at —, 173 L. Ed. 2d at 497.
However, the Court distinguished the facts of Gant from situations
where “circumstances unique to the vehicle context justify a search
incident to a lawful arrest when it is ‘reasonable to believe evidence
relevant to the crime of arrest might be found in the vehicle.””
Gant, — U.S. —, 173 L. Ed. 2d at 496 (citing Thornton, 541 U.S. at
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632, 158 L. Ed. 2d 905 (Scalia, J., concurring in judgment))!. We
believe Gant is instructive but otherwise inapplicable to the facts
before us. “At bottom, the proper standard is intended to protect cit-
izens from rash and unreasonable interferences with privacy and
from unfounded charges of crime, while at the same time giving
fair leeway for enforcing the law in the community’s protection.”
United States v. Dickey-Bey, 393 F.3d 449, 453-54 (4th Cir. 2004) (cita-
tion omitted). See also, California v. Acevedo, 500 U.S. 565, 570, 114
L. Ed. 2d 619, 628 (1991) (“The scope of a warrantless search based
on probable cause is no narrower—and no broader—than the scope
of a search authorized by a warrant supported by probable cause.”)
(citation omitted).

In United States v. Ross, 456 U.S. 798, 72 L. Ed. 2d 572 (1982), a
reliable confidential informant informed police that he observed a
man selling drugs out of his trunk. Id. at 800, 72 L. Ed. 2d at 578.
Officers immediately reported to the area and found the defendant
and his vehicle, both of which matched the informant’s description.
Id. at 801, 72 L. Ed. 2d at 578. The officers searched the interior of
the vehicle and found a bullet in the passenger seat and a handgun in
the glove compartment. Id. at 801, 72 L. Ed. 2d at 579. The defendant
was then arrested. The officers continued to search the vehicle and in
the trunk discovered a closed brown paper bag, which contained sev-
eral glassine bags housing what was later determined to be heroin,
and a closed pouch, which contained $3,200.00. Id. The Court of
Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit held that the officers
exceeded the scope of their authority by searching the packages
found in the trunk without first obtaining a warrant. Id. at 802, 72
L. Ed. 2d at 579. Granting a writ of certiorari, the Supreme Court
reversed, thereby determining that the officers’ search of the con-
tainers did not violate the defendant’s Fourth Amendment right
against unreasonable searches and seizures. Id. at 800, 72 L. Ed. 2d at
578. In its reasoning, the Court stated that “the probable-cause [sic]
determination must be based on objective facts that could justify the
issuance of a warrant by a magistrate and . . . facts within knowledge
of the [officer], which in the judgment of the court would make his
[good] faith reasonable.” Id. at 808, 72 L. Ed. 2d at 583. “The scope of
a warrantless search . . . is defined by the object of the search and the
places in which there is probable cause to believe that it may be

1. In Thornton v. United States, 541 U.S. 615, 158 L. Ed. 2d 905 (2004), the
Supreme Court determined that a subsequent vehicle search did not violate the de-
fendant’s Fourth Amendment rights when the defendant was confronted by police and
arrested for possession of contraband while standing near his vehicle.



IN THE COURT OF APPEALS 175

STATE v. TOLEDO
[204 N.C. App. 170 (2010)]

found.” Id. at 824, 72 L. Ed. 2d at 593. Based on its prior holding in
Carroll v. United States, 267 U.S. 132, 69 L. Ed. 543 (1925) (setting
forth automobile exception to the warrant requirement), the Supreme
Court reversed the D.C. Circuit Court and held as follows:

[TThe scope of the warrantless search authorized by [the excep-
tion established in Carroll] is no broader and no narrower than a
magistrate could legitimately authorize by warrant. If probable
cause justifies the search of a lawfully stopped vehicle, it justi-
fies the search of every part of the vehicle and its contents that
may conceal the object of the search.

Ross, 456 U.S. at 825, 72 L. Ed. 2d at 594 (emphasis added).

Here, Sergeant Memmelaar lawfully stopped defendant’s vehicle
for following too closely and received defendant’s consent to search
the vehicle. Consent to search a vehicle may be given by the person
in apparent control of the vehicle and its contents. N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 15A-222(2) (2009); see also State v. Wilson, 155 N.C. App. 89, 97, 574
S.E.2d 93, 99 (2002). Upon performing a ping test on a tire located
inside the vehicle, Sergeant Memmelaar detected a strong odor of
marijuana. As noted by the trial court, the search of the tire was
within the scope of consent.2 After marijuana was detected, defend-
ant was immediately arrested for possession of marijuana. There-
after, it was lawful for Sergeant Memmelaar to search the entire ve-
hicle incident to defendant arrest for possession of marijuana.3 The
discovery of marijuana in the first tire also provided probable cause
to believe the vehicle was being used to transport marijuana, and,
therefore, Sergeant Memmelar had probable cause to search every
part of the vehicle that may have concealed marijuana. See Ross,
456 U.S. 798, 72 L. Ed. 2d 572. We hold that the search of defend-
ant’s vehicle and seizure of marijuana in the second tire, after de-
tecting the smell of marijuana in the first tire, did not violate de-
fendant’s Fourth Amendment right against unreasonable searches
and seizures. Accordingly, we reverse the trial court’s order to

2. Unlike the trial court, we see nothing in the record that would limit the scope
of defendant’s consent to search to the interior of the vehicle.

3. We note that the United States Supreme Court has reiterated its disfavor of
allowing vehicle searches incident to any arrest unless that arrest involves genuine offi-
cer safety issues or evidentiary concerns, see Arizona v. Gant, — U.S. at ——, 173
L. Ed. 2d at 499, and note that the holding in the instant case addresses a search of a
vehicle incident to arrest where it is reasonable to believe the vehicle contains evi-
dence of the crime of arrest.
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suppress the evidence discovered in the second tire and remand for
further proceedings.

Reversed and remanded.

Judges STEELMAN and BEASLEY concur.

JO LINDA STRICKLAND, PLAINTIFF v. CITY OF RALEIGH, DEFENDANT(S)

No. COA09-962
(Filed 18 May 2010)

Cities and Towns— fall in crosswalk—one inch height differ-
ence from sidewalk—summary judgment for defendant
The trial court correctly granted summary judgment for
defendant in a negligence action arising from plaintiff’s fall in a
crosswalk. Plaintiff causally linked her fall solely to a one-inch
difference in the sidewalk and crosswalk, but her forecast of evi-
dence, including falls by others, failed to establish that the defect
was not trivial. Furthermore, the statute giving cities authority
and control over sidewalks, N.C.G.S. § 160A-296, does not change
the analysis of defendant’s duty to maintain its sidewalks, nor
does it appear that the building code provisions cited by plaintiff
are applicable to the sidewalk in this case.

Appeal by plaintiff from order entered 24 April 2009 by Judge
W. Osmond Smith, III in Superior Court, Wake County. Heard in the
Court of Appeals 19 November 2009.

Mast, Schulz, Mast, Johnson, Wells & Trimyer, PA. by George B.
Mast and Ron L. Trimyer, Jr., for plaintiff-appellant.

City Attorney Thomas A. McCormick by Deputy City Attorney
Hunt K. Chot, for defendant-appellee.

STROUD, Judge.

The trial court allowed summary judgment in favor of defendant,
dismissing plaintiff’s claim for personal injury arising from a fall.
Plaintiff appealed from the summary judgment order. For the follow-
ing reasons, we affirm.
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I. Background

On or about 25 January 2008, plaintiff filed a complaint against
defendant alleging that

[o]n the afternoon of August 19, 2005, the Plaintiff was travel-
ing on foot along Martin Street in the Fayetteville Street Mall area
in Raleigh, Wake County, North Carolina. As the Plaintiff was
walking between two crosswalks at Port City Java and First
Citizens Bank on Martin Street, she stepped onto the edge of the
crosswalk which was elevated at a height not readily noticeable
to pedestrians and which was uneven with the rest of the cross-
walk. This caused the Plaintiff’s right ankle to roll, subsequently
causing her to lose her balance and fall, striking her left knee on
the pavement.

Plaintiff further alleged that as a result of the fall, she suffered severe
and permanent injuries to her ankle, foot, and knee and incurred
medical expenses and loss of income.

On 24 March 2008, defendant answered plaintiff’s complaint by
denying most of plaintiff’s allegations and alleging as affirmative
defenses contributory negligence and that defendant “is not liable in
tort for injuries or damages arising from minor or trivial defects.” On
9 March 2009, defendant filed a motion for summary judgment alleg-
ing numerous reasons why plaintiff’s claim should fail.

On or about 16 April 2009, Carolyn Passley, a street vendor who
had worked for several years near the location of plaintiff’s fall, sub-
mitted an affidavit. Ms. Passley averred that the defect in the side-
walk was “dangerous to passersby due [to] its location in downtown
Raleigh, the nature of the defect, and the number of prior incidents.”
Ms. Passley further averred that

[o]ver the past several months prior to Jo Linda Strickland’s fall,
I had observed numerous individuals fall or trip at the same place
Jo Linda Strickland fell. I had been told by Mr. Simmons, (first
name unknown) a maintenance employee with the City of
Raleigh, prior to the fall, that the defect in the cross walk needed
to be fixed due to the nature and hazard of the defect and the
number of prior incidents at the same location. Mr. Simmons is
now retired but was employed by the City of Raleigh as an
employee to maintain the mall both before and at the time of Jo
Linda Strickland’s fall.
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Plaintiff also submitted an affidavit in opposition to defendant’s
summary judgment motion, averring that the sidewalk was defective
due to “an approximate amount of [a] one inch difference in eleva-
tion[.]” Plaintiff also stated in her affidavit that “[t]he condition of the
sidewalk was not noticeable by reason of the color of the pavement
where the defect was located. The defect in this particular area of the
side walk[sic] was hazardous and dangerous and was not merely an
insignificant or trivial defect.” Plaintiff further averred

[t]hat the North Carolina Accessibility Code (1999) Volume
I-C, 3.3(b) provides “public walks shall have a continuous com-
mon surface that shall not be interrupted by steps or abrupt
changes in level greater than one-fourth inch. If walks cross
drive-ways or parking lots, then they shall blend to a common
level by means of curb cuts, curb ramps or sloped areas whose
gradient shall not exceed 1:12.

Furthermore, in response to a request for admissions from defendant,
plaintiff admitted that she did not know how long the condition of the
sidewalk had existed as it was on the day of her fall and that the dif-
ference in height between the two surfaces “was approximately one
inch, and not more than two inches.

On 24 April 2009, the trial court allowed defendant’s motion for
summary judgment because the trial court concluded that a “one inch
difference in the walking surface constituted a minor or trivial defect
as a matter of law, and that the City of Raleigh’s failure to correct
such defect did not constitute a breach of its duty to keep its sidewalk
in reasonably safe condition or proper repair.” Plaintiff appeals.

II. Standard of Review
Summary judgment is proper when

the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and
admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show
that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that any
party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. A trial court’s
grant of summary judgment receives de novo review on appeal,
and evidence is viewed in the light most favorable to the non-
moving party.

Fairway Outdoor Adver. v. Edwards, — N.C. App. —, —, 678
S.E.2d 765, 768-69 (2009) (citation omitted).
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III. Analysis

The trial court allowed summary judgment in favor of defendant
because it concluded that the defect in the sidewalk upon which
plaintiff fell was a “trivial defect[.]”

While the city is not an insurer of the safety of one who uses its
streets and sidewalks, it is under a duty to use due care to keep
its streets and sidewalks in a reasonably safe condition for the
ordinary use thereof. A city will not be liable for injuries caused
by trivial defects, which are not naturally dangerous. Municipal-
ities do not insure that the condition of its streets and sidewalks
are at all times absolutely safe.

Desmond v. City of Charlotte, 142 N.C. App. 5690, 5692, 544 S.E.2d 269,
271 (2001) (citations, quotation marks, and brackets omitted).

In Desmond, this Court conducted a thorough review of cases
which have found trivial defects:

In Joyce v. City of High Point, 30 N.C. App. 346, 226 S.E.2d 856
(1976), the trial court properly entered summary judgment for the
city when the irregularity in the sidewalk was 1-2 inches and the
plaintiff did not see the irregularity before the fall. Id. at 350, 226
S.E.2d at 858. Our Supreme Court in Bagwell v. Brevard, 256 N.C.
465, 124 S.E.2d 129 (1962), held that plaintiff did not allege
actionable negligence on the part of the town when the change in
the sidewalk was approximately one inch. Id. at 466, 124 S.E.2d
at 130. In Watkins v. Raleigh, 214 N.C. 644, 200 S.E. 424 (1939),
our Supreme Court held that a hole in the sidewalk which was 2
1/2 feet wide and 2 or more inches in depth was trivial. Id. In
Falatovitch v. Clinton, 259 N.C. 58, 129 S.E.2d 598 (1963), plain-
tiff fell in an opening of the sidewalk. Id. The defect had been
there for at least three years. Id. at 59, 129 S.E.2d at 599. The
defect was ten inches long, and several inches wide. Id. Our
Supreme Court held that while the evidence tends to show there
was a hole or crack in the cement sidewalk, the evidence, in our
opinion, was insufficient to establish actionable negligence.
Defendant’s failure to correct what must be considered a minor
defect did not constitute a breach of its legal duty. Id. at 60, 129
S.E.2d at 599.

Desmond at 593, 544 S.E.2d at 271 (quotation marks and brackets
omitted). In Desmond though the “plaintiff’s experts testified that the
depression existed for a number of years and had been at least one-
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half of an inch for 1-2 years before the accident[, and t]his depression
was contrary to the building code[,]” the plaintiff still did not “raise
an inference of negligence.” Id.

Furthermore, in Bagwell v. Brevard, the plaintiff sued the Town
of Brevard for negligence after she fell on a sidewalk. 256 N.C. 465,
465-66, 124 S.E.2d 129, 129 (1962). Both the plaintiff in Bagwell and
plaintiff sub judice causally link their falls solely to an approximately
one-inch difference in the sidewalk. See id. at 466, 124 S.E.2d at 129.
In Bagwell, the North Carolina Supreme Court affirmed the trial
court’s dismissal of plaintiff’s case because “the alleged defect or
irregularity is a difference in elevation of approximately one inch
between two adjacent concrete sections of the sidewalk. Defendant’s
failure to correct this slight irregularity did not constitute a breach of
its said legal duty.” Id. at 466, 124 S.E.2d at 130.

Plaintiff attempts to distinguish her case from the numerous
cases regarding “trivial defects” by noting “[t]his particular defect ob-
viously cannot be considered trivial as a matter of law, if numerous
other persons have . . . fallen because of that same defect while walk-
ing over it.” However, plaintiff’s forecast of evidence, including that
numerous others have fallen in the same location, fails to establish
that the defect was not trivial. See id. Plaintiff does not direct our
attention to any case law that establishes that if numerous individu-
als have fallen, the one-inch defect is not trivial. In fact, the cases
noted in Desmond include defects that have been on the sidewalk for
“at least three years” and are as large as “2 1/2 feet wide and 2 or more
inches in depth[.]” Id. The simple fact that others have fallen where
plaintiff did does not establish that the defect upon which plaintiff
fell was not a trivial defect.

Plaintiff also argues that “[d]efendant failed to comply with the
statutorily-provided duty of authority and control in maintaining its
pedestrian passageways|.]” Plaintiff directs our attention to N.C. Gen.
Stat. § 160A-296 which provides that

(a) A city shall have general authority and control over all
public streets, sidewalks, alleys, bridges, and other ways of pub-
lic passage within its corporate limits except to the extent that
authority and control over certain streets and bridges is vested in
the Board of Transportation. General authority and control
includes but is not limited to:

(1) The duty to keep the public streets, sidewalks, alleys, and
bridges in proper repair;



IN THE COURT OF APPEALS 181

STRICKLAND v. CITY OF RALEIGH
[204 N.C. App. 176 (2010)]

(2) The duty to keep the public streets, sidewalks, alleys, and
bridges open for travel and free from unnecessary
obstructions].]

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 160A-296(a)(1)-(2) (2005).

In Desmond, this Court discussed N.C. Gen. Stat. § 160A-296
and ultimately concluded that “[t]he law with regard to municipalities
and maintenance of sidewalks is such that minor defects are not
actionable.” 142 N.C. App. 590, 592-94, 544 S.E.2d 269, 272.
Furthermore, plaintiff has not cited any cases that establish that N.C.
Gen. Stat. § 160A-296 imposes a greater or different duty than that of
the common law. Thus, N.C. Gen. Stat. § 160A-296 does not change
our analysis of defendant’s duty to maintain its sidewalks.

Lastly, plaintiff contends that “the legislature has preempted the
common law” by enacting the North Carolina State Building Code.
Plaintiff cites the Building Code regarding its regulation of “public
walks.” However, plaintiff’s cited provision falls within Part II of the
Building Code. Part Il is entitled “NEW CONSTRUCTION” and applies
“If The Construction Was Commenced After January 26, 1992.” N.C.
State Building Code, Vol. I-C, Part II (1999). Here, plaintiff has failed
to allege when the sidewalk was constructed or last renovated. From
our review of the Building Code and the record before us, it does not
appear that the Building Code provisions cited by plaintiff are applic-
able to the sidewalk upon which plaintiff fell. Furthermore, plaintiff’s
affidavit does not assert that this Building Code provision actually
applies to the sidewalk on which she fell or that the Building Code
would require defendant’s compliance as to this sidewalk. Plaintiff’s
affidavit appears to treat the Building Code as a standard of care
which may create an affirmative duty to correct even a trivial de-
fect of less than one inch in a sidewalk, even if the Building Code is
not strictly applicable to the sidewalk in question. However, as plain-
tiff has not demonstrated that the Building Code actually applies to
the sidewalk on which she fell, we do not find that it changes the
standard of care which has been established by North Carolina’s
courts, as discussed above.

Lastly, plaintiff contends that “the rule of triviality itself is anti-
quated because safety standards evolve over time.” However, antiq-
uity has never been a reason for this Court to overrule its own prior
case law or that of the North Carolina Supreme Court; indeed, this
Court does not have authority to do so. Meza v. Division of Soc.
Servs., 193 N.C. App. 350, 362, 668 S.E.2d 571, 578 (2008) (“It is for the
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Supreme Court and not the Court of Appeals to overrule decisions of
our Supreme Court.” (citation omitted)); In re T.M.H., 186 N.C. App.
451, 455, 652 S.E.2d 1, 3 (“This Court is bound by its prior decisions
encompassing the same legal issue.” (citation omitted)), disc. review
denied, 362 N.C. 87, 657 S.E.2d 31 (2007). Accordingly, this argument
is meritless.

IV. Conclusion

For the foregoing reasons, we conclude that the trial court prop-
erly granted summary judgment in favor of defendant.

AFFIRMED.

Judges HUNTER, JR. and ERVIN concur.

KENNETH P. ANDRESEN anpD MARGUERITTE C. ANDRESEN, PLAINTIFFS V.
PROGRESS ENERGY, INC., CAROLINA POWER & LIGHT COMPANY, AND
CAROLINA POWER & LIGHT COMPANY D/B/A PROGRESS ENERGY
CAROLINAS, INC., DEFENDANTS

No. COA09-1207
(Filed 18 May 2010)

1. Utilities— underground power line—no duty to inspect

The trial court correctly granted summary judgment for
defendants in a negligence action arising from a damaged under-
ground power line where plaintiffs did not establish a duty to
periodically unearth and inspect the line.

2. Contracts— power company service contract—prima facie
case of breach—evidence not sufficient

There was no genuine issue of fact as to the terms of a
contract between plaintiff and defendant-power companies
where plaintiff testified that he neither saw, agreed to, nor signed
defendants’ service agreement. A reasonable mind would not
accept this testimony as adequate to support the existence of
contract terms as yet unidentified and summary judgment was
properly granted.
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Appeal by plaintiffs from order entered 6 May 2009 by Judge Ola
M. Lewis in Brunswick County Superior Court. Heard in the Court of
Appeals 25 February 2010.

Andresen & Arronte, PLLC, by Julian M. Arronte, for plaintiffs-
appellants.

Hedrick, Gardner, Kincheloe & Garofalo, L.L.P., by Scott Lewis
and Ellen J. Persechini, for defendants-appellees.

JACKSON, Judge.

Kenneth P. Andresen (“Andresen”) and Margueritte C. Andresen
(collectively, “plaintiffs”) appeal the 6 May 2009 order granting sum-
mary judgment to Progress Energy, Inc.; Carolina Power & Light
Company; and Carolina Power & Light Company D/B/A Progress
Energy Carolinas, Inc. (“defendants”). For the reasons stated herein,
we affirm.

On 4 January 2008, plaintiffs arrived at their vacation home on
Bald Head Island to find “something unusual” with their electrical
system. When they flipped the light switches, the light bulbs were a
dim amber color and then glowed intensely. According to Andresen,
“the lights would get very bright on one portion of the house and then
they were, at that same moment, rather dim where my wife was.”
Plaintiffs placed a call to defendants, their electric service provider.
One of defendants’ service crews arrived at plaintiffs’ house later that
evening, and after fixing the problem with the underground neutral
line, which apparently had been nicked, a crew member told plaintiffs
to check all of their appliances because they “probably ha[d] all got-
ten fried.” When plaintiffs checked their appliances, they found prob-
lems with all of them. The majority, if not all, of plaintiffs’ appliances
had been plugged directly into the wall outlets, and to plaintiff’s rec-
ollection, none of the appliances were equipped with internal surge
protectors. Plaintiffs contacted defendants’ claims department.

On 18 January 2008, Andresen met at the vacation home with rep-
resentatives from defendants; AT&T, plaintiffs’ telephone and Inter-
net provider; and Telemedia, plaintiffs’ television provider. According
to Andresen, defendants scheduled this meeting because defendants’
representative “thought that one of those entities [Telemedia or
AT&T] damaged the line.” Defendants’ representatives unearthed the
power, cable, and telephone lines and took photographs of them.
Defendants denied plaintiffs’ claim, because their representative
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thought “that someone else is responsible for [the nicked line] and
[defendants] are not.”

Plaintiffs filed suit against defendants on 2 April 2008, claiming
both negligence and breach of contract. On 25 July 2008, plaintiffs
filed an amended complaint. Plaintiffs voluntarily dismissed Progress
Energy, Inc. as a defendant on 21 August 2008. Defendants filed their
answer on 26 September 2008, denying, inter alia, both that they had
been negligent and that they had breached their contract with plain-
tiffs. Defendants filed a motion for summary judgment, and following
discovery and a 27 April 2009 hearing on the motion, the trial court
granted summary judgment in favor of defendants on 6 May 2009.
Plaintiffs appeal.

Plaintiffs’ first argument is that genuine issues of material fact
exist as to whether defendants owed plaintiffs a duty to maintain
their power line. We disagree.

[1] We review a trial court’s grant of summary judgment de novo.
Builders Mut. Ins. Co. v. North Main Constr., Ltd., 361 N.C. 85, 88,
637 S.E.2d 528, 530 (2006) (citing Howerton v. Arat Helmet, Ltd., 358
N.C. 440, 470, 597 S.E.2d 674, 693 (2004)). “Summary judgment is
appropriate when ‘there is no genuine issue as to any material fact’
and ‘any party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.””
Id. (quoting N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1A-1, Rule 56(c) (2005)). Our
Supreme Court has held that “an issue is genuine if it is supported by
substantial evidence, and [a]n issue is material if the facts alleged . . .
would affect the result of the action[.]” DeWitt v. Eveready Battery
Co., 3565 N.C. 672, 681, 565 S.E.2d 140, 146 (2002) (internal citations
and quotation marks omitted). Furthermore, “[s]Jubstantial evidence
is such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as
adequate to support a conclusion and means more than a scintilla
or a permissible inference[.]” Id. (internal citations and quotation
marks omitted).

The movant—defendants in the case sub judice—bears the bur-
den of showing that “(1) an essential element of plaintiff’s claim is
nonexistent; (2) plaintiff cannot produce evidence to support an
essential element of its claim; or (3) plaintiff cannot surmount an
affirmative defense raised in bar of its claim.” Liller v. Quick Stop
Food Maxrt, Inc., 131 N.C. App. 619, 621, 507 S.E.2d 602, 604 (1998)
(citation omitted).

In order to sustain a claim for negligence, a plaintiff must prove
(1) the defendant owed a duty to the plaintiff; (2) the defendant
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failed to exercise proper care in the performance of the duty; and
(3) the breach of the duty was a proximate cause of the injury suf-
fered by the plaintiff.

Sweat v. Brunswick Electric Membership Corp., 133 N.C. App. 63,
65, 514 S.E.2d 526, 528 (1999) (citing Westbrook v. Cobb, 105 N.C. App.
64, 67, 411 S.E.2d 651, 653 (1992)).

Our case law that addresses an electricity provider’s duty to
maintain its equipment focuses on above-ground lines—rather than
those buried underground as here—and bodily injury to people—
rather than the damage to property asserted here.

A supplier of electricity owes the highest degree of care to the
public because of the dangerous nature of electricity. An electric
company is required “to exercise reasonable care in the con-
struction and maintenance of their lines when positioned where
they are likely to come in contact with the public.” However, “the
duty of providing insulation should be limited to those points or
places where there is reason to apprehend that persons may
come in contact with the wires. . . .” Also, this Court has held that
an electrical utility has exercised reasonable care when it has
insulated its power lines “by height and isolation in accordance
with existing regulations.”

Id. (internal citations omitted).

According to the administrative rules and regulations that govern
our State’s utilities, “[e]ach utility shall maintain its plant, distribution
system and facilities at all times in proper condition for use in ren-
dering safe and adequate service.” 4 N.C. Admin. Code 11.R8-5(a)
(2007). North Carolina utilities also “shall make a full and prompt
investigation of all service complaints made to it by its consumers].]”
4 N.C. Admin. Code 11.R8-6 (2007). Within its section specifically
addressing underground utility lines, the National Electrical Safety
Code from the American National Standards Institute! requires that
“[a]ccessible lines and equipment . . . be inspected by the responsible
party at such intervals as experience has shown to be necessary.”
NESC § 31.313.A.2 (2002).

In the instant case, whether defendants owed plaintiffs a duty to
maintain their underground power line is an element of a prima facie
case of negligence and is, therefore, material because it would affect

1. The National Electrical Safety Code was adopted by Rule R8-26 of the North
Carolina Utility Commission Rules and Regulations.
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the result of the action. However, plaintiffs’ case must fail be-
cause they have failed to forecast any evidence that defendants in
fact owed them a duty to unearth the underground power lines peri-
odically and visually to inspect the lines to ascertain whether they
had been nicked.

Plaintiffs argue that Chapter 8, Rule R8-23 of the North Carolina
Utilities Commission Rules and Regulations requires electric utilities
to “operate and maintain in safe, efficient and proper condition, all
the facilities and instrumentalities used in connection with the regu-
lation, measurement and delivery of electric current . . . .” 4 N.C.
Admin. Code 11.R8-23 (2007) (emphasis added). However, defendants
have complied with the specific requirements of the rules and regula-
tions. They promptly investigated plaintiffs’ complaint, arriving the
same night that Andresen called in order to inspect and repair the
nicked line. 4 N.C. Admin. Code 11.R8-6 (2007) (“Each utility shall
make a full and prompt investigation of all service complaints made
to it by its consumers][.]”). Plaintiffs presented no case law or statute
that imposes a duty upon utility companies to inspect underground
power lines. The applicable rules suggest that only accessible lines
are subject to “inspect[ion] by the responsible party at such intervals
as experience has shown to be necessary.” NESC § 31.313.A.2 (2002).
Plaintiffs have not suggested that they have an expert or any witness
who will testify that such periodic inspection of underground lines is
part of the reasonable care owed to customers by utility companies.
Therefore, plaintiffs have failed to “produce evidence to support an
essential element of [their] claim” because they have forecast no evi-
dence that defendants owed them a duty to inspect underground
power lines periodically in the absence of specific complaints. Liller,
131 N.C. App. at 621, 507 S.E.2d at 604 (citation omitted).

Because we hold that plaintiffs did not establish the element of
duty within their prima facie case of negligence, plaintiffs cannot
survive a motion for summary judgment based upon that claim.
Therefore, we do not address their second argument that addresses
one of defendants’ defenses to the negligence claim—whether a gen-
uine issue of material fact existed as to intervening negligence by a
third party.

[2] Plaintiffs’ final argument is that genuine issues of fact exist as
to the terms of the contract between plaintiffs and defendants. We
disagree.
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The requirements for summary judgment are set forth supra.
“The elements of a claim for breach of contract are (1) existence of a
valid contract and (2) breach of the terms of that contract.” Poor v.
Hill, 138 N.C. App. 19, 26, 530 S.E.2d 838, 843 (2000) (citing Jackson
v. Carolina Hardwood Co., 120 N.C. App. 870, 871, 463 S.E.2d 571,
572 (1995)).

Here, defendants alleged that “[p]laintiffs’ claim of breach of con-
tract against [defendant] fails as a matter of law based on the valid
and enforceable Service Agreement, produced in discovery and used
as the basis of the plaintiffs’ relationship with [defendant.]” The
service agreement requires that the customer “install and maintain
devices adequate to protect his equipment against irregularities on
[defendants’] system, including devices to protect against single phas-
ing[,]” which plaintiffs did not do. However, plaintiffs contend that
Andresen’s testimony that he had neither seen, executed, nor agreed
to the service agreement raises a genuine issue of material fact as to
the terms of the contract between the parties. This controversy is
material because the terms of the contract necessarily implicate
whether or not the contract was breached—the second element of a
breach of contract claim. However, plaintiffs’ claim still must fail,
because although the unsigned service agreement presented by
defendants is not dispositive, Andresen has not met his burden to pre-
sent substantial evidence as to what the terms of the actual agree-
ment between the parties were. A reasonable mind would not accept
as adequate Andresen’s testimony—that he neither saw, agreed to,
nor signed defendants’ service agreement—to support the existence
of some as yet unidentified contractual terms that defendants
allegedly breached. Without such forecast of evidence, plaintiffs have
failed to present a prima facie case of breach of contract.

For these reasons, no genuine issues of material fact exist, and
defendants were entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law.
Therefore, we affirm the trial court’s grant of summary judgment to
defendants.

Affirmed.

Judges ELMORE and STROUD concur.
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SHIRLEY RITCHIE SHIPPEN, PrLAINTIFF V. JOHN LEE SHIPPEN, DEFENDANT

No. COA09-1181
(Filed 18 May 2010)

1. Contempt— civil—willfulness—child support—postsepara-
tion support

The trial court did not err in a child support and postsepara-
tion support case by holding defendant husband in civil con-
tempt. The trial court concluded that defendant was able to work
but voluntarily quit his job and refused to take another. Defend-
ant did not quit his job and join a religious community which pro-
hibited its members from earning outside income or owning
assets until after entry of the support order.

2. Attorney fees— reasonableness—additional findings of
fact required

The trial court erred by ordering defendant to pay additional
attorney fees without making the findings of fact required by
N.C.G.S. § 50-13.6 as to the reasonableness of the award.

Appeal by defendant from order entered 18 May 2009 by Judge
H. Thomas Church in Alexander County District Court. Heard in the
Court of Appeals 24 March 2010.

No brief for plaintiff-appellee.
Mary McCullers Reece for defendant-appellant.

BRYANT, Judge.

On 10 September 2008, plaintiff Shirley Ritchie Shippen filed a
complaint against her husband, defendant John Lee Shippen, seeking
custody, child support, post-separation support, alimony and equi-
table distribution. On 8 October 2008, the trial court ordered defend-
ant to pay $606.01 per month in child support and $500.00 per month
in post-separation support. The trial court also ordered defendant to
pay plaintiff’s attorney fees in the amount of $500.00. On 11 February
2009, plaintiff moved for defendant to show cause for his failure to
comply with the 8 October 2008 order (“the support order”). De-
fendant, pro se, filed a response and a motion to reconsider.
Following a hearing, the trial court held defendant in civil contempt
pending a purge in the amount of $6,290.13 and payment of an addi-
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tional $500.00 in attorney’s fees to plaintiff’s lawyer (“the contempt
order”). Defendant appeals. As discussed below, we affirm the con-
tempt order, but vacate the award of additional attorney fees and
remand for additional findings.

Facts

Defendant and plaintiff married on 27 February 1982 and had two
daughters who were teenagers at the time the parties separated.
Defendant worked for the North Carolina Department of Correction
and plaintiff worked as a substitute teacher and at Wal-mart. In
August 2008, plaintiff moved out of the marital home and the parties
separated. Shortly after entry of the support order, defendant joined
the Twelve Tribes of Israel, a religious community which prohibits
its members from earning outside income. Instead, the members
farm and provide services to each other in exchange for food and a
place to live. At the contempt hearing, defendant testified that he
could not pay the court-ordered support because his membership in
the religious community prevented him from earning outside income
or owning assets.

On appeal, defendant makes two arguments: the trial court erred
in (I) holding him in contempt where he did not have the ability to
comply with the support order and his failure to comply was not wil-
ful; and (IT) ordering him to pay additional attorney fees without mak-
ing the findings of fact required by N.C. Gen. Stat. § 50-13.6. As dis-
cussed below, we affirm the order of contempt, but vacate the award
of attorney fees and remand for additional findings.

1

[1] Defendant first argues that the trial court erred in holding him in
contempt where he did not have the ability to comply and his failure
to comply was not willful. We disagree.

“The standard of review for contempt proceedings is limited to
determining whether there is competent evidence to support the find-
ings of fact and whether the findings support the conclusions of law.”
Sharpe v. Nobles, 127 N.C. App. 705, 709, 493 S.E.2d 288, 291 (1997).
Among the unchallenged findings of fact in the contempt order are
the following:

3. That at the time the [support] Order was entered, Defendant
was employed full-time with the Alexander Correctional
Institution, which income was the basis of said Order.
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4. That on or about October 30, 2008, the Defendant voluntar-
ily quit his job so that he could dedicate his life to the Twelve
Tribes of Israel, a religious organization in which the members
live in a community environment and do not work outside said
community, relying upon their own services to aid others to main-
tain themselves.

5. That, accordingly, it is the contention of the Defendant that he
has no income “per se”, even though he admits he is physically
and mentally able to be employed outside the community.

6. That the Defendant’s beliefs with regard to the twelve Tribes
Organization appear to be sincerely held beliefs.

Defendant challenges finding of fact 11 which states that his non-
compliance has been willful and that he “has the ability to comply or
take reasonable efforts to do so.” He also challenges finding 12
which states that confinement is the least restrictive means to com-
pel his compliance given that defendant has indicated he will not take
outside employment under any circumstances.

The purpose of civil contempt is not to punish, but rather to
coerce the defendant to comply with an order of the court. Scott v.
Scott, 157 N.C. App. 382, 393, 579 S.E.2d 431, 438 (2003). To hold a
defendant in civil contempt, the trial court must find the following:
(1) the order remains in force, (2) the purpose of the order may still
be served by compliance, (3) the non-compliance was willful, and (4)
the non-complying party is able to comply with the order or is able to
take reasonable measures to comply. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 5A-21 (2009).
“In order to find that a defendant acted willfully, the court must find
not only failure to comply but that the defendant presently possesses
the means to comply.” Miller v. Miller, 153 N.C. App. 40, 50, 568
S.E.2d 914, 920 (2002) (internal citations and quotation marks omit-
ted). “Wilfulness in matters of this kind involves more than delibera-
tion or conscious choice; it also imports a bad faith disregard for
authority and the law.” Forte v. Forte, 65 N.C. App. 615, 616, 309
S.E.2d 729, 730 (1983). Our State’s case law reveals

a well-established line of authority which holds that a failure to
pay may be willful within the meaning of the contempt statutes
where a supporting spouse is unable to pay because he or she vol-
untarily takes on additional financial obligations or divests him
or herself of assets or income after entry of the support order.
See, e.g., Williford v. Williford, 56 N.C. App. 610, 289 S.E.2d 907
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(1982) (supporting spouse took lower-paying job and applied
salary to matters other than support obligations); Frank wv.
Glanville, 45 N.C. App. 313, 262 S.E.2d 677 (1980) (supporting
spouse failed to take steps to obtain employment which would
have enabled him to meet obligations); Bennett v. Bennett, 21
N.C. App. 390, 204 S.E.2d 554 (1974) (defendant spouse took
lower paying job to avoid support obligations). A contrary rule
would permit a supporting spouse to avoid his or her obligations
by the simple means of expending assets as he or she pleased,
and then pleading inability to pay support, thereby insulating him
or herself from punishment by an order of contempt.

Faught v. Faught, 67 N.C. App. 37, 46, 312 S.E.2d 504, 509, disc.
review denied, 311 N.C. 304, 317 S.E.2d 680 (1984).

Further, “[t]o justify conditioning defendant’s release from jail for
civil contempt upon payment of a large lump sum of arrearages, the
district court must find as fact that defendant has the present ability
to pay those arrearages.” McMiller v. McMiller, 77 N.C. App. 808, 809,
336 S.E.2d 134, 135 (1985). We have held that, “[t]hough not specific,
[a] finding regarding ‘present means to comply’ is minimally suffi-
cient to satisfy the statutory requirement for civil contempt.” Adkins
v. Adkins, 82 N.C. App. 289, 292, 346 S.E.2d 220, 222 (1986).

Finding 11 states:

11. That the Defendants [sic] failure to comply with the prior
Court Order entered in October 2008 is willful and Defendant has
the ability to comply or take reasonable efforts to do so.

Defendant first argues that the trial court made no finding that he had
the present ability to pay the arrearage and purge himself of con-
tempt. As in Adkins, this finding, while not as specific or detailed as
might be preferred, is minimally sufficient. Further, unchallenged
findings 3, 4, and 5 state that defendant is able to work but volun-
tarily quit his job and has refused to take another. These findings
and defendant’s own testimony fully support the second portion of
finding 11.

Defendant next contends his non-compliance was not willful
because he was acting in good faith based on his sincerely-held reli-
gious beliefs. As discussed above, “a failure to pay may be willful
within the meaning of the contempt statutes where a supporting
spouse is unable to pay because he or she voluntarily takes on addi-
tional financial obligations or divests him or herself of assets or
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income after entry of the support order.” Faught, 67 N.C. App. at 46,
312 S.E.2d at 509. Here, defendant did not quit his job and join a reli-
gious community until after entry of the support order. That defend-
ant’s religious beliefs may be sincerely-held, as the trial court found,
is irrelevant. Our courts have held that child support and alimony
obligations cannot be avoided where the obligor has voluntarily
assumed additional obligations, such as through remarriage or the
birth of additional children. Williford, 56 N.C. App. at 612, 289 S.E.2d
at 909. Presumably the defendant in Williford held a sincere desire to
remarry and become a parent again; however, his sincere desire did
not excuse him of his duty to comply with valid court orders or make
his refusal to do so anything other than willful. Finding 11 is fully sup-
ported by the evidence. Defendant’s arguments are overruled. De-
fendant fails to make argument regarding finding 12 in his brief and
we deem his assignment of error on that issue abandoned.

I

[2] Defendant next argues the trial court erred in ordering him to pay
attorney fees without making required findings of fact. We agree.

“North Carolina courts have held that the contempt power of the
trial court includes the authority to require the payment of reason-
able attorney’s fees to opposing counsel as a condition to being
purged of contempt for failure to comply with a child support order.”
FEakes v. Eakes, 194 N.C. App. 303, 312, 669 S.E.2d 891, 897 (2008).
“Where an award of attorney’s fees is granted, the trial court must
make adequate findings as to the reasonableness of the award.” Id.

Before awarding attorney’s fees, the trial court must make spe-
cific findings of fact concerning:

(1) the ability of the intervenors to defray the cost of the suit,
i.e., that the intervenors are unable to employ adequate coun-
sel in order to proceed as a litigant to meet the other litigants in
the suit;

(2) the good faith of the intervenors in proceeding in this suit;
(3) the lawyer’s skill;

(4) the lawyer’s hourly rate;

(5) the nature and scope of the legal services rendered.

In re Baby Boy Scearce, 81 N.C. App. 662, 663-64, 345 S.E.2d 411,
413 (citations omitted), cert. denied, 318 N.C. 415, 349 S.E.2d 590
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(1986). Here, the contempt order fails to contain the required find-

ings. We vacate the award of attorneys’ fees and remand for addi-
tional findings.

Affirmed in part; vacated in part and remanded.

Judges STEELMAN and BEASLEY concur.

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. MICHAEL BROOKS

No. COA09-1068
(Filed 18 May 2010)

Sexual Offenders— satellite-based monitoring—sexual bat-
tery not an aggravated offense

The Court of Appeals exercised its discretion under N.C. R.
App. P. 2 and determined that the trial court erred in an assault by
strangulation and sexual battery case by requiring defendant to
enroll in lifetime satellite-based monitoring. Sexual battery is not
an “aggravated offense” for the purposes of N.C.G.S. § 14-208.40B.

Appeal by Defendant from order entered 24 April 2009 by Judge
R. Allen Baddour in Superior Court, Orange County. Heard in the
Court of Appeals 10 February 2010.

Attorney General Roy Cooper, by Assistant Attorney General
Thomas H. Moore, for the State.

Robert W. Ewing for Defendant-Appellant.

McGEE, Judge.

Michael Brooks (Defendant) was indicted for second-degree
rape, second-degree sexual offense, and assault by strangulation. He
was also charged with sexual battery in a subsequently filed informa-
tion. Defendant entered a guilty plea to assault by strangulation and
sexual battery on 5 January 2009. The trial court found as an aggra-
vating factor that Defendant was on probation when the crimes were
committed and sentenced Defendant to consecutive terms of 25 to 30
months and 150 days in prison.
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Pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 14-208.40B, the trial court con-
ducted a hearing to determine Defendant’s eligibility for enrollment
in a satellite-based monitoring program (SBM) on 24 April 2009. The
trial court made the following pertinent findings: (1) Defendant was
convicted of a reportable offense under N.C. Gen. Stat. 14-208.6, in
that his conviction was for a sexually violent offense under N.C. Gen.
Stat. § 14-208.6(5); (2) Defendant was not classified as a sexually vio-
lent predator; (3) Defendant was not a recidivist; (4) Defendant’s con-
viction was an aggravated offense; and (5) Defendant’s conviction did
not involve the physical, mental, or sexual abuse of a minor. Upon
release from imprisonment, the trial court ordered Defendant to (1)
register as a sex offender and (2) to enroll in an SBM program, both
for the remainder of his natural life. Defendant appeals from the trial
court’s order requiring him to enroll in an SBM program for the
remainder of his natural life.

Grounds for Appellate Review

Defendant gave oral notice of appeal at the SBM hearing from the
trial court’s order requiring him to enroll in an SBM program for the
remainder of his natural life. While oral notice of appeal is proper in
“criminal action[s,]” as permitted under N.C.R. App. P. 4(a)(1), oral
notice of appeal is insufficient to confer jurisdiction on this Court in
civil proceedings. N.C.R. App. P. 3(a); Melvin v. St. Louis, 132 N.C.
App. 42, 43, 510 S.E.2d 177, 177 (1999). We note that Defendant is
appealing only from the trial court’s order requiring him to enroll in
SBM for life, and not from his underlying conviction. Because this is
a jurisdictional issue, we must first determine whether Defendant’s
oral notice of appeal was sufficient in this case.

Our Court has held that SBM hearings and proceedings are not
criminal actions, but are instead a “civil regulatory scheme][.]” State v.
Bare, — N.C. App. —, ——, 677 S.E.2d 518, 527 (2009). In State v.
Singleton, — N.C. App. ——, 689 S.E.2d 562 (2010), our Court further
determined that: “Therefore, for purposes of appeal, a SBM hearing is
not a ‘criminal trial or proceeding’ for which a right of appeal is based
upon N.C. Gen. Stat. § 15A-1442 or N.C. Gen. Stat. § 15A-1444.”
Singleton, — N.C. App. at ——, 689 S.E.2d at 565. We note that in
Singleton, our Court determined that we have “jurisdiction to con-
sider appeals from SBM monitoring determinations under N.C. Gen.
Stat. § 14-208.40B pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 7TA-27.” Id. at —, 689
S.E.2d at 566. In light of our decisions interpreting an SBM hearing as
not being a criminal trial or proceeding for purposes of appeal, we
must hold that oral notice pursuant to N.C.R. App. P. 4(a)(1) is insuf-
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ficient to confer jurisdiction on this Court. Instead, a defendant must
give notice of appeal pursuant to N.C.R. App. P. 3(a) as is proper “in
a civil action or special proceeding[.]” N.C.R. App. P. 3(a).

N.C.R. App. P. 3(a) requires that a party “fil[e] notice of appeal
with the clerk of superior court and serv[e] copies thereof upon all
other parties[.]” Id. Because the record on appeal does not contain a
written notice of appeal filed with the clerk of superior court, which
was served upon the State, this appeal must be dismissed. Melvin,
132 N.C. App. at 43, 510 S.E.2d at 177; see also Putman v.
Alexander, — N.C. App. —, —, 670 S.E.2d 610, 614 (2009).
However, in his brief, Defendant requests that, should we find his
notice of appeal insufficient, we treat his brief as a petition for writ
of certiorari. In the interest of justice, and to expedite the decision in
the public interest, we elect to grant Defendant’s request to consider
his brief as a petition for writ of certiorari. Putman, — N.C. App.
at —, 670 S.E.2d at 614. We allow Defendant’s petition for writ of
certiorari and address the merits of his appeal.

Grounds for Enrollment in SBM

Defendant contends there was no basis for subjecting him to life-
time SBM. However, Defendant did not argue this issue in his brief.
Ordinarily, an issue not argued in a brief is deemed abandoned.
N.C.R. App. P. 28(a) (2009) (“Questions raised by assignments of
error in appeals from trial tribunals but not then presented and dis-
cussed in a party’s brief, are deemed abandoned.”); N.C.R. App. P.
28(b)(6) (2009) (“Assignments of error not set out in the appellant’s
brief, or in support of which no reason or argument is stated . . . will
be taken as abandoned.”)!. The State argues that our Court should,
“in the interest of justice,” consider the issue of Defendant’s eligibil-
ity for SBM. Likewise, in his reply brief, Defendant requests that we
utilize our authority under N.C.R. App. P. 2 to consider this issue. We
choose to exercise our discretion pursuant to Rule 2 in order to con-
sider this issue. See State v. Hill, 179 N.C. App. 1, 632 S.E.2d 777
(2006). All other issues or questions not argued by Defendant in his
brief are deemed abandoned. See Appeal of Parker, 76 N.C. App. 447,
450, 333 S.E.2d 749, 751 (1985).

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 14-208.40B (2009) sets forth the procedure for
determination of SBM eligibility. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 14-208.40B(b) pro-

1. We note that Defendant’s appeal was filed on 17 August 2009, prior to the
amendments to the Rules of Appellate Procedure, which took effect 1 October 2009.
We therefore apply the version of the Rules effective prior to 1 October 2009.
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vides that a trial court shall conduct a hearing to make certain factual
determinations. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 14-208.40B(b) (2009).

If the court finds that (i) the offender has been classified as a
sexually violent predator pursuant to G.S. 14-208.20, (ii) the of-
fender is a recidivist, (iii) the conviction offense was an aggra-
vated offense, or (iv) the conviction offense was a violation of
G.S. 14-27.2A or G.S. 14-27.4A, the court shall order the offender
to enroll in satellite-based monitoring for life.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 14-208.40B(c) (2009). A sexually violent predator is

a person who has been convicted of a sexually violent offense
and who suffers from a mental abnormality or personality disor-
der that makes the person likely to engage in sexually violent
offenses directed at strangers or at a person with whom a rela-
tionship has been established or promoted for the primary pur-
pose of victimization.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 14-208.6(6) (2009). N.C. Gen. Stat. § 14-208.6(5) con-
tains a list of enumerated offenses which qualify as “[s]exually violent
offense[s.]” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 14-208.6(5) (2009).

Likewise, “aggravated offense” is defined in N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 14-208.6(1a) as

any criminal offense that includes either of the following: (i)
engaging in a sexual act involving vaginal, anal, or oral penetra-
tion with a victim of any age through the use of force or the threat
of serious violence; or (ii) engaging in a sexual act involving vagi-
nal, anal, or oral penetration with a victim who is less than 12
years old.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 14-206.6(1a) (2009).

In the case before us, the trial court found that “Defendant ha[d]
not been classified as a sexually violent predator[,]” and was not a
recidivist. Further, Defendant was not “convicted of G.S. 14-27.2A or
G.S. 14-27.4A[,]” as required by N.C.G.S. § 14-208.40B(c). Thus, the
only finding which supported the trial court’s order requiring
Defendant to enroll in SBM for life was its finding that “this convic-
tion is an aggravated offense.”

Our Court recently held that, in determining whether an offense
was an aggravated offense for the purposes of N.C.G.S. § 14-208.40A,
a trial court looks only to the elements of the offense and not to the
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underlying facts giving rise to the conviction. State v. Davison, —
N.C. App. —, —, 689 S.E.2d 510, 517 (2009). In Singleton, this inter-
pretation was extended to hearings conducted pursuant to N.C.G.S.
§ 14-208.40B, such as the one in the case before us. Singleton, —
N.C. App. at ——, 689 S.E.2d at 567. Defendant in the present case was
convicted of sexual battery, as defined in N.C. Gen. Stat. § 14-27.5A:

A person is guilty of sexual battery if the person, for the purpose
of sexual arousal, sexual gratification, or sexual abuse, engages
in sexual contact with another person:

(1) By force and against the will of the other person; or

(2) Who is mentally disabled, mentally incapacitated, or physi-
cally helpless, and the person performing the act knows or should
reasonably know that the other person is mentally disabled, men-
tally incapacitated, or physically helpless.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 14-27.5A(a) (2009). Comparing the elements of
sexual battery with the definition of “aggravated offense” set forth
in N.C.G.S. § 14-208.6(1a), we find significant differences between
the two.

An aggravated offense requires, in pertinent part, “engaging in a
sexual act involving vaginal, anal, or oral penetration with a victim of
any age through the use of force or the threat of serious violence[.]”
N.C.G.S. § 14-208.6(1a). As described above, a conviction for sexual
battery does not require that a defendant engage in “vaginal, anal, or
oral penetration” with the victim. Rather, sexual battery contem-
plates any “sexual contact” with a victim carried out by force, and
against the will of the victim, or against a person who is